# CWI Tracts Managing Editors

A.M.H. Gerards (CWI, Amsterdam) M. Hazewinkel (CWI, Amsterdam) J.W. Klop (CWI, Amsterdam) N.M. Temme (CWI, Amsterdam)

#### **Executive Editor**

M. Bakker (CWI Amsterdam, e-mail: Miente.Bakker@cwi.nl)

### **Editorial Board**

W. Albers (Enschede)
K.R. Apt (Amsterdam)
M.S. Keane (Amsterdam)
P.W.H. Lemmens (Utrecht)
J.K. Lenstra (Eindhoven)
M. van der Put (Groningen)
A.J. van der Schaft (Enschede)
J.M. Schumacher (Tilburg)
H.J. Sips (Delft, Amsterdam)
M.N. Spijker (Leiden)
H.C. Tijms (Amsterdam)

#### CWI

P.O. Box 94079, 1090 GB Amsterdam, The Netherlands Telephone + 31 - 20 592 9333 Telefax + 31 - 20 592 4199 WWW page http://www.cwi.nl/publications\_bibl/

CWI is the nationally funded Dutch institute for research in Mathematics and Computer Science.

Regularity theory of Fourier integral operators with complex phases and singularities of affine fibrations

M. Ruzhansky

2000 MSC Classification: 35S30, 32S05, 32S65, 58J40, 35B65, 35L30, 35S10

ISBN 90 6196 503 9 NUGI-code: 811

Copyright C2001, Stichting Mathematisch Centrum, Amsterdam Printed in the Netherlands

# Contents

In	Introduction				
1	Fou	rier integral operators	5		
	1.1	Fourier integral operators with real phases	6		
	1.2	Fourier integral operators with complex phases	9		
	1.3	Spaces of functions	12		
	1.4	Overview of the regularity theory for the real phase	15		
	1.5	Overview of the low rank conditions	17		
		1.5.1 Smooth factorization condition	17		
		1.5.2 Parametric fibrations	21		
		1.5.3 Operators, commuting with translations	24		
	1.6	Fourier integral operators with complex phase functions	25		
	1.7	Estimates for operators with complex phases	27		
	1.8	A relation between real and complex phases	30		
	1.9	Proofs	31		
	1.10	Estimates in other spaces	39		
	1.11	Sharpness of the estimates	41		
		1.11.1 Essentially homogeneous case	41		
		1.11.2 A representation formula for continuous operators of small			
		negative orders	43		
	1.12	Smooth factorization condition for complex phases	44		
<b>2</b>	Affi	ne fibrations	53		
	2.1	Introduction	53		
	2.2	Fibrations with affine fibers	54		
		2.2.1 Affine fibrations setting	54		
		2.2.2 Jacobian affine fibrations setting	56		
	2.3	Formulation for the parametric fibrations	58		
		2.3.1 Affine fibrations setting	58		
		2.3.2 Jacobian affine fibration setting	58		
	2.4	Main results	59		
	2.5	Methods of complex analytic geometry	60		
	2.6	Some properties of affine parametric fibrations	64		
	2.7	General properties of affine fibrations	65		

# CONTENTS

	2.8	Affine fibrations of Jacobian type	74		
~	2.9	Limiting properties of the fibers	82		
3	Affi	ne fibrations of gradient type	85		
	3.1	Fibrations in local coordinates	85		
	3.2	Fibrations of gradient type	89		
	3.3	Reconstruction of the phase function	92		
	3.4	Existence of singular fibrations of gradient type	98		
4	Furt	ther estimates for analytic Fourier integral operators	101		
	4.1	Complexification	101		
	4.2	Estimates for analytic Fourier integral operators	103		
5	Applications				
	5.1	Introduction	107		
	5.2	Cauchy problem for a class of strictly hyperbolic equations	110		
	5.3	Monge–Ampère equation	114		
	5.4	Cauchy problems with complex characteristic roots	115		
	5.5	A parametrix for a first order complex partial differential operato	r120		
Bi	Bibliography				
Su	Summary				

vi

# Introduction

The present monograph deals with two different but related topics. The first one is the regularity theory of Fourier integral operators. We restrict our attention to non-degenerate operators but allow phase functions to be complex valued. The non-degeneracy means that the canonical relation of the operator is locally a graph of a diffeomorphism between cotangent bundles of two manifolds. Such operators arise naturally as propagators (solution operators) for partial differential equations. The theory of these operators is well developed and we refer the reader to excellent monographs [11], [27], [74]. Regularity properties of these operators have been under study for a long time. The  $L^2$ boundedness of operators of zero order was established in [25], but was essentially known in different forms before (see, for example, [16]). The boundedness properties of Fourier integral operators in  $L^p$  spaces for 1 were established in [62]. The authors prove that operators of order -(n-1)|1/p-1/2|are bounded from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^p_{loc}(X)$ , where  $n = \dim X = \dim Y$ . However, in this paper the authors came up with an interesting condition called "the smooth factorization condition", which allows to improve  $L^p$  estimates given certain information on the dimension of the singular support of the Schwartz integral kernel of the operator and singularities of its wave front. All this concerns operators with real phase functions.

Fourier integral operators with complex phases appear naturally in different problems. The theory of operators with complex phases was systematically developed in [37] and [38]. It was used in [74] to describe solution operators for the Cauchy problem for partial differential operators with complex characteristics.  $L^2$  boundedness of these Fourier integral operators of zero orders is due to [38], and to [26] in greater generality. The complex phase is used in the analysis of the oblique derivative problems ([38]) and in the description of projections to kernels and cokernels of pseudo-differential operators with noninvolutive characteristics ([12]). In a way the use of complex phase functions is more natural than the real ones. First, there are no geometric obstructions like the non-triviality of Maslov cohomology class. Second, one can use a single complex phase function to give a global parameterization of a Fourier integral operator ([33]).

The first chapter of this monograph describes the  $L^p$  properties of Fourier integral operators with complex phases. We suggest a local graph type condition (L) which insures that operators of order -(n-1)|1/p-1/2| with complex phases are bounded from  $L_{comp}^p$  to  $L_{loc}^p$ . If the imaginary part of the phase function is zero, that is if the phase function is real, our condition (L) is equivalent to the local graph condition for real phase functions. In Section 1.12 we propose the smooth factorization type condition (F) for the complex phase. Again, if the phase function is real valued, our condition (F) is equivalent to the smooth factorization condition of [62]. Under this condition we establish better  $L^p$ properties of operators. We provide the reader with the necessary background information on Fourier integral operators in Sections 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, as well as the overview of the regularity theory for real and complex phase functions in Sections 1.4 and 1.6.

It is convenient to use the complex domain for the analysis of the smooth factorization condition. This is the second topic of the present monograph. We will state a general problem of singularities of affine fibrations which includes the smooth factorization condition as a particular case. Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . An affine fibration in  $\Omega$  is a family of affine subspaces of  $\Omega$  which locally do not intersect and whose union equals to almost the whole of  $\Omega$ . These subspaces will be controlled by kernels of holomorphic mappings. To be more precise, let  $A : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times n}$  be a holomorphic matrix valued mapping. Let  $k = \max_{\xi \in \Omega} \operatorname{rank} A(\xi)$  be the maximal rank of A in  $\Omega$ . The set  $\Omega^{(k)}$  where it is maximal, is open and dense in  $\Omega$ , and on this set the mapping

### $\varkappa: \xi \mapsto \ker A(\xi)$

is regular from  $\Omega^{(k)}$  to the space of all (n-k)-dimensional linear subspaces of  $\Omega$ . Our main condition will be that  $\varkappa$  defines a fibration in  $\Omega^{(k)}$ , which means that for  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ ,  $\varkappa$  is constant on  $\xi + \ker A(\xi)$ . This setting will be made more precise as conditions (A1), (A2) in Chapter 2.

An important case occurs when  $A = D\Gamma$  is the Jacobian of a holomorphic mapping  $\Gamma : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^p$ . In this case  $\Gamma$  is constant on  $\xi + \varkappa(\xi)$  for all  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ . This means that the level set  $\Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$  is an affine subspace of  $\Omega$ , equal to  $\xi + \varkappa(\xi)$ . Such fibrations will be called Jacobian. Conditions (A1), (A2) will be called ( $\Gamma$ A1), ( $\Gamma$ A2) in this case. If  $\Gamma$  itself is a gradient of a holomorphic mapping  $\phi : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ , the fibration will be called a gradient fibration. In this case  $A(\xi) = D^2 \phi(\xi)$  is the Hessian of  $\phi$ . In our applications  $\phi$  will be the complex analytic extension of the phase function of a Fourier integral operator when the phase function is real analytic.

In Chapter 2 we will study these fibrations and especially their singular sets. It turns out that the mapping  $\varkappa$  is meromorphic and we can use methods of complex analytic geometry. All the background information will be provided in Section 2.5.

Chapter 3 is complementary to Chapter 2 and there we will study fibrations of gradient type in both real and complex setting. In Chapter 4 we will apply results of Chapters 1 and 2 to derive further estimates for analytic Fourier integral operators. Those are operators whose phase function is real analytic. Based on the estimates for the set of singularities for corresponding fibrations in Chapter 2, we will show that the smooth factorization type condition (F) holds automatically in a number of cases.

# Introduction

Finally, in Chapter 5 the analysis will be applied to several problems. In Section 5.1 we will describe several applications of the regularity theory of Fourier integral operators. We will go on to discuss regularity properties of solutions of hyperbolic equations in Section 5.2. In Section 5.4 we will allow the characteristic roots of a partial pseudo-differential equation to be complex. However, in order to be able to apply the theory of Fourier integral operators with complex phases, we will assume that the imaginary part of characteristic roots is non-negative. Then, according to [74], the Cauchy problem is well posed and its propagator is a Fourier integral operator with complex phase. We will derive estimates for fixed-time solutions of these equations in  $L^p$  spaces. We will also discuss the improvements when the smooth factorization type condition (F) is satisfied. In some cases it is satisfied automatically, for example in  $\mathbb{R}^4$ or  $\mathbb{R}^5$ , when coefficients of the operator may depend on time, but not on the other variables. As another application, we will briefly discuss  $L^p$  estimates for the oblique derivative problem in Section 5.5.

The present monograph is based on the author's doctoral thesis. However, there only operators with real phases were investigated, meanwhile the emphasis of this monograph is on operators with complex phases. Parts of this book have appeared in several papers. Chapter 4 is a complex valued phase version of [52], where analytic operators with real phases were considered. Some results of Section 5.2 have appeared in [53] and in [55]. Section 1.11 has appeared in [54]. A survey of the regularity theory of operators with real phases has appeared in [56]. However, Chapter 2 presents a more general problem (A1), (A2) for holomorphic matrix valued functions. Some of its results were announced in [57] and [58]. We would like to mention the paper [59], which is related to the  $L^p$  estimates under the failure of the factorization condition. However, we did not feel it would take an integral part in this book and we mention it only briefly in Remark 1.12.4. The results on the complex phase were announced in [60]. Above all, in this book we tried to emphasize the geometric role played by the affine fibrations in the regularity theory, especially in the case of complex phase functions in Section 1.12.

Finally, it is a pleasure for me to thank several people who have contributed in one way or another to the appearance of this work. First, I would like to thank Hans Duistermaat for all the support which I have had from him during my years at the Utrecht University as his graduate student. His influence on my understanding of Fourier integral operators and my work can not be overestimated. I would like to thank departments of mathematics of Utrecht University, the Johns Hopkins University and University of Edinburgh, and finally the Imperial College, where I was able to continue to work on this project. I am also grateful to Chris Sogge, Andreas Seeger, Anders Melin, Ari Laptev and Yuri Safarov for interesting discussions about real and complex phases.

Introduction

4

# Chapter 1

# Fourier integral operators

In this chapter we will discuss Fourier integral operators. The exposition will include both real and complex phase functions. We will provide essential definitions and point to the references for the general theory. Section 1.4 gives an overview of the regularity properties of Fourier integral operators with real phase functions. In Section 1.6 we will give a brief introduction to the regularity properties of operators with complex phases. However, we will not give proofs in these sections as we will prove more general statements for complex phases later. These sections are informally written and can be read independently.

Section 1.1 contains the necessary definitions from the theory of Fourier integral operators with real phases. Section 1.2 gives backgrounds on the use of complex phase functions. It also gives several references to more detailed sources. In Section 1.3 we recall the necessary facts from the relevant function theory.

In Section 1.5 we describe the smooth factorization condition for Fourier integral operators with real phases and how it enters the regularity theory. This is where the relation with affine fibrations of the following chapters plays a role and some discussion of it can be found in Section 1.5.2. Section 1.7 contains the  $L^p$ -estimates for Fourier integral operators with complex phases. We introduce condition (L) which plays a role of the local graph condition in the analysis. The proof of these estimates is given in Section 1.9. Estimates in  $L^p$  spaces imply estimates in other function spaces in Section 1.10. In Section 1.11 we consider the question of the sharpness of the estimates. To determine the order of the best possible estimate it is sufficient to consider real phases. An application of the singular support of the operator. As a consequence, we also derive a representation formula for bounded elliptic operators of small negative orders.

An analogue of the smooth factorization condition for complex phases is formulated in Section 1.12 (condition (F)). There we also establish the improved  $L^p$  estimates under this condition. These estimates are best possible in view of the arguments of Section 1.11. In the case of the real phase functions, results of Sections 1.7 and 1.12 imply results of [62] on the regularity properties of Fourier integral operators.

In the sequel, our primary concern will be the local analysis. However, global constructions often help to give a better insight in problems at hand. The intrinsic global characterization of Fourier integral operators was systematically developed in [25], [9], [27]. Excellent expositions of the theory can be found in [14], [15]. Many important to us notions are described in [35]. The global theory is based on constructions of the symplectic geometry.

# **1.1** Fourier integral operators with real phases

We start by recalling several relevant notions from the symplectic geometry. Let M be a smooth real manifold. A form  $\omega$  is called *symplectic* on M if it is a 2-form on M such that  $d\omega = 0$  and such that for each  $m \in M$  the bilinear form  $\omega_m$  is antisymmetric and non-degenerate on  $T_m M$ . The pairs  $(T_m M, \omega_m)$ and  $(M, \omega)$  are called the *symplectic vector space* and the *symplectic manifold*, respectively. Let X be a smooth real manifold of dimension n. The canonical symplectic form  $\sigma$  on the cotangent bundle  $T^*X$  of X can be introduced as follows. Let  $\pi : T^*X \ni (x,\xi) \mapsto x \in X$  be the canonical projection. Then for  $(x,\xi) \in T^*X$  the mappings  $D\pi_{(x,\xi)} : T_{(x,\xi)}(T^*X) \to T_xX$  and  $\xi : T_xX \to \mathbb{R}$ are linear. Their composition

$$\alpha_{(x,\xi)} = \xi \circ D\pi_{(x,\xi)} \tag{1.1.1}$$

is a 1-form on  $T^*X$ . Its derivative  $\sigma = d\alpha$  is called the *canonical 2-form on*  $T^*X$  and it follows that  $\sigma$  is symplectic. This form corresponds to the form  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} dp_j \wedge dq_j$  in mechanics, with possible change of sign. It can be shown that any symplectic form takes the latter form in *symplectic coordinates*. The same objects can be introduced on complex analytic manifolds.

A submanifold  $\Lambda$  of  $T^*X$  is called Lagrangian if  $(T_{(x,\xi)}\Lambda)^{\sigma} = T_{(x,\xi)}\Lambda$ , where

$$(T_{(x,\xi)}\Lambda)^{\sigma} = \{ p \in T_{(x,\xi)}(T^*X) : \sigma(p,q) = 0 \ \forall q \in T_{(x,\xi)}\Lambda \}.$$

In particular, this implies dim  $\Lambda = n$ . A submanifold  $\Lambda$  of  $T^*X \setminus 0 = \{(x,\xi) \in T^*X : \xi \neq 0\}$  is called *conic* if  $(x,\xi) \in \Lambda$  implies  $(x,\tau\xi) \in \Lambda$  for all  $\tau > 0$ . Let  $\Sigma \subset X$  be a smooth submanifold of X of dimension k. Its *conormal bundle* in  $T^*X$  is defined by

$$N^*\Sigma = \{ (x,\xi) \in T^*X : x \in \Sigma, \xi(\delta x) = 0, \, \forall \delta x \in T_x \Sigma \}.$$

The proofs of the subsequent statements can be found in [14], [15], [27]. We mainly follow [11].

- **Proposition 1.1.1.** (1) Let  $\Lambda \subset T^*X \setminus 0$  be a closed submanifold of dimension n. Then  $\Lambda$  is a conic Lagrangian manifold if and only if the form  $\alpha$  in (1.1.1) vanishes on  $\Lambda$ .
  - (2) Let  $\Sigma \subset X$  be a submanifold of dimension k. Then its conormal bundle  $N^*\Sigma$  is a conic Lagrangian manifold.

- (3) Let  $\Lambda \subset T^*X \setminus 0$  be a conic Lagrangian manifold and let  $D\pi_{(x,\xi)} : T_{(x,\xi)}\Lambda \to T_xX$  have constant rank equal to k for all  $(x,\xi) \in \Lambda$ . Then each  $(x,\xi) \in \Lambda$  has a conic neighborhood  $\Gamma$  such that
  - (a)  $\Sigma = \pi(\Lambda \cap \Gamma)$  is a smooth submanifold of X of dimension k,
  - (b)  $\Lambda \cap \Gamma$  is an open subset of  $N^*\Sigma$ .

In the sequel we will mainly deal with conic Lagrangian manifolds and we will need their local representations. For this purpose, we consider a local trivialization  $X \times (\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0)$  of  $T^*X \setminus 0$ , where we can assume X to be an open set of dimension n. However, in the sequel we will also need a slight generalization of it, so that we allow the dimensions of X and the fibers differ. Thus, let  $\Gamma$  be a cone in  $X \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus 0)$ . A smooth function  $\phi : X \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus 0) \to \mathbb{R}$  is called a *phase function*, if it is homogeneous of degree one in  $\theta$  and has no critical points as a function of  $(x, \theta) : \phi(x, \tau\theta) = \tau \phi(x, \theta)$  for  $\tau > 0$  and  $d_{(x,\theta)}\phi(x, \theta) \neq 0$  for all  $(x, \theta) \in X \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus 0)$ . A phase function is called *non-degenerate in*  $\Gamma$  if  $(x, \theta) \in \Gamma, d_{\theta}\phi(x, \theta) = 0$  imply that  $d_{(x,\theta)} \frac{\partial \phi(x, \theta)}{\partial \theta_j}$  are linearly independent for  $j = 1, \ldots, N$ .

**Proposition 1.1.2.** (1) Let  $\Gamma$  be a cone in  $X \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus 0)$  and let  $\phi$  be a nondegenerate phase function in  $\Gamma$ . Then there exists an open cone  $\widetilde{\Gamma} \supset \Gamma$ such that the set

$$C_{\phi} = \{ (x, \theta) \in \Gamma : d_{\theta}\phi(x, \theta) = 0 \}$$

is a smooth conic submanifold of  $X \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus 0)$  of dimension n. The mapping

$$T^{\phi}: C_{\phi} \ni (x,\theta) \mapsto (x, d_x \phi(x,\theta)) \in T^* X \setminus 0$$

is an immersion, commuting with the multiplication with positive real numbers in the fibers. Let us denote  $\Lambda_{\phi} = T^{\phi}(C_{\phi})$ .

(2) Let  $\Lambda$  be a submanifold of  $T^*X \setminus 0$  of dimension n. Then  $\Lambda$  is a conic Lagrangian manifold if and only if every  $(x, \xi) \in \Lambda$  has a conic neighborhood  $\Gamma$  such that  $\Lambda \cap \Gamma = \Lambda_{\phi}$  for some non-degenerate phase function  $\phi$ .

Naturally, the cone condition for  $\Lambda$  corresponds to the homogeneity of  $\phi$ . We give the following definition for the completeness, although we will not use it in the sequel. Let  $\Lambda$  be a closed conic Lagrangian submanifold of  $T^*X \setminus 0$ . A distribution u is called the *Lagrangian distribution of order m associated to*  $\Lambda$ ,  $u \in I^m(X, \Lambda)$ , if

$$\prod_{j=1}^{n} P_{j} u \in {}^{\infty} H^{loc}_{-m-n/4}(X), \qquad (1.1.2)$$

whenever  $P_j \in \Psi^1(X)$  are properly supported pseudo-differential operators whose principal symbols  $p_j(x,\xi)$  vanish on  $\Lambda$  and  ${}^{\infty}H^{loc}_{-m-n/4}$  is the localization of the usual Besov space. First, a distribution  $u \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  belongs to the Besov space  ${}^{\infty}H_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , if  $\hat{u} \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$||u||_{\infty H_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \left( \int_{|\xi| \leq 1} |\hat{u}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \right)^{1/2} + \sup_{j \geq 0} \left( \int_{2^{j} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{j+1}} |2^{\sigma j} \hat{u}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \right)^{1/2} < \infty.$$

For a smooth manifold X of dimension n the space  ${}^{\infty}H^{loc}_{\sigma}(X)$  is defined to be the space of all  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(X)$  such that  $(\psi u) \circ \varkappa^{-1}$  is in  ${}^{\infty}H_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  whenever  $\Omega \subset X$  is a coordinate patch with coordinates  $\varkappa$  and  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . More details can be found in [27, 25.1] and [65, 6.1].

Let now X, Y be open in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $\Phi$  be a non-degenerate phase function. Let  $a \in S^m_{\rho}(X \times Y \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  be a symbol of type  $\rho$  and order m, which means that  $1/2 \leq \rho \leq 1$ ,  $a \in C^{\infty}(X \times Y \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ , and for every compact subset K of  $X \times Y$  and any multi-indices  $\alpha, \beta$  holds

$$|\partial_{x,y}^{\beta}\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}a(x,\theta)| \leq C(\alpha,\beta,K)(1+|\theta|)^{m-\rho|\alpha|+(1-\rho)|\beta|}$$

for all  $(x, y) \in K$  and  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus 0$ . Operators of the form

$$Tu(x) = \int_Y \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{i\Phi(x,y,\theta)} a(x,y,\theta) u(y) d\theta dy.$$
(1.1.3)

are called *Fourier integral operators*. Expression (1.1.3) can be understood in the classical sense if m+N < 0 and  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(X)$ , when the integral is absolutely convergent. The integral kernel of (1.1.3) is equal to

$$K(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{i\Phi(x,y,\theta)} a(x,y,\theta) d\theta.$$
(1.1.4)

According to Proposition 1.1.2, the set

$$\Lambda_{\phi} = \{ (x, y, d_x \phi(x, y, \theta), d_y \phi(x, y, \theta)) : d_\theta \phi(x, y, \theta) = 0 \}$$
(1.1.5)

is a conic Lagrangian submanifold of  $T^*(X \times Y) \setminus 0$  of dimension 2n. It follows that for  $\rho = 1$ , the kernel (1.1.4) is a Lagrangian distribution in  $X \times Y$  associated to  $\Lambda_{\Phi}$  of order  $\mu = m - n/2 + N/2$ ,  $K \in I^{\mu}(X \times Y, \Lambda_{\Phi})$ . Conversely, any Lagrangian distribution  $K \in I^{\mu}(X \times Y, \Lambda)$  can be microlocally written in the form (1.1.4) modulo  $C^{\infty}$ , with  $\rho = 1$  (cf. [65, Theorem 6.1.4]). The kernel (1.1.4) is also called the *Fourier integral distribution*. In general,  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, \Lambda)$  will denote the space of Fourier integral distributions consisting of Fourier integral distributions

$$u(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{i\phi(x,\theta)} a(x,\theta) d\theta, \qquad (1.1.6)$$

with  $\Lambda$  locally equal to  $\Lambda_{\phi}$  as in Proposition 1.1.2,  $a \in S^m_{\rho}(X \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $\rho > 1/2$ , and  $\mu = m - n/4 + N/2$ .

The behavior of the integral (1.1.3) can be independent of some of the variables  $\theta$  and the order of T is taken to be  $\mu = m + (N - n)/2$ , which is the order of its Lagrangian distribution (in this case we have  $X \times Y$  instead of X). The following theorem describes the family of phase functions corresponding to the same Fourier integral distribution (1.1.4) (Theorem 2.3.4 in [11]). We formulate it for the general case of  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X,\Lambda)$  as in (1.1.6), rather than for a particular case  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X \times Y,\Lambda)$ .

**Theorem 1.1.3.** Suppose  $\phi(x, \theta)$  and  $\widetilde{\phi}(x, \widetilde{\theta})$  are non-degenerate phase functions at  $(x_0, \theta_0) \in X \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus 0)$  and at  $(x_0, \widetilde{\theta}_0) \in X \times (\mathbb{R}^{\widetilde{N}} \setminus 0)$ , respectively. Let  $\Gamma$  and  $\widetilde{\Gamma}$  be open conic neighborhoods of  $(x_0, \theta_0)$  and  $(x_0, \widetilde{\theta}_0)$  such that  $T_{\phi}: C_{\phi} \to \Gamma_{\phi}$  and  $T_{\widetilde{\phi}}: C_{\widetilde{\phi}} \to \Gamma_{\widetilde{\phi}}$  are injective, respectively. If  $\Lambda_{\phi} = \Lambda_{\widetilde{\phi}}$ , then any Fourier integral distribution, defined by the phase function  $\phi$  and an amplitude  $a \in S_{\rho}^m(X \times \mathbb{R}^N), \rho > 1/2$ , with ess supp a contained in a sufficiently small conic neighborhood of  $(x_0, \theta_0)$ , is equal to a Fourier integral distribution defined by the phase function  $\widetilde{\phi}$  and an amplitude  $\widetilde{a} \in S_{\rho}^{m+\frac{1}{2}(N-\widetilde{N})}(X \times \mathbb{R}^{\widetilde{N}})$ .

In particular, the phase function  $\Phi$  of the operator T in (1.1.3) can be always written in the form

$$\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x, \xi \rangle - \psi(y, \xi),$$

with some function  $\psi$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . This fact will be often used in the sequel. The function  $\psi$  (as well as  $\Phi$ ) is also called the generating function for  $\Lambda_{\Phi}$ .

Thus, the notion of Fourier integral operator becomes independent of a particular choice of a phase function associated to the Lagrangian manifold  $\Lambda$ . The set

$$C = \Lambda' = \{ ((x,\xi), (y,\eta)) \in T^*X \times T^*Y : (x,y,\xi,-\eta) \in \Lambda \}$$

is a conic Lagrangian manifold in  $T^*X \setminus 0 \times T^*Y \setminus 0$  with respect to the symplectic structure  $\sigma_X \oplus -\sigma_Y$  and it is called a *homogeneous canonical relation from*  $T^*Y$  to  $T^*X$ . The space of integral operators with distributional kernels in  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X \times Y, \Lambda)$  will be denoted by  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$  and it is the space of Fourier integral operators associated to the canonical relation  $\Lambda'$ .

# **1.2** Fourier integral operators with complex phases

In this section we will discuss the use of complex valued phase functions in the theory of Fourier integral operators. We will give only an overview as a reader can consult [74], [14], [27] for details.

As before, Fourier integral operators are operators which can be represented microlocally in the form

$$Tu(x) = \int_Y \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i\Phi(x,y,\theta)} a(x,y,\theta) u(y) d\theta dy.$$
(1.2.1)

phases

The integral makes sense only if  $\operatorname{Im} \Phi \geq 0$ . The rest of the properties of the phase function are similar to the real ones. Let  $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}$  be a conic set. A smooth in V function  $\Phi = \Phi(x, y, \theta)$  is called a *regular phase function of positive type*, if

- (i)  $\Phi$  has no critical points:  $d\Phi \neq 0$  on V.
- (ii)  $\Phi$  is positive homogeneous of degree one in  $\theta$ :  $\Phi(x, y, t\theta) = t\Phi(x, y, \theta)$  for t > 0.
- (iii)  $d(\partial \Phi / \partial \theta_1), \ldots, d(\partial \Phi / \partial \theta_N)$  are linearly independent over  $\mathbb{C}$  on  $C_{\Phi \mathbb{R}} = \{(x, y, \theta) \in V : \Psi'_{\theta} = 0\}.$
- (iv) Im  $\Phi(x, y, \theta) \ge 0$  on V.

In order to set up the calculus of such operators one uses the notion of almost analytic continuation.

A function  $f: U \to \mathbb{C}$  on an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{C}$  is called almost analytic in  $U_{\mathbb{R}} = U \cap \mathbb{R}^n$ , if f satisfies the Cauchy–Riemann equation in  $U_{\mathbb{R}}$  of infinite order, that is  $\bar{\partial}f$  and all of its derivatives vanish in  $U_{\mathbb{R}}$ . In a natural way one defines an almost analytic extension of a real manifold X requiring that corresponding coordinate functions are almost analytic in X. The positivity of the canonical relation C means that

$$i^{-1}\left(\sigma_X(u,\bar{u}) - \sigma_Y(v,\bar{v})\right) > 0$$

for all  $(u, v) \in C$ , where  $\sigma_X$  and  $\sigma_Y$  are the standard symplectic forms on  $T^*X$  and  $T^*Y$ , lifted to their almost analytic extensions. Let us give more details now.

Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $\rho : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  be a non-negative Lipschitz function. A function  $f : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  is called  $\rho$ -flat on  $\Omega$  if for every compact set  $K \subset \Omega$  and for every integer  $N \ge 0$  there exist a constant C = C(K, N) > 0such that  $|f(x)| \le C |\rho(x)|^N$ , for all  $x \in K$ .

This notion defines an equivalence relation on the space of function on  $\Omega$ . Thus, two functions f and g are called  $\rho$ -equivalent if f - g is  $\rho$ -flat on  $\Omega$ . A function is called *flat* on a compact set  $K \subset \Omega$  if it is  $\rho$ -flat with  $\rho(x) = \text{dist}(x, K)$ .

Let function  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  be  $\rho$ -flat. Then all its derivatives  $D^{\alpha}f$  are also  $\rho$ -flat. It follows that f is flat on K if and only if  $D^{\alpha}f(x) = 0$  for all  $x \in K$  and all  $\alpha$ .

Let now O be an open subset of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and let K be a closed subset of O. A function  $f \in C^{\infty}(O)$  is called *almost analytic* on K if for  $j = 1, \ldots, n$  the functions  $\partial_j f$  are flat on K. For a set  $O \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  by  $O_{\mathbb{R}}$  we denote the intersection  $O \cap \mathbb{R}^n$ . On the other hand, for an open set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  we denote  $\widetilde{\Omega} = \Omega + i\mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  and will identify  $\Omega$  with  $\widetilde{\Omega} \cap \{ \text{ Im } z = 0 \}$ .

Each function  $f \in C^{\infty}(O_{\mathbb{R}})$  defines an equivalence class of almost analytic functions on  $O_{\mathbb{R}}$ , which consists of functions in  $C^{\infty}(O)$  which are almost analytic on  $O_{\mathbb{R}}$ , modulo functions which are flat on  $O_{\mathbb{R}}$ . Any representative of this class is called an *almost analytic continuation* of f in O.

### 1.2 Fourier integral operators with complex phases

Let O be an open subset of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , M a smooth submanifold of codimension 2k of O, K a closed subset of O. Then M is called *almost analytic* on K if every point  $z_0$  of K has an open neighborhood U in O in which there exist k complex smooth functions  $f_1, \ldots, f_k$ , almost analytic on  $K \cap U$ , and such that in the set U, M is defined by the equations  $f_1(z) = \ldots = f_k(z) = 0$ , and differentials  $df_1, \ldots, df_k$  are  $\mathbb{C}$ -linearly independent. We say that two almost analytic submanifolds  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  of O are equivalent, if they have the same dimension, and the same intersection  $M_{\mathbb{R}}$  with  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and locally  $f_j - g_j$  are flat functions on  $M_{\mathbb{R}}$ , where  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  are defined by  $f_j$  and  $g_j$ , respectively. Thus, a real manifold  $\Omega$  defines an equivalence class of almost analytic manifolds in  $\tilde{\Omega}$ . A representative of this class is called an *almost analytic continuation* of  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ .

For further definitions in this section we will mostly follow [14]. Let now Mbe a real symplectic manifold of dimension 2n, and let M be its almost analytic continuation in  $\mathbb{C}^{2n}$ . Let  $\Lambda \subset \widetilde{M}$  be an almost analytic submanifold containing the real point  $\rho_0 \in M$ , and let  $(x,\xi)$  be be real symplectic coordinates in a neighborhood  $W \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  of the point  $\rho_0$ . Let  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{\xi})$  be almost analytic continuation of the coordinates  $(x,\xi)$  in W so that  $(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{\xi})$  map  $\widetilde{W}$  diffeomorphically onto an open subset in  $\mathbb{C}^{2n}$ . Let g be an almost analytic function such that Im  $g \geq 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and such that  $\Lambda$  is defined in a neighborhood of  $\rho_0$  by the equations  $\xi = \partial g(x) / \partial \tilde{x}, \ \tilde{x} \in \mathbb{C}^n$ . An almost analytic manifold  $\Lambda$  satisfying this property in some real symplectic coordinate system at every real point is called a positive Lagrangian manifold. An almost analytic manifold  $\Lambda \subset M$ is called a strictly positive Lagrangian manifold if dim  $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}} = 2n$  and  $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}$  is a submanifold in M,  $\sigma_{\alpha}|_{\Lambda_{\alpha}} \sim 0$  for all local representatives  $\Lambda_{\alpha}$  of  $\Lambda$  and for all local almost analytic continuations  $\sigma_{\alpha}$  of the symplectic form  $\sigma$  on  $T_{\rho}(\widetilde{M})$ , and if  $i^{-1}\sigma(v,\bar{v}) > 0$  for all  $v \in T_{\rho}(\Lambda) \setminus T_{\rho}(\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}), \rho \in \Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}$ , where  $T_{\rho}(\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}})$  is the complexification of  $T_{\rho}(\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}})$ . The local coordinates  $\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{\xi}$  on  $\Lambda$  are almost analytic continuations of local coordinates  $(x,\xi)$  on  $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

**Proposition 1.2.1.** Let  $M, \Lambda$  and W be as before. If  $(\tilde{y}, \tilde{\eta})$  is another almost analytic continuation of coordinates in  $\widetilde{W}$  and  $\Lambda$  is defined by the equation  $\tilde{\eta} = H(\tilde{y})$  in a neighborhood of the point  $\rho_0$ , then  $\Lambda$  is locally equivalent to the manifold  $\tilde{\eta} = \partial h(\tilde{y}) / \partial \tilde{y}, \tilde{y} \in \mathbb{C}^n$ , where h is an almost analytic function and Im  $h \geq 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Furthermore, let  $\Phi$  be a regular phase function of the positive type that is defined in a conical neighborhood. Let  $\tilde{\Phi}$  be an almost analytic homogeneous continuation of  $\Phi$  in a canonical neighborhood in  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^n \times (\mathbb{C}^N \setminus 0)$ . Let

$$C_{\widetilde{\Phi}} = \{ (\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y}, \widetilde{\theta}) \in \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^n \times (\mathbb{C}^N \setminus 0) : \partial \widetilde{\Phi}(\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y}, \widetilde{\theta}) / \partial \widetilde{\theta} = 0 \}.$$

Then the image  $\Lambda_{\widetilde{\Phi}}$  of the set  $C_{\widetilde{\Phi}}$  under the map

$$C_{\widetilde{\Phi}} \ni (\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y}, \widetilde{\theta}) \mapsto \left(\widetilde{x}, \frac{\partial \widetilde{\Phi}(\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y}, \widetilde{\theta})}{\partial \widetilde{x}}, \frac{\partial \widetilde{\Phi}(\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y}, \widetilde{\theta})}{\partial \widetilde{y}}\right) \in \mathbb{C}^n \times (\mathbb{C}^n \setminus 0) \times (\mathbb{C}^n \setminus 0)$$

is a local conical positive Lagrangian manifold. Further,  $\Lambda_{\Phi_{\mathbb{R}}}$  is the image of  $C_{\Phi_{\mathbb{R}}}$ , and when  $\tilde{\Phi}$  is replaced by an equivalent almost analytic continuation, the manifold  $\Lambda_{\tilde{\Phi}}$  is replaced by an equivalent conical positive Lagrangian manifold.

A manifold  $\Lambda \subset T^*(X \times Y) \setminus 0$  is called a *positive canonical relation* if  $\Lambda' = \{(x,\xi,y,\eta) : (x,\xi,y,-\eta) \in \Lambda\}$  is a closed conical positive Lagrangian manifold in  $T^*(X \times Y) \setminus 0$  and  $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}} \subset (T^*X \setminus 0) \times (T^*Y \setminus 0)$ . The set of Fourier integral operators  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X,Y;\Lambda)$  with positive canonical relation  $\Lambda, \rho > 1/2$ , with symbols in  $S^{\mu}_{\rho}(X \times Y \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined as for the operators with real phase functions. There is a usual definition of the principal symbol and the calculus of such operators holds as well. We can refer the reader to [37] and [74] for the details.

# **1.3** Spaces of functions

In this section we will briefly discuss function spaces, which will be used throughout this monograph. Let X be a smooth manifold with a measure dx. For  $1 \leq p < \infty$  by  $L^p(X)$  we will denote the usual space (of the equivalence classes) of measurable functions f on X with finite norm  $||f||_p = (\int_X |f|^p dx)^{1/p}$ . For  $0 this expression fails to be a norm and the substitute for <math>L^p(X)$ in the analysis of singular integrals are Hardy spaces  $H^p(X)$ . The general theory of complex and real variable versions of Hardy spaces can be found in [67], [70], [18], [68], where one can also find proofs of subsequent statements of this section. Since our interest are the local properties, we restrict to the real Euclidean case of  $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Let S be the Schwartz space of smooth rapidly decreasing functions, equipped with a countable family of seminorms

$$||\phi||_{\alpha,\beta} = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |x^{\alpha} \partial_x^{\beta} \phi(x)|.$$

Let  $\Phi \in S$  and for t > 0 define  $\Phi_t(x) = t^{-n}\Phi(x/t)$ . Then for a distribution f the convolutions  $f * \Phi_t$  are smooth and one defines the maximal operator

$$M_{\Phi}f(x) = \sup_{t>0} |(f * \Phi_t)(x)|.$$

Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a finite collection of seminorms on  $\mathcal{S}$  and one defines

$$\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{F}} = \{ \Phi \in \mathcal{S} : ||\Phi||_{\alpha,\beta} \le 1 \text{ for all } ||\cdot||_{\alpha,\beta} \in \mathcal{F} \}.$$

The maximal operator associated to the family  $S_{\mathcal{F}}$ , determining the approximation of the identity, is now defined by

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{F}}f(x) = \sup_{\Phi \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{F}}} M_{\Phi}f(x).$$

For the definition of the Hardy space  $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we take the space of functions, satisfying one of the following equivalent conditions.

**Proposition 1.3.1.** Let f be a distribution and let 0 . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) There is a function  $\Phi \in S$  with  $\int \Phi dx \neq 0$  so that  $M_{\Phi}f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .
- (2) There is a collection  $\mathcal{F}$  so that  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{F}}f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The expression  $||f||_{H^p} = ||M_{\Phi}f||_{L^p}$  can be taken to be the norm of  $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Note, that it is equivalent to  $||\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{F}}||_{L^p}$  and it is actually a norm only if  $p \ge 1$ . For  $0 , the topology of <math>H^p$  can be defined by the metric  $d(f,g) = ||f-g||_{H^p}^p$ .

In the case  $1 , a simple argument shows that <math>H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  coincide with the Lebesgue spaces  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . However, already for p = 1 one only has  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . On the other hand, if  $f \in L^1_{comp}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  satisfies the moment condition  $\int f dx = 0$  (which is in fact necessary for f to belong to  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ), then  $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for any q > 1 implies  $f \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . One often makes use of an atomic decomposition of Hardy spaces, similar to the classical Calderón-Zygmund decomposition. For  $0 , an <math>H^p$  atom is a function a such that

- (1) a is supported in a ball B,
- (2)  $|a| \leq |B|^{-1/p}$  almost everywhere,
- (3)  $\int x^{\alpha} a(x) dx = 0$  for all  $\alpha$  with  $|\alpha| \leq n(p^{-1} 1)$ .

An  $H^p$  atom belongs to  $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with uniform bound and to  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with

$$\int |a(x)|^p dx \le 1,$$

which follows from (1) and (2). One has the following characterization of  $H^p$  in terms of  $H^p$  atoms.

**Proposition 1.3.2.** *Let* 0*.* 

(1) Let  $a_k$  be a collection of  $H^p$  atoms and let  $\lambda_k \in \mathbb{C}$  satisfy  $\sum_k |\lambda_k|^p < \infty$ . Then the series

$$f = \sum_{k} \lambda_k a_k \tag{1.3.1}$$

converges distributionally, its sum f belongs to  $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and

$$||f||_{H^p} \le c \left(\sum_k |\lambda_k|^p\right)^{1/p}.$$

(2) Let  $f \in H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then f can be written as a sum of  $H^p$  atoms as in (1.3.1), which converges in  $H^p$  norm. Moreover,

$$\left(\sum_{k} |\lambda_k|^p\right)^{1/p} \le c||f||_{H^p}.$$

Let X be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . For  $0 < \gamma < 1$  the Lipschitz (Hölder) space Lip  $(X, \gamma)$  consists of functions f for which there exists a constant A such that  $|f(x)| \leq A$  almost everywhere and

$$\sup_{x} |f(x-y) - f(x)| \le A|y|^{\gamma}$$

holds for all y with  $x - y \in X$ . Minimal A satisfying these two inequalities can be taken to be the norm of f (cf. [66], [75], [4]). The Hardy space  $H^1$  plays an important role in the complex interpolation method.

**Proposition 1.3.3.** Let  $T_z$  be a family of linear operators on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , parameterized by complex z with  $0 \leq \text{Re}(z) \leq 1$ . Suppose that for all simple (step-) functions f, g, vanishing outside a set of finite measure, the map

$$z\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (T_z f)gdx$$

is bounded and analytic in the open strip  $0 < \operatorname{Re}(z) < 1$  and is continuous in its closure. Suppose that  $||T_z f||_{L^1} \leq C_0 ||f||_{H^1}$  for  $\operatorname{Re}(z) = 0$  and  $||T_z f||_{q_1} \leq C_1 ||f||_{p_1}$  for  $\operatorname{Re}(z) = 1$ . Then also

$$||T_t f||_{q_t} \le C_0^{1-t} C_1^t ||f||_{p_t}$$
(1.3.2)

with  $p_t$  and  $q_t$  defined by  $1/p_t = (1-t) + t/p_1$  and  $1/q_t = (1-t) + t/q_1$ .

The proof is based on the duality between  $H^1$  and BMO ([18]).

**Proposition 1.3.4 (Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev).** For every  $0 < \gamma < n$ ,  $1 and <math>1/q = 1/p - (n - \gamma)/n$ , there exists a constant  $A_{pq}$  such that

$$||f * (|y|^{-\gamma})||_{L^q} \le A_{pq} ||f||_{L^p}.$$

There is a similar result in Hardy spaces ([68, III.5.21]).

**Proposition 1.3.5.** The operator  $I_{\alpha}f = f * (|y|^{-\gamma})$  allows an analytic extension on the set  $-n(p^{-1}-1) \leq \operatorname{Re} \gamma < n$ , when  $\int x^{\alpha}f(x)dx = 0$  hold for  $|\alpha| \leq n(p^{-1}-1)$  and  $p \leq 1$ . For every  $0 and <math>1/q = 1/p - (n-\gamma)/n$ , there exists a constant  $A_{pq}$  such that

$$||f * (|y|^{-\gamma})||_{H^q} \le A_{pq} ||f||_{H^p}$$

The same result holds for  $q = \infty$ ,  $p \le 1$  and  $0 , Re <math>\gamma = n$ .

The development of the complex Hardy space theory can be traced in [78] for  $\mathbb{C}$  and in [13], [66], [70] for  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . The real theory in terms of maximal operators and Calderon-Zygmund decomposition can be found in [18]. Applications of Hardy spaces to several problems of the theory of singular integral operators appeared already in [23]. The general theory and applications can be found in [66], [70] and [68].

# 1.4 Overview of the regularity theory for the real phase

In this section we will give a brief informal overview of the regularity properties of Fourier integral operators. In the sequel by the continuity in  $L^p$  (or from  $L^p$  to  $L^p$ ) we will always understand the continuity (of a linear operator) from  $L^p_{comp}$  to  $L^p_{loc}$ . Because  $L^p$  results may depend on the geometric structure of the wave front of the operator, we will discuss several related problems from the singularity theory of the wave fronts. Singularities arising in the  $L^p$  theory are a particular case of the singularities of affine fibrations, discussed in Chapters 2 and 3.

Let T be a Fourier integral operator with real phase. As in Section 1.1, this means that locally T is of the form

$$Tu(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{i\Phi(x,y,\theta)} a(x,y,\theta) u(y) d\theta dy, \qquad (1.4.1)$$

where  $a \in S^{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  is a symbol of order  $\nu$ . The phase function  $\Phi$  is smooth, real valued, non-degenerate, and positively homogeneous of degree one in  $\theta$ . The Schwartz integral kernels of operators of the form (1.4.1) are Lagrangian distributions (or Fourier integral distributions). The wave front of the Lagrangian distribution of an operator T defines a geometric invariant for the operator T. Indeed, the set

$$WF(T) = \{ (x, d_x \Phi(x, y, \theta), y, d_y \Phi(x, y, \theta)) : d_\theta \Phi(x, y, \theta) = 0 \}$$
(1.4.2)

in the cotangent bundle  $T^*(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m)$  does not depend on the choice of a phase function  $\Phi$ . If  $T^*(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m)$  is equipped with its standard symplectic form, then the conic set in (1.4.2) becomes a Lagrangian submanifold of the cotangent bundle  $T^*(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m)$ . The converse statement is one of the main results of the global theory of Fourier integral operators. It can be formulated more conveniently in the manifold setting. Let X and Y be real smooth manifolds of dimensions n and m, respectively, and in this paper we will assume that n = m. Let  $\sigma_X$  and  $\sigma_Y$  denote the canonical symplectic forms on  $T^*X$  and  $T^*Y$ , respectively. Let C be a conic Lagrangian submanifold of the cotangent bundle  $T^*X \setminus 0 \times T^*Y \setminus 0$  equipped with the symplectic form  $\sigma_X \oplus -\sigma_Y$ . Then C defines a family of Fourier integral operators T with WF(T)' = C, locally of the form (1.4.1). The set C is called the canonical relation. If we fix an order  $\nu$  of a symbol a in (1.4.1), the family of operators T is denoted by  $I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$ , where  $\mu = \nu + (N - n)/2$ . Let us give now several important examples of Fourier integral operators. If we take n = m = N, a = 1, and

$$\Phi(x, y, \theta) = \langle x - y, \theta \rangle, \tag{1.4.3}$$

then the right hand side of (1.4.1) is a composition of the Fourier transform and its inverse in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and T is the identity operator in this case. If a phase function  $\Phi$  of an operator T is given by (1.4.3) and its symbol a is polynomial in  $\theta$ , then T defines a partial differential operator with symbol a. If a phase function  $\Phi$  of T is given by (1.4.3) and its symbol  $a \in S^{\nu}$  is arbitrary, then T defines a pseudo-differential operator with symbol a. The space of pseudo-differential operators of order  $\mu$  is denoted by  $\Psi^{\mu}$ . The solution operator to the wave equation has the phase function of the form  $\Phi(x, y, \theta) = \langle x - y, \theta \rangle + |\theta|$ . In Section 1.5.3 we will give more examples of convolution operators and in Chapter 5 the solution operators to the Cauchy problem for hyperbolic equations will be regarded as Fourier integral operators as well.

In this monograph we will be interested in the continuity properties of the described operators in various function spaces. The best behavior is exhibited by pseudo-differential operators. Thus, pseudo-differential operators  $P \in \Psi^0$  of zero order are continuous (as linear operators) from  $L^p$  to  $L^p$  for all  $1 . Moreover, a pseudo-differential operator <math>P \in \Psi^{\mu}$  of order  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$  can be extended to a continuous operator from the Sobolev space  $L_k^p$  to  $L_{k-\mu}^p$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{R}, k \geq \mu$ , and  $1 . Similar results hold in Lipschitz spaces, operators <math>P \in \Psi^{\mu}$  are continuous from Lip  $(\gamma)$  to Lip  $(\gamma - \mu)$  for all  $\gamma > \mu$ . However, the phase function  $\Phi$  for pseudo-differential operators is of the form (1.4.3) and its canonical relation C is equal to the conormal bundle to the diagonal in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . For the Fourier integral operators the structure of the canonical relation C is much more complicated and their continuity properties depend on the geometric structure of the corresponding canonical relations.

Let  $T \in I^0(X, Y; C)$  be a Fourier integral operator of zero order, associated to the canonical relation C. Let  $\pi_{X \times Y}, \pi_X, \pi_Y$  be the canonical projections:

It turns out that the continuity properties of a Fourier integral operator T rely heavily on singularities of the projections  $\pi_{X \times Y}, \pi_X, \pi_Y$ . Projections  $\pi_X, \pi_Y$  can be diffeomorphic only simultaneously and in this case for every  $\lambda_0 = (x_0, \xi_0, y_0, \eta_0) \in C$  there exists a symplectomorphism  $\chi$  (a diffeomorphism preserving the symplectic structure) in a neighborhood of the point  $(y_0, \eta_0) \in T^*Y \setminus 0$  such that in a neighborhood of  $\lambda_0$ , the canonical relation C has the form

$$\{(x,\xi,y,\eta): (x,\xi) = \chi(y,\eta)\}.$$
(1.4.5)

In this case, C is locally equal to the graph of a canonical symplectic transformation and is called a local canonical graph or just a local graph. It is clear that C being a canonical graph implies that the projections  $\pi_X, \pi_Y$  are diffeomorphic from C to  $T^*X \setminus 0$  and  $T^*Y \setminus 0$ , respectively. In particular, this implies n = m. The converse is also true. In fact, assume that, say,  $\pi_Y : C \to T^*Y \setminus 0$  is a local diffeomorphism. Then, the canonical relation is locally of the form (1.4.5) in  $(y, \eta)$  coordinates and the condition of C to be Lagrangian for  $\sigma_X \oplus -\sigma_Y$ implies that  $\sigma_X \oplus -\sigma_Y$  vanishes on C and  $\sigma_Y = \chi^*(\sigma_X)$ . The latter means that  $\chi^*$  is a symplectomorphism and C is a canonical graph.

## 1.5 Overview of the low rank conditions

In this monograph we will be interested in applications to the hyperbolic partial differential equations, where canonical relations are local canonical graphs. Such operators arise as solution operators of hyperbolic Cauchy problems. In this case, the mapping  $\pi_X|_C \circ \pi_Y^{-1}$  is equal to  $\chi$  in (1.4.5) and defines a local diffeomorphism from  $T^*Y\setminus 0$  to  $T^*X\setminus 0$ . It follows that dimensions of X and Y coincide. Operators  $T \in I^0(X, Y; C)$  with a local canonical graph C are continuous in  $L^2$  ([16], [25], [27]). The proof is based on the fact that the canonical relation of  $T \circ T^*$  is the conormal bundle of the diagonal in  $X \times X$ , and, therefore, it is a pseudo-differential operator of order 0 and hence bounded on  $L^2$ . In general, for  $1 , <math>p \neq 2$ , Fourier integral operators of order zero need not be bounded on  $L^p$ .

From the point of view of the  $L^p$  continuity of Fourier integral operators, pseudo-differential operators and operators arising as solution operators to the wave equation are two opposite cases. The phase function of the latter has the form  $\langle x-y,\xi\rangle + |\xi|$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and Littman ([34]) has shown that the corresponding operators  $T \in I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  are not bounded in  $L^p$  when  $\mu > -(n-1)|1/p$  -1/2. The  $L^p$  properties of solutions to hyperbolic Cauchy problems for the equations of the wave type have been studied in many papers ([67], [44], [40], [3]). Lipschitz and  $L^p$  estimates for the wave equation on compact manifolds were derived in [8] and some results for hyperbolic equations are in [71]. General results on  $L^p$  continuity were obtained in [62]. Let us describe them in more detail. Operators  $T \in I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  are bounded from  $L^{p}_{comp}$  to  $L^{p}_{loc}$  if  $\mu \leq 1$ -(n-1)|1/p-1/2| and this order is sharp if T is elliptic and  $d\pi_{X\times Y}|_C$  has full rank, equal to 2n-1, anywhere. These conditions hold for operators arising as solutions to strictly hyperbolic Cauchy problems in some cases. There is the same loss of order by (n-1)|1/p-1/2| in Sobolev and in Lipschitz spaces (in Lipschitz spaces  $p = \infty$ ). If we denote  $\alpha_p = (n-1)|1/p - 1/2|$ , then operators  $T \in I^{\mu}(X, Y; C)$  are continuous from  $L^p_{\alpha}$  to  $L^p_{\alpha-\alpha_p-\mu}$  and from Lip ( $\alpha$ ) to Lip  $(\alpha - \alpha_{\infty} - \mu)$ . The proof of the  $L^p$  boundedness is based on the complex interpolation method. Having the  $L^2$  boundedness of zero order operators, the problem reduces to showing that operators of order -(n-1)/2 are locally bounded from the Hardy space  $H^1$  to  $L^1$ .

# **1.5** Overview of the low rank conditions

### **1.5.1** Smooth factorization condition

In general, the projection  $\pi_{X \times Y}$  satisfies inequalities

$$n \le \operatorname{rank} d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C \le 2n - 1, \tag{1.5.1}$$

because C is conic. The boundary cases are pseudo-differential operators with no loss of smoothness and solutions to strictly hyperbolic partial differential equations with the loss of (n-1)/2 derivatives. An important ingredient influencing the best order for  $L^p$  continuity is the rank in (1.5.1). Here it is essential that  $p \neq 2$  because the  $L^2$  results do not depend on the rank in (1.5.1). Now, we will formulate the important result due to [62] for the operators in  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$ , which assures the improved  $L^{p}$  regularity under the following condition. The canonical relation C will be said to satisfy the smooth factorization condition, if there exists  $k, 0 \leq k \leq n-1$ , such that  $\pi_{X \times Y}$  can be locally factored by fiber– preserving homogeneous maps on C of constant rank n+k. More precisely, this means that for every  $\lambda_{0} = (x_{0}, \xi_{0}, y_{0}, \eta_{0}) \in C$  there is a conic neighborhood  $U_{\lambda_{0}}$  of  $\lambda_{0}$  in C, and a smooth map  $\pi_{\lambda_{0}} : C \cap U_{\lambda_{0}} \to C$ , homogeneous of degree 0, such that

$$\operatorname{rank} d\pi_{\lambda_0} \equiv n+k,$$
  
$$\pi_{X \times Y}|_{C \cap U_{\lambda_0}} = \pi_{X \times Y} \circ \pi_{\lambda_0}.$$
 (1.5.2)

Under the condition that C is a local graph and under the smooth factorization condition, the operators in  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X,Y;C)$ ,  $1/2 \leq \rho \leq 1$ , are bounded from  $L^{p}_{comp}$  to  $L^{p}_{loc}$  provided  $1 and <math>\mu \leq (-k + (n-k)(1-\rho))|1/p - 1/2|$ .

The smooth factorization condition is not necessary for operators  $T \in I^{\mu}$  with  $\mu \leq -k|1/p - 1/2|$  to be continuous in  $L^p$ . Several examples show that the continuity is possible when the factorization condition fails ([59]).

The relaxation of the smooth factorization condition is an open problem. The best result would be to show that operators  $T \in I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  are bounded from  $L^{p}_{comp}$  to  $L^{p}_{loc}$  provided  $\mu \leq -k|1/p-1/2|, 1 , and rank <math>d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{C} \leq n+k$ . Note that the proof of this result for k = n-1 is based on the continuity result from  $H^{1}$  to  $L^{1}$  for operators of the order -(n-1)/2. One can assume that these operators are also weakly continuous in  $L^{1}$ . However, this problem is still open. The factorization condition is interesting in its own right and it allows fascinating generalizations, which we will discuss in Chapters 2 and 3.

The smooth factorization condition is trivially satisfied in two cases: pseudodifferential operators with k = 0 and the maximal rank case with k = n - 1, where  $\pi_{\lambda_0}$  is the projection along the conical direction. It turns out, that under some natural conditions on the canonical relation C, corresponding to the most important cases, it is extremely difficult to exhibit the failure of the smooth factorization condition.

Now, we will describe the geometric meaning of this condition. On a smooth submanifold  $\Sigma^{\infty}$  of the set  $\Sigma = \pi_{X \times Y}(C)$  the canonical relation can be found back as the conormal bundle  $N^*\Sigma^{\infty}$  of  $\Sigma^{\infty}$ . The set  $\Sigma$  is the singular support of the Schwartz integral kernel of the operator T. The conormal bundle  $N^*\Sigma^{\infty}$  of  $\Sigma^{\infty} \subset X \times Y$  is defined by

$$N^*\Sigma^{\infty} = \{(x,\xi,y,\eta) \in T^*(X \times Y) : (x,y) \in \Sigma^{\infty}, \\ \xi(\delta x) + \eta(\delta y) = 0, \ \forall (\delta x, \delta y) \in T_{(x,y)}\Sigma^{\infty} \}.$$
(1.5.3)

Thus, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
N^* \Sigma^{\infty} & \subset C \\
\downarrow & \pi_{X \times Y} \\
\Sigma^{\infty}
\end{array} \tag{1.5.4}$$

### 1.5 Overview of the low rank conditions

defines a smooth local fibration over  $\Sigma^{\infty}$  with affine fibers. In these terms the factorization condition becomes equivalent to the condition that the smooth fibration of  $N^*\Sigma^{\infty}$  allows a smooth extension to C. This smooth extension is defined by the levels of the mapping  $\pi_{\lambda_0}$ . In Chapters 2 and 3 we will analyze this property with different degrees of smoothness of fibrations. However, the theory becomes much more subtle if we assume that the described fibration over  $\Sigma^{\infty}$  is analytic. The analyticity assumption is quite natural and is almost always satisfied. In fact, if a critical point of a phase function has finite order of degeneracy, then the phase function is actually even a polynomial in a suitably chosen coordinate system in a neighborhood of the critical point. On the other hand, there are very few infinitely degenerate critical points, because the coefficients of the Taylor expansion of such phase function have to satisfy infinitely many independent algebraic equations. Another reason is that the study of Fourier integral operators is often reduced to the asymptotics of the oscillatory integrals corresponding to the associated Lagrangian distributions. However, the asymptotic behavior (as  $\lambda \to \infty$ ) of the oscillatory integrals  $\int e^{\lambda\phi}\psi$  depends essentially on the first terms of Taylor expansion, namely the power of the highest order term of the asymptotic expansion corresponds to the first non-vanishing term of the Taylor expansion ([9], [2]). In particular, the analyticity assumption is satisfied for the propagation operators of hyperbolic partial differential equations with analytic coefficients. The properties of the oscillatory integrals with analytic phase functions were studied in, for example, [2]. The corresponding geometric constructions can be found in [27], [14]. The singularities of wave fronts are analyzed in [1]. The smooth factorization condition is called the holomorphic factorization condition if all mappings in (1.5.2) are analytic (and hence holomorphic after the continuation to a complex domain). We will show, that under the analyticity assumption the holomorphic factorization condition holds in the most important cases. Some results of this type can be found in [52] and [53]. There are alternative presentations of Lagrangian distributions which make use of complex-valued phase functions. Fourier integral operators associated to such functions have been studied in [37] and global representations of Lagrangian distributions were obtained in [33]. A survey of the main theory is in [14].

The converse sharpness results for the wave-type equations can be found in [40], [44], [62] for the case when rank  $d\pi_{X\times Y}|_C = 2n-1$  somewhere. For essentially homogeneous symbols  $(S^{\mu}_{\rho} \text{ with } \rho = 1)$  we will generalize the sharpness results to arbitrary ranks. We will show that the order -k|1/p-1/2| is sharp for all elliptic Fourier integral operators provided rank  $d\pi_{X\times Y}|_C \leq n+k$ . As a consequence it follows that elliptic operators of small negative orders which are continuous in  $L^p$  or from  $L^p$  to  $L^q$  can be obtained as a composition of pseudo-differential operators with Fourier integral operators induced by a smooth coordinate change. Some results of this type appeared in [54] and we will describe them in Section 1.11. There, we will also mention the case of an arbitrary  $\rho$  where the sharpness of the orders for general elliptic operators under a rank restriction condition for the projection  $\pi_{X\times Y}|_C$  is not settled in general. In Chapter 4 we will provide examples of the failure of the factoriza-

tion condition in general and for the canonical relations corresponding to the translation invariant operators in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Now we will briefly describe the smooth factorization condition in terms of the phase function of a Fourier integral operator. From now on, we will replace the frequency variable  $\theta$  by  $\xi$  in the cases when the dimensions of X, Y and the frequency space  $\Xi$  coincide. By the equivalence-of-phase-function theorem (Theorem 1.1.3 below), we can assume that a phase function  $\Phi$  of an operator  $T \in I^{\mu}(X, Y; C)$  is of the form

$$\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x, \xi \rangle - \phi(y, \xi)$$

Therefore, the corresponding wave front is given by

$$\Lambda_{\Phi} = \{ (\nabla_{\xi} \phi(y,\xi), \xi, y, \nabla_{y} \phi(y,\xi)) \}$$

and  $C = \Lambda'_{\Phi} = \{(x, \xi, y, -\eta) : (x, \xi, y, \eta) \in \Lambda_{\Phi}\}$ . The local graph condition is equivalent to

$$\det \phi_{y\xi}^{\prime\prime}(y,\xi) \neq 0 \tag{1.5.5}$$

on the support of the symbol of the operator T. The mapping

$$\gamma(y,\xi)=Y\times\Xi\ni(y,\xi)\mapsto (\nabla_\xi\phi(y,\xi),\xi,y,\nabla_y\phi(y,\xi))\in T^*X\times T^*Y$$

defines a diffeomorphism from  $Y \times \Xi$  to C. The level sets of the mapping  $\pi_{X \times Y} : C \to X \times Y$  correspond to the kernels of the linear mapping  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C$ , or to the kernels of the mapping  $d\pi_{X \times Y} \circ d\gamma$ . It is straightforward that

$$\ker d\pi_{X \times Y} \circ d\gamma(y,\xi) = (0, \ker \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(y,\xi)).$$

Therefore, fibration (1.5.5) reduces to the fibration defined by the kernels  $\ker \phi_{\xi\xi}''(y,\xi)$ , or by the level sets of the mapping  $(y,\xi) \mapsto \nabla_{\xi} \phi(y,\xi)$  on the set where the rank of  $\phi_{\xi\xi}''$  is maximal. A simple example of the failure of the factorization condition is already possible in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . The fibers of the function

$$\phi(y,\xi) = \langle y,\xi \rangle + \frac{1}{\xi_3} (y_1\xi_1 + y_2\xi_2)^2, \qquad (1.5.6)$$

(i.e. the level sets of  $\nabla \phi(y, \xi)$  with respect to  $\xi$ ) are straight lines with the slope equal to  $y_2/y_1$ . It is clear that the corresponding fibration is not continuous at zero. In the case when a phase function is real analytic we will concentrate on its complex extension and on the holomorphic mapping

$$(y,\xi) \mapsto \nabla_{\xi} \phi(y,\xi).$$

Let us discuss the corresponding singularity problem in terms of affine fibrations in more detail.

## **1.5.2** Parametric fibrations

First let us reduce the general manifold setting to open sets in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . It does not restrict the generality since we are interested in local properties of operators. Note that sets X and Y have equal dimensions which follows from the condition that the canonical relation is a local graph. In general, the canonical relation of a Fourier integral operator in  $T^*X \times T^*Y$  can be regarded as a smooth family of Lagrangian submanifolds of  $T^*\mathbb{R}^n$  parameterized by points in  $T^*\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let us first show that from this point of view the ranks of the projection to the base space differ by n. It follows from the equivalence-of-phase-function theorem (Theorem 1.1.3) that a homogeneous canonical relation has the form

$$\Lambda = \{ (\nabla_{\xi} \phi(y,\xi), \xi, y, \nabla_{y} \phi(y,\xi)) \}$$
(1.5.7)

in a neighborhood of a point  $(x_0, \xi_0, y_0, \eta_0)$ . The generating function  $\phi$  satisfies

$$abla_{\xi}\phi(y_0,\xi_0) = x_0, 
abla_{y}\phi(y_0,\xi_0) = \eta_0.$$

The phase function of an operator  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X,Y;\Lambda)$  has the form

$$\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x, \xi \rangle - \phi(y, \xi) \tag{1.5.8}$$

and  $\Lambda = \Lambda_{\Phi}$  is locally the collection of the points

$$\{(\nabla_{\xi}\phi(y,\xi),\xi,y,\nabla_{y}\phi(y,\xi))\}.$$

The set in (1.5.7) will be often denoted by  $\Lambda_{\Phi}$ , with phase function  $\Phi$  as in (1.5.8). Microlocally, the Schwartz kernel of operator T has the form

$$K(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(\langle x,\xi\rangle - \phi(y,\xi))} b(x,y,\xi) d\xi$$
(1.5.9)

with some symbol  $b \in S^{\mu}_{\rho}$ . Therefore, locally, modulo smooth terms, the Schwartz kernels of operators in  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; \Lambda')$  are finite sums of kernels of the form (1.5.9) with symbols  $b \in S^{\mu}_{\rho}$ . Each of the kernels has this form in its own coordinate system.

Therefore, we will assume that X and Y are open sets in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The local graph condition is equivalent to the condition

$$\det \phi_{u\xi}^{\prime\prime}(y,\xi) \neq 0 \tag{1.5.10}$$

on the support of the symbol of T. In this local coordinate system, the projection  $\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda}$  takes the form

$$\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda} : (\nabla_{\xi} \phi(y,\xi),\xi,y,\nabla_{y} \phi(y,\xi)) \mapsto (\nabla_{\xi} \phi(y,\xi),y).$$
(1.5.11)

The level sets of the projection  $\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda}$  can be parameterized by points  $\xi$ , for which the gradient  $\nabla_{\xi}\phi(y,\xi)$  is constant. On the other hand, in view of Proposition 1.1.1 an open submanifold  $\Lambda_0$  of the canonical relation  $\Lambda$  is equal to the conormal bundle  $N^*\Sigma_0$  of a smooth submanifold  $\Sigma_0$  of the set  $\Sigma = \pi_{X \times Y}(\Lambda)$ . It follows that the level set of the projection  $\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda}$  in  $\Lambda_0$  at the point  $(x_0, \xi_0, y_0, \eta_0)$  is a linear subspace of  $T^*_{(x_0, y_0)}(X \times Y)$ . By (1.5.11), these linear subspaces are parameterized by the pairs  $(\xi, \nabla_y \phi(y, \xi))$ . Therefore, points  $\xi$  in the level set of  $\nabla_{\xi} \phi(y, \xi)$  form a linear subspace of the *n*-dimensional frequency space  $\Xi$ . It is clear how this subspace depends on  $(y, \xi)$ :

**Lemma 1.5.1.** The mapping  $\gamma: Y \times \Xi \to T^*X \times T^*Y$  defined by

$$\gamma(y,\xi) = (\nabla_{\xi}\phi(y,\xi),\xi,y,\nabla_{y}\phi(y,\xi))$$

is a diffeomorphism from  $Y \times \Xi$  to  $\Lambda$ . For every  $y \in Y$ , the restriction  $\xi \mapsto \gamma(y,\xi)$  is a diffeomorphism from  $\Xi$  to  $\Lambda \cap (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \{y\} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ , with the inverse given by the projection  $(x,\xi,y,\eta) \mapsto \xi$ .

Therefore, the linear mapping  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda}$  is isomorphic to  $d\pi_{X \times Y} \circ d\gamma|_{Y \times \Xi}$ and, in particular, their kernels are isomorphic. The latter is

$$\ker d\pi_{X \times Y} \circ d\gamma|_{Y \times \Xi}(y,\xi) = \{(\delta y, \delta \xi) : \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(y,\xi) \delta \xi + \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial y \partial \xi}(y,\xi) \delta y = 0, \delta y = 0\}.$$

We obtain

$$\ker d\pi_{X \times Y} \circ d\gamma|_{Y \times \Xi}(y,\xi) = (0, \ker \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(y,\xi)). \tag{1.5.12}$$

We proved the following characterization of the projection in terms of the phase function:

**Theorem 1.5.2.** Let a local graph  $\Lambda$  be defined by the generating phase function

 $\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x, \xi \rangle - \phi(y, \xi)$ . Then, for every  $0 \le k \le n - 1$ , the following statements are equivalent.

- (1) rank  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda_{\Phi}} \leq n+k$ .
- (2) rank  $d\pi_{X \times Y} \circ d\gamma|_{\{y\} \times \Xi} \leq k$  for all  $y \in Y$  and  $\gamma$  from Lemma 1.5.1.
- (3) rank  $\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(y,\xi) \leq k$  for all  $y \in Y$  and  $\xi \in \Xi$ .

**Remark 1.5.3.** By the linearity of the level sets of the projection  $\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda}$ , it follows that the equality

$$\pi_{X \times Y}^{-1}(\pi_{X \times Y}(\lambda)) \cap \Lambda = \ker d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda}(\lambda)$$

holds locally at every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ . On the other hand, if we use linearity of the level sets of the mapping  $\nabla_{\xi} \phi(y,\xi)$  and the isomorphism in (1.5.12), we get that the level sets of the mapping

$$\xi \mapsto \nabla_{\xi} \phi(y,\xi)$$

are defined by the kernels of the matrix  $D^2_{\xi\xi}\phi(y,\xi)$ . The same conclusion follows if we apply the argument of Section 3 to the function  $\phi$  directly.

# 1.5 Overview of the low rank conditions

The level sets of  $\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda}$  correspond to the level sets of the gradient  $\nabla_{\xi}\phi(y,\xi)$ with respect to  $\xi$ . In particular, they are disjoint and are extendible to an open set  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , provided that  $\phi$  is analytic. Therefore, we have fibrations in  $\Omega \cap \mathbb{R}^n$ and  $\Omega$  by the level sets (with respect to  $\xi$ ) of the gradient  $\nabla_{\xi}\phi(y,\xi)$  and its holomorphic extension.

**Remark 1.5.4.** If the maximal rank of  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda}$  equals n + k, we denote by  $\Lambda^{(k)}$  the set on which it is attained. In terms of fibrations, the fibration by linear subspaces in Remark 1.5.3 is also defined by the smooth mapping

$$\varkappa_{\mathbb{R}} : \gamma^{-1}(\Lambda^{(k)}) \ni (y,\xi) \mapsto \ker \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(y,\xi) \in \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$
(1.5.13)

The factorization condition (1.12.2) is equivalent to the condition that the mapping  $\varkappa_{\mathbb{R}} \circ \gamma^{-1}$  is locally smoothly extendible from  $\Lambda^{(k)}$  to  $\Lambda$ . This extension corresponds to the fibration by the kernels ker  $d\pi_{\lambda_0}$ , where  $\pi_{\lambda_0}$  is as in (1.12.2). In terms of fibrations, the set of essential singularities of the mapping  $\varkappa_{\mathbb{R}}$  is equal to  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \cap (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is the set of essential singularities of the complex extension of the mapping  $\varkappa_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

The following example shows that the factorization condition is not trivial. In view of Remarks 1.5.3 and 1.5.4, by Theorem 1.5.2 the factorization condition reduces to the study of the inequality ker  $\phi_{\xi\xi}'(y,\xi) \leq k$ . In this case we have rank  $d\pi_{X\times Y}|_{\Lambda_{\Phi}} \leq n+k$  by Theorem 1.5.2, (3). The function

$$\phi(y,\xi) = \langle y,\xi \rangle + \frac{1}{\xi_n} \sum_{i=2}^{k+1} (y_1\xi_1 + y_i\xi_i)^2$$

satisfies the necessary rank condition in a neighborhood of  $\xi_n = 1$ . On the other hand, we have

$$\nabla_{\xi}\phi(y,\xi) = y + \frac{2}{\xi_n} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \sum_{i=2}^{k+1} (y_1\xi_1 + y_i\xi_i) \\ y_2(y_1\xi_1 + y_2\xi_2) \\ \vdots \\ y_{k-1}(y_1\xi_1 + y_{k-1}\xi_{k-1}) \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ \frac{1}{\xi_n} \sum_{i=2}^{k+1} (y_1\xi_1 + y_i\xi_i)^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.5.14)

For points y with  $y_i \neq 0$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq k+1$ , the level sets in (1.5.14) correspond to the level sets if the mappings  $y_1\xi_1 + y_i\xi_i$ ,  $2 \leq i \leq k+1$ . The direction of the level sets is now determined by fractions  $y_i/y_1$ ,  $2 \leq i \leq k+1$ , which are not continuous at y = 0. We obtain

**Example 1.5.5.** Let  $1 \le k \le n-2$  and let  $x, y, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . The function

$$\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x - y, \xi \rangle - \frac{1}{\xi_n} \sum_{i=2}^{k+1} (y_1 \xi_1 + y_i \xi_i)^2$$

satisfies the rank condition

rank 
$$d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda_{\Phi}} \leq n+k$$

and defines a local canonical graph  $\Lambda_{\Phi}$ , for which the fibration by the level sets of the mapping  $\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda_{\Phi}}$  does not allow a continuous extension over y = 0.

**Remark 1.5.6.** In the case of k = 0, the operators are conormal and their analysis can be reduced to the analysis of pseudo-differential operators by composing them with Fourier integral operators induced by a smooth coordinate transformation (see Section 1.11.2). For such operators, the factorization condition is trivially satisfied. The case of k = n - 1 correspond to the inequality rank  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda} \leq 2n - 1$ , when the factorization condition is satisfied because  $\Lambda$  is conic. In this case, one can take  $\pi_{\lambda_0}$  in (1.12.2) to be the projection in the conic direction.

**Remark 1.5.7.** The failure of the factorization condition implies that the singular support  $\Sigma$  of an operator T can not be a smooth manifold. Indeed, if  $\Sigma$  is a smooth manifold, then  $\Lambda = N^*\Sigma$  and the factorization condition holds. Conversely, the fact that  $\Sigma$  is not smooth does not imply the failure of the factorization condition. For example, let us take a semicubic parabola G in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ :

$$G = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1^2 = x_2^3, x_3 = 0 \}$$

and define  $\Sigma$  by  $\Sigma = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^6 : x - y \in G\}$ . It is straightforward that a corresponding phase function  $\Phi$  has the form

$$\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x - y, \xi \rangle - \frac{4}{27} \frac{\xi_2^3}{\xi_1^2}.$$

It is clear that  $\Sigma$  is not smooth at zero. Meanwhile, the factorization condition holds for  $\Phi$ , which will become clear in Section 4.2.

In Chapter 3, we will discuss fibrations in the real setting in the classes  $C^m$ . For now, we restrict ourselves to one example.

**Example 1.5.8.** For  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  the function

$$\Phi(x,y,\xi) = \langle x-y,\xi \rangle - \frac{1}{\xi_n} (y_1^{k+1} y_2^{k+1} \xi_1 + (y_1^2 + y_2^2) \xi_2)^2, \ y \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

satisfies condition  $\operatorname{rank} D_{\xi}^2 \Phi \leq 1$  and defines a local canonical graph, for which the fibration by level sets of the function  $\nabla_{\xi} \Phi$  is continuously extendible over y = 0. Moreover, this extension is locally  $C^{2k-1}$ , but not  $C^{2k}$ .

### **1.5.3** Operators, commuting with translations

Here we want to give an intuitive argument for the  $L^p$  continuity under the factorization condition for the translation invariant operators. Let X, Y be open sets in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let an operator  $T \in I^{\mu}(X, Y; \Lambda')$  commute with translations.

#### 1.6 Fourier integral operators with complex phase functions 25

It follows that T is a convolution operator with some distribution w. This distribution w is a Lagrangian distribution of order  $\mu$ , associated to some real conic Lagrangian manifold  $C \subset T^*X$ . Let C satisfy the smooth factorization condition. This condition means that the rank of the projection  $\pi : C \to \mathbb{R}^n$  does not exceed k, is equal to k at points in general position, and the projection  $\pi$  can be factored in a composition

$$\pi = \alpha \circ \beta,$$

where  $\beta$  is a fibration from  $\Lambda$  to some k-dimensional smooth manifold M and  $\alpha$  is a smooth mapping from M to  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The mapping  $\alpha$  induces the pullback  $\alpha^*$  from  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $C^{\infty}(M)$  by  $\alpha^* f = f \circ \alpha$  and the pushforward  $\alpha_*$  from  $(C^{\infty})'(M)$  to  $(C_0^{\infty})'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by  $\alpha_* g = g \circ \alpha^*$ . Let  $\mu$  be a smooth positive compactly supported measure in M. Then the distribution  $v = \alpha_* \mu$  defines a Fourier integral distribution with the Lagrangian manifold C, obtained from  $\Lambda$  by fixing an arbitrary point in  $T^*X$ . The pullback  $\alpha_*$  maps measures in M to measure in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , hence v is also a measure in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In order to see that  $v = \alpha_* \mu$  defines a Fourier integral distribution we write v in some local coordinates z in M:

$$\begin{aligned} v(x) &= (2\pi)^{-n} \int \int e^{i\langle x-y,\xi\rangle} v(y) dy d\xi \\ &= (2\pi)^{-n} \int \int e^{i\langle x-y,\xi\rangle} (\alpha_*\mu)(y) dy d\xi \\ &= (2\pi)^{-n} \int \int \alpha_y^* (e^{i\langle x-y,\xi\rangle})(z)\mu(z) dz d\xi \\ &= (2\pi)^{-n} \int \int e^{i\langle x-\alpha(z),\xi\rangle} \mu(z) dz d\xi. \end{aligned}$$

As a candidate for the distribution w above we can take the Fourier integral distribution v. One readily checks that the order of v as a Fourier integral distribution is equal to -k/2. For the convolution operator with v we have the estimate

$$||Tf||_{L^p} = ||v * f||_{L^p} \le v(\mathbb{R}^n)||f||_{L^p},$$

based on the translation invariance of the  $L^p$  norm. Letting p go to one we get the continuity of operators of order -k/2 in  $L^p$  spaces, which corresponds to the expected orders.

# **1.6** Fourier integral operators with complex phase functions

The theory of Fourier integral operators with complex valued phase functions was systematically developed in [37] and good expositions of the theory can be also found in [74], [14], [27]. An approach using positive conic ideals instead of almost analytic extensions is presented in Sections 25.4 and 25.5 in [27]. The  $L^2$  continuity was established in [38] in the case when C is the graph of a positive complex canonical transformation and then was generalized in [26] to more general canonical relations. In the present chapter, under a local graph type condition we will establish  $L^p$  estimates for operators with complex valued phase functions. These results extend results of [62] to the complex case as well as results of [38] to the case of  $L^p$  with any 1 . The result is sharp ifthe imaginary part of the phase function vanishes or is small (see [62], [65], [54]for the arguments in the real case). However, if it becomes large, the regularityproperties can be improved and we will give some conditions for it as well.

Let us note here that the use of complex valued phase function is advantageous in many situations. It is well known that canonical relations of Fourier integral operators do not allow global parameterizations with a single real valued phase function due to the non-triviality of Maslov cohomology class. However, it was shown in [33] that such global parameterizations become possible if one allows phase functions to be complex valued. In this way our estimates allow to apply the regularity theory of Fourier integral operators to certain global problems.

Let  $C \subset (T^*X \setminus 0) \times (T^*Y \setminus 0)$  be a smooth complex positive homogeneous canonical relation, closed in  $T^*(X \times Y) \setminus 0$ . As usual, the tilde denotes an almost analytic extension of the corresponding space.

The  $L^2$  continuity of operators in  $I^0(X, Y; C)$  was established in [38] in the case when C is the graph of a positive complex canonical transformation and then was generalized in [26] to the following formulation. Assume that for every  $\gamma$  in the real subset  $C_{\mathbb{R}}$  of C the maps from  $(T_{\gamma}C)_{\mathbb{R}}$  to the tangent spaces of  $T^*X$  and  $T^*Y$  are injective. Then the operators in  $I^0(X, Y; C)$  are  $L^2$ continuous. Moreover, one can also assume that locally the maps  $C_{\mathbb{R}} \to T^*X \setminus 0$ and  $C_{\mathbb{R}} \to T^*Y \setminus 0$  from the real subset  $C_{\mathbb{R}}$  are injective. In this case the operator  $T \circ T^*$  belongs to  $\Psi^0_{1/2}$ , which imply the  $L^2$  continuity of T.

The proof of  $L^p$  estimates in Theorem 1.7.1 consists of a standard complex interpolation argument between the  $L^2$  continuity of zero order operators and the continuity from  $H^1$  to  $L^1$  of operators of order -(n-1)/2 in Theorem 1.7.2. In order to establish the latter it is sufficient to obtain uniform bounds for all atoms due to the atomic decomposition of  $H^1$ . If the support of an atom is large, the estimates follow easily from the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality. However, if the support is small, we need an additional almost orthogonality argument. Applying a refined Littlewood-Paley decomposition to the operators, it is possible to replace the phase function by its linear approximation on every dyadic region in the frequency space. Then we have to take into account the fact that the phase function is complex valued. It turns out that we can replace it by a non-degenerate real valued phase function in the integration by parts argument and still have the desired estimates for the kernels. The singular support of the integral kernel can also be replaced by the singular support of the corresponding operator with a real valued phase function and the exceptional set is constructed for this new operator. Let us note here that we can deduce certain  $L^p$  properties of operators by applying corresponding results for operators with real valued phase functions. Below we give an argument, from which it follows that operators with complex phase of order  $\mu$  are continuous from  $L^p_{comp}$  to  $L^p_{loc}$ , provided  $\mu \leq -(n-1/2)|1/p-1/2|$ . This estimate follows from the observation that we can always regard an operator with complex phase as an operator with real phase of the same order and of type 1/2. However, we will see that the bound above is never sharp, even for elliptic operators. This is the reason why a more refined analysis is necessary, and the local graph type assumption (1.7.2) in Theorem 1.7.1 will be used to relate dyadic peaces of the operator to some operators with real phase, for which we can perform the integration by parts procedure.

By the standard duality argument we get the estimates in Lipschitz space. We also establish the continuity from  $L^2$  to  $L^p$  by reducing the operators to fractional integrals. This result is applied to analyze the regularity properties of a parametrix in Section 5.5. We also derive  $L^{p}-L^{q}$  properties of Fourier integral operators with complex phase and these properties are in general sharp as well. In Section 1.7 we consider the case of  $I^{\mu}$  with complex phases and in Section 1.12 we consider the general case  $I^{\mu}_{\rho}$ ,  $1/2 \leq \rho 1$ , and the smooth factorization type condition. In Section 1.10 we discuss  $L^{p}-L^{q}$  estimates as well as other spaces.

# **1.7** Estimates for operators with complex phases

Let X and Y be smooth manifolds of dimension n and let  $C \subset (T^*X\setminus 0) \times (T^*Y\setminus 0)$  be a complex positive homogeneous canonical relation. Let  $T \in I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  be a Fourier integral operator of order  $\mu$ . As usual, modulo  $C^{\infty}$  we can write T locally as an integral operator with the kernel

$$A(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{i\Phi(x,y,\theta)} a(x,y,\theta) d\theta, \qquad (1.7.1)$$

where a is a symbol of order  $\mu + (n - N)/2$  and  $\Phi$  is a smooth regular phase function of positive type. By the equivalence-of-phase-function theorem, we can always write the kernel of a Fourier integral operator T in the form (1.7.1) with N = n. Therefore, in this monograph without loss of generality we will always assume N = n. By the symbol class  $S^m$  in this section we will always mean the symbol class  $S_{1,0}^m$  unless we state otherwise. The notation  $a(x, y, \theta) \in S^m$ means that it is a smooth function, satisfying

$$|\partial_{x,y}^{\alpha}\partial_{\theta}^{\beta}a(x,y,\theta)| \le C_{\alpha\beta}(1+|\theta|)^{m-|\beta|}.$$

Let  $C \subset (T^*X \setminus 0) \times (T^*Y \setminus 0)$  be a smooth complex positive homogeneous canonical relation which is closed in  $T^*(\widetilde{X \times Y}) \setminus 0$ . Let  $\Phi$  be a regular phase function of positive type, locally parameterizing C. Our main assumption will be that there exists  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that

(L) Re  $\Phi + \tau$  Im  $\Phi$  defines a local graph in  $T^*(X \times Y) \setminus 0$ .

Locally, this means that

$$\det \partial_x \partial_\theta (\operatorname{Re} \Phi + \tau \operatorname{Im} \Phi) \neq 0, \quad \det \partial_y \partial_\theta (\operatorname{Re} \Phi + \tau \operatorname{Im} \Phi) \neq 0 \qquad (1.7.2)$$

on the support of the symbol a. Condition (1.7.2) is an analogue of the local graph condition. For example, if Im  $\Phi = 0$ , it is equivalent to the local graph

condition for C saying that the projections from  $C_{\mathbb{R}}$  to  $T^*X$  and  $T^*Y$  are locally diffeomorphic. In general, as it will be clear from Lemma 1.8.1, assumption (1.7.2) with  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  is equivalent to the same assumption with some  $\tau \in \mathbb{C}$ . Indeed, the determinants in (1.7.2) are polynomial in  $\tau$ , which means that if (1.7.2) holds for some  $\tau$ , it also holds for all but finitely many  $\tau$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Therefore, (L) is equivalent to the existence of  $\tau \in \mathbb{C}$  such that (1.7.2) hold on the support of the symbol of a.

We should also note that condition (1.7.2) is invariant in the following sense. Given an operator  $T \in I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$ , according to [33], there exists a *single* complex valued phase function  $\Phi$ , which parameterizes C globally. Such  $\Phi$  does not depend on a particular choice of the coordinate system in  $(x, y, \theta)$ -variables. Note finally, that in the general case with  $N \geq n$  condition (1.7.2) should be replaced by condition that the rank of the matrix  $\partial_x \partial_{\theta}$  (Re  $\Phi + \tau \operatorname{Im} \Phi$ ) equals n.

**Theorem 1.7.1.** Let  $C \subset (T^*X \setminus 0) \times (T^*\widetilde{Y \setminus 0})$  be a smooth complex positive homogeneous canonical relation which is closed in  $T^*(\widetilde{X \times Y}) \setminus 0$ . Let  $\Phi$  be a regular phase function of positive type, locally parameterizing C. Assume that condition (L) holds. Let  $\mu \leq -(n-1)|1/p-1/2|$ ,  $1 . Then the operators in <math>I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  are continuous from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$ to  $L^p_{loc}(X)$ .

Note that the conditions of Theorem 1.7.1 imply the  $L^2$  continuity of  $I^0(X, Y; C)$  (as in [26, Theorem 3.5]), which we will freely use in the rest of the paper. Let us, however, give a more direct argument for  $L^2$  continuity.

There is a simple argument showing certain  $L^p$  properties. It also shows that Theorem 1.7.1 does not not follow from its real valued counterpart. Using assumption (L), we can always write the operator  $T \in I^{\mu}(X, Y; C)$  in the form

$$Tf(x) = \int e^{i(\operatorname{Re} \Phi + \tau \operatorname{Im} \Phi)} a(x, y, \theta) e^{-(1+i\tau) \operatorname{Im} \Phi} f(y) d\theta dy, \qquad (1.7.3)$$

with real  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  and with the phase function Re  $\Phi + \tau$  Im  $\Phi$  defining a real canonical relation which is a local graph (condition (L)). The symbol of this operator is

$$a(x,y, heta)e^{-(1+i au)\,\operatorname{Im}\,\Phi(x,y, heta)}$$

and it belongs to  $S_{1/2}^{\mu}$  if  $a \in S^{\mu}$ . This follows from the fact that  $e^{-(1+i\tau) \operatorname{Im} \Phi} \in S_{1/2}^{0}$ . See Lemma 5.3 in [38] for the detailed argument. Regarding T as an Fourier integral operator with real phase in  $I_{1/2}^{\mu}$ , we get that T is bounded on  $L^{p}$  when  $\mu \leq -(n-1/2)|1/p-1/2|$ , according to Section 1.5.1. However, this order is not as good as the one in Theorem 1.7.1. In order to improve this order in Theorem 1.7.1, we need to avoid the reduction to a real phase function and perform the almost orthogonality argument in the complex case. Thus, for the proof we will make a construction similar to the real case as in [62], making some necessary modifications. However, this argument already shows the  $L^{2}$  boundedness of operators of order zero. Indeed, according to (1.7.3), we can

## 1.7 Estimates for operators with complex phases

view T in Theorem 1.7.1 as a Fourier integral operator with real phase, of order zero and type 1/2. It now follows from, for example [20], that T is bounded on  $L^2$ .

One can simplify the kernel (1.7.1) in the following way (see also the proof of Theorem 3.5 in [26]). Let  $\gamma = (x_0, \xi_0, y_0, \eta_0) \in C_{\mathbb{R}}$  and let  $\Phi(x, y, \theta)$  be a regular phase function of positive type at  $(x_0, \xi_0, y_0, \theta_0)$ . The corresponding canonical relation will be denoted by  $C_{\Phi}$ . Then  $\xi_0 = \Phi'_x(x_0, y_0, \theta_0)$  and  $\eta_0 = -\Phi'_y(x_0, y_0, \theta_0)$  are real. Assume that  $\xi_0$  and  $\eta_0$  are nonzero and that the critical point of  $\Phi(x, y, \theta) + \langle y, \eta \rangle$  as a function of  $y, \theta$  is non-degenerate at  $(y_0, \theta_0)$ ,  $x = x_0, \eta = \eta_0$ . Let  $\phi(x, \eta)$  be the critical value of an almost analytic extension of  $\Phi(x, y, \theta) + \langle y, \eta \rangle$ . Thus means that  $\phi(x, \eta) = \Phi(x, y, \theta) + \langle y, \eta \rangle$  at the points where  $\partial \Phi/\partial y = -\eta$  and  $\partial \Phi/\partial \theta = 0$ . The almost analytic continuation of  $C_{\Phi}$ is

$$\widetilde{C}_{\Phi} = \left\{ \left( x, \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial x}, y, -\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial y} \right), \ \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \theta} = 0 \right\}$$
(1.7.4)

and  $\phi(x,\eta) - \langle y,\eta \rangle$  defines the complex canonical relation

$$\left\{ \left(x, \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \eta}, \eta\right) \right\}.$$
 (1.7.5)

At the critical points  $\partial \Phi / \partial \theta = 0$  the canonical relations (1.7.4) and (1.7.5) are equal. According to Lemma 2.1 of [37] the function  $\phi$  is of positive type and by Theorem 4.2 of [37] for classical symbols the kernel (1.7.1) can be given by

$$A(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(\phi(x,\eta) - \langle y,\eta \rangle)} a(x,y,\eta) d\eta, \qquad (1.7.6)$$

where  $a \in S^{\mu}$  and  $\phi$  is of positive type. Localizing by partitions of unity, may assume that the symbol *a* is compactly supported in *x* and *y*. By the complex interpolation techniques, we will show that Theorem 1.7.1 follows from the following endpoint result.

**Theorem 1.7.2.** Let  $C \subset (T^*X \setminus 0) \times (T^*Y \setminus 0)$  be a smooth complex positive homogeneous canonical relation satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.7.1. Let  $T \in I^{-(n-1)/2}(X,Y;C)$  be an operator with the integral kernel locally given by (1.7.6). Then T is continuous from  $H^1$  to  $L^1$ .

Let us make some remarks about the sharpness of the orders above. In the case Im  $\Phi = 0$ , the operator has a real phase function and the estimates in Theorem 1.7.1 are sharp if the rank of the canonical projection from  $C \subset T^*(X \times Y)$  to  $X \times Y$  has maximal rank equal to 2n-1 at some point. However, when Im  $\Phi$  becomes strictly positive and large, we can make certain improvements using representation (1.7.3) of T. Thus, in general one can expect the improved estimates since the symbol in (1.7.6) behaves like  $|\eta|$ , T regarded as an operator with real valued phase function, is a smoothing operator. In general, if  $m \geq 0$ ,  $1/2 \leq \rho \leq 1$  are such that

$$e^{-\operatorname{Im}\phi} \in S^{-m}_{\rho,1-\rho},$$

then T is a bounded operator from  $L_{comp}^p$  to  $L_{loc}^p$ , provided  $\mu \leq -(n-\rho)|1/p - 1/2| + m$ ,  $1 . This follows easily from the real phase results. Indeed, according to Lemma 1.8.1 below, there is <math>0 < \epsilon < 1$ , such that  $\Psi = \text{Re } \Phi + \epsilon i \text{ Im } \Phi$  is a non-degenerate phase function of positive type and such that  $C_{\Psi}$  satisfies the conditions of Theorem 1.7.1. It follows, that we can regard T as a composition of an operator with phase function  $\Psi$  and symbol of order  $\mu$ , with a pseudo-differential operator of order -m. Since this pseudo-differential operator is bounded from  $L^p$  to  $L_m^p$ , we obtain the statement.

# **1.8** A relation between real and complex phases

We begin with an observation relating our operators to the real Lagrangian distributions.

**Lemma 1.8.1.** Let  $\Lambda \subset T^*X \setminus 0$  be a closed conic positive Lagrangian manifold. Let  $\phi(x, \theta) \in C^{\infty}(\Gamma), \Gamma \subset X \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus 0)$ , be a non-degenerate phase function which generates  $\Lambda$  locally near  $(x_0, \theta_0) \in (C_{\phi})_{\mathbb{R}}$ . Then the matrix

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\phi_{\theta x}^{\prime\prime},\phi_{\theta \theta}^{\prime\prime}\right)+\mu\operatorname{Im}\left(\phi_{\theta x}^{\prime\prime},\phi_{\theta \theta}^{\prime\prime}\right)$$
(1.8.1)

has rank N at  $(x_0, \theta_0)$  for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$  in the complement of a discrete subset of  $\mathbb{C}$ .

Suppose, in addition, that  $N \ge n$  and that there exists  $\tau \in \mathbb{C}$  such that

rank ( Re 
$$\phi_{xn}'' + \tau \operatorname{Im} \phi_{xn}'') = n.$$

Then the rank of

$$\operatorname{Re} \phi_{xn}^{\prime\prime} + \mu \operatorname{Im} \phi_{xn}^{\prime\prime} \tag{1.8.2}$$

is maximal, equal to n, for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$  in the complement of a discrete subset of  $\mathbb{C}$ .

**Proof.** The fact that  $\phi$  is non-degenerate means that the matrix

Re 
$$(\phi_{\theta x}^{\prime\prime}, \phi_{\theta \theta}^{\prime\prime}) + \mu$$
 Im  $(\phi_{\theta x}^{\prime\prime}, \phi_{\theta \theta}^{\prime\prime})$ 

has rank N at  $(x_0, \theta_0)$  for  $\mu = i$ . The rank condition is an algebraic condition in  $\mu$  which implies the statement. For the second part, the rank condition for (1.8.2) is algebraic and open,  $n \leq N$ , therefore we obtain the second statement.

**Remark 1.8.2.** The argument of Lemma 1.8.1 can be used in order to show that there exists a real conic Lagrangian manifold  $\Lambda_0$ , containing  $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}$ , such that  $I_{\rho}^{\mu}(X,\Lambda) \subset I_{1/2}^{\mu}(X,\Lambda_0)$  for every  $\rho > 1/2$ .

In order to see it one finds a non-degenerate matrix in (1.8.1) with real  $\tau$ and writes  $u \in I^{\mu}_{o}(X, \Lambda)$  as

$$u(x) = \int e^{i(\operatorname{Re}\phi + \tau \operatorname{Im}\phi)} a(x,\theta) e^{-(1+i\tau)\operatorname{Im}\phi} d\theta.$$
(1.8.3)
### 1.9 Proofs

Then the phase function in the first exponent in (1.8.3) defines a real Lagrangian manifold  $\Lambda_0$ , meanwhile

$$e^{-(1+i\tau) \operatorname{Im} \phi} \in S_{1/2}^0. \tag{1.8.4}$$

Let us make some observations, clarifying the symplectic aspects of the problem. Let  $C \subset (T^*X \setminus 0) \times (T^*Y \setminus 0)$  be a smooth complex positive homogeneous canonical relation such that for every  $\gamma \in C_{\mathbb{R}}$  the projections  $(T_{\gamma}C)_{\mathbb{R}} \to T(T^*X)$  and  $(T_{\gamma}C)_{\mathbb{R}} \to T(T^*Y)$  are bijective. It is sufficient to restrict ourselves to the linear case first. Let  $S_1, S_2$  be real symplectic finite dimensional vector spaces with complexifications  $S_{1\mathbb{C}}, S_{2\mathbb{C}}$ , and with complexified symplectic forms  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$ . Let  $\Lambda \subset S_{1\mathbb{C}} \oplus S_{2\mathbb{C}}$  be a linear positive canonical relation from  $S_2$  to  $S_1$ . It means that  $\Lambda$  is a linear complex subspace of  $S_{1\mathbb{C}} \oplus S_{2\mathbb{C}}$ , Lagrangian with respect to the difference  $\sigma_1 - \sigma_2$ , where  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  are lifted to  $S_1 \oplus S_2$ , and such that

$$i^{-1}(\sigma_1(X,\bar{X}) - \sigma_2(Y,\bar{Y})) \ge 0, \ (X,Y) \in \Lambda.$$

Suppose that the projections of  $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}} = \Lambda \cap (S_1 \oplus S_2)$  to  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  are bijective. Let

$$\lambda_1 = \{ X \in S_{1\mathbb{C}} : (X, 0) \in \Lambda \}, \ \lambda_2 = \{ X \in S_{2\mathbb{C}} : (0, X) \in \Lambda \},$$
(1.8.5)

let

$$S_{12} = \{ \text{Re } X : X \in \lambda_1 \}, S_{22} = \{ \text{Re } X : X \in \lambda_2 \}$$

and let  $S_{11}$  and  $S_{21}$  be symplectically orthogonal complements of  $S_{12}$  and  $S_{22}$ in  $S_1$  and  $S_2$ , respectively. Then we have  $S_1 = S_{11} \oplus S_{12}$  and  $S_2 = S_{21} \oplus S_{22}$ . It follows from Lemma 3.3 in [26] that the decomposition

$$\Lambda = \Lambda_0 \oplus \lambda_1 \oplus \lambda_2$$

is unique, where  $\lambda_1$  ( $\lambda_2$ ) is a strictly positive (negative) Lagrangian plane in  $S_{12\mathbb{C}}$  ( $S_{12\mathbb{C}}$ ), respectively, and  $\Lambda_0$  is the graph of a symplectic isomorphism from  $S_{21\mathbb{C}}$  to  $S_{11\mathbb{C}}$ . The planes  $\lambda_1$  and  $\lambda_2$  in this decomposition are given by (1.8.5). If we assume that  $\lambda_j = \lambda_{j\mathbb{R}} \oplus i\lambda_{j\mathbb{R}}$  for j = 0 or 1, we get  $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}} = \Lambda_{0\mathbb{R}} \oplus \lambda_{1\mathbb{R}} \oplus \lambda_{2\mathbb{R}}$ . The set  $\lambda_{1\mathbb{R}}$  consists of  $X \in S_1$  with  $(X, 0) \in \Lambda$ . However, in this case  $(X, 0) \in \Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}$  and hence X = 0. The same argument applies to  $\lambda_2$  and we obtain that  $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \{0\}$  and  $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$  is the graph of a symplectic isomorphism from  $S_{2\mathbb{C}}$  to  $S_{1\mathbb{C}}$ . This would also imply that C is locally a graph of a symplectomorphism from from from  $\widehat{T^*X}$  to  $\widehat{T^*Y}$ .

## 1.9 Proofs

Let us now prove Theorem 1.7.2. For a function  $f \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we will use its atomic decomposition

$$f = \sum_{Q} \alpha_Q a_Q,$$

similar to the one described in Section 1.3, where  $\sum |\alpha_Q|$  is comparable to  $||f||_{H_1}$  and the atoms  $a_Q \in H^1$  satisfy

- (1) Every  $a_Q$  is supported in the cube  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ .
- (2)  $||a_Q||_{\infty} \leq |Q|^{-1}$ .
- (3) The cancellation property  $\int_{\Omega} a(y) dy = 0$ .

Therefore it is sufficient to establish the uniform estimate  $||Ta_Q||_{L^1} \leq C$  for all atoms  $a_Q$  with small cubes Q. In fact, if the sidelength of Q is larger than one, the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality and  $L^2$  continuity of T imply

$$||Ta_Q||_{L^1} \le C|Q|^{1/2} ||Ta_Q||_{L^2} \le C'|Q|^{1/2} ||a_Q||_{L^2},$$

which is uniformly bounded by the second property of the atoms.

The idea of the proof for small cubes Q is to make a dyadic decomposition of T and to replace T by an operator with a complex linear phase function of positive type. For every such operator we make integration by parts replacing the complex phase function by a non-degenerate real phase function according to Lemma 1.8.1.

For every  $\lambda = 2^j$  we consider the set  $\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  of points on the unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ ,  $|\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}| = 1$ , such that  $|\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu} - \eta_{\lambda}^{\nu'}| \ge \lambda^{-1/2}$  if  $\nu \neq \nu'$ , and for every  $\eta \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  there exists a  $\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  with  $|\eta - \eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}| \le \lambda^{-1/2}$ . Let  $N(\lambda)$  be the maximal number of points  $\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  for a fixed  $\lambda$ . It it easy to see that

$$N(\lambda) = O(\lambda^{(n-1)/2}).$$
 (1.9.1)

The points  $\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}$  define a set of roughly equally distributed directions in the phase space. Let

$$\Gamma_{\lambda}^{\nu} = \{\eta : |\eta/|\eta| - \eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}| \le 2\lambda^{-1/2}\}$$

be the corresponding conical decomposition of the  $\eta$ -space. Let  $\chi^{\nu}_{\lambda}$  be an associated partition of unity (see [68, IX.4.4]). The functions  $\chi^{\nu}_{\lambda}$  are homogeneous of degree 0 in  $\eta$  such that

- (i) Every  $\chi^{\nu}_{\lambda}$  is supported in  $\Gamma^{\nu}_{\lambda}$ .
- (ii) For all  $\eta \neq 0$  and all  $\lambda$  holds  $\sum_{\nu} \chi_{\lambda}^{\nu}(\eta) = 1$ .
- (iii)  $|\partial_n^{\alpha} \chi_{\lambda}^{\nu}(\eta)| \leq A_{\alpha} \lambda^{|\alpha|/2} |\eta|^{-|\alpha|}.$

Such family can be constructed by taking a smooth non-negative function  $\beta(u)$ , supported in  $|u| \leq 2$ , and equal to one in  $|u| \leq 1$ . Then one defines

$$\beta_{\lambda}^{\nu}(\eta) = \beta(\lambda^{1/2}[\eta/|\eta| - \eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}])$$

and

$$\chi_{\lambda}^{\nu} = \beta_{\lambda}^{\nu} \left( \sum_{\nu} \beta_{\lambda}^{\nu} \right)^{-1}.$$
 (1.9.2)

### 1.9 Proofs

Let  $\theta_{\lambda}$  be a dyadic decomposition in the phase space. Let  $\theta$  be a smooth function supported in the interval (1/4, 1) such  $\sum_{l} \theta(2^{-l}s) = 1$  for all s > 0. Let  $\theta_{\lambda}(\eta) = \theta(\lambda^{-1}\eta)$ . Let  $\theta_{0} = 1 - \sum_{l>0} \theta_{2^{l}}$ . that

**Lemma 1.9.1.** Let  $a_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x, y, \eta) = \chi_{\lambda}^{\nu}(\eta)\theta_{\lambda}(\eta)a(x, y, \eta)$ . Define

$$A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(\phi(x,\eta) - \langle y,\eta \rangle)} a_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\eta) d\eta$$

Then for all  $y, y' \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we have

$$\int |A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y)| dx \le C\lambda^{-(n-1)/2}, \text{ and}$$
(1.9.3)

$$\int |A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y) - A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y')| dx \le C |y - y'| \lambda \cdot \lambda^{-(n-1)/2}.$$
 (1.9.4)

**Proof.** By a rotation we assume that  $\eta_1 = \eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  and  $\eta' = (\eta_2, \ldots, \eta_n)$  is perpendicular to  $\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . Denote

$$r(\eta) = \phi(x,\eta) - \langle \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}),\eta \rangle.$$

Then the original phase function is

$$\begin{array}{lll} \phi(x,\eta) - \langle y,\eta\rangle & = & \langle \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}) - y,\eta\rangle(\phi(x,\eta) - \langle \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}),\eta\rangle) \\ & = & \langle \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}) - y,\eta\rangle + r(\eta). \end{array}$$

We have the following estimates for  $r(\eta)$ :

$$\left| \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_1} \right)^N r(\eta) \right| \le C_N \lambda^{-N}, \tag{1.9.5}$$

$$|(\nabla_{\eta'})^N r(\eta)| \le C_N \lambda^{-N/2}, \qquad (1.9.6)$$

if  $N \geq 1$  and  $\eta \in \text{supp } a_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x, y, \eta)$ . Estimates (1.9.5) and (1.9.6) hold for Re r and  $\operatorname{Im} r$  in view of their homogeneity, since the first two terms in the Taylor expansion vanish at  $\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . It follows then that (1.9.5), (1.9.6), also hold for  $r(\eta)$ . We can rewrite  $A_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  as

$$A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i\langle \phi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}) - y,\eta \rangle} b_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\eta) d\eta, \qquad (1.9.7)$$

where  $b_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x, y, \eta) = e^{ir(\eta)}\chi_{\lambda}^{\nu}(\eta)\theta_{\lambda}(\eta)a(x, y, \eta)$ . Define the self adjoint operator

$$L_{\lambda}^{\nu} = \left(I - \lambda^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \eta_1^2}\right) (I - \lambda \langle \nabla_{\eta'}, \nabla_{\eta'} \rangle).$$
(1.9.8)

The fact that  $a\in S^{-(n-1)/2}$  and the choice of  $\chi_\lambda^\nu$  imply that

$$|(L_{\lambda}^{\nu})^{N} a_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x, y, \eta)| \le C_{N} \lambda^{-(n-1)/2}$$
(1.9.9)

and in view of (1.9.5) and (1.9.6) the same estimate holds for  $b_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x, y, \eta)$ . Integration by parts implies

$$A^{\nu}_{\lambda}(x,y) = H^{\nu}_{\lambda}(x,y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (L^{\nu}_{\lambda})^N b^{\nu}_{\lambda}(x,y,\eta) e^{i\langle \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}) - y,\eta \rangle} d\eta, \qquad (1.9.10)$$

where

$$H_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y) = \left(1 + \lambda^2 |(\phi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}') - y)_1|^2\right)^{-N} \left(1 + \lambda |(\phi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}') - y)'|^2\right)^{-N}.$$
(1.9.11)

We will need the following

**Lemma 1.9.2.** Let  $z, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$  and let  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$  be such that  $|\mu| \leq 1/4$ . Then

$$1 + \lambda |z - \alpha - i\beta|^2 \ge 1/2(1 + \lambda (z - \alpha - \mu\beta)^2)$$

for every  $\lambda \geq 0$ .

**Proof.** The case with  $\mu = 0$  is easy. Assume that  $\mu > 0$ . We have

$$(z - \alpha - \mu\beta)^{2} + (1 + \mu^{2})\beta^{2} - |z - \alpha - i\beta|^{2} = 2\mu\beta(\mu\beta + \alpha - z),$$

which implies

$$(z-\alpha-\mu\beta)^2+(1+\mu^2)\beta^2\leq |z-\alpha-i\beta|^2+2\mu|\beta||z-\alpha-\mu\beta|$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} 1+\lambda|z-\alpha-i\beta|^2 &\geq \\ 1+\lambda\left[(1+\mu^2)\beta^2+(z-\alpha-\mu\beta)^2-2\mu|\beta||z-\alpha-\mu\beta|\right]. \end{split}$$

The statement would follow from the inequality

$$2\mu|\beta||z - \alpha - \mu\beta| \le \frac{1}{2} \left( (1 + \mu^2)\beta^2 + (z - \alpha - \mu\beta)^2 \right).$$
 (1.9.12)

Let's consider two cases. First, assume that  $\mu|\beta| \leq \frac{1}{4}|z - \alpha - \mu\beta|$ . Then

$$2\mu|\beta||z - \alpha - \mu\beta| \le \frac{1}{2}(z - \alpha - \mu\beta)^2,$$

implying (1.9.12). On the other hand, if  $\mu|\beta| \ge \frac{1}{4}|z - \alpha - \mu\beta|$ , we get

$$\frac{(1+\mu^2)\beta^2}{2\mu|\beta|} \ge \frac{1+\mu^2}{2\mu^2}\mu|\beta| \ge \frac{1+\mu^2}{2\mu^2}\frac{1}{4}|z-\alpha-\mu\beta| \ge 2|z-\alpha-\mu\beta|$$

### 1.9 Proofs

when  $\mu \leq 1/4$ . Thus, (1.9.12) follows. The case  $\mu < 0$  is similar. The proof of the lemma is complete.

We now apply Lemma 1.9.2 to  $(\phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda})-y)$  with  $\mu \leq 1/4$ . It follows that  $H^{\nu}_{\lambda}(x,y) \leq 2^{-2N}C_N(1+\lambda^2)(\operatorname{Re} \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda})+\mu \operatorname{Im} \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda})-y)_1|^2)^{-N}$ (1.9.13)

$$\left(1+\lambda|(\operatorname{Re}\phi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu})+\mu\operatorname{Im}\phi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu})-y)'|^{2}\right)^{-N}$$

for any  $\mu \leq 1/4$ . We fix  $0 < \mu < 1/4$  for which the matrices in Lemma 1.8.1 have maximal ranks (we write  $\mu$  rather than  $\tau$  to emphasize that  $\mu$  is real). Then the mapping

$$x \mapsto \operatorname{Re} \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}) + \mu \operatorname{Im} \phi'_{\eta}(x,\eta^{\nu}_{\lambda})$$

is non-degenerate, implying that  $\int |H_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y)| dx \leq C\lambda^{-(n+1)/2}$  if N > n/2. Since the support of  $b_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\eta)$  has volume at most  $\lambda \cdot \lambda^{(n-1)/2}$  and estimate (1.9.9) holds for  $b_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ , the integral in (1.9.10) is bounded by  $\lambda$ . Estimate (1.9.3) now follows. Differentiation in y introduces a factor bounded by  $\lambda$ , so we get

$$\int |\nabla_y A_\lambda^\nu(x,y)| dx \le C\lambda \cdot \lambda^{-(n-1)/2},$$

which implies (1.9.4).

In order to take into account the singular support of the operator, we define an exceptional set with respect to the real valued phase function  $\psi = \operatorname{Re} \phi + \mu \operatorname{Im} \phi$  for a fixed  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$  as above. Let the atom  $a_Q$  be supported in the cube Q centered at  $y_0$  and with sidelength  $\delta$ . For every  $\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  define a rectangle

$$R_{\lambda}^{\nu} = \{ x : |y_0 - \psi_{\eta}'(x, \eta_{\lambda}^{\nu})| \le c\lambda^{-1/2}, |\pi_{\lambda}^{\nu}(y_0 - \psi_{\eta}'(x, \eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}))| \le c\lambda^{-1} \}, \quad (1.9.14)$$

where  $\pi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  is the orthogonal projection in the direction of  $\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . Let  $N_Q = \bigcup_{\nu} R_{\delta^{-1}}^{\nu}$ . Then because the mapping  $\psi_{\eta}'(x,\eta)$  has a non-vanishing Jacobian in x for every  $\eta$ , we get

$$|N_Q| \le C_1 N(\delta^{-1}) (\delta^{-1})^{-(n+1)/2} \le C_2 \delta.$$

**Lemma 1.9.3.** Let Q and  $\delta$  be as above. Then for every  $y \in Q$  and  $\lambda \geq \delta^{-1}$  holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus N_Q} |A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y)| dx \le C \lambda^{-1} \delta^{-1} \lambda^{-(n-1)/2}.$$
(1.9.15)

**Proof.** We will argue similar to [68, IX.4.7] with a difference that we replace the phase function by its real modification. According to the choice of the set  $\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ , there exists a unit vector  $\eta_{\delta^{-1}}^{\varkappa}$  such that  $|\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu} - \eta_{\delta^{-1}}^{\varkappa}| \leq \delta^{1/2}$ . Since  $N_Q = \bigcup_{\nu} R_{\delta^{-1}}^{\nu}$ ,  $x \notin N_Q$  implies  $x \notin R_{\delta^{-1}}^{\varkappa}$ , which in view of (1.9.14) means

$$\delta^{-1/2} |y_0 - \psi'_{\eta}(x, \eta^{\varkappa}_{\delta^{-1}})| + \delta^{-1} |\pi^{\varkappa}_{\delta^{-1}}(y_0 - \psi'_{\eta}(x, \eta^{\varkappa}_{\delta^{-1}}))| \ge c.$$
(1.9.16)

### Chapter 1. Fourier integral operators

We have  $|y - y_0| \leq \delta$  because  $y \in Q$ , and since c can be assumed sufficiently large, applying triangle inequality to (1.9.16) and multiplying by  $\lambda\delta$ , we obtain

$$\lambda |(y - \psi'_{\eta}(x, \eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}))_{1}| + \lambda^{1/2} |(y - \psi'_{\eta}(x, \eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}))'| \ge \tilde{c}\lambda\delta$$
(1.9.17)

when  $\lambda \geq \delta^{-1}$ . Now we can perform the integration by parts argument as in (1.9.10) and insert (1.9.17) into (1.9.3). We use the estimates

$$(1+\alpha^2)^{-N}(1+\beta^2)^{-N} \le 2^{2N}(1+\alpha+\beta)^{-2N}, \ \alpha,\beta \ge 0,$$

with  $\alpha = \lambda |(y - \psi'_{\eta}(x, \eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}))_1|$  and  $\beta = \lambda^{1/2} |(y - \psi'_{\eta}(x, \eta^{\nu}_{\lambda}))'|$ , and

$$(1+\lambda|(y-\psi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}'))_{1}|+\lambda^{1/2}|(y-\psi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}'))'|)^{-1} \leq C\lambda^{-1}\delta^{-1}$$

in order to get

$$\begin{aligned} H_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y) &\leq C\lambda^{-1}\delta^{-1}(1+\lambda|(y-\psi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}))_{1}| \\ &+ \lambda^{1/2}|(y-\psi_{\eta}'(x,\eta_{\lambda}^{\nu}))'|)^{1-2N}, \ \lambda \geq \delta^{-1}, \end{aligned}$$
 (1.9.18)

from (1.9.11). Using inequality (1.9.10) and the fact that  $\psi_{x\eta}''$  is non-degenerate, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus N_Q} |A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y)| dx \leq C\lambda \cdot \lambda^{-1} \delta^{-1} \int (1+\lambda^2 |(y-x)_1|^2)^{1-2N} (1+\lambda |(y-x)'|^2)^{1-2N} dx.$$

With 2N - 1 > n we obtain (1.9.15).

The final estimate in our preparation is

**Lemma 1.9.4.** Let T be as in Theorem 1.7.2. Then the uniform estimate

$$\int_{N_Q} |Ta_Q| dx \le C$$

holds for all cubes Q with sidelength bounded by one.

**Proof.** The proof is relied on the fact that the operator  $T \circ (I - \Delta)^{(n-1)/4}$  belongs to  $I^0(X, Y; C')$  and, therefore, is bounded on  $L^2$ ,

$$||Ta_Q||_2 \le C||(I - \Delta)^{-(n-1)/4}a_Q||_2.$$
(1.9.19)

The rest of the argument is standard. The Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality for fractional integrals yields

$$||(I - \Delta)^{-(n-1)/4} a_Q||_2 \le C ||a_Q||_{p_n}, \qquad (1.9.20)$$

where  $p_n = 2n/(2n-1)$ . By the second property of atoms we have  $||a_Q||_{p_n} \leq |Q|^{-1/2n}$ . Applying the Hölder inequality to  $Ta_Q$ , (1.9.19) and (1.9.20), we obtain,

$$||Ta_Q||_{L^1(N_Q)} \le C|Q|^{1/2n} ||a_Q||_{p_n} \le C.$$

### 1.9 Proofs

End of the proof of Theorem 1.7.2. We set  $\lambda = 2^l$  now. Let

$$A_{2^{l}}(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{i(\phi(x,\eta) - \langle y,\eta \rangle)} a_{2^{l}}(x,y,\eta) d\eta,$$

where  $a_{\lambda}(x, y, \eta) = \theta_{\lambda}(\eta)a(x, y, \eta)$ . Then  $a_{2^{l}}(x, y, \eta) = \sum_{\nu} a_{2^{l}}^{\nu}(x, y, \eta)$  and because of (1.9.1) with  $\lambda = 2^{l}$ , the estimates of Lemma 1.9.1 and Lemma 1.9.3 imply

$$\int |A_{2^l}(x,y)| dx \le C, \ y \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{1.9.21}$$

$$\int |A_{2^{l}}(x,y) - A_{2^{l}}(x,y')| dx \le C |y - y'|^{2^{l}}, \ y,y' \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$
(1.9.22)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus N_Q} |A_{2^l}(x, y)| dx \le C 2^{-l} \delta^{-1}, \ y \in B, \ 2^{-l} \le \delta.$$
(1.9.23)

Writing  $T_{2^l}a(x) = \int A_{2^l}(x, y)a(y)dy$ , we have a decomposition  $Ta_Q = \Sigma_1 + \Sigma_2$ , where

$$\Sigma_1 = \sum_{2^l \le \delta^{-1}} T_{2^l} a_Q; \ \Sigma_2 = \sum_{2^l > \delta^{-1}} T_{2^l} a_Q.$$
(1.9.24)

For the first sum we can use the cancellation property for the atom  $a_Q$ ,  $\int a(y)dy = 0$ , to obtain  $T_{2^l}a_Q(x) = \int_Q [A_{2^l}(x,y) - A_{2^l}(x,y_0)]a_Q(y)dy$ . Using (1.9.22), we get

$$\int |T_{2^l}a_Q(x)|dx \le C2^l\delta||a_Q||_1,$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\Sigma_1(x)| dx \le \sum_{2^l \le \delta^{-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |T_{2^l} a_Q(x)| dx \le C \sum_{2^l \le \delta^{-1}} 2^l \delta \le C.$$

For the second sum we can use (1.9.23) to obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus N_Q} |\Sigma_2(x)| dx &\leq \sum_{2^l > \delta^{-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus N_Q} |T_{2^l} a_Q(x)| dx \\ &\leq C \left( \sum_{2^l > \delta^{-1}} 2^{-l} \delta^{-1} \right) ||a_Q||_1 \\ &\leq C. \end{split}$$

The estimates for  $\Sigma_1$  and  $\Sigma_2$  yield  $||Ta_Q||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus N_Q)} \leq C$ , which, together with Lemma 1.9.4, imply  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |Ta_Q(x)| dx \leq C$  and the statement of Theorem 1.7.2.

**Proof of Theorem 1.7.1.** The adjoint operator  $T^*$  belongs to  $I^0(Y, X; (\bar{C}^{-1})')$ and it is clear that  $\bar{C}^{-1}$  satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 1.7.1 as well. Therefore we may assume that 1 and for <math>2 take the adjoint operators. Now the statement follows by complex interpolation. In fact, one can define the analytic family of Fourier integral operators  $T_z$  with kernels

$$A_{z}(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{i(\phi(x,\eta) - \langle y,\eta \rangle)} a(x,y,\eta) (1 + |\eta|^{2})^{z/2} d\eta.$$

The  $L^2$  continuity of zero order order operators implies

$$||T_z f||_{L^2} \le C_z ||f||_{L^2}$$
, Re  $z = (n-1)(1/p - 1/2)$ ,

meanwhile Theorem 1.7.2 means

$$||T_z f||_{L^1} \le C_z ||f||_{H^1}$$
, Re  $z = (n-1)(1/p-1)$ .

The bounds  $C_z$  depend only on finitely many derivatives of symbols and hence the constants  $C_z$  have at most polynomial growth in |z|. The complex interpolation techniques of Proposition 1.3.3 imply the theorem.

Finally, for the sake of the factorization condition (F) in Section 1.12 let us prove a slightly stronger version of Lemma 1.9.2.

**Lemma 1.9.5.** Let  $z, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then for every  $0 < \mu_0 < 1/\sqrt{3}$  there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that for every  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $|\mu| \leq \mu_0$  holds

$$1 + \lambda |z - \alpha - i\beta|^2 \ge \delta (1 + \lambda (z - \alpha - \mu\beta)^2)$$

for every  $\lambda \geq 0$ .

**Proof.** The case with  $\mu = 0$  is easy. Assume that  $\mu > 0$ . Let us indicate the difference with the proof of Lemma 1.9.2. Let  $\delta = 1 - 2\mu_0/\sqrt{1 + \mu_0^2}$ . The condition  $0 < \mu_0 < 1/\sqrt{3}$  implies  $1 > \delta > 0$ . The statement of the Lemma would follow from

$$\begin{split} 1+\lambda|z-\alpha-i\beta|^2 \geq \\ 1+\lambda\left[(1+\mu^2)\beta^2+(z-\alpha-\mu\beta)^2-2\mu|\beta||z-\alpha-\mu\beta|\right] \end{split}$$

and from the inequality

$$2\mu|\beta||z - \alpha - \mu\beta| \le (1 - \delta) \left[ (1 + \mu^2)\beta^2 + (z - \alpha - \mu\beta)^2 \right].$$
(1.9.25)

The first inequality is the same as in Lemma 1.9.2. For the second one let us consider two cases. First, assume that  $\mu|\beta| \leq \frac{1-\delta}{2}|z - \alpha - \mu\beta|$ . Then

$$2\mu|\beta||z - \alpha - \mu\beta| \le (1 - \delta)(z - \alpha - \mu\beta)^2,$$

implying (1.9.25). On the other hand, if  $\mu|\beta| \geq \frac{1-\delta}{2}|z-\alpha-\mu\beta|$ , we get

$$\frac{(1+\mu^2)\beta^2}{2\mu|\beta|} \ge \frac{1+\mu^2}{2\mu^2}\mu|\beta| \ge \frac{1+\mu^2}{2\mu^2}\frac{1-\delta}{2}|z-\alpha-\mu\beta| \ge \frac{1}{1-\delta}|z-\alpha-\mu\beta|,$$

provided that  $\frac{1+\mu^2}{2\mu^2} \frac{1-\delta}{2} \geq \frac{1}{1-\delta}$ . This is equivalent to  $(1-\delta)^2 \geq \frac{4\mu^2}{1+\mu^2}$ , which is an increasing function of  $\mu > 0$ , but  $(1-\delta)^2 \geq \frac{4\mu_0^2}{1+\mu_0^2}$  due to our choice of  $\delta$ . Thus, (1.9.25) follows. The case  $\mu < 0$  is similar. The proof of the lemma is complete.

## **1.10** Estimates in other spaces

As consequence of Theorem 1.7.1 we obtain estimates in other function spaces.

**Corollary 1.10.1.** Let C be as in Theorem 1.7.1 and let  $T \in I^0(X, Y; C)$ . Then

- (i) T is continuous from  $(L^p_{\alpha+(n-1)/|1/p-1/2|})_{comp}(Y)$  to  $(L^p_{\alpha})_{loc}(X)$  for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}, \ 1$
- (ii) T is continuous from Lip  $(\alpha + (n-1)/2)_{comp}(Y)$  to Lip  $(\alpha)_{loc}(X)$  for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ .
- (iii) T is continuous from  $(L^2_{\alpha+n(1/2-1/q)})_{comp}(Y)$  to  $(L^q_{\alpha})_{loc}(X)$  for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $2 \leq q$ .

The first part follows from Theorem 1.7.1 and properties of pseudo-differential operators. The second part follows from Theorem 1.7.2 and the duality argument (see [62], [68]). For the third part we write

$$T = (I - \Delta)^{\mu/2} \circ (I - \Delta)^{-\mu/2} \circ T,$$

so T is continuous from  $L^2$  to  $L^q$  when  $(I - \Delta)^{\mu/2}$  is. According to Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev theorem there is the loss of n(1/2-1/q) derivatives (Proposition 1.3.4). Statement (iii) of Corollary 1.10.1 can be generalized to  $L^{p}-L^{q}$ continuity:

**Theorem 1.10.2.** Let C be as in Theorem 1.7.1. Let  $1 . Let <math>\mu \le 1/q - n/p + (n-1)/2$ . Then the operators in  $I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  are continuous from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^q_{loc}(X)$ . The dual statement holds for  $2 \le p \le q < \infty$ .

Let us first note that the statement of this Theorem is in general sharp. For example, if Im  $\Phi = 0$ , then according to the remarks above, T satisfies the local graph condition. If  $\mu > 1/q - n/p + (n-1)/2$ , T is elliptic, and the rank of the canonical projection from the canonical relation to the base space equals 2n - 1, then there exists a function  $f \in L^p_{comp}$  such that  $Tf \notin L^q_{loc}$ . Such f can be constructed uniformly for all T (see Section 1.11). The statement of Theorem 1.10.2 follows from Theorem 1.7.1. Indeed, the statement would follow by a standard complex interpolation argument between Theorem 1.7.1 and the fact that operators of order -n/2 are continuous from the Hardy space  $H^1$  to  $L^2$ . To show the latter, let  $S \in I^{-n/2}(X,Y;C)$  be a Fourier integral operator with complex phase of order -n/2. We can write S as

$$S = S \circ (I - \Delta)^{n/4} \circ (I - \Delta)^{-n/4},$$

which is a composition of  $(I - \Delta)^{-n/4}$  with a Fourier integral operator of zero order, with complex phase satisfying assumptions of Theorem 1.7.1. This latter operator is therefore continuous in  $L^2$ , meanwhile  $(I - \Delta)^{-n/4}$  is continuous from  $H^1$  to  $L^2$  by the Hardy space version of the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev theorem (see Proposition 1.3.5).

Let use now make some remarks concerning the case of real phase functions.

**Remark 1.10.3.** Let  $T \in I^{\mu}$  be microlocally given by

$$Tf(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i\Phi(x,y,\xi)} a(x,y,\xi) f(y) \, dy \, d\xi,$$

where  $\Phi$  is real valued. Let  $1 < p, q < \infty$ . Then by interpolation the operator  $T: L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is continuous provided  $\mu \leq n(1/q - 1/p)$  and  $p \leq 2 \leq q$ . For p = 1 the statement holds if we replace  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by the Hardy space  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

However, in the case rank  $D_{\xi\xi}^2 \Phi = n-1$  this statement can be improved. Let  $1 < p, q < \infty$  and let p', q' denote their conjugates. Then operator T is continuous from  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  provided

$$\begin{split} \mu &\leq \frac{1}{q} - \frac{n}{p} + \frac{n-1}{2}, \quad q \leq p', \\ \mu &\leq \frac{n}{q} - \frac{1}{p} - \frac{n-1}{2}, \quad q \geq p'; \end{split}$$

The statement extends to the case of p = 1 if we replace  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by the Hardy space  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The proof of Remark 1.10.3 follows by the complex interpolation method between Theorem 1.7.1 and the fact that under conditions of Remark 1.10.3 the operator T is continuous from  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  provided  $\mu = -(n+1)/2$ . The sharpness of the bound for  $\mu$  in Remark 1.10.3 is shown in [68, IX.6.16] for operators with the phase function  $\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x - y, \xi \rangle + |\xi|$ . See also Section 1.11.

**Remark 1.10.4.** It follows from Proposition 1.3.5 with p = 1 and q = 2 that operators of order -n/2 are continuous from  $H^1$  to  $L^2$ .

As a consequence, we get a statement for pseudo-differential operators.

**Proposition 1.10.5.** Let  $P \in \Psi^{\mu}(X)$  and let  $1 . Then <math>P : L^{p}_{comp}(X) \to L^{q}_{loc}(X)$  is continuous, when  $\mu \leq -n(1/p - 1/q)$ .

**Proof.** Let us give a direct proof without using the interpolation technique. The case p = q is well known and it follows, for example, from Theorem 1.12.1 with k = 0 and  $\mu \leq 0$ . Let us assume now that p < q. The operator  $(I - \Delta)^{-\mu/2} \circ P$  is continuous in  $L^p$  and the statement reduces to the properties of the operator  $(I - \Delta)^{\mu/2}$ . Its principal symbol is homogeneous of degree  $\mu$  and its integral kernel has degree  $-n - \mu$  in |x - y|. Therefore, the operator  $(I - \Delta)^{\mu/2}$  is of the form

$$I_{\gamma}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |x - y|^{-\gamma} f(y) \, dy$$

with  $\gamma = n + \mu$ . For  $\mu < 0$ , it follows from Proposition 1.3.4 that  $I_{\gamma}$  is continuous from  $L^p$  to  $L^q$  provided  $1/q = 1/p + \mu/n$ . This completes the proof of Proposition 1.10.5.

40

## **1.11** Sharpness of the estimates

In this section we will discuss the sharpness of the orders of  $L^p$ -bounded Fourier integral operators in  $I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  with real phases for different ranks of the projection  $d\pi_{X\times Y}|_C$ . We will show that the orders for the general  $L^p-L^q$ continuity depend on the rank of  $d\pi_{X\times Y}|_C$  and that the orders derived in this chapter are sharp. For the question of the sharpness of the orders it is sufficient to consider operators with real phase functions.

Let X and Y be smooth paracompact n-dimensional manifolds and let  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$  be a Fourier integral operator with a real canonical relation C. In the sequel we will concentrate on the essentially homogeneous case  $(\rho = 1)$ . However, for  $1/2 \leq \rho < 1$ , the sharpness of the order  $\mu = -(n - \rho)|1/p - 1/2|$  for the continuity in  $L^p$  can be shown by the following example. Let  $\Sigma$  be a manifold given by the set of points (x', x'', y', y'') with x' = y' and |x'' - y''| = 1. Let C be the conormal bundle  $N^*\Sigma$  of  $\Sigma$ . Let  $\Psi(\xi)$  be a smooth function, homogeneous of degree zero for large  $\xi$ , supported in the truncated cone

$$\{\xi = (\xi', \xi'') \in \mathbb{R}^{k+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k-1} : |\xi'| \ge 1, |\xi''|/2 \le |\xi'| \le 2|\xi''|\},\$$

and equal to one in an open truncated subcone. Let T be a convolution operator with the kernel

$$K(x,y) = \int \Psi(\xi) e^{i|\xi|^{1-\rho}} |\xi|^{\mu} e^{i[\langle x-y,\xi\rangle + |\xi'|]} d\xi.$$

One can readily check that  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n; C)$ . Let  $\hat{g}_{\sigma}(\xi) = (1+|\xi|^2)^{-\sigma/2}$ . Then  $g_{\sigma} \in L^p$  for  $\sigma > n(1-1/p)$ . Acting by T on  $g_{\sigma}$  and applying the stationary phase method in polar coordinates for  $\xi'$ , one can show that  $Tg_{\sigma} \notin L^p_{loc}$  for  $\sigma$  converging to n(1-1/p), and  $\mu > -(n-\rho)|1/p-1/2|$ . Asymptotic expansions for such operators were derived in [77] and the analysis was used in [62] to show that the order  $\mu$  is sharp in Theorem 1.12.1.

### 1.11.1 Essentially homogeneous case

In the essentially homogeneous case with  $\rho = 1$  one can show that the order  $\mu = -k|1/p - 1/2|$  is sharp for arbitrary  $L^p$  continuous elliptic operators with real phases satisfying the condition

$$\operatorname{rank} d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C \le n+k. \tag{1.11.1}$$

It turns out that in order to check that an operator is not continuous in  $L^p$  it suffices to let T act on functions f with point singularities in  $L^p$ . In this case the singularities of Tf can appear only in directions transversal to some fixed k-dimensional manifold in X.

**Theorem 1.11.1.** Let the real canonical relation C be a local canonical graph such that the inequality rank  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C \leq n + k$  holds with  $0 \leq k \leq n - 1$ , and the rank n + k is attained somewhere. Then elliptic operators  $T \in I^{\mu}(X, Y; C)$ are not bounded from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^p_{loc}(X)$ , provided  $\mu > -k|1/p - 1/2|$  and 1 . Let us note at once that by the equivalence-of-phase-function theorem it is sufficient to consider operators T in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with kernels, locally given by

$$K(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i[\langle x,\xi\rangle - \phi(y,\xi)]} b(x,y,\xi) d\xi, \qquad (1.11.2)$$

with symbols  $b \in S^{\mu}$  supported in compact sets with respect to x and y. The local graph condition means that the phase function  $\phi$  satisfies

$$\det \phi_{u\ell}^{\prime\prime} \neq 0 \tag{1.11.3}$$

on the support of b. Locally  $\Lambda$  has the form  $\{(\nabla_{\xi}\phi, \xi, y, \nabla_{y}\phi)\}$ . We can assume that 1 . For <math>2 < p it suffices to consider the adjoint operator  $T^*$  and the statement follows from the result for the conjugate index p' = p/(p-1) < 2.

The set  $C_0 = \{\lambda \in C : \operatorname{rank} d\pi_{X \times Y} |_C(\lambda) = n + k\}$  is not empty and is open in C. Let  $\lambda_0 = (x_0, \xi_0, y_0, \eta_0) \in C_0$ . Consider a family of functions  $f_s(y) = ((I - \Delta)^{-s/2} \delta_{y_0})(y)$  for a fixed value of  $y_0 \in Y$ . Let  $K_{-s}$  be the integral kernel of  $(I - \Delta)^{-s/2}$ . Then we have

$$f_s(y) = \int K_{-s}(y, z) \delta_{y_0}(z) dz = K_{-s}(y, y_0).$$

Using standard estimates for Schwartz kernels of pseudo-differential operators ([64], [11], [68]), we get that  $|K_{-s}(y, y_0)| \leq C|y - y_0|^{-n+s}$  in some local coordinate system. This means that  $f_s \in L_{loc}^p$  if and only if s > n(1 - 1/p). Let  $\Sigma = \pi_{X \times Y}(C \cap U)$ , where  $U \subset C_0$  is a neighborhood of  $\lambda_0$ . Because the

Let  $\Sigma = \pi_{X \times Y}(C \cap U)$ , where  $U \subset C_0$  is a neighborhood of  $\lambda_0$ . Because the rank of  $\pi_{X \times Y}$  is constant in U, the set  $\Sigma \subset X \times Y$  is a smooth k-dimensional manifold, given by equations  $h_j(x, y) = 0$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq n - k$ , in a neighborhood of  $y_0$ . The vectors  $\nabla h_1, \ldots, \nabla h_{n-k}$  are linearly independent on  $\Sigma$ . Then, microlocally, C is the conormal bundle of  $\Sigma$ , and the phase function of the operator T assumes the form

$$\Phi(x, y, \lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{n-k} \lambda_j h_j(x, y).$$

Since a composition with a pseudo-differential operator does not change the canonical relation, we get that  $T \circ (I - \Delta)^{-s/2} \in I^{\mu-s}(X, Y; C)$ . It follows that  $Tf_s(x) = T \circ (I - \Delta)^{-s/2} (\delta_{y_0})(x)$ , which in local coordinates can be written as

$$Tf_{s}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} e^{i\sum\lambda_{j}h_{j}(x,y)}a(x,\bar{\lambda})\delta_{y_{0}}(y)d\bar{\lambda})dy$$
  
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} e^{i\langle\bar{\lambda},\bar{h}(x,y_{0})\rangle}a(x,\bar{\lambda})d\bar{\lambda}$$
  
$$= (2\pi)^{n-k}(\mathcal{F}^{-1}a)(x,\bar{h}(x,y_{0})),$$
  
(1.11.4)

where  $\overline{\lambda}$  and  $\overline{h}$  are vectors with components  $\lambda_j$  and  $h_j$ , respectively, and  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}$ is the inverse Fourier transform. The symbol  $a \in S^{\mu-s+k/2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k})$  is obtained from the symbol of the operator  $T \circ (I - \Delta)^{-s/2}$  by using the stationary phase

#### 1.11 Sharpness of the estimates

method, where we can eliminate k variables. The inverse Fourier transform of the symbol a with respect to the second variable is

$$(2\pi)^{n-k}(\mathcal{F}^{-1}a)(x,\zeta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} e^{i\langle\lambda,\zeta\rangle} a(x,\lambda)\hat{\delta}_0(\lambda)d\lambda = P\delta_0(\zeta) = K(\zeta,0),$$

where  $P \in \Psi^m(\mathbb{R}^{n-k})$  is a pseudo-differential operator of order m = n - s + k/2with symbol  $a(x, \lambda) \in S^m$  and K is the integral kernel of P. The function  $K(\zeta, 0)$  is equivalent to  $|\zeta|^{-(n-k)-m}$ . For the set  $\Sigma_{y_0} = \{x : (x, y_0) \in \Sigma\}$  we have dist $(x, \Sigma_{y_0}) \approx |\bar{h}(x, y_0)|$ , and, therefore,

$$(2\pi)^{n-k}(\mathcal{F}^{-1}a)(x,\bar{h}(x,y_0)) \sim |\operatorname{dist}(x,\Sigma_{y_0})|^{-(n-k)-(\mu-s+k/2)},$$

locally uniformly in x. It follows from (1.11.4) that the function  $Tf_s$  is smooth in  $\Sigma_{y_0}$ . Hence  $Tf_s \notin L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if

$$p(n-k+\mu-s+k/2) \ge n-k.$$
(1.11.5)

For s it means that  $s \leq \mu + (n-k)(1-1/p) + k/2$ . Thus, in order to have  $f_s \in L_{loc}^p$  and  $Tf_s \notin L_{loc}^p$ , it is sufficient to have the inequality

$$n(1-1/p) < \mu + (n-k)(1-1/p) + k/2,$$

which is equivalent to  $\mu > -k|1/p - 1/2|$ .

Concerning  $L^p - L^q$  continuity we have:

**Corollary 1.11.2.** Let T and C satisfy conditions of Theorem 1.11.1 and let  $1 < p, q < \infty$ . Then T is not bounded from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^q_{loc}(X)$ , provided  $\mu > n(1/q - 1/p) - k(1/q - 1/2)$ .

To prove this we can apply the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 1.11.1. The only difference is that now we do not need to assume  $p \leq 2$  and inequality (1.11.5) is replaced by

$$q(n-k+\mu-s+k/2) \ge n-k.$$

**Remark 1.11.3.** In the case when k = n-1 and 1 , the statement of Corollary 1.11.2 complements the statement of Remark 1.10.3.

By duality we also have a statement, analogous to the one in Theorem 1.11.6, for indices 2 .

**Remark 1.11.4.** The operator T in Theorem 1.11.1 is not bounded as a linear operator in Sobolev spaces  $L^p_{\alpha} \to L^p_{\alpha-k|1/p-1/2|-\mu}$ , 1 .

# **1.11.2** A representation formula for continuous operators of small negative orders

According to Proposition 1.10.5 pseudo-differential operators of zero order are continuous in  $L^p$  for  $1 . Now we will show that all <math>L^p$  continuous

elliptic Fourier integral operators with real phases can be obtained from pseudodifferential operators by a composition with operators, induced by a smooth coordinate change. A smooth mapping  $\sigma : X \to Y$  induces the pullback  $\sigma^* : C^{\infty}(Y) \to C^{\infty}(X)$ , defined by  $(\sigma^* f)(x) = f(\sigma(x))$ . It is not difficult to see that  $\sigma^*$  is a Fourier integral operator with phase function  $\langle \sigma(x) - y, \eta \rangle$ . The canonical relation of  $\sigma^*$  is equal to the graph of the mapping  $\tilde{\sigma} : T^*X \setminus 0 \to T^*Y \setminus 0$ , where  $\tilde{\sigma}(x,\xi) = (\sigma(x), -({}^t D\sigma_x)^{-1}(\xi))$ .

**Theorem 1.11.5.** Let  $1 , <math>p \neq 2$ , and  $0 \ge \mu > -|1/p - 1/2|$ . Let C be a real local canonical graph. Then an elliptic operator  $T \in I^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  is continuous from  $L^{p}_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^{p}_{loc}(X)$  if and only if there exist pseudodifferential operators  $P \in \Psi^{\mu}(X), Q \in \Psi^{\mu}(Y)$  such that  $T = P \circ \sigma^{*} = \sigma^{*} \circ Q$ , where  $\sigma^{*}$  is the pullback by a smooth coordinate change from X to Y.

**Proof.** The pullback  $\sigma^*$  is continuous in  $L^p$ . Pseudo differential operators P and Q of order  $\mu \leq 0$  are continuous in  $L^p$ . Therefore, T is also continuous in  $L^p$ . Conversely, let k be such that  $n + k = \max_{\lambda \in C} \operatorname{rank} d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C(\lambda)$ . Then n-k is the maximal dimension of the set  $\Sigma = \pi_{X \times Y}(C) \subset X \times Y$ . In view of Theorem 1.11.1 and  $L^p$  continuity of T, it is necessary that k = 0. This means that rank  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C \equiv n$  and  $\Sigma$  is a smooth *n*-dimensional submanifold of  $X \times Y$ . The rank of the differential  $d\pi_X|_{\Sigma}$  of the projection  $\pi_X : X \times Y \to X$ is equal to n because C is a local canonical graph. Surjectivity of  $d\pi_X|_{\Sigma}$  and condition dim  $\Sigma = n$  imply that  $\pi_X|_{\Sigma}$  is a diffeomorphism and  $\Sigma$  can be locally parameterized by  $\Sigma = \{(x, \sigma(x))\}$ , for some diffeomorphism  $\sigma : X \to Y$ . It follows that the canonical relation of the pullback  $\sigma^*$  is the conormal bundle of  $\Sigma$ , which is C'. Therefore, an operator Q in  $T = \sigma_+^* \circ Q$  must be pseudo-differential, since its canonical relation is the conormal bundle to the diagonal in  $X \times Y$ . A similar argument in Y implies that the formula in the theorem holds for an operator P with the same mapping  $\sigma$ , since the canonical relation of  $\sigma^*$  equals C'.

**Theorem 1.11.6.** Let  $1 and <math>-n(1/p - 1/q) \geq \mu > -(1/q - 1/2) - n(1/p - 1/q)$ . Let  $T \in I^{\mu}(X, Y; C)$  be elliptic and let C be a real local canonical graph. Then T is continuous from  $L^{p}_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^{q}_{loc}(X)$  if and only if there exist pseudo-differential operators  $P \in \Psi^{\mu}(X), Q \in \Psi^{\mu}(Y)$ , such that  $T = P \circ \sigma^{*} = \sigma^{*} \circ Q$ , where  $\sigma^{*}$  is the pullback by some diffeomorphism  $\sigma : X \to Y$ .

The continuity of T follows from the continuity from  $L^p$  to  $L^q$  of pseudodifferential operators of order -n(1/p - 1/q) (Proposition 1.10.5).

Note also that Corollary 1.11.2 with k = n implies the sharpness of the orders in Proposition 1.10.5 for elliptic operators P.

## 1.12 Smooth factorization condition for complex phases

In this section we discuss an analogue of the smooth factorization condition for complex phase functions. The results of this section were announced in [61].

As we mentioned in Section 1.5, the  $L^p$  estimates can be improved if the rank  $d\pi_{X\times Y}$  restricted to the real wave front of the operator does not attain 2n-1. The exact statement is in the beginning of Subsection 1.5.1.

The similar situation happens in the case of complex phase functions. Let us recall first the factorization condition for the real non-degenerate phase function  $\Psi(x, y, \theta)$ . Let  $\Lambda_{\Psi}$  be locally defined by

$$\Lambda_{\Psi} = \{ (x, y, d_x \Psi(x, y, \theta), d_y \Psi(x, y, \theta)) : d_\theta \Psi(x, y, \theta) = 0 \} 
\subset T^*(X \times Y).$$
(1.12.1)

The smooth factorization condition for  $\Psi$  can be formulated as follows. Suppose that there exists a number  $k, 0 \leq k \leq n-1$ , such that for every  $\lambda_0 = (x_0, \xi_0, y_0, \eta_0) \in \Lambda_{\Psi}$ , there exist a conic neighborhood  $U_{\lambda_0} \subset \Lambda_{\Psi}$  of  $\lambda_0$  and a smooth homogeneous of zero order map  $\pi_{\lambda_0} : \Lambda_{\Psi} \cap U_{\lambda_0} \to \Lambda_{\Psi}$  with constant rank rank  $d\pi_{\lambda_0} = n + k$ , for which holds

$$\pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda_{\Psi}} = \pi_{X \times Y}|_{\Lambda_{\Psi}} \circ \pi_{\lambda_0}. \tag{1.12.2}$$

Recall, that under this assumption, operators  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; \Lambda_{\Psi})$  with  $1/2 \leq \rho \leq 1$  are  $L^{p}$ -bounded if  $1 and <math>\mu \leq -(k + (n - k)(1 - \rho))|1/p - 1/2|$  (see Section 1.5.1).

Let now  $\Phi$  be a non-degenerate complex phase function. Let  $\Phi$  satisfy the local graph type condition (L) of Section 1.7 for some  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . Recall that it then satisfies (L) for all but finitely many  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  and it satisfies (1.7.2) for all but finitely many  $\tau \in \mathbb{C}$ . Our smooth factorization type condition (F) for  $\Phi$  will be the following condition

(F) There exists a real  $|\tau| < 1/\sqrt{3}$  such that condition (L) holds with this  $\tau$ and, moreover, the real phase function  $\Psi = \operatorname{Re} \Phi + \tau \operatorname{Im} \Phi$  satisfies the real smooth factorization condition (1.12.2) with some k,  $0 \le k \le n-1$ .

Note that if the phase function  $\Phi$  is real, condition (F) is just the smooth factorization condition for the real valued phase function. The reason to impose condition  $|\tau| < 1/\sqrt{3}$  is technical and is due to Lemma 1.9.5. Under condition (F) we have

**Theorem 1.12.1.** Let  $C \subset (T^*X \setminus 0 \times T^*\widetilde{Y \setminus 0})$  be a smooth positive homogeneous canonical relation which is closed in  $T^*(\widetilde{X \times Y}) \setminus 0$ . Let  $\Phi$  be a regular phase function of positive type, locally parameterizing C. Assume that  $\Phi$  satisfies the smooth factorization type condition (F). Let  $\mu \leq -(k + (n - k)(1 - \rho))|1/p - 1/2|$  with  $1 and <math>1/2 \leq \rho \leq 1$ . Then operators  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$  are continuous from  $L^{p}_{comp}$  to  $L^{p}_{loc}$ .

Operators  $T \in I^0_{\rho}(X,Y;C)$  are continuous in  $L^2$  and this result does not depend on the factorization condition. Indeed, the argument of Section 1.7 using formula (1.7.3) reducing the situation to the operators in  $I^0_{1/2}$  with real phases (see also Remark 1.8.2), shows that operators in  $I^2_{\rho}(X,Y;C)$  with C as in Theorem 1.12.1 are bounded in  $L^2$ . As usual, we can assume that the kernel of T is given by (1.7.1). Proof of Theorem 1.12.1 is based on the complex interpolation method (as in Proposition 1.3.3) applied to the continuity in  $L^2$  and in the Hardy space  $H^1$ , for which we have

**Theorem 1.12.2.** Let C satisfy conditions of Theorem 1.12.1, let its Schwartz integral kernel be given by (1.7.1), and let the number N of frequency variables be equal to n. Assume that the symbol  $a \in S_{\rho}^{k/2+(n-k)(1-\rho)/2}$  in (1.7.1) vanishes outside a compact set in  $\mathbb{R}^n_x \times \mathbb{R}^n_y$ . Then T is continuous from  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Let us indicate briefly some ideas behind the proof of the above theorem. Let us begin with pointing out the difference with the proof of Theorem 1.7.1. Let a be a symbol of order -(n-1)|1/p-1/2| and type (1,0), and we assume that  $1 . Let <math>T_z$  be a family of Fourier integral operators with Lagrangian distributions

$$A_{z}(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{i\Phi(x,y,\theta)} a(x,y,\theta) (1+|\theta|^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}[(n-1)(1/p-1/2)-(n-1)/2+z(n-1)/2]} d\theta.$$

The continuity of zero order operators in  $L^2$  implies

$$||T_z f||_{L^2} \le C_z ||f||_{L^2}$$
, Re  $z = 1$ ,

and Theorem 1.12.2 implies

$$||T_z f||_{L^1} \le C_z ||f||_{H^1}$$
, Re  $z = 0$ .

Constants  $C_z$  depend on finitely many derivatives of the symbol and, therefore, have polynomial growth in |z|. Let us apply Proposition 1.3.3 with t = 2(1 - 1/p). We have  $1/p_t = 1/q_t = 1-t/2$ , (n-1)(1/p-1/2)-(n-1)/2+t(n-1)/2 = 0, so that  $T_t = T$  and Theorem 1.12.1 with k = n - 1 and  $\rho = 1$  follows from Proposition 1.3.3. Similarly, Theorem 1.12.1 follows from Theorem 1.12.2 if we take  $a \in S_{\rho}^{-(k+(n-k)(1-\rho))|1/p-1/2|}$  and kernels

$$\begin{array}{lcl} A_{z}(x,y) &=& \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{i\Phi(x,y,\theta)} a(x,y,\theta) \\ && (1+|\theta|^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}[-(k+(n-k)(1-\rho))|1/p-1/2|+(z-1)[k+(n-k)(1-\rho)]/2]} d\theta. \end{array}$$

To prove Theorem 1.12.2, it is convenient to use an atomic decomposition  $f = \sum_k \lambda_k a_k$ , as in Proposition 1.3.2. If a ball *B* from the definition of an atom contains the unit cube, the Cauchy–Schwartz inequality implies

$$||Ta_k||_{L^1} \le C| \operatorname{supp} a_k|^{1/2} ||Ta_k||_{L^2} \le C'| \operatorname{supp} a_k|^{1/2} ||a_k||_{L^2},$$

which is uniformly bounded in view of the second property in the definition of atoms. Therefore, Proposition 1.3.2 reduces the statement of Theorem 1.12.2 to proving the uniform bound  $||Ta_k||_{L^1} \leq C$  for all atoms supported in sufficiently small balls. This estimate can be obtained using a number of decompositions

in the frequency space. However, decomposition in the phase space will be related to the real phase function  $\Psi = \operatorname{Re} \Phi + \tau \operatorname{Im} \Phi$  satisfying the smooth factorization type condition (F). First one uses a conic decomposition of the phase space and applies a dyadic decomposition to each cone. Using the corresponding partition of unity, it is possible to replace the phase function of Tby a linear function, in each domain, so that integration by parts yields  $L^1$ estimates. However, to get the estimate outside the exceptional set  $N_Q$  one needs to use the  $L^2$ -boundedness of certain pseudo-differential operators.

The proof of Theorem 1.12.2 is similar to the proof of Theorem 1.7.2. However, some modifications are necessary. There are also certain additional complications related to the fact that the phase function is complex. We will indicate the difference with the proof of Theorem 1.7.2.

First, in the proof of Theorem 1.12.2 it will be more convenient to us to interchange the roles of x and y. Thus, as before, we may assume that the integral kernel of the operator T in Theorem 1.12.2 is given by

$$A(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(\langle x,\xi\rangle - \phi(y,\xi))} a(x,y,\xi) d\xi,$$

with some symbol  $a \in S^{\mu}_{\rho}$ . Thus, we have to show that operators with such kernels are continuous from  $H^1$  to  $L^1$ , if  $a \in S^{-m(k,\rho)}_{\rho}$  is supported in a narrow cone in  $\xi$ -space, and  $m(k,\rho) = k/2 + (n-k)(1-\rho)/2$ .

Let  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  be such that condition (L) is satisfied and let

$$\psi(y,\xi) = \operatorname{Re} \phi(y,\xi) + \tau \operatorname{Im} \phi(y,\xi).$$

Since  $\psi$  satisfies the real local graph condition, we may assume that there exists a k-dimensional submanifold  $S_k(y)$  of  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1} \cap \Gamma$  for some narrow cone  $\Gamma$ ,  $S_k(y)$ varies smoothly with y, and such that  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1} \cap \Gamma$  is parameterized by  $\bar{\xi} = \bar{\xi}_y(u, v)$ , for (u, v) in a bounded open set  $U \times V$  near  $(0, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k-1}$ . Furthermore,  $\bar{\xi}_y(u, v) \in S_k(y)$  if and only if v = 0, and

$$\psi'_{\xi}(y,\bar{\xi}_y(u,v)) = \psi'_{\xi}(y,\bar{\xi}_y(u,0)).$$

Let us now describe constructions similar to those of the proof of Theorem 1.7.2 in Section 1.9. We keep in mind that later we will set  $\lambda = 2^l$ . Thus, let  $u_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  be a collection of points in U, such that  $|u_{\lambda}^{\nu} - u_{\lambda}^{\nu'}| \geq C_0 \lambda^{-1/2}$  for  $\nu \neq \nu'$ , and such that U is covered by balls centered at  $u_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  and radius  $C_1 \lambda^{-1/2}$ . Let  $N_k(\lambda)$  be the maximum of such points for a fixed  $\lambda$ . It is easy to see that  $N_k(\lambda) = O(\lambda^{k/2})$ .

Let  $\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu} = \bar{\xi}_{y}(u_{\lambda}^{\nu}, 0)$  and let  $x_{\lambda}^{\nu}(y) = \psi_{\xi}'(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu})$ . Let the atom  $a_{Q}$  be supported in the cube Q centered at some  $y_{0}$  with sidelength  $\delta$ . For sufficiently large Mlet  $R_{\lambda\nu}^{y}$  be the set of all x such that

$$|\langle x - \psi'_{\xi}(y, \xi^{\nu}_{\lambda}), e' \rangle| \le M \lambda^{-1/2},$$

for all vectors e' tangential to  $S_k(y)$  at  $\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ , and

$$|\langle x - \psi'_{\xi}(y, \xi^{\nu}_{\lambda}), e'' \rangle| \le M \lambda^{-\rho},$$

for all unit vectors e'' which are normal to  $S_k(y)$  at  $\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . Thus,  $R_{\lambda\nu}^y$  is a rectangle with k sides of length of order  $\lambda^{-1/2}$  and n-k sides of length of order  $\lambda^{-\rho}$ . Let

$$N_Q = \bigcup_{y \in Q} \bigcup_{\nu=1}^{N_k(\lambda)} R_{\lambda\nu}^y.$$

Then

$$|N_Q| \le C|Q|^{\rho(1-k/n)}$$

The argument of Lemma 1.9.4 gives

$$||Ta_Q||_{L^1(N_Q)} = \int_{N_Q} |Ta_Q| dx \le C.$$

Indeed,  $T \circ (I - \Delta)^{-m(k,\rho)/2} \in I^0_\rho(X,Y;C)$  is bounded in  $L^2$ . Therefore, by the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality,

$$||Ta_Q||_2 \le C||(I - \Delta)^{-m(k,\rho)/2}a_Q||_2 \le C||a_Q||_{p_n},$$

where  $p_n = \frac{2n}{(2-\rho)n+k\rho}$ . By the second property of atoms, we have  $||a_Q||_{p_n} \leq$  $|Q|^{-1+1/p_n}$ . Hence by the Hölder inequality we obtain

$$||Ta_Q||_2 \le C|Q|^{\frac{-\rho(n-k)}{2n}}$$

Finally, by the Cauchy–Schwartz inequality, we get

$$\int_{N_Q} |Ta_Q| dx \le C |N_Q|^{1/2} ||Ta_Q||_2 \le C |Q|^{(n-k)\rho/n} \cdot |Q|^{-\rho(n-k)/n} \le C.$$

Note that to derive this estimate we used the size of  $N_Q$  which is determined by

the fact that the real phase function  $\psi$  defines a local graph, that is det  $\psi''_{y\xi} \neq 0$ . Now we need an estimate outside the exceptional set  $N_Q$ . Let  $\tilde{\chi}'_{\lambda}$  be a partition of unity in u-coordinates, such that, as before for the partition in (1.9.2),

$$||D_{\mu}^{\alpha}\widetilde{\chi}_{\lambda}^{\nu}||_{\infty} = O(\lambda^{|\alpha|/2})$$

Define the partition of unity  $\chi^{\nu}_{\lambda}$  on  $\Gamma$  corresponding to the directions  $\xi^{\nu}_{\lambda}$ , by setting

$$\chi_{\lambda}^{\nu}(s\xi(u,v)) = \widetilde{\chi}_{\lambda}^{\nu}(u), \ s > 0.$$

Then we define  $a_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  similar to Section 1.9, by

$$a_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x, y, \xi) = \chi_{\lambda}^{\eta}(\xi)\theta_{\lambda}(\xi)a(x, y, \xi),$$

and

J

$$\begin{array}{lll} A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y) &=& \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i\langle \langle x,\xi\rangle - \phi(y,\xi)\rangle} a_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\xi) d\xi \\ &=& \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i\langle x - \phi_{\xi}'(y,\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}),\xi\rangle} b_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\xi) d\xi, \end{array}$$

where  $b_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\xi) = e^{i(\langle \phi_{\xi}^{\prime}(y,\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}) - \phi(y,\xi),\xi \rangle)} a_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\xi).$ 

### 1.12 Smooth factorization for complex phases

As before, the estimate for  $||Ta_Q||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus N_Q)}$  will follow from the estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus N_Q} |A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y)| dx \le C \lambda^{-k/2} (\lambda \delta)^{-1}, \qquad (1.12.3)$$

when  $\lambda \geq \delta^{-1}$ , and where  $\delta$  is the sidelength of Q, and if for all  $y, y' \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we would have

$$\int |A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y) - A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y')| dx \leq C|y - y'|\lambda \cdot \lambda^{-k/2}, \qquad (1.12.4)$$

which will be used when  $\lambda < \delta^{-1}$ .

By a rotation, we may assume that every  $\xi \in \Gamma$  splits into  $\xi = (\xi', \xi'') \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$  where  $\xi''$  is normal to  $S_k(y)$  at  $\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu} = \overline{\xi}(u_{\lambda}^{\nu}, 0)$ . Define the operator

$$L_{\lambda}^{\nu} = \left(I - \langle \lambda^{1/2} \nabla_{\xi'}, \lambda^{1/2} \nabla_{\xi'} \rangle\right) \left(I - \langle \lambda^{\rho} \nabla_{\xi''}, \lambda^{\rho} \nabla_{\xi''} \rangle\right).$$

The fact that  $a \in S_{\rho}^{-m(r,\rho)}$  implies that

$$|(L_{\lambda}^{\nu})^{N}a_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\xi)| \leq C_{N}\lambda^{-m(k,\rho)}.$$

and, as before, the same estimate holds for  $b_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . Recalling that  $x_{\lambda}^{\nu}(y) = \phi_{\xi}'(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}) - x$ , integration by parts yields

$$A^{\nu}_{\lambda}(x,y) = (1 + |\lambda^{\rho}(\phi'_{\xi}(y,\xi^{\nu}_{\lambda}) - x)''|^{2})^{-N} \times (1 + |\lambda^{1/2}(\phi'_{\xi}(y,\xi^{\nu}_{\lambda}) - x)'|^{2})^{-N} K^{\nu}_{\lambda N}(x,y), \qquad (1.12.5)$$

where

$$K_{\lambda N}^{\nu}(x,y) = \int (L_{\lambda}^{\nu})^{N} b_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y,\xi) e^{i\langle x - \phi_{\xi}'(y,\xi_{l}^{\nu}),\xi \rangle} d\xi.$$
(1.12.6)

Note that similar to Section 1.9, we always use Lemma 1.9.5 instead of Lemma 1.9.2 in the integration by parts argument to get rid of the complex phase, by replacing  $\phi$  by  $\psi = \text{Re } \phi + \tau \text{ Im } \phi$  with  $\tau$  for which condition (F) holds. All such estimates are similar to the one in (1.9.13). Condition (F) guarantees that  $\mu_0 < 1/\sqrt{3}$  in Lemma 1.9.5. The rest of the proof is similar to [62], but some changes are necessary in order to take into consideration the imaginary part of the phase function.

If we dilate  $R_{\lambda\nu}^y$  be a factor  $C(\lambda\delta)^{-1}$  the resulting rectangle will still be contained in  $N_Q$ . Hence we can use the Cauchy–Schwartz inequality in x'' to obtain for  $y \in Q$ 

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus N_{Q}}|A_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x,y)|dx \leq \\ &C_{N}\lambda^{-\rho(n-k)/2}\int_{|x'|

$$(1.12.7)$$$$

### Chapter 1. Fourier integral operators

For fixed x' and  $\xi'$  let the pseudo-differential operator  $S^{\nu}_{\lambda N}(x',\xi')$  be given by

$$\left[S_{\lambda N}^{\nu}(x',\xi')f\right](x'') = \lambda^{m(k,\rho)} \int (L_{\lambda}^{\nu})^{N} b_{\lambda}^{\nu}(x',x'',y,\xi',\xi'') \hat{f}(\xi'') e^{i\langle x'',\xi''\rangle} d\xi'',$$

which is of order 0 and type  $(\rho, 1 - \rho)$ . Let g be a smooth function, defined on  $\mathbb{R}^{n-k}$  with the property that  $\hat{g}(\xi'') = 1$  for  $|\xi''| \leq 8$ , which vanishes for  $|\xi''| \geq 16$ . Define  $\hat{g}_{\lambda} = \hat{g}(\lambda^{-1} \cdot)$ . Then

$$K_{\lambda N}^{\nu}(x,y) = \lambda^{-m(k,\rho)} \int \left[ S_{\lambda N}^{\nu}(x',\xi')f_{\lambda} \right](x'')e^{i\langle x',\xi'\rangle}d\xi', \qquad (1.12.8)$$

where  $\hat{f}_{\lambda}(\xi'') = \hat{g}_{\lambda}(\xi'')e^{-i\langle \phi_{\xi}^{\prime}(y,\xi_{\ell}^{\nu}),\xi\rangle}\sigma_{\lambda}^{\nu}(\xi',\xi'')$ , where  $\sigma_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  is a smooth bounded cutoff function in a narrow cone around  $\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ ,  $\sigma_{\lambda}^{\nu}(\xi) = 1$  on supp  $\chi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  and equal to 0 outside the cone twice the support of  $\chi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . Function  $\hat{f}_{\lambda}$  depends on  $\xi'$  as a parameter.

The condition Im  $\Phi \geq 0$  means Im  $\phi \leq 0$  since  $\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x, \xi \rangle - \phi(y, \xi)$ . Suppose that Im  $\phi(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}) < 0$ . Then by the Euler identity Im  $\langle \phi_{\xi}'(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}), \xi \rangle$  is equal to Im  $\phi(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu})$  and is strictly negative at  $\xi = \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . Therefore, if  $\lambda$  is sufficiently large, then  $\xi \in \text{supp } \sigma_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  implies that  $\xi$  and  $\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  are sufficiently close, so that Im  $\langle \phi_{\xi}'(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}), \xi \rangle < 0$  for all  $\xi \in \text{supp } \sigma_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . In fact, for sufficiently large  $\lambda$  we can always choose partition  $u_{\lambda}^{\nu}$  such that Im  $\phi(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}) < 0$ , unless Im  $\phi(y, \xi)$  equals to zero in an open set around some  $\xi = \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . If  $\lambda$  is large, we can assume that this set contains  $\sup \sigma_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . But in this case, Im  $\langle \phi_{\xi}'(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}), \xi \rangle$  is 0 since the derivative with respect to  $\xi$  is 0 at  $\xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ . It follows that in all cases for sufficiently large  $\lambda$  we have Im  $\langle \phi_{\xi}'(y, \xi_{\lambda}^{\nu}), \xi \rangle \leq 0$  for all  $\xi \in \sup \sigma_{\lambda}^{\nu}$ .

This implies that

$$||f_{\lambda}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k})} = ||f_{\lambda}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k})} \leq C||\hat{g}_{\lambda}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k})} \leq C\lambda^{n-k}.$$

Observe now that  $S_{\lambda N}^{\nu}(x',\xi') = 0$  for  $\xi'$  outside a set of measure bounded by  $C\lambda^{k/2}$ . Finally, since pseudo-differential operators of order 0 and type  $(\rho, 1-\rho)$  are bounded on  $L^2$ , we get

$$\frac{\left(\int |K_{\lambda N}^{\nu}(x', x'', y)|^2 dx''\right)^{1/2}}{C\lambda^{-m(k,\rho)}\lambda^{k/2}||f_{\lambda}||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k})}}$$

$$\leq C\lambda^{(n-k)\rho/2}$$
(1.12.9)

for large  $\lambda$ . The argument on the sign of Im  $\langle \phi'_{\xi}(y,\xi'_{\lambda}),\xi \rangle$  depends on y, but we have  $y \in Q$  and the support of the symbol  $a(x,y,\xi)$  is compact in (x,y), so we obtain (1.12.9) uniformly if  $\lambda$  is larger than some absolute constant  $\lambda_0$ .

Performing the x'-integration in (1.12.7) yields the estimate (1.12.3), for  $\lambda > \delta^{-1}$ . The same argument also yields

$$\int |\nabla_y A_\lambda^\nu(x,y)| dx \le C\lambda \cdot \lambda^{-k/2},$$

where the extra factor  $\lambda$  is introduced because of the differentiation with respect to y. But this inequality implies (1.12.4). The rest of the proof proceeds

50

similarly to the end of the proof of Theorem 1.7.2 after Lemma 1.9.4. The only difference is when the sum there is over l > 0 such that  $\lambda = 2^l < \lambda_0$ . The support of  $\hat{f}_{\lambda}$  is bounded in  $\xi''$  and  $S_{\lambda N}^{\nu}(x',\xi')$  vanishes for  $\xi'$  outside a set of bounded measure. This implies that the estimate (1.12.9) is still valid. Moreover, there are only finitely many l > 0 with  $2^l < \lambda_0$ , and each of the integrals in  $\Sigma_1$  is multiplied by some constant, this constant can be chosen uniform with respect to the small cubes Q since the symbol  $a(x, y, \xi)$  is compactly supported in (x, y). This completes the proof of Theorem 1.7.2.

**Proposition 1.12.3.** Let the canonical relation C satisfy conditions of Theorem 1.12.1. Let  $1 and let <math>\mu \leq -n/p + (n-k)/q + k/2$ . Then operators  $T \in I^{\mu}(X, Y; C)$  are continuous from  $L^{p}_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^{q}_{loc}(X)$ . The dual statement holds for  $2 \leq p \leq q < \infty$ .

The statement follows by the interpolation method between the statements of Theorem 1.12.1 and Remark 1.10.4. Similarly, we get that operators from  $I^{\mu}$  are continuous from Lip  $(\alpha - k/2 - \mu)$  to Lip  $(\alpha)$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ .

**Remark 1.12.4.** Let us note that the factorization condition is not necessary for operators in Theorem 1.12.1 to be bounded. Thus, in [59] it is shown that Fourier integral operators with phases as in Example 1.5.5 of Section 1.5.2 and of order of Theorem 1.12.1 are still  $L^p$ -continuous. For example, if the phase function of an operator  $T \in I^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3, C)$  is given by

$$\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x - y, \xi \rangle + \frac{1}{\xi_3} (y_1 \xi_1 + y_2 \xi_2)^2$$

in a conic neighborhood of  $\xi_3 = 1$  away from  $\xi = 0$ , then the factorization condition fails for C. However, operators T are still bounded from  $L^p_{comp}$  to  $L^p_{loc}$ , provided that  $1 and <math>\mu \leq -|1/p - 1/2|$ . Note that in this case k = 1 and the order -|1/p - 1/2| can not be improved according to Section 1.11.

Chapter 1. Fourier integral operators

## Chapter 2

## Affine fibrations

## 2.1 Introduction

The singularity theory of the fibrations and the fibers of the regular mappings have been under study for a very long time. One of the early references is [49]. Many general results can be found, for example, in [32], [51], [63]. One is often interested in the singularities of fibrations and of the fibers themselves. In this monograph we will study the following classes of fibrations. We assume that the fibers are regular and, moreover, that locally they have a very simple form of affine spaces. Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . The fibers are (n-k)-dimensional affine subspaces of  $\Omega$ , equal to the kernels ker  $A(\xi)$  of a holomorphic matrix valued mapping  $A: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times n}$ , on the set where the rank of  $A(\xi)$  is maximal and equal to some  $k \leq n-1$ . It follows that the fibration is regular on an open dense subset of  $\Omega$ , i.e. the fibers do not intersect and behave analytically with respect to their position. We will analyze its singularities in the complement of this regular set.

A particular case arises when the matrices are Jacobi matrices of a regular (holomorphic) mapping  $\Gamma$ . In this case  $A = D\Gamma$  and the regular fibers can be defined as level sets of this holomorphic mapping  $\Gamma$ . The direction of the fibers is the same as the direction of the kernels of the Jacobi matrix  $D\Gamma$ . In such way we are led to consider a more general case of the fibrations defined by the shifted kernels of the Jacobi matrix, for which the fibers of the mapping become the ruled analytic varieties constituted by the kernels.

Problems of this type arise in the analysis of the regularity properties of Fourier integral operators and hyperbolic equations, see [62], although there they are formulated in a very different form in the real domain. However, the analysis in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  allows to draw many conclusions in the real domain as well. In particular, some results of this chapter will be applied to establish the  $L^p$ -regularity properties of Fourier integral operators, which turn out to be sharp ([52], [54]). As a consequence, in [53], sharp  $L^p$ -regularity is derived for solutions of hyperbolic Cauchy problems in four dimensions. The results of this chapter extend some of the analysis of [54] to the general case of fibrations defined by kernels of arbitrary holomorphic matrix valued functions. Here it will appear in subsequent chapters.

In general, the affineness assumption holds generically in the study of Lagrangian manifolds, which can be viewed as closures of smooth (analytic) conormal bundles. Regular fibers in this case are the fibers of a conormal bundle. Results of this chapter imply, in particular, that certain singularities are impossible in lower dimensions.

First, in Section 2.2 we formulate the problem in the invariant case corresponding to the Fourier integral operators commuting with translations. In this case the generating function is  $\phi(y,\xi) = \langle y,\xi \rangle - H(\xi)$ . According to the theory of Fourier integral operators (Section 1.5.2), functions  $H: V \to \mathbb{R}$  on an open subset V of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  have the following property. The maximal rank k of the Hessian  $D^2H(\xi)$  is strictly less than n, and points  $\xi$  where rank  $D^2H(\xi) = k$  is maximal form an open set U. One of the interesting properties of the gradient  $\Gamma: \xi \mapsto \nabla H(\xi)$  is that for every point  $\xi \in U$  the level set  $\Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$  locally in a neighborhood of  $\xi$  coincides with the affine space  $\xi + \ker D^2H(\xi)$ . If H is real analytic, then the holomorphic extension  $\Gamma$  of the gradient  $\nabla H$  has the same property in some open neighborhood of the open set V in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . This property motivates the study of holomorphic mappings  $\Gamma$  with properties (A1), (A2) formulated below.

## 2.2 Fibrations with affine fibers

### 2.2.1 Affine fibrations setting

Now we will give a precise formulation of the first problem. Let A be a holomorphic mapping from a connected open subset  $\Omega$  of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  to  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times n}$ , with  $p, n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Assume that for some  $k \leq n-1$  holds

(A1)  $\max_{\xi \in \Omega} \operatorname{rank} A(\xi) = k.$ 

We will be interested in the kernels of  $A(\xi)$  and thus the condition  $k \leq n-1$  is natural. The set  $\Omega$  can be decomposed into disjoint union of the sets  $\Omega^{(i)}$  of the points  $\xi \in \Omega$  with rank  $A(\xi) = i, i = 0, \ldots, k$ . Then the set  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$  where rank  $A(\xi) < k$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega$  without interior points and in the open dense subset  $\Omega^{(k)}$  the mapping

$$\varkappa: \xi \mapsto \ker A(\xi)$$

is holomorphic from  $\Omega^{(k)}$  to the Grassmann manifold  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , where  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ consists of all (n-k)-dimensional subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Let us denote by  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  the subset of  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$  such that  $\varkappa$  can not be extended to a holomorphic mapping  $U \to \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  on any open neighborhood U of  $\xi$  in  $\Omega$ . Thus, the mapping  $\varkappa$ is regular at  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  and such points will be called *regular*. Its complement  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$  will be called the exceptional set. It consists of the removable singularities at  $\Omega \setminus (\Omega^{(k)} \cup \Omega^{\text{sing}})$  and essential singularities (or simply singularities) at  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ .

#### 2.2 Fibrations with affine fibers

An additional assumption which we will make is that the affine subspaces  $\xi + \varkappa(\xi)$  define a local fibration in  $\Omega$ . It means that locally there is exactly one fiber through a regular point, or that the regular fiber is the same for all points contained in it. In other words,  $\varkappa(\xi + \zeta) = \varkappa(\xi)$  for all  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ ,  $\zeta \in \varkappa(\xi)$ , such that  $\xi + \zeta \in \Omega^{(k)}$ . For the later convenience we formulate it here in the following form:

(A2) For every  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  and  $\eta \in \Omega$  with  $\eta \in (\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega^{(k)}$ , the subspaces  $\varkappa(\xi)$  and  $\varkappa(\eta)$  are equal.

If  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega$  is connected (which certainly is the case if  $\Omega$  is convex or if we require that for any affine subspace L in  $\Omega$  of codimension k the set  $L \cap \Omega$ is connected), property (A2) is global in  $\Omega^{(k)}$ . Thus, for simplicity we will assume that  $\Omega$  is convex, which is not restrictive because we will analyze only local singularities. The mapping  $\varkappa$  is holomorphically extendible to the open subset  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing}$  containing  $\Omega^{(k)}$ , and we will denote this extension also by  $\varkappa$ . Then, for every  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing}$ ,  $\varkappa$  is also constant on  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega$ . And, if  $\xi, \eta \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing}$ , then  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing})$  is empty, or, if not,  $\varkappa(\xi) = \varkappa(\eta)$ . This property extends (A2) from  $\Omega^{(k)}$  to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing}$ . The relation  $\xi \sim \eta$  if  $\eta \in \xi + \varkappa(\xi)$  and  $\varkappa(\xi) = \varkappa(\eta)$  defines an equivalence relation in  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing}$ , the factor space  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing} / \sim$  is a smooth analytic space of dimension k and the projection  $\xi \mapsto (\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing})$  is an analytic submersion. In this sense  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing}), \xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing}$ , define a smooth fibration of  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{sing}$ .

The simplest singular fibration can be defined for  $\Omega = \mathbb{C}^n$  by taking for one dimensional fibers open rays starting from zero. Clearly, such fibration is analytic for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $\xi \neq 0$ , and the singular set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = \{0\}$ . However, it turns out that it is impossible to construct a holomorphic mapping A, for which the described lines would be the kernels of A.

Condition (A2) can be regarded as a definition of the fibrations in  $\Omega$ . The linearity of the fibers is, therefore, essential. Let us give now an important example related to the theory of Fourier integral operators. Let X be a smooth (analytic) manifold of dimension n and let  $T^*X$  denote the cotangent bundle of X. Let  $\Lambda$  be a (conic) analytic Lagrangian submanifold of  $T^*X$ . Let  $\pi$  :  $T^*X \to X$  be the canonical projection. It follows that  $\pi(\Lambda)$  is semi-analytic as the image of an analytic set  $\Lambda$  under a proper mapping  $\pi$ . Let  $\Sigma$  denote its regular part. Manifold  $\Sigma$  is smooth and its conormal bundle

$$N^*\Sigma = \{(x,\xi) : x \in \Sigma, \xi(\delta x) = 0 \text{ for all } \delta x \in T_x\Sigma\}$$

is a conic Lagrangian submanifold of  $T^*X$ , densely contained in  $\Lambda$ . It follows from the Poincaré lemma that every  $(x,\xi) \in \Lambda$  has a conic neighborhood Csuch that  $\Lambda \cap C$  is locally equal to the set of points

$$\{(\nabla\phi(\xi),\xi)\},\$$

where  $\phi$  is a generating function for  $\Lambda$ . The detailed proof of this can be found in [11, 3.7]. In this notation the fibers of  $d\pi|_{\Lambda}$  correspond to the kernels of the Hessian  $D^2 \phi$  and the fibration in  $\Lambda$  is defined by the mapping  $A(\xi) = D^2 \phi(\xi)$ . The regular set  $\Omega^{(k)}$  is the set of points  $\xi$  from  $N^*\Sigma$ . This example will be discussed in more detail in the next chapters.

### 2.2.2 Jacobian affine fibrations setting

A particular case of (A1), (A2) happens when we assume that A is a Jacobian of a holomorphic vector valued mapping  $\Gamma : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^p$ . However, this generalizes the previous example, where  $\Gamma = \nabla \phi$ . In the case of a general  $\Gamma$  the matrix  $A = D\Gamma$  is not necessarily symmetric as in the case when it is a Hessian of a holomorphic function  $\phi$  as above. However, later we will derive a number of results without using the symmetricity. Relations between  $\phi$  and the fibration  $\varkappa$  defined by  $A = D^2 \phi$  will be explored in Chapter 3 in more detail. As consequence, we will derive there several properties of fibrations in the Lagrangian manifolds (as above) as well as related properties of Fourier integral operators, for which  $\phi$  is related to their phase functions. Thus, for future convenience we formulate condition (A1) in this case as

( $\Gamma$ A1) The matrix  $A(\xi)$  is the Jacobian,  $A(\xi) = D\Gamma(\xi)$ , for all  $\xi \in \Omega$ , of a holomorphic mapping  $\Gamma : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^p$ . For this A holds  $\max_{\xi \in \Omega} \operatorname{rank} A(\xi) = k$ .

Here, if  $\Gamma = (\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_p)$ , then  $A_{ij}(\xi) = \partial_{\xi_j} \Gamma_i(\xi)$ .

Condition (A2) can now be formulated in terms of  $\Gamma$ , both locally and globally in  $\Omega$ . Condition (A2) means that the mapping  $\varkappa = \ker D\Gamma$  is constant along  $\varkappa(\xi)$  for each  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ . It then follows that  $\Gamma$  is constant on  $\varkappa(\xi)$ (Proposition 2.8.2). Because  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ , the level set  $\Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$  is a smooth analytic manifold of dimension n-k, locally at  $\xi$ , locally containing the (n-k)dimensional affine space  $\xi + \varkappa(\xi)$ . It then follows that  $\xi + \varkappa(\xi)$  itself is the level set of  $\Gamma$ , locally at  $\xi$ . Condition (A2) is, therefore, equivalent to

( $\Gamma$ A2) For every  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  the affine subspace  $\xi + \varkappa(\xi)$  is locally (at  $\xi$ ) equal to  $\Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$ , the fiber of  $\Gamma$  passing through  $\xi$ .

The global version of the condition  $(\Gamma A2)$  is the following

( $\Gamma A2'$ ) For every  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  the affine subspace  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega$  is equal to  $\Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$ , the fiber of  $\Gamma$  passing through  $\xi$ .

As before,  $\varkappa$  can be extended to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . In view of our assumption that  $\Omega$  is convex, for every  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ ,  $\Gamma$  is constant on  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega$ . And, if  $\xi, \eta \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}})$  is empty, or, if not,  $\varkappa(\xi) = \varkappa(\eta)$ . As before,  $\varkappa$  induces an equivalence relation in  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and a smooth fibration of  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  by  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}})$ ,  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . The mapping  $\Gamma$  factorizes through this fibration (see Corollary 2.8.4 for the details). Therefore, conditions (A2), (\Gamma A2) and (\Gamma A2') are equivalent. A further characterization of this property will be given in Proposition 2.8.2.

The assumption ( $\Gamma A2$ ) of the linearity of the fibers is essential for the analysis. Thus, we will show that for  $k \leq 2$  the set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  of singular points is empty, which even for k = 1 is not the case if we restrict to the assumption ( $\Gamma$ A1) only (Example 2.8.1). However, in a number of important cases, ( $\Gamma$ A2) is satisfied, especially if  $\Gamma$  is the gradient of a holomorphic function  $\phi$ , which then, because  $D^2\phi(\xi) = D\Gamma(\xi)$  has rank  $\leq k < n$ , necessarily is a solution of the Monge-Ampère equation  $D^2\phi(\xi) \equiv 0$ .

We will be interested in the properties of the singular set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . It is shown in [52] and in Chapter 1 that for all  $1 \le k \le n-1$  there exist analytic families  $\Gamma_{y}(\xi)$  of mappings satisfying (\GammaA1), (\GammaA2) for every y in an open subset of  $\mathbb{C}^m$ ,  $m \geq 2$ , for which the singular set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is not empty. The construction there is similar to the  $\sigma$ -processes centered at some point of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  ([63]). This problem will be formulated in the next section. However, if such family  $\Gamma_{y}$ consists of only one mapping  $\Gamma$ , the theory becomes much more subtle. In [52] the partial results of this chapter have been applied to establish the  $L^{p}$ regularity properties for the translation invariant Fourier integral operators (for more discussion see Chapter 4), which are in fact sharp (Section 1.11). In general, the gradient of an analytic phase function corresponding to a Fourier integral operator in a space of dimension n+1 satisfies conditions ( $\Gamma A1$ ), ( $\Gamma A2$ ) (Theorem 4.2.3). With this approach one can interpret the set  $\Omega$  as a section of the closure of an analytic conormal bundle and  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  as the set of the essential singularities for the canonical projection in this closure. Again, this leads to a description of the wave front sets of a class of Fourier integral operators (Chapter 4) and to improvements in the regularity theory of the hyperbolic partial differential equations (Sections 5.2 and 5.4).

There is a number of interesting problems related to fibrations arising in this way. Thus, for a given fibration  $\varkappa_0$  in an open dense set  $\Omega_0$  in  $\Omega$ , we would like to determine whether there exists a holomorphic mapping  $\Gamma$  satisfying conditions ( $\Gamma$ A1), ( $\Gamma$ A2), such that the fibration defined by  $\varkappa$  coincides with the fibration defined by  $\varkappa_0$  in  $\Omega_0 \cap \Omega^{(k)}$ . The construction of a phase function  $\phi$ for a given  $\Gamma(\xi) = \nabla_{\xi} \phi(\xi)$  leads to further complications. In Chapter 3 we will derive necessary and sufficient conditions in terms of a system of partial differential equations with coefficients corresponding to a given fibrations. However, the regularity (analyticity) of the fibration does not immediately imply that solutions of the constructed system of differential equations are sufficiently regular. Moreover, this system depends on the choice of a local coordinate system in the Grassmannian. It would be interesting to obtain an invariant description of the results of Chapter 3 as well as their generalization to spaces of higher dimensions. The results of this chapter (for example, Theorems 2.4.2 - 2.4.5) describe possible dimensions of the set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  under conditions (A1), (A2). They also give some understanding of its structure. It would be interesting to investigate its further properties, especially in the case of gradient fibrations. For example, in Section 3.4, we will give examples of fibrations of gradient type for which  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is not empty. However, in all our examples, the set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is affine and its dimension is equal to n-2. It is not clear whether the condition dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - 2$  is necessary for the fibrations of gradient type.

## **2.3** Formulation for the parametric fibrations

### 2.3.1 Affine fibrations setting

Let us briefly consider a more general problem allowing y dependence. Let A be a holomorphic mapping from an open connected set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^m \times \mathbb{C}^n$  to  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times n}$ . The dependence of  $A = A(y, \xi)$  on y can be assumed to be smooth. In this case all the results are smooth in y and holomorphic in  $\xi$ .

Let  $k \leq n-1$  be the maximal rank of  $A(y,\xi)$  in  $\Omega$ ,

(R1)  $\max_{(y,\xi)\in\Omega} \operatorname{rank} A(y,\xi) = k.$ 

Let  $\Omega^{(k)}$  be the set of points  $(y,\xi)$  where the maximal rank k is attained. It is open and dense in  $\Omega$ . The mapping

 $\varkappa: (y,\xi) \mapsto \ker A(y,\xi)$ 

is holomorphic from  $\Omega^{(k)}$  to the Grassmannian  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  of (n-k)-dimensional linear subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Let  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  denote the set of the essential singularities of  $\varkappa$ , i.e. the set of points  $(y,\xi) \in \Omega$  such that the mapping  $\varkappa$  does not allow a holomorphic extension to any neighborhood of  $(y,\xi)$  in  $\Omega$ . It is clear that the sets  $\Omega^{(k)}$  and  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  are disjoint. As before, the following condition guarantees that kernels of A define a fibration with respect to  $\xi$ :

(R2) For every  $(y,\xi) \in \Omega^{(k)}$  and  $(y,\eta) \in \Omega^{(k)}$  with  $\eta \in (\xi + \varkappa(y,\xi))$ , the affine spaces  $\varkappa(y,\xi)$  and  $\varkappa(y,\eta)$  are equal.

Similar to conditions (A1), (A2), condition (R2) means that  $\varkappa$  defines a local holomorphic fibration in  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Example (1.5.6) with  $A = D^2 \phi$  shows that in general fibrations can have essential singularities. If we fix a value of y or if we take A independent of y, then conditions (R1), (R2) are equivalent to conditions (A1), (A2) above. It turns out that simple examples as in (1.5.6) are impossible in the problem (A1), (A2) and the analysis becomes more interesting. For example, one of the necessary conditions for an analytic set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  to be the set of the essential singularities of a mapping  $\varkappa$  associated to a holomorphic mapping A is the following dimension estimate:

$$k-1 \leq \dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \leq n-2,$$

provided that  $A(y,\xi) = A(\xi)$  is constant in y, and  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  stands for the set of the essential singularities of  $\varkappa$  associated to  $A(\xi)$ , as in the previous section.

### 2.3.2 Jacobian affine fibration setting

Here, as before we assume that there is a holomorphic mapping  $\Gamma$  from an open connected set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^m \times \mathbb{C}^n$  to  $\mathbb{C}^p$ , such that  $A = D\Gamma$ . Let  $k \leq n-1$  be the maximal rank of the Jacobian  $D_{\xi}\Gamma(y,\xi)$  in  $\Omega$ ,

( $\Gamma$ R1) max<sub>( $y,\xi$ )  $\in \Omega$ </sub> rank  $D_{\xi}\Gamma(y,\xi) = k$ .

The following condition guarantee the linearity of the level sets of  $\Gamma$  with respect to  $\xi$ :

(\GammaR2) For every  $(y,\xi) \in \Omega^{(k)}$  the affine space  $(y,\xi)+(0,\varkappa(y,\xi))$  locally coincides with the level set  $\Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(y,\xi))$  through the point  $(y,\xi)$ .

Again, if we fix a value of y or if we take  $\Gamma$  independent of y, then conditions (R1), (R2) are equivalent to conditions (A1), (A2) above. In this case the analysis becomes even more interesting. For example, one of the necessary conditions for an analytic set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  to be the set of the essential singularities of a mapping  $\varkappa$  associated to a holomorphic mapping  $\Gamma$  is the following dimension estimate:

 $\max\{k-1, n-k+1\} \le \dim_{\mathcal{E}} \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \le n-2,$ 

provided that  $\Gamma(y,\xi) = \Gamma(\xi)$  is independent of y, and  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  stands for the set of the essential singularities of  $\varkappa$  associated to  $A(\xi) = D\Gamma(\xi)$ . In particular,  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  can not contain isolated points.

In view of the similarity of two problems described above we will use the same notations in their analysis. In order to eliminate any confusion, we will always consider problem (A1), (A2) unless we explicitly state otherwise.

### 2.4 Main results

Our main results are Theorems 2.4.1–2.6.4, 2.8.3, 2.9.2, which however employ the notation introduced later. Theorem 2.7.7 with the upper bound on the dimension of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is quite standard (in the spirit of [51]). It turns out, that the singularities are removable if the fibers are of codimension 1 or 2, i.e. if k = 1 or k = 2. In particular, it follows that for n = 3 the singular set is always empty, which corresponds to the fact that in 4-dimensional space, playing an important role in the applications to the theory of strictly hyperbolic equations in physics, the translation invariant Fourier integral operators satisfy the assumption for the regularity in Chapter 1. Summarizing the main results, we state them here in a form avoiding the notation introduced later.

**Theorem 2.4.1.** Let A satisfy (A1), (A2). Suppose that  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is not empty. Then the singular set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega$  and for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ holds

$$k-1 \leq \dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \leq n-2.$$

Under the Jacobian condition ( $\Gamma$ A1), we have a stronger statement.

**Theorem 2.4.2.** Let  $\Gamma$  satisfy ( $\Gamma$ A1), ( $\Gamma$ A2). Suppose  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is not empty. Then the following holds:

(i) The singular set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega$  and for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ we have

 $\max\{k-1, n-k+1\} \le \dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \le n-2.$ 

In particular,  $3 \le k \le n-1$ , and  $n \ge 4$ .

(ii) Let  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  be a point in the smooth (regular) component of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Let  $\xi = \lim_{i \to \infty} \xi_i, \ \xi_i \in \Omega^{(k)}, \ and \ \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) \ni \varkappa = \lim_{i \to \infty} \varkappa(\xi_i).$  Then  $\varkappa \subset T_{\xi}\Omega^{\text{sing}}.$ 

As a consequence we get that in the case  $k \leq 2$  all singularities are removable:

**Theorem 2.4.3.** Let  $\Gamma$  satisfy ( $\Gamma$ A1), ( $\Gamma$ A2). Let  $k \leq 2$ . Then the singular set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty.

The estimates on the dimension of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  in (i) of Theorem 2.4.2 and Theorem 2.4.3 together with the statement of Theorem 2.4.2, (ii), are sharp, in a sense that all the intermediate dimension can be exemplified with even entire mappings in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ :

**Theorem 2.4.4.** For every  $3 \le k \le n-1$  and  $2 \le d \le \min\{k-1, n-k+1\}$ there exist a holomorphic mapping  $\Gamma : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$  satisfying ( $\Gamma A1$ ), ( $\Gamma A2$ ), and such that dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - d$ . Moreover,  $\Gamma$  can be chosen such that  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)} = \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ .

Note, that similar results remain valid if  $\mathbb{C}^p$  is replaced by an arbitrary analytic space. Finally, we would like to formulate precisely the relation for the mappings with affine fibers and properties (A1), (A2).

**Theorem 2.4.5.** Let  $\Gamma : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^p$  be holomorphic,  $\Omega$  open subset of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Let  $\Omega_0$ be open and dense in  $\Omega$  and suppose that for every  $\xi \in \Omega_0$  the fiber  $\Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$ through  $\xi$  is an affine subspace of  $\Omega$  of codimension  $k, k \leq n-1$ . Then  $\Gamma$ satisfies properties ( $\Gamma A1$ ), ( $\Gamma A2$ ), and  $\Omega^{sing} \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega_0$ .

There are different ways to formulate the problems in a more general setting. One way is to observe that  $\varkappa$  is a meromorphic mapping and work in the category of meromorphic mappings. Another way is to define the set Mor(X, Y)of morphisms from the analytic set X to the (compact) analytic set Y as follows. The morphism  $\chi$  belongs to Mor(X, Y) if there is an analytic subset C of X such that locally dim  $C < \dim X$  and such that there is a holomorphic mapping  $\tilde{\chi} : X \setminus C \to Y$ . Then  $\chi$  consists of the pair  $(C, \tilde{\chi})$ . However, our analysis will sometimes rely on the fact that the fibration  $\varkappa$  is related to a holomorphic mapping  $\Gamma$  (as in ( $\Gamma$ A1), ( $\Gamma$ A2)) which is fixed in this monograph. Thus, if we chose to work with morphisms which are smooth on a dense open part of  $\Omega$ , a number of results would be lost. This is the reason for us to avoid the general category language and to restrict to the local properties of  $\varkappa$ .

## 2.5 Methods of complex analytic geometry

In this section, we will review some notions and facts of complex analytic geometry which will be frequently used in the sequel. Following [51], let us define meromorphic mappings.

**Definition 2.5.1.** A mapping  $\tau : X \to Y$  between complex manifolds X and Y is called *meromorphic*, if the following three conditions hold.

- (1) For every  $x \in X$  the image set  $\tau(x) \subset Y$  is non-empty and compact in Y.
- (2) The graph of the mapping  $\tau$ , that is the set all pairs  $(x, y) \in X \times Y$  such that  $y \in \tau(x)$ , is a connected complex analytic subset of  $X \times Y$  of dimension equal to the dimension of X.
- (3) There exist a dense subset  $X^*$  of X, such that for every  $x \in X^*$  the image set  $\tau(x)$  consists of a single point.

One of the important tools for the analysis of the structure of analytic sets are dimension estimates. Let M be a complex *n*-dimensional manifold and let  $E \subset M$  be an arbitrary subset of M. Dimension of E is defined by

$$\dim E = \sup\{\dim F : F \subset E\},\$$

where supremum is taken over all smooth submanifolds of M contained in E. If the set on the right hand side is empty, we assume that the supremum is  $-\infty$ . If E is a submanifold or an analytic subset of M, then this notion of dimension coincides with the standard, used in the analytic geometry. If  $\pi$  is a projection from the Cartesian product to one of the sets, then the upper bound for the dimension of the preimage is given by the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.5.2.** Let  $E \subset M \times N$ , where M, N are complex manifolds. Let  $\pi : E \to M$  be the natural projection. Assume that for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  holds

$$\dim \pi^{-1}(z) \le k, \ \forall z \in \pi(E).$$

Then dim  $E \leq k + \dim \pi(E)$ .

By a globally analytic subset of the manifold M we mean any set of the form

$$Z(f_1, \ldots, f_k) = \{ z \in M : f_1(z) = \ldots = f_k(z) = 0 \},\$$

where  $f_1, \ldots, f_k$  are some holomorphic functions on M. A subset Z of the manifold M is called *analytic* if every point of M has an open neighborhood U such that the set  $Z \cap U$  is globally analytic in U. Analytic subsets of open sets in M are called *locally analytic in* M. In particular, a set Z is analytic in M if and only if it is locally analytic and closed.

- **Theorem 2.5.3.** (1) Let  $V \subset M$  and  $W \subset N$  be non-empty subsets of manifolds M and N, respectively. Then the product  $V \times W$  is (locally) analytic in  $M \times N$  if and only if both V and W are (locally) analytic in M and N, respectively.
  - (2) (The Analytic Graph Theorem) Every continuous mapping  $f: M \to N$  with analytic graph is holomorphic.

(3) Every proper analytic subset Z of a connected manifold M is nowhere dense and its complement  $M \setminus Z$  is open and connected.

If  $V \subset M$  and  $W \subset N$  are locally analytic subsets, then the mapping  $f: V \to W$  is called *holomorphic* if every point in V has an open neighborhood U in M such that  $f|_{U \cap V}$  is the restriction of a holomorphic mapping from U to N.

**Theorem 2.5.4.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and let f be a holomorphic mapping defined above. Then

- (1) dim  $V \ge k + \dim f(V)$ , if dim  $f^{-1}(w) \ge k$  for all  $w \in f(V)$ .
- (2) dim  $V \leq k + \dim f(V)$ , if dim  $f^{-1}(w) \leq k$  for all  $w \in f(V)$ .

The proof of the first part is based on the reduction of the estimate to a subset Z of the image f(V) of dimension equal to dim f(V). So, in this case, the set f(V) can be semi-analytic. The second estimate is based on Theorem 2.5.2. If the level sets are of the same dimension, we have

**Corollary 2.5.5.** Let  $Z \subset W$  be a locally analytic subset of N. If dim  $f^{-1}(w) = k$  holds for all  $w \in Z$ , then dim  $f^{-1}(Z) = k + \dim Z$ .

For  $z \in V$  let  $l_z f$  denote the germ of the fiber of f

$$l_z f = \left(f^{-1}(f(z))\right)_z$$

at the point z.

**Theorem 2.5.6.** (1) (semicontinuity) The mapping

 $V \ni z \mapsto \dim l_z f$ 

is upper semicontinuous: for all  $a \in V$  the inequality  $\dim l_z f \leq \dim l_a f$ holds in some neighborhood of a.

- (2) The inequality dim  $l_z f \ge \dim_z V \dim f(V)$  holds for all  $z \in V$ .
- (3) (Cartan-Remmert). For every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  the set  $\{z \in V : \dim l_z f \geq k\}$  is analytic.

The set E is called *analytically constructible* if there exist analytic sets V and W such that  $E = V \setminus W$ .

**Theorem 2.5.7.** Let  $V, W \subset M$  be analytic sets. Then the closures of any connected component of the set  $V \setminus W$ , any open and closed set in  $V \setminus W$ , and, in particular, the set  $\overline{V \setminus W}$ , are unions of some simple components of V not contained in W, and so they are analytic. The family of the connected components of the set  $V \setminus W$  is locally finite.

We will also need the following

62

**Proposition 2.5.8.** If V is an analytically constructible set, then the set  $\bar{V} \setminus V$  is nowhere dense in  $\bar{V}$ .

Proofs of the above statements can be found in [32] in II.1.4, II.3.4, V.1.1, II.3.6, V.3.2, V.3, IV.2.10. The last proposition is a remark on p. 250 in [32]. By [51] and [32, V.5.1] we have:

**Theorem 2.5.9** (Remmert's Proper Mapping Theorem). If  $f : X \to Y$  is a proper holomorphic mapping of analytic spaces, then its range f(X) is analytic in Y. Consequently, the image of each analytic subset of X is an analytic subset of Y.

Let us briefly review some other techniques. A subset Z of a complex manifold M is called *thin*, if it is closed, nowhere dense, and for every open set  $\Omega$  in M every holomorphic function on  $\Omega \setminus Z$  which is locally bounded near  $\Omega \cap Z$  extends to a holomorphic function on  $\Omega$ . An important statement which will be of use to us is the following ([32, II.3.5]):

**Proposition 2.5.10.** Every nowhere dense analytic subset of a complex manifold M is thin in M.

If E is a nowhere dense subset of a non-empty set F, where both E and F are analytically constructible in M, then dim  $E < \dim F$ . In fact, as in [32, p. 253], we have

**Proposition 2.5.11.** For E and F as above, E is nowhere dense in F if and only if  $\dim_z E < \dim_z F$  for all  $z \in E$ .

If M is connected, we have the following property ([32, II.3.6]).

**Proposition 2.5.12.** If the complex manifold M is connected, then every proper analytic subset Z of M is nowhere dense and its complement  $M \setminus Z$  is connected and open.

An important inequality for studying dimensions of analytic sets is that for any analytic germs  $A_1, \ldots, A_k$  at a point *a* of a complex manifold *M*, holds

 $\operatorname{codim} (A_1 \cap \ldots \cap A_k) \le \operatorname{codim} A_1 + \ldots \operatorname{codim} A_k.$ (2.5.1)

The proof can be found in [32, III.4.6]. Let now  $f_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, k$ , be analytic functions on a neighborhood of a such that  $f_i(a) = 0$ , for all  $i = 1, \ldots, k$ . Let  $Z_{f_i}$  denote the zero set of  $f_i$ . As a consequence of (2.5.1), we get

$$\operatorname{codim} (Z_{f_1} \cap \ldots \cap Z_{f_k}) \leq k,$$

or

$$\dim \left( Z_{f_1} \cap \ldots \cap Z_{f_k} \right) \ge n - k. \tag{2.5.2}$$

## 2.6 Some properties of affine parametric fibrations

In this section we will discuss several general properties of parametric fibrations and their implications for the non-parametric case with k = 1. Thus, under conditions ( $\Gamma R1$ ), ( $\Gamma R2$ ) we have:

**Theorem 2.6.1.** Let  $\Gamma$  satisfy conditions ( $\Gamma$ R1), ( $\Gamma$ R2) with k = 1 and let  $(y,\xi) \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Then the mapping  $\eta \mapsto \Gamma(y,\eta)$  is constant.

To prove this, we start with two lemmas.

**Lemma 2.6.2.** Let A satisfy conditions (R1) and (R2). For  $\omega \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and for every k-dimensional linear subspace C of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  there exists a sequence  $\omega_j \in \Omega^{(k)}$ such that  $\omega_j$  converges to  $\omega$  as  $j \to \infty$ ,  $\varkappa(\omega_j)$  converges to  $\varkappa \in \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  as  $j \to \infty$ , and  $\varkappa \cap C \neq \{0\}$ .

**Proof.** The set  $G(C) = \{L \in \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) : L \cap C = \{0\}\}$  is holomorphically diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}^{k(n-k)}$  (cf. [32, B.6.6] and [32, Prop., p.367]). Therefore, if there exist a neighborhood U of the point  $\omega$  in  $\Omega$  such that the image  $\varkappa(U \cap \Omega^{(k)})$  is contained in a compact set in G(C), then  $\omega \notin \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . For the latter conclusion we use Proposition 2.5.10, which means, in particular, that every bounded holomorphic function on the complement of an analytic subset of U has a holomorphic extension to U.

**Lemma 2.6.3.** Let  $\Gamma$  satisfy conditions ( $\Gamma R1$ ), ( $\Gamma R2$ ). For every point  $(y, \xi) \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and for every k-dimensional linear subspace C of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  there exists a linear subspace L of C with dim  $L \geq 1$  such that for every  $l \in L$  holds

$$\Gamma(y,\xi+l) = \Gamma(y,\xi).$$

**Proof.** According to Lemma 2.6.2 there exists a sequence  $\omega_j \to (y,\xi)$  with  $\omega_j \in \Omega^{(k)}$  such that the limit  $\lim_j \varkappa(\omega_j) = \varkappa$  exists and  $\varkappa \cap C \neq \{0\}$ . Let  $L = \varkappa \cap C$ . In view of condition (R2) for all  $\omega_j = (y_j, \xi_j)$  and  $z_j \in \varkappa(\omega_j)$  holds  $\Gamma(y_j, \xi_j + z_j) = \Gamma(y_j, \xi_j)$ . The statement of the lemma now follows from the continuity of  $\Gamma$ .

The proof of Theorem 2.6.1 follows from Lemma 2.6.3 with k = 1, since in this case Lemma 2.6.3 holds for an arbitrary C.

**Corollary 2.6.4.** Let  $\Gamma$  satisfy ( $\Gamma$ A1), ( $\Gamma$ A2) with k = 1. Then the set of essential singularities  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty.

**Proof.** Let  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . According to Theorem 2.6.1 the mapping  $\eta \mapsto \Gamma(\eta)$  is constant in  $\Omega$  and the matrix  $D_{\xi}\Gamma$  vanishes. This contradicts k = 1.

## 2.7 General properties of affine fibrations

In this section we will analyze some structural properties of the singular set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and establish several general properties of affine fibrations. From now on we will always assume that the mapping A satisfies (A1) and (A2), unless stated otherwise.

We start with noting that the graph of  $\varkappa$  is given by

$$G = \{ (\xi, L) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) : \xi \in \Omega^{(k)}, L = \varkappa(\xi) \}$$

and we also define

$$E = \{ (\xi, L) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) : L \subset \ker A(\xi) \}.$$

Clearly E is a closed analytic subset of  $\Omega \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  and

$$G = (\Omega^{(k)} \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)) \cap E = E \setminus \{ (\xi, L) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) : \xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)} \},\$$

which is the complement in E of the closed analytic subset  $E \cap \{(\xi, L) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) : \xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}\}$ . Let  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi) \subset \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  be the set of the limits of  $\varkappa(\xi_j)$  as  $\xi_j \to \xi, \xi_j \in \Omega^{(k)}$ .

For  $V \subset \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  we define the set  $\widetilde{V}$  by

$$\widetilde{V} = \bigcup_{L \in V} L.$$

We will use the following properties of the mapping  $V \mapsto \widetilde{V}$ :

**Proposition 2.7.1.** Let V be an analytic subset of  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Then  $\widetilde{V}$  is an analytic subset of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Moreover,

$$\dim V < \dim V + n - k.$$

If dim  $V \ge 1$ , then dim  $\widetilde{V} \ge n - k + 1$ .

**Proof.** The incidence relation I defined by

$$I = \{(\xi, L) \in \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) : \xi \in L\}$$

is an analytic (even algebraic) subset of  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Let  $\pi_1 : (\xi, L) \mapsto \xi$ be the projection from  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  to  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and let V be an analytic subset of  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Then

$$\widetilde{V} = \pi_1(I \cap (\mathbb{C}^n \times V)).$$

The set  $\mathbb{C}^n \times V$  and, therefore,  $I \cap (\mathbb{C}^n \times V)$  is analytic in  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , so  $\tilde{V}$  is analytic if the mapping  $\pi_1$  is proper by Remmert's proper mapping theorem 2.5.9. This is indeed the case in view of the compactness of the Grassmannian  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ .

Now we will prove the estimate of the dimension. Let  $\pi_2 : (\xi, L) \mapsto L$  be the projection from  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  to  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . We have  $\pi_2(I \cap (\mathbb{C}^n \times V)) = V$  and let  $v \in V \subset \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . The fiber of  $\pi_2$  in v in  $I \cap (\mathbb{C}^n \times V)$  is the set  $\{(\xi, v) : \xi \in v\}$ , so that  $\dim(\pi_2^{-1}(v) \cap I \cap (\mathbb{C}^n \times V)) = \dim \tilde{v} = n - k$ . The application of Theorem 2.5.4 implies that  $\dim(I \cap (\mathbb{C}^n \times V) = n - k + \dim V)$ . The projection  $\pi_1$  can not increase the dimension and the estimate of Proposition follows.

Assume now that dim  $V \ge 1$  and dim  $\tilde{V} = n - k$ . The set  $\tilde{V}$  is analytic, therefore it has at most finite number of irreducible components at each point. By definition of  $\tilde{V}$ , each of this components can be only a (n - k)-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . But this would imply that the set V is finite, a contradiction with dim V = 1. The proof is complete.

Now we can prove

**Proposition 2.7.2.** The following holds:

- (i) The set G is analytically constructible, the closure G
   is analytic. The set
   x
   ξ(ξ) is analytic and connected. The set 
   x
   ξ(ξ) is analytic in C<sup>n</sup>.
- (ii) We have  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) \subset \ker A(\xi)$  for every  $\xi \in \Omega$ .
- (iii) If  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then  $\dim \bar{\varkappa}(\xi) \ge 1$  and  $\dim \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) \ge n k + 1$ . On the other hand, if  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  contains only one element  $L \in \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  and  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) = L$ .
- (iv) Moreover, if  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and C is an irreducible component of  $\tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi)$ , then  $\dim C \ge n k + 1$ .
- (v) If  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k-1)} \cap \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) = \ker A(\xi)$  and  $\dim \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) = n k + 1$ .

**Proof.** (i) We have already shown that G is analytically constructible. The closure  $\overline{G}$  is analytic because the closure of any analytically constructible set is an analytic set (Theorem 2.5.7). It follows that

$$\bar{\varkappa}(\xi) = \{ L \in \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) : (\xi, L) \in \bar{G} \}$$

is an analytic subset of  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , since  $\{\xi\} \times \bar{\varkappa}(\xi) = (\{\xi\} \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)) \cap \bar{G}$ and hence analytic, implying the analyticity of  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  by Theorem 2.5.3, (1).

Now we shall prove that  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  is connected. Let U, V be open subsets of  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n), U \cap V = \emptyset$  and  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi) \subset (U \cup V)$ . Let  $A = \{\eta \in \Omega^{(k)} : \varkappa(\eta) \in U\}$  and  $B = \{\eta \in \Omega^{(k)} : \varkappa(\eta) \in V\}$ . Then A and B are disjoint open subsets of  $\Omega^{(k)}$ . There is an open neighborhood W of  $\xi$ , such that  $W \cap \Omega^{(k)}$  is connected and  $W \cap \Omega^{(k)} \subset A \cup B$ . Hence  $A \cap W \cap \Omega^{(k)} = \emptyset$  or  $B \cap W \cap \Omega^{(k)} = \emptyset$  and it follows that  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi) \cap U = \emptyset$  or  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi) \cap V = \emptyset$ . This completes the proof that  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  is connected.

The analyticity of  $\tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi)$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  follows from Proposition 2.7.1.

(ii) The inclusion (and equality) holds for  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Now, let  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ and let  $\varkappa_0 \in \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$ . Then there exists a sequence  $\xi_j \in \Omega^{(k)}$  such that  $\xi_j$
#### 2.7 General properties of affine fibrations

converges to  $\xi$  in  $\Omega$  and  $\varkappa(\xi_j)$  converges to  $\varkappa_0$  in the Grassmannian. Then we have  $\varkappa(\xi_j) = \ker A(\xi_j)$  and  $A(\xi_j)\varkappa(\xi_j) = 0$ . Taking a limit and using the continuity of A, we get  $A(\xi)\varkappa_0 = 0$ , which means  $\varkappa_0 \subset \ker A(\xi)$ . Because this holds for any  $\varkappa_0 \in \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$ , we obtain the statement.

(iii) If  $\xi \notin \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  consists of one point, so that  $\dim \bar{\varkappa}(\xi) = 0$ . Conversely, if  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  we have that for every  $C \in \mathbb{G}_k(\mathbb{C}^n)$  the set

$$\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)_C = \{ L \in \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) : L \cap C \neq \{0\} \}$$

is a hypersurface (for general n, k with singularities, analytically constructible in  $\mathbb{G}_k(\mathbb{C}^n) \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , see [32, p.367]), the intersection property  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi) \cap \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)_C \neq \emptyset$  for every  $C \in \mathbb{G}_k(\mathbb{C}^n)$  implies that  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  is infinite, hence dim  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  can not be equal to zero. Proposition 2.7.1 implies that dim  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) \geq n-k+1$ .

(iv) Suppose again that dim  $C \leq n-k$ . Then  $C \in \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ ,  $C \in \bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$ . The set  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  is connected by (i) and contains more than one element by (iii). It follows that C belongs to the closure of a smooth part of  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  of positive dimension, which implies that C is contained in an irreducible component of  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$  of dimension  $\geq n-k+1$ , in contradiction with the assumption that C is an irreducible component of  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$ .

(v) If  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k-1)} \cap \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then ker  $A(\xi)$  is a linear subspace of codimension k-1, and  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  implies that  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$  has codimension k-1. For  $\eta \in \ker A(\xi)$ ,  $\eta \neq 0$ , let L denote the linear span of  $\eta$ . Then  $L \subset \ker A(\xi)$  and there exists  $C \in \mathbb{G}_k(\mathbb{C}^n)$  such that  $L = \ker A(\xi) \cap C$ . By Lemma 2.6.2, there exists  $\varkappa_0 \in \bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  with  $\dim(\varkappa_0 \cap C) \geq 1$ . Then  $\varkappa_0 \cap C \subset \ker A(\xi) \cap C = L$  and, therefore,  $\varkappa_0 \cap C = L$ . This implies  $\eta \in L = \varkappa_0 \cap C \subset \varkappa_0 \subset \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$  and the equality of  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$  and ker  $A(\xi)$ .

**Remark 2.7.3.** The statement of Proposition 2.7.2, (iii), implies in particular, that for  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  holds  $\dim_{\xi}(\xi + \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)) \geq n - k + 1$ .

**Remark 2.7.4.** The graph of the mapping  $\bar{\varkappa}$  is analytic in  $\Omega \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . The analytic graph theorem (Theorem 2.5.3, (2)) implies then that the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i)  $\bar{\varkappa}$  is locally bounded.
- (ii)  $\bar{\varkappa}$  is continuous.
- (iii)  $\bar{\varkappa}$  is holomorphic.
- (iv)  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty.

**Remark 2.7.5.** For k = n - 1 we have  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) = \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  and by Chow's theorem ([6]) it follows that  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  must be algebraic, defined by some homogeneous polynomial equations in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . For arbitrary k, using Plücker embedding  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n) \to \mathbb{P}(\Lambda^{n-k}\mathbb{C}^n)$  and Chow's theorem, it follows that  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  is algebraic in  $\Lambda^{n-k}\mathbb{C}^n$ .

**Remark 2.7.6.** If for an algebraic variety V we denote by  $T_{\eta}V$  its Zariski tangent space at  $\eta$ , which is the intersection of all ker  $Df(\eta)$  with f a polynomial, which is constant on V, then it follows that, for every  $\eta \in \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$  such that  $\xi + \eta \in \Omega$ , we have  $T_{\eta}\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) \subset \ker A(\xi + \eta)$ .

In view of Proposition 2.7.2 and compactness of  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , the mapping  $\bar{\varkappa}$ :  $\Omega \to \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  is meromorphic in a sense that it coincides with holomorphic mapping  $\varkappa$  on  $\Omega^{(k)}$ , its graph is analytic and the values  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  for  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ are compact. Now we will derive an upper bound on the dimension of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ .

**Theorem 2.7.7.** The set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega$  with

$$\dim \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \le n-2.$$

**Proof.** In fact, this is a consequence of [51, p.369]. However, let us give an idea of its proof. Let  $\pi$  be the restriction to  $\overline{G}$  of the projection  $(\xi, L) \rightarrow \xi$ . Then, according to a theorem of Cartan and Remmert (Theorem 2.5.6, (3)), the set  $\Sigma$  of the points  $g \in \overline{G}$  such that the dimension of the germs at g of the fiber  $\pi^{-1}(\pi(g))$  has positive dimension is an analytic subset of  $\overline{G}$ , so an analytic subset of  $\Omega \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . On the other hand, due to the compactness of  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ ,  $\pi|_{\overline{G}}$  is a proper analytic mapping from  $\overline{G}$  to  $\Omega$ , so in view of Remmert's proper mapping theorem (Theorem 2.5.9),  $\pi(\overline{G})$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega$ . However,  $\pi(\overline{G} \setminus G) = \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , so  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega$ .

By Proposition 2.7.2 and Proposition 2.5.8, the set  $\bar{G}\backslash G$  is nowhere dense in  $\bar{G}$ . Then, by Proposition 2.5.11, we have dim  $\bar{G}\backslash G < \dim \bar{G}$  and since every analytically constructible set is a locally finite union of analytically constructible leaves ([32, Prop.3(2),p.249]), we have dim  $\bar{G} = \dim G$ . Thus, dim  $\bar{G}\backslash G \leq \dim G - 1 = n - 1$ . The projection  $\pi$  of  $\bar{G}\backslash G$  to the first factor by Proposition 2.7.2 has dimension of each fiber  $\geq 1$  and image equal to  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . By Theorem 2.5.4 we get

$$\dim \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \leq \dim \overline{G} \setminus G \leq n-2.$$

**Proposition 2.7.8.** The mapping  $\varkappa$  is holomorphically extendible over every point  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . The set  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is a connected subset of  $\Omega$  and, therefore,  $\varkappa$  allows the holomorphic extension to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . This extension coincides with the restriction of  $\bar{\varkappa}$  to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Moreover, for every  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and  $\eta \in$  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}})$  we have  $\varkappa(\xi) = \varkappa(\eta)$ .

**Proof.** By definition of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  each point  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is a removable singularity for  $\varkappa$  and the mapping  $\varkappa$  is extendible in a neighborhood of this point in  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , which is an open subset of  $\Omega$ . It is also connected by Proposition 2.5.12, and  $\varkappa$  has the global holomorphic extension to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , say  $\varkappa_0$ . The graph of  $\varkappa_0$  is between the graphs of  $\varkappa$  and  $\bar{\varkappa}$  in  $\Omega \times \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . It follows that the closure of the graph of  $\varkappa_0$  is equal to the graph of  $\bar{\varkappa}$  and this implies that  $\varkappa_0$  is equal to the restriction of  $\bar{\varkappa}$  to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Suppose now, that  $\xi$  and  $\eta$  are as in the conditions of Proposition 2.7.8. Let  $\xi_j \in \Omega^{(k)}, \xi_j \to \xi$ . Then there exists a sequence  $\eta_j \in (\xi_j + \varkappa(\xi_j)) \cap \Omega^{(k)}$  such that  $\eta_j \to \eta$ . Then  $\varkappa(\eta_j) \to \varkappa(\eta)$  as  $\varkappa$  is extendible over  $\eta$ . But  $\varkappa(\xi_j) = \varkappa(\eta_j)$  because  $\xi_j, \eta_j \in \Omega^{(k)}$  and (A2), so that  $\varkappa(\xi) = \lim_j \varkappa(\xi_j) = \varkappa(\eta)$ .

Now we will introduce the equivalence relation defined by the fibration  $\varkappa$ . On the regular subset  $\Omega^{(k)}$  two points are in the same equivalence class if they belong to the same fiber. The closure of such equivalence relation defines a relation on  $\Omega$ , for which the class of a point  $\xi \in \Omega$  consists of the limit cone  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$ . In particular, for  $\xi \in \Omega' = \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  the equivalence classes are of the same dimension as for  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ . This is used to establish some relations with  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and estimate its dimension.

#### Proposition 2.7.9. The set

$$\mathcal{R} = \{(\xi, \eta) \in \Omega' \times \Omega' : \eta - \xi \in \varkappa(\xi)\}$$

is a closed analytic subset of  $\Omega' \times \Omega'$ , smooth, dim  $\mathcal{R} = 2n - k$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{R}$  defines an equivalence relation in  $\Omega'$ , namely

- (i)  $(\xi,\xi) \in \mathcal{R}$  for every  $\xi \in \Omega'$ .
- (ii) If  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathcal{R}$ , then  $(\eta, \xi) \in \mathcal{R}$ .
- (iii) If  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $(\eta, \zeta) \in \mathcal{R}$ , then  $(\xi, \zeta) \in \mathcal{R}$ .

If  $\xi \in \Omega'$  then

$$\mathcal{R}(\xi) = \{\eta \in \Omega' : (\xi, \eta) \in \mathcal{R}\}$$

is the equivalence class of  $\xi$  and  $\Omega'$  is partitioned into equivalence classes. The set  $\Omega'/\mathcal{R}$  is a smooth complex analytic manifold of dimension equal to k.

**Proof.** The statements in the first sentence about  $\mathcal{R}$  are obvious, with dim  $\mathcal{R} = n + (n - k) = 2n - k$ . Properties (ii) and (iii) follow from Proposition 2.7.8. If  $\mathcal{R}(\xi) \cap \mathcal{R}(\eta) \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\mathcal{R}(\xi) = \mathcal{R}(\eta)$  and  $\Omega'$  is equal to the union of  $\mathcal{R}(\xi)$ 's. Because  $\mathcal{R}$  is a closed subset of  $\Omega' \times \Omega'$ , the quotient space  $\Omega'/\mathcal{R}$  of equivalence classes is a Hausdorff topological space, when provided with the strongest topology for which the natural projection  $p : \xi \mapsto \mathcal{R}(\xi)$  is continuous. Using transversal sections we see that actually  $\Omega'/\mathcal{R}$  is a smooth complex analytic manifold of dimension equal to k, since dim  $\mathcal{R}(\xi) = n - k$ .

The set  $\mathcal{R} \cap (\Omega^{(k)} \times \Omega^{(k)})$  is equal to the complement of

$$((\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}) \times \Omega) \cup (\Omega \times (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}))$$
(2.7.1)

in the analytic subset

$$\{(\xi,\eta)\in\Omega\times\Omega:\eta-\xi\in\ker A(\xi)\}\$$

of  $\Omega \times \Omega$ . Because the set (2.7.1) is an analytic subset of  $\Omega \times \Omega$ , it follows that  $\mathcal{R}$  is analytically constructible and the closure  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}$  of  $\mathcal{R}$  in  $\Omega \times \Omega$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega \times \Omega$  (Theorem 2.5.7). Thus, we have

**Lemma 2.7.10.** The set  $\mathcal{R} = \overline{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega' \times \Omega')$  is analytically constructible, its closure  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega \times \Omega$  and

$$\dim(\mathcal{R}\backslash\mathcal{R}) \le 2n - k - 1.$$

**Proof.** We have already shown that  $\mathcal{R}$  is analytically constructible and its closure  $\bar{\mathcal{R}}$  is analytic. Then the set  $\mathcal{R} \cap (\Omega^{(k)} \times \Omega^{(k)})$  is dense in  $\bar{\mathcal{R}}$  and Proposition 2.5.11 and 2.7.9 imply

$$\dim(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \setminus (\mathcal{R} \cap (\Omega^{(k)} \times \Omega^{(k)}))) < \dim \bar{\mathcal{R}} = 2n - k.$$

The dimension estimate of Lemma follows from it.

We have the projections

$$\pi_1: (\xi, \eta) \mapsto \xi: \Omega \times \Omega \to \Omega, \ \pi_2: (\xi, \eta) \mapsto \eta: \Omega \times \Omega \to \Omega,$$

which are analytic mappings. We will actually consider the restrictions of  $\pi_1$ and  $\pi_2$  to  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}$ . Note that  $\pi_2(\pi_1^{-1}(\{\xi\}) \cap \overline{\mathcal{R}})$  is equal to the cone  $\widetilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi)$  over  $\overline{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi)$ . Because by Theorem 2.7.7 the set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is an analytic subset of  $\Omega$ , also

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}} = \bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)$$

is an analytic subset of  $\Omega \times \Omega$  and we have the analytic mappings  $\pi_1 : \overline{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}} \to$  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , which is surjective, and  $\pi_2 : \overline{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}} \to \Omega$ . We have

$$\bigcup_{\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}} (\xi + \tilde{\breve{\varkappa}}(\xi)) = \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)).$$
 (2.7.2)

Note that the dimension estimate dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \leq n-2$  in Theorem 2.7.7 follows also from Lemma 2.7.10. Indeed, the set  $\overline{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega')$  is contained in  $\overline{\mathcal{R}} \setminus \mathcal{R}$ , so has dimension  $\leq 2n - k - 1$ . The fibers of  $\pi_1$  from  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$  onto  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  have dimension  $\geq n - k + 1$ . Hence dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \leq n - 2$ .

**Proposition 2.7.11.** The following estimates hold:

$$n - k + 1 \le \dim \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega)), \qquad (2.7.3)$$

$$\dim \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} + n - k + 1 \le \dim(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega)).$$
(2.7.4)

**Proof.** The estimate (2.7.3) follows immediately from (2.7.2). By Proposition 2.7.2 for each  $w \in \pi_1(\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}) = \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  the fiber  $\pi_1^{-1}(w)$  restricted to  $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$  satisfies dim  $\pi_1^{-1}(w) \ge n - k + 1$ , hence by Theorem 2.5.4 we get (2.7.4).

Now we will analyze the structure of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Let us first overview a general construction and then concentrate of the case k = n - 1.

#### 2.7 General properties of affine fibrations.

By a *m*-dimensional projective subspace of the space  $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  we mean any subset of  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  of the form  $\mathbb{P}(L)$ , where  $L \in \mathbb{G}_{m+1}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . For more discussion on the general structure of these sets see [32]. By  $\mathbb{G}_m(\mathbb{P})$  we denote the set of all *m*-dimensional projective subspaces of  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , so that we have the bijection

$$\omega: \mathbb{G}_{m+1}(\mathbb{C}^n) \ni L \mapsto \mathbb{P}(L) \in \mathbb{G}_m(\mathbb{P}).$$

If L is one dimensional, we will identify L with  $\mathbb{P}(L)$  and  $\mathbb{G}_0(\mathbb{P})$  with  $\mathbb{P}$ . Via this mapping  $\omega$  we can identify elements of  $\mathbb{G}_m(\mathbb{P})$  with (m+1)-dimensional linear subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Let  $\mathcal{D} = \mathbb{G}_{n-k-1}(\mathbb{P})$  and for a given  $L \in \mathcal{D}$  and complementary to  $\omega^{-1}(L)$  k-dimensional linear subspace H of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , let  $\pi_{L,H}$  be the linear projection from  $\mathbb{C}^n$  onto H along L.

Let  $\mathcal{D}_H = \mathbb{P}(H)$  be the space of directions in H. Then  $\pi_{L,H}$  induces a holomorphic rational fiber bundle from  $\mathcal{D} \setminus \{\mathbb{P}(L)\}$  onto  $\mathbb{P}(H)$ . The fiber  $\pi_{L,H}^{-1}(M)$ over any  $M \in \mathbb{P}(H)$  consists of all  $K \in \mathcal{D}$  such that  $K \neq \mathbb{P}(L)$  and  $K \subset L + M$ , so that

$$\pi_{L,H}^{-1}(M) = \mathbb{G}_{n-k-1}(\mathbb{P}(L+M)) \setminus \{\mathbb{P}(L)\}.$$

Adding (the points of)  $\mathbb{P}(L)$  to it, we get the spaces  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k-1}(\mathbb{P}(L+M)) \cong \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(L+M)$  in  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k-1}(\mathbb{P})$  as the closure of the fibers. Thus,  $\pi_{L,H}$  defines an almost fibration  $\mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{P}(H)$  with (n-k)-dimensional projective subspaces as fibers, except that all fibers intersect each other at the subspaces of L in  $\mathcal{D}$ .

We may assume that not for all  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  we have  $\varkappa(\xi) = L$ . This implies that

$$\Omega_L^{(k)} = \{ \xi \in \Omega^{(k)} : \varkappa(\xi) \neq L \}$$

is equal to the complement in  $\Omega$  of an algebraic subset of complex codimension  $\geq 1$ . Hence  $\Omega_L^{(k)}$  is a connected, open and dense subset of  $\Omega^{(k)}$  and of  $\Omega$ . On  $\Omega_L^{(k)}$  we have the set valued mapping  $\pi_{L,H} \circ \omega \circ \varkappa : \Omega_L^{(k)} \to \mathbb{P}(H)$ .

Let us do now the technically simpler case of k = n - 1, which will turn out to be the most important case later. The above construction simplifies. We consider the projection of the fibers to some hyperplane H in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , which can have its own singularities. Let  $L \in \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  be given and let an (n-1)dimensional linear subspace H of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  be complementary to L. Let  $\pi_{L,H}$  be the linear projection from  $\mathbb{C}^n$  onto H along L. The projective space  $\mathbb{P}(H)$  is the space of directions in H and  $\pi_{L,H}$  induces a holomorphic rational fiber bundle from  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n) \setminus \{L\}$  onto  $\mathbb{P}(H)$ . The fiber  $\pi_{L,H}^{-1}(M)$  over any  $M \in \mathbb{P}(H)$  consists of all  $K \in \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  such that  $K \neq L$  and  $K \subset L + M$ , so that

$$\pi_{L,H}^{-1}(M) = \mathbb{P}(L+M) \setminus \{L\}.$$

Adding L to it, we get the spaces  $\mathbb{P}(L+M)$  in  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  as the closure of the fibers. Thus,  $\pi_{L,H}$  defines an almost fibration  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n) \to \mathbb{P}(H)$ , except that all fibers intersect each other at L in  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ .

We may assume that not for all  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  we have  $\varkappa(\xi) = L$ . As before, the set

$$\Omega_L^{(k)} = \{\xi \in \Omega^{(k)} : \varkappa(\xi) \neq L\}$$

is a connected, open and dense subset of  $\Omega^{(k)}$  and of  $\Omega$ . On  $\Omega_L^{(k)}$  we have the holomorphic mapping  $\pi_{L,H} \circ \varkappa : \Omega_L^{(k)} \to \mathbb{P}(H)$ .

Let  $\Omega_L^{\text{sing}}$  be the set of  $\xi \in \Omega$  such that  $\pi_{L,H} \circ \varkappa$  does not have a holomorphic extension to any open neighborhood of  $\xi$ . Clearly  $\Omega_L^{\text{sing}} \subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . If  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}} \setminus \Omega_L^{\text{sing}}$ , then  $\pi_{L,H}$  maps  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  to the single value of the analytic extension of  $\pi_{L,H} \circ \varkappa$  over  $\xi$ , say M, which means that  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi) \subset \mathbb{P}(L+M)$ . By Proposition 2.7.2 we have dim  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) \geq n - k + 1$  and dim  $\mathbb{P}(L+M) =$ dim(L+M) = n - k + 1 = 2, so we get that it is open in  $\mathbb{P}(L+M)$ . It follows that  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  is an open conic subset of  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . If  $\xi_j \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and  $\xi_j \to \xi$  in  $\Omega$ ,  $L_j \in \bar{\varkappa}(\xi_j), L_j \to L$  in  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , then  $L \in \bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$ . This implies that  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  contains all limit positions of elements of  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi_j), j \to \infty$ . In particular, if  $0 \in \Omega^{\text{sing}} \setminus \Omega_L^{\text{sing}}, \bar{\varkappa}(0) = \mathbb{P}(J), J$  a 2-dimensional linear subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and we choose  $L' \in \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  with  $L' \not\subset J$ , then  $\xi \notin \Omega^{\text{sing}} \setminus \Omega_{L'}^{\text{sing}}$  for all  $\xi$  in a neighborhood of zero. Thus, we have proved

**Proposition 2.7.12.** Let k = n - 1. For every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  there exist an open neighborhood U of  $\xi$  in  $\Omega$ , such that  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \cap U = \Omega_L^{\text{sing}} \cap U$  for L in an open dense subset of  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ .

Now we want to establish estimates from below on the dimension of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . We will need the following simple result from linear algebra, the proof of which is obvious.

**Lemma 2.7.13.** Let  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times n}$  with rank A = k, attained on a submatrix  $A_{\mathcal{L}}^{\mathcal{M}} \in \mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  of the rows and columns with numbers in  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{M}$  respectively,  $\mathcal{L} \subset \{1, \ldots, p\}, \mathcal{M} \subset \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Then for each  $1 \leq r \leq k$  and  $\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^r \subset \mathcal{L}$  there exist  $\{\mu_i\}_{i=1}^r \subset \mathcal{M}$ , such that  $\det A_{\lambda_i}^{\mu_i} \neq 0$ , where  $A_{\lambda_i}^{\mu_i} \in \mathbb{C}^{r \times r}$  is a submatrix of A, obtained by the intersection of rows  $\lambda_i$  with columns  $\mu_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, r$ .

The following Lemma shows the ambiguity of a blowing-up in the case when its center S is not an immersed manifold. We assume that the functions defining the blowing-up do not have a common factor vanishing at the points of S. If S is a smooth manifold of codimension k, then the fibers of the blowing-up over the points of S are equal to the projective space  $\mathbb{P}_{k-1}$  (cf. [32], [63]). If S is analytic, then the above procedure can be applied to the interiors of its irreducible components of different dimensions, leading to the projective spaces of different dimensions. See [24] for more details in fuller generality. For our purposes it is important that the fibers are not zero dimensional, or that the blowing-up is not holomorphically extendible over its center.

**Lemma 2.7.14.** Let  $f : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^p$  be holomorphic,  $\Omega$  open and connected in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $p \geq 2$ ,  $f \not\equiv 0$ . Let  $S = \{\xi \in \Omega : f(\xi) = 0\}$ ,  $\xi_0 \in S$ ,  $\dim_{\xi_0} S \leq n-2$ . Then there is no open neighborhood U of  $\xi_0$  in  $\Omega$  such that the holomorphic mapping

 $F: \xi \mapsto \mathbb{C}f(\xi) : \Omega \backslash S \to \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^p)$ 

has a holomorphic extension to U.

**Remark 2.7.15.** The condition  $\dim_{\xi_0} S \leq n-2$  is equivalent to the condition that  $f_1, \ldots, f_p$  do not have a common factor, which is zero at  $\xi_0$ . The set  $\overline{F}(\xi_0)$  of limit values of F at  $\xi_0$  is an algebraic subvariety of  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^p)$  of positive dimension.

**Proof.** The argument as in Lemma 2.6.2, shows that if there exists a hyperplane H in  $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^p)$  such that  $\overline{F}(\xi_0) \cap H$  is empty, then F has a holomorphic extension to a neighborhood of  $\xi_0$ , which we also denote by F. The converse also holds. Then there exists an index i such that  $\eta \in F(\xi_0)$ ,  $\eta \neq 0$  imply  $\eta_i \neq 0$ . Because of the continuity of F at  $\xi_0$ , we get an  $\epsilon > 0$  and a neighborhood U of  $\xi_0$  in  $\Omega$  such that  $\xi \in U$ ,  $\eta \in F(\xi)$  imply  $|\eta_i| \geq \epsilon |\eta_j|$  for every  $j \neq i$ . It follows that if  $\xi \in U \setminus S$  then  $f_i(\xi) \neq 0$ , or

$$S \cap U \subset f_i^{-1}(0) \cap U \subset S,$$

in contradiction with dim  $f_i^{-1}(0) = n - 1$  and dim<sub> $\xi_0$ </sub>  $S \le n - 2$ . This completes the proof of Lemma.

**Proposition 2.7.16.** Either  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty or  $\dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\text{sing}} \ge k - 1$  for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ .

**Proof.** By Lemma 2.7.13 there exist subsets  $\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{M}$  of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ , with k elements, such that  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}^{\mathcal{M}}(\xi) = \det A_{ij}(\xi)_{i \in \mathcal{L}, j \in \mathcal{M}}$  is not equal to zero for all  $\xi \in \Omega$ . Let  $Z_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}$  be the zero set of  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}^{\mathcal{M}}$  in  $\Omega$ . Then, for  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus Z_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}$ , we have  $\eta \in \ker A(\xi)$  if and only if

$$\sum_{j \in \mathcal{M}} A_{ij}(\xi)\eta_j + \sum_{m \notin \mathcal{M}} A_{im}(\xi)\eta_m = 0, \ i \in \mathcal{L}.$$
(2.7.5)

Moreover, the equations (2.7.5) can be solved with respect to  $\eta_j$ ,  $j \in \mathcal{M}$  and we get that (2.7.5) is equivalent to

$$\eta_j = \sum_{m \notin \mathcal{M}} \frac{f_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}^{jm}(\xi)}{\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}^{\mathcal{M}}(\xi)} \eta_m, \ j \in \mathcal{M},$$
(2.7.6)

in which  $f_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}^{jm}(\xi)$  is a polynomial in the coefficients of  $A(\xi)$ . For each  $j \in \mathcal{M}$ , let  $Z_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}^{j}$  be the common zero set of the functions  $f_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}^{jm}$ ,  $m \notin \mathcal{M}$ , and  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}^{\mathcal{M}}$ , after we have divided away possible common factors. Because  $\Omega \setminus Z_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}$  is dense in  $\Omega$ , we get from Lemma 2.7.14 that  $Z_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}^{j} \subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . The number of  $m \notin \mathcal{M}$  is  $n - |\mathcal{M}| = n - k$ , and with  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}^{\mathcal{M}}$  holds

$$\dim_{\xi} Z^{j}_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}} \ge n - (n - k + 1) = k - 1$$

by (2.5.2). Hence we get the estimate  $\dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\text{sing}} \geq k-1$ .

**Proposition 2.7.17.** If k = n - 1, then either  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty or  $\dim \Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - 2$ . Moreover, if A is an irreducible component of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then  $\dim A = n - 2$ .

**Proof.** The first statement follows from Proposition 2.7.16 and Theorem 2.7.7. Now, for  $\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{M}$  as in the proof of Proposition 2.7.16 there exist unique numbers  $1 \leq l, m \leq n, l \notin \mathcal{L}, m \notin \mathcal{M}$  and we denote  $\Delta_{lm} = \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}^{\mathcal{M}}$  and  $Z_{\mathcal{L},\mathcal{M}}^{k} = Z_{lm}^{k}$ . The second statement will follow if we show that

$$\Omega^{\rm sing} = \bigcup_{l,m,k:\Delta_{lm} \not\equiv 0, \ f_{lm}^k \not\equiv 0} Z_{lm}^k$$

From the proof of Proposition 2.7.16 we see that  $Z_{lm}^k \subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , so it is sufficient to prove that for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  there exist l, m, k such that  $\Delta_{lm} \neq 0$ ,  $f_{lm}^k \neq 0$ and  $\xi \in Z_{lm}^k$ . By Lemma 2.7.13, for every l there exists m such that  $\Delta_{lm} \neq 0$ . Let  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Then  $\Delta_{lm}(\xi) = 0$ , because otherwise  $\xi \in \Omega^{(n-1)}$ , but  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \cap \Omega^{(n-1)} = \emptyset$ . The system (2.7.6) becomes

$$\eta_k = \frac{f_{lm}^k(\xi)}{\Delta_{lm}(\xi)} \eta_m, \ k \neq m.$$

If for all  $k \in \mathcal{M}$  the functions  $f_{lm}^k(\xi) \equiv 0$ , this would imply that all  $\eta_k \equiv 0$ ,  $k \neq m$ , which means that the fibration would be constant. Thus, for every m there exist l and k such that  $f_{lm}^k \not\equiv 0$ . The condition  $\xi \not\in Z_{lm}^k$  would mean that  $f_{lm}^k(\xi) \neq 0$ , or  $\eta_m = 0$ . If this is true for all m, then all  $\eta_m = 0$ , a contradiction with  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \neq \emptyset$ . The proof is complete.

#### 2.8 Affine fibrations of Jacobian type

In this section we will always assume that A is of the Jacobian type,  $A = D\Gamma$ , and that properties ( $\Gamma$ A1) and ( $\Gamma$ A2) are satisfied. First of all, we can recall Corollary 2.6.4, which states that if k = 1 then  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty, that is there can be no essential singularities in fibrations by hyperplanes.

Note, that the assumption ( $\Gamma A2$ ) of  $\Gamma$  being constant along  $\varkappa(\xi)$  is very essential. Assumptions ( $\Gamma A1$ ) alone do not guaranty the emptiness of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  for k = 1. It is shown by the following example.

**Example 2.8.1.** Let  $\Gamma(\xi) = (\xi_1^2 + \xi_2^2 + \xi_3^2, 0, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^3$ . Then

$$\frac{\partial \Gamma}{\partial \xi}(\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} 2\xi_1 & 2\xi_2 & 2\xi_3\\ 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

thus k = 1,  $\Omega^{(1)} = \mathbb{C}^3 \setminus \{0\}$  and for  $\xi \in \Omega^{(1)}$  with  $\xi_1 \neq 0$ , the kernel  $\varkappa(\xi)$  is spanned by

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} -\xi_2/\xi_1\\ 1\\ 0\end{array}\right), \left(\begin{array}{c} -\xi_3/\xi_1\\ 0\\ 1\end{array}\right).$$

The singular set is  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = \{0\}.$ 

However, the mapping  $\Gamma$  is not constant along  $\varkappa(\xi)$ . Related to the assumption ( $\Gamma$ A2), we have the following characterization:

**Proposition 2.8.2.** For every  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  the mapping  $\Gamma$  is constant on  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega$ , *i.e.* 

$$\Gamma(\zeta) = \Gamma(\xi) \tag{2.8.1}$$

for all  $\zeta \in (\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega$  if and only if  $\varkappa(\xi)$  is constant on  $(\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega$ , i.e.

$$\varkappa(\xi) \subset \ker D\Gamma(\zeta) \tag{2.8.2}$$

for all  $\zeta \in (\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega$  with the equality if  $\zeta \in (\xi + \varkappa(\xi)) \cap \Omega^{(k)}$ .

**Proof.** Differentiation of (2.8.1) with respect to the basis elements of  $\varkappa(\xi)$  implies (2.8.2). For  $\zeta \in \Omega^{(k)}$  the dimensions of both sides coincide, so that the equality holds. Conversely, it follows from (2.8.2) that  $D\Gamma(\xi + \eta)\varkappa(\xi) = 0$  for  $\eta \in \varkappa(\xi)$  and therefore  $\Gamma(\xi + \eta)$  is constant along  $\varkappa(\xi)$ , which is (2.8.1).

In case of the rank drops by one, we have the following

**Theorem 2.8.3.** Assume that  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and that  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k-1)}$ , i.e. rank  $D\Gamma(\xi) = k - 1$ . Then  $\Gamma(\xi + \lambda) = \Gamma(\xi)$  for all  $\lambda \in \ker D\Gamma(\xi)$ ,  $\xi + \lambda \in \Omega$ .

**Proof.** Denote  $M = \ker D\Gamma(\xi)$ . Note, that  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k-1)}$  implies dim M = n - k + 1. For every  $\varkappa_0 = \lim_{j\to\infty} \varkappa(\xi_j)$  as  $\Omega^{(k)} \ni \xi_j \to \xi$ , we have that  $\varkappa_0 \subset M$  by continuity of  $D\Gamma$ . For each one dimensional linear subspace L of M there exists a k-dimensional linear subspace C of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , such that  $L = M \cap C$ . On the other hand  $1 \leq \dim(\varkappa_0 \cap C)$  and  $\varkappa_0 \cap C \subset M \cap C = L$ , which implies that  $\varkappa_0 \cap C = L$ . Hence, by Lemma 2.6.3,  $\Gamma(\xi + \lambda) = \Gamma(\xi)$  for all  $\lambda \in L$ . Because this holds for every one dimensional subspace L of M, we get that  $\Gamma(\xi + \lambda) = \Gamma(\xi)$  for all  $\lambda \in M$ . The proof is complete.

**Proof of Theorem 2.4.5:** Assume, that the properties ( $\Gamma A1$ ) and ( $\Gamma A2$ ) are satisfied for  $\Gamma$  with some m < n (instead of k). Then, by the implicit function theorem we have that the regular fibers of  $\Gamma$  are (n-m)-dimensional, and, therefore, m = k, and thus we have ( $\Gamma A1$ ) and ( $\Gamma A2$ ). For  $\xi \in \Omega_0$ define  $\lambda(\xi) = \Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi)) - \xi$ . By the assumption  $\lambda$  is the mapping from  $\Omega_0$ to  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . The mapping  $\Gamma$  is constant on  $(\xi + \lambda(\xi)) \cap \Omega$  and hence by Proposition 2.8.2 we get  $\lambda(\xi) \subset \ker D\Gamma(\zeta)$  for  $\zeta \in (\xi + \lambda(\xi)) \cap \Omega$ . In particular,  $\lambda(\xi) = \ker D\Gamma(\xi)$  for all  $\xi \in \Omega_0 \cap \Omega^{(k)}$  and we obtain ( $\Gamma A2$ ) on  $\Omega_0 \cap \Omega^{(k)}$ . The set  $\Omega_0 \cap \Omega^{(k)}$  is dense in  $\Omega$  and  $\Omega^{(k)}$ . Therefore, for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  there exists a sequence  $\xi_j \in \Omega_0 \cap \Omega^{(k)}$ , convergent to  $\xi$ . The compactness of  $\mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  implies the existence of a subsequence of  $\xi_j$ , such that the corresponding subsequence of  $\varkappa(\xi_j)$  converges to some  $\varkappa_0 \in \mathbb{G}_{n-k}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Without loss of generality we denote this subsequence also by  $\xi_j$ . For every  $\eta \in (\xi + \varkappa_0) \cap \Omega$  there exists a sequence  $\eta_j \in (\xi_j + \varkappa(\xi_j)) \cap \Omega$ , such that  $\eta_j$  converges to  $\eta$ . The above proof of ( $\Gamma A2$ ) for  $\Omega_0 \cap \Omega^{(k)}$  implies that  $\Gamma$  is constant on  $\xi_i + \varkappa(\xi_i)$ , and, therefore,  $\Gamma(\eta_i) = \Gamma(\xi_i)$ . Letting j to infinity, we get that  $\Gamma(\eta) = \Gamma(\xi)$  and  $\eta \in \Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$ . The argument holds for any  $\eta \in (\xi + \varkappa_0) \cap \Omega$ , and we obtain  $(\xi + \varkappa_0) \cap \Omega \subset \Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$ . By the implicit function theorem the fiber  $\Gamma^{-1}(\Gamma(\xi))$  is a smooth analytic submanifold of  $\Omega$  of codimension k and, therefore, coincides with  $\xi + \varkappa_0$  locally at  $\xi$ . On

the other hand,  $\varkappa$  is holomorphic at  $\xi$ , implying  $\varkappa(\xi) = \varkappa_0$  and ( $\Gamma A2$ ) for all  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ ,

Finally, if  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then Proposition 2.7.2 implies that the fiber through  $\xi$  is of codimension strictly less than k, and hence  $\xi \notin \Omega_0$ . The proof is complete.

The following is the consequence of Proposition 2.7.9.

Corollary 2.8.4. Let p be the natural projection

$$p: \Omega' \ni \xi \mapsto \mathcal{R}(\xi) \in \Omega'/\mathcal{R}.$$

The mapping  $\Gamma : \xi \mapsto \Gamma(\xi)$  is constant on the  $\mathcal{R}(\xi)$ , so there is an analytic mapping  $g : \Omega'/\mathcal{R} \to \mathbb{C}^p$ , such that

$$\Gamma = g \circ p. \tag{2.8.3}$$

The mapping g is an immersion on  $\Omega^{(k)}/\mathcal{R}$ , that is, at each point its tangent mapping is injective, because rank  $D\Gamma = k$  implies rank  $Dg \geq k$ .

**Remark 2.8.5.** The factorization conclusion (2.8.3), when restricting to the real domain, implies the "factorization condition" of Section 1.5.1, especially when  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty.

**Remark 2.8.6.** If  $(\xi, \eta) \in \overline{\mathcal{R}}$ , then still  $\Gamma(\xi) = \Gamma(\eta)$  by the continuity of  $\Gamma$ . So, if  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}$  denote the smallest closed equivalence relation which contains  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}$ , then

$$(\xi,\eta) \in \hat{\mathcal{R}} \Rightarrow \Gamma(\xi) = \Gamma(\eta).$$

If  $\hat{\mathcal{R}}$  has an equivalence class with nonempty interior, then  $\Gamma$  is constant and k = 0.

**Lemma 2.8.7.** We have the inclusion  $\pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)) \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , let C be an irreducible component of  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  and let  $C^0$  be its smooth part. Because  $\Gamma = \Gamma(\xi)$  is constant on  $\xi + \tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi)$ , we have for every  $\eta^0 \in C^0$  such that  $\xi + \eta^0 \in \Omega$ , that  $T_\eta C^0 \subset \ker D\Gamma(\xi + \eta^0)$ . So by Proposition 2.7.2, (iii), dim  $\ker D\Gamma(\xi + \eta^0) \ge n - k + 1$  or  $\xi + \eta^0 \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ . Because  $C^0$  is dense in C and  $\Omega$  is open, every  $\eta \in C$  can be approximated by  $\eta^0 \in C^0$  such that  $\xi + \eta^0 \in \Omega$ , hence  $\xi + \eta^0 \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ . Because  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$  is closed in  $\Omega$ , it follows that  $\xi + C \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ . Because this holds for every irreducible component C of  $\tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi)$ , we get  $\xi + \tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi) \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$  and because this holds for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , we get  $\pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)) \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ .

As a consequence of Proposition 2.7.11, we get

**Corollary 2.8.8.** The following estimate holds:

$$n - k + 1 \le \dim \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega)) \le n - 1, \qquad (2.8.4)$$

76

**Proof.** The estimates (2.8.4) follow immediately from (2.7.2), Lemma 2.8.7 and the fact that dim  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)} \leq n-1$ .

Now we will prove some consequences of the relative position of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and  $\pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega))$ , which we will use later to show that certain cases are impossible. In what follows we will assume that the set  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  of essentially singular points is not empty.

**Proposition 2.8.9.** The following holds:

- (i)  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \subset \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)) \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}.$
- (ii) If  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega))$ , then the closure  $\bar{\mathcal{R}}$  can be decomposed into relations on  $(\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}) \times (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}})$  and on  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . In formulas,

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega) \subset \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}.$$

Moreover, in this case

$$n-k+1 < \dim_{\mathcal{E}} \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}$$

for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ .

(iii) If  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \neq \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega))$  and

$$l = \max_{\eta \in \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}))} \dim(\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta))),$$

then

$$\dim \pi_1(\mathcal{R} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}})) \le k - 2 + l.$$
(2.8.5)

(iv) If in addition to (iii) either dim( $\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}})$ ) = dim( $\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}})$ ) or dim  $\pi_1(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}))$  = dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then

$$\dim \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} + 2 \le \dim \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega)).$$
(2.8.6)

(v) Let  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \neq \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega))$ . Then for any  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  with  $\xi \notin \pi_1(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}))$  we have  $\xi + \tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi) \subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Moreover, in this case  $k \geq 3$  and  $\dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\text{sing}} \geq n - k + 1$ .

**Proof.** (i) The first inclusion follows from the fact that if  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then it is a limit point of some sequence  $\zeta_i \in \Omega^{(k)}$  because of the density of  $\Omega^{(k)}$  in  $\Omega$ . By Proposition 2.7.9, (i), it follows that  $(\zeta_i, \zeta_i) \in \mathcal{R} \subset \overline{\mathcal{R}}$  and, therefore,  $(\xi, \xi) \in \overline{\mathcal{R}}, (\xi, \xi) \in \overline{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)$  and  $\xi \in \pi_2(\overline{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega))$ . The second inclusion is Lemma 2.8.7.

(ii) The statement follows easily from definitions and the last part of (ii) from (2.7.3) and Remark 2.7.3.

(iii), (iv) Assume now that  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \neq \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega))$ . To abbreviate the notation, we denote

$$B = \overline{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}),$$
  

$$C = \pi_2(B) = \pi_2(\overline{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}) \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}},$$
  

$$D = \pi_1(B).$$

For  $\eta \in C$  the fiber of  $\pi_2 : B \to C$  over  $\eta$  consists of all  $(\xi, \eta)$  with  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ and  $\xi \in \eta + \bar{\varkappa}(\eta) = \eta + \varkappa(\eta)$ , i.e.  $\pi_2^{-1}(\eta) \cap B = (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta)), \eta)$ . Thus, by Theorem 2.5.4, we obtain

$$\dim B \le \max_{\eta \in B} \dim(\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta))) + \dim C.$$
(2.8.7)

We have  $\pi_2^{-1}(\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}) = \Omega \times (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}})$  and the set  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is open in  $\Omega$ , hence B is open in  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$ . Moreover, for the set B we have

$$\begin{array}{lll} B & = & \bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\operatorname{sing}} \cap \left(\Omega \times (\Omega \backslash \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}})\right) = \bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\operatorname{sing}} \cap \pi_2^{-1}(\Omega \backslash \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}) \\ & = & \bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\operatorname{sing}} \backslash (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}), \end{array}$$

hence *B* is analytically constructible and  $\overline{B}$  is analytic. The set  $\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta))$  is an analytic subset of  $\varkappa(\eta)$ , proper, in view of  $\eta \notin \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}$ , so dim $(\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta))) \leq n - k - 1$ . Hence from (2.8.7) we also have

$$\dim B \le n - k - 1 + \dim C. \tag{2.8.8}$$

Note that if *B* is also dense in  $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$ , then dim  $B = \dim \bar{B} = \dim \bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$  and estimates (2.7.4) and (2.8.8) imply (2.8.6). If *B* is not dense in  $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$ , then *B* is a component of the analytic set  $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$  with

$$\dim B = \dim \bar{B} < \dim \bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\operatorname{sing}}.$$

Now we will deduce the estimates for the dimension of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . The fiber of  $\pi_1 : B \to D$  over  $\xi \in D$  consists of points  $(\xi, \eta)$  with  $\eta \in (\xi + \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi))$  and  $\eta \notin \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . It follows that  $\pi_1^{-1}(\xi) \cap B = (\xi, (\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}) \cap (\xi + \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)))$ , so

$$\dim D + \min_{\xi \in D} \dim(\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}) \cap (\xi + \widetilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi)) \le \dim B.$$
 (2.8.9)

If  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  then dim  $\tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi) \ge n - k + 1$  by Proposition 2.7.2, (iii). The set  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  does not have isolated points by the same Proposition, (i) and it follows that  $\dim((\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}) \cap (\xi + \tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi))) \ge n - k + 1$  for  $\xi \in D$ , so

$$\dim D + n - k + 1 \le \dim B. \tag{2.8.10}$$

By the first part of Proposition we get  $C \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$  and dim  $C \leq n-1$ . This, the estimates (2.8.10) and Theorem 2.5.4, (ii), imply

$$\dim D \leq \dim B - (n - k + 1) \\ \leq \dim C - (n - k + 1) + \max_{\eta \in B} \dim(\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \cap (\xi + \widetilde{\varkappa}(\xi))) \\ \leq k - 2 + \max_{\eta \in B} \dim(\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \cap (\xi + \widetilde{\varkappa}(\xi))),$$

which is (2.8.5) and (iii) is proved.

Combination of (2.8.10) and (2.8.8) yields dim  $D \leq \dim C - 2$ , which implies (2.8.6) if dim  $D = \dim \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  by dim  $C \leq \dim \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}})$ . On the other hand, if dim  $B = \dim \bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$ , then (2.8.8) and (2.7.4) yield dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} + 2 \leq \dim C$ , which again imply (2.8.6) if we use that dim  $C \leq \dim \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}})$ .

again imply (2.8.6) if we use that dim  $C \leq \dim \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}})$ . (v) Let  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}} \setminus \pi_1(B)$ . This means  $(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap \pi_1^{-1}(\xi)) \cap B = \emptyset$  and in view of  $\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap \pi_1^{-1}(\xi) \subset \bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\text{sing}}$  we get

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap \pi_1^{-1}(\xi) \subset \bar{\mathcal{R}}_1^{\operatorname{sing}} \backslash B \subset \bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}).$$

On the other hand  $\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap \pi_1^{-1}(\xi) = (\xi, \xi + \tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi))$ , and

$$\xi + \widetilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi) = \pi_2(\xi, \xi + \widetilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi)) \subset \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \times \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}})) \subset \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}$$

Now, this implies

$$n-k+1 \leq \dim \widetilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi) \leq \dim \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \leq n-2,$$

and it is possible only if  $k \geq 3$ . The proof is complete.

Corollary 2.8.10. We have proved

$$\dim D \le \dim C - 2 \le n - 3.$$

Note, that statements (ii), (iv), (v) of Proposition 2.8.9 still hold in the case of general fibrations. The proof of (iii) makes use of Lemma 2.8.7, which uses the Jacobian structure of A.

**Corollary 2.8.11.** If dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - 2$ , then the set  $D = \pi_1(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}))$  has measure zero in  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , or "the largest part" of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  consists of  $\pi_1(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega^{\text{sing}}))$ .

Remark 2.8.12. Note that the inclusion

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}}) \subset \bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)$$

is strict because for any  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  the point  $(\xi, \xi) \in \overline{\mathcal{R}}$  does not belong to the left hand side. The set  $\overline{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{sing}})$  is open in  $\overline{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)$  and the the condition of Proposition 2.8.9, (iv), may fail if it is an open component of strictly lower dimension.

As consequence for the positions of  $\pi_1(B)$  and  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , we get

**Proposition 2.8.13.** The following holds:

- (i) If  $\pi_1(B) \neq \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then  $\dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\text{sing}} \geq n k + 1$  for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}} \setminus \pi_1(B)$ and  $k \geq 3$ .
- (ii) If  $\pi_1(B) = \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \leq n 3$ .

**Proof.** (i) The conditions  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and  $\xi \notin \pi_1(B)$  just mean that  $\dim \tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi) \ge n - k + 1$  and  $\xi + \tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi) \subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Hence by Theorem 2.7.7

$$n-k+1 \leq \dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} \leq n-2$$

and, therefore, also  $k \geq 3$ .

(ii) The mapping  $\pi_1 : B \to \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is surjective. For every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  the fiber is equal to  $(\xi, (\xi + \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)) \cap \Omega')$ . Using the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 2.8.9, (iv), we get  $\dim(\xi + \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)) \cap \Omega') \ge n - k + 1$  and by Theorem 2.5.4 we conclude that

$$\dim B > \dim \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}} + n - k + 1.$$

Next we consider the mapping  $\pi_2$  from B into the analytic subset  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ , not necessarily surjective. For each  $\eta \in \pi_2(B)$  the fiber over  $\eta$  is equal to  $((\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap \Omega^{\text{sing}}, \eta)$ . Because  $(\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is an analytic subset of  $(\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap \Omega$  with nonempty interior, we get  $\dim(\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap \Omega^{\text{sing}} \leq \dim(\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) - 1 \leq n - k - 1$ . Again, by Theorem 2.5.4 we conclude that

$$n-1 \ge \dim \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)} \ge \dim B - (n-k-1)$$

and the proof is complete.

Corollary 2.8.14. If k = 2, then dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} \leq n - 3$ .

Proof. An application of Proposition 2.8.13, (i), (ii).

**Theorem 2.8.15.** If n = 3 and k = 2, then  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = \emptyset$ .

**Proof.** Proposition 2.7.17 and Corollary 2.8.14 imply that  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty.

Now we turn back to the case of arbitrary  $1 \le k \le n-1$ .

Example 2.8.16. Consider the mapping

$$\mathbb{C}^n \ni (x_1, \dots, x_l, y_1, \dots, y_{n-l}) \mapsto (\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} y_i x_i + y_m \sum_{i=m}^l x_i, y_1, \dots, y_l, y_{l+1}, \dots, y_r, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^n$$

with  $2 \le m \le l \le r \le n-l, \ 0 \in \mathbb{C}^{n-r-1}$ . The singular set is given by

$$\Omega^{\text{sing}} = \{ (x, y) \in \Omega : y_1 = \ldots = y_m = 0 \},\$$

so that

 $\dim \Omega^{\rm sing} = n - m.$ 

The dimension of the regular fibers is equal to l - 1 + (n - l) - r = n - r - 1, hence we have

rank 
$$D\Gamma \leq r+1$$
.

The limit set  $\pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega))$  is the set of  $y_i = 0, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , arbitrary  $x_1, \ldots, x_l$  and  $y_{r+1}, \ldots, y_{n-l}$ , and is equal to  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ .

#### 2.8 Affine fibrations of Jacobian type

Note, that if m = l, then  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)} = \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . As a consequence, we have the converse to Proposition 2.8.9, (ii).

**Proof of Theorem 2.4.4:** It is sufficient to take r = k - 1 and m = d in Example 2.8.16 and in view of  $k - 1 \leq n - d$ ,  $d \leq n/2$  and hence  $d \leq n - d$ , the mapping

$$\Gamma(x_1,\ldots,x_d,y_1,\ldots,y_{n-d}) = (\sum_{i=1}^d y_d x_d, y_1,\ldots,y_{k-1},0) \in \mathbb{C}^n$$

is well defined and satisfies the required conditions. The equality dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - d$  follows from the fact that if not all  $y_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le d$  are equal to zero, then rank  $D\Gamma$  at such point is equal to k. On the other hand, clearly the points with  $y_i = 0$  for all  $1 \le i \le d$  belong to  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . This finishes the proof.

We can see from Theorem 2.4.4 that the case k = 2 and not all dimensions of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  are obtained in this way. This is partly explained by Proposition 2.7.16 and is not without a reason, which we intend to show next. First we will show that the complementary intersection of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  with any fiber is impossible.

**Theorem 2.8.17.** Let dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = k - 1$  and let A be a smooth component of the same dimension. Assume that there exist a k-dimensional surface Scontaining A, transversal to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ , and  $\eta \notin \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  such that  $\eta + \varkappa(\eta)$  intersects S transversally at a point of A. Then  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty.

**Proof.** Let  $\delta : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^{n-k}$  be the the determining mapping for  $\varkappa(\xi), \xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ . The mapping  $\delta$  is given by a meromorphic mapping which takes all values in an arbitrary neighborhood of  $\xi = 0$ , which we assume to be in  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Let A be the smooth part of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  with dim A = k - 1, it is a complex analytic manifold with the origin in its closure. Let S be a complex analytic k-dimensional surface containing A and transversal to  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ , as in the assumption. The fact that most of the limit directions of the fibers  $\varkappa(\xi)$  are in  $\pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)) \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ , hence transversal to S, makes that each regular fiber  $\varkappa(\xi), \xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$  intersects S transversally in view of

$$\dim S + \dim \varkappa|_{\Omega^{(k)}}(\xi) = k + (n-k) = n.$$

This implies that every point of A is a point of indeterminacy of  $\delta|_S$ . But this is in contradiction with the fact that the points of indeterminacy of  $\delta|_S$  form a set of codimension 2 in S, being the zero set of at least two analytic equations. This implies that A is empty, a contradiction.

**Corollary 2.8.18.** Let k = n - 1 and let A be a smooth component of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Let  $\eta \in \pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega'))$  and  $\xi = (\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap A$ . Then  $\varkappa(\eta) \subset T_{\xi}A$ .

**Proof.** We have dim A = n - 2 by Proposition 2.7.17. If  $\eta + \varkappa(\eta)$  is not tangential to A, then we have the existence of S satisfying conditions of Theorem 2.8.17 and a contradiction.

#### 2.9 Limiting properties of the fibers

In this section we will show that in the case  $\pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)) \neq \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  in Proposition 2.8.9, the intersection of the fibers with  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  can not be transversal. As a result, we get additional estimates on the dimension of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ .

**Proposition 2.9.1.** Let  $\pi_2(\bar{\mathcal{R}} \cap (\Omega^{\text{sing}} \times \Omega)) \neq \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , A a smooth component of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and assume that there exists  $\xi \in A$  such that  $\tilde{\check{\varkappa}}(\xi) \not\subset T_{\xi}A$ . Then  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  is empty.

**Proof.** Let  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  with  $\xi + \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) \not\subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Then because of the connectedness of  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$  there exist different  $\varkappa_1, \varkappa_2 \in \bar{\varkappa}(\xi)$ , not contained in  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and in  $T_{\xi}\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . The set  $\mathcal{K}_{tr}$  of all  $H \in \mathbb{G}_{k+1}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  such that  $H \cap \varkappa_1, H \cap \varkappa_2$  are not contained in  $T_{\xi}\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , is open and dense in  $\mathbb{G}_{k+1}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . The set

$$\mathcal{K}_0 = \{ H \in \mathbb{G}_{k+1}(\mathbb{C}^n) : H \cap \varkappa_1 \neq H \cap \varkappa_2 \}$$

is open and dense in  $\mathbb{G}_{k+1}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . For i = 1, 2 the sets

$$\mathcal{K}_i = \{ H \in \mathbb{G}_{k+1}(\mathbb{C}^n) : \dim H \cap \varkappa_i = 1 \}$$

are open and dense in  $\mathbb{G}_{k+1}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , their intersection is open and dense in  $\mathbb{G}_{k+1}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ and we take  $H \in \mathcal{K}_1 \cap \mathcal{K}_2 \cap \mathcal{K}_0 \cap \mathcal{K}_{tr}$ . Let  $\eta \in \Omega^{(k)}$  be close to  $\xi$  with  $\varkappa(\eta)$  close to one of  $\varkappa_i$ . Then, by transversality, dim $(\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap (\xi + H) = 1$ . The set  $\Omega^{(k)} \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta))$  is not empty, and hence is open and dense in  $\Omega \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta))$ . Therefore, there exists  $\zeta \in \Omega^{(k)} \cap (\eta + \varkappa(\eta))$ ,  $\zeta$  close to  $(\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap (\xi + H)$ , such that there exists  $H_0 \in \mathcal{K}_1 \cap \mathcal{K}_2 \cap \mathcal{K}_0 \cap \mathcal{K}_{tr}$  with  $\zeta \in H_0$ . Thus, without loss of generality we may take  $H = H_0$ . Now, by ( $\Gamma A2$ ),  $\varkappa(\eta) = \varkappa(\zeta)$ , implying that the mapping

$$\gamma = \Gamma|_{(\xi + H) \cap \Omega}$$

satisfies ker  $D\gamma(\zeta) = \varkappa(\zeta) \cap H$ , which is one dimensional, and, therefore, rank  $D\gamma(\zeta) = \dim H - 1 = k$ . Moreover, if  $\theta \in \ker D\gamma(\zeta)$ , then  $\gamma(\theta) = \Gamma(\theta) = \Gamma(\zeta) = \gamma(\zeta)$  because  $\theta \in \varkappa(\zeta)$ . This means that conditions ( $\Gamma$ A1) and ( $\Gamma$ A2) are satisfied for  $\gamma$ . Let  $\eta_j \in \Omega^{(k)}$  such that  $\eta_j \to \xi$  and  $\varkappa(\eta_j)$  converges to one of  $\varkappa_i$ .

Because the set

$$\Omega^{(k)}(H) = \{ \zeta \in (\xi + H) \cap \Omega : \text{ rank } D\gamma(\zeta) = k \}$$

is open and dense in  $(\xi + H) \cap \Omega$ , we can find  $\zeta_j \in \Omega^{(k)}(H)$  which are arbitrary close to  $(\xi + H) \cap (\eta_j + \varkappa(\eta_j))$ , from which it follows that  $\varkappa(\zeta_j)$  is arbitrary close to  $\varkappa(\eta_j)$ . Note, that  $\Omega^{(k)}(H) \subset \Omega^{(k)}$  and  $\varkappa$  is constant on an open dense subset of  $(\eta + \varkappa(\eta)) \cap \Omega, \eta \in \Omega^{(k)}$ .

This proves that at the limit point  $\xi$  in  $(\xi + H) \cap (\xi + \varkappa)$  we get all  $H \cap \overline{\varkappa}(\xi)$ as limits of  $H \cap \varkappa(\zeta_j), \zeta_j \in \Omega^{(k)}(H), \zeta_j \to \xi$ , or  $\xi$  is in the singular set for the mapping  $\gamma$  by  $H \in \mathcal{K}_0$ , the  $\varkappa_i \cap H \in \overline{\varkappa}(\xi) \cap H$  are two different limit lines for the fibration defined by  $\gamma$ . On the other hand, we have

$$\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}(\gamma) \subset \Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}(\Gamma) \cap H,$$

implying  $(\xi + \varkappa_i) \cap H \not\subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}(\gamma)$  because  $\xi + \varkappa_i \not\subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}(\Gamma)$  by the choice of  $\varkappa_1, \varkappa_2$ . Moreover,

$$T_{\mathcal{E}}\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}(\gamma) \subset T_{\mathcal{E}}\Omega^{\operatorname{sing}}(\Gamma) \cap H$$

and by  $H \in \mathcal{K}_{tr}$  we get that  $H \cap \varkappa_i \notin T_{\xi}\Omega^{\mathrm{sing}}(\gamma)$ . This is a contradiction with Corollaries 2.8.18, 2.8.11 and Proposition 2.7.17 applied to  $\gamma$  with n = k + 1. In case n = 3, this is also a contradiction with Theorem 2.8.15, which says that for n = 3, k = 2 the singular set is empty.

**Proof of Theorem 2.4.3:** For k = 1 this is Theorem 2.6.4. For k = 2 by Proposition 2.7.2, (iii), for  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  we have dim  $\tilde{\tilde{\varkappa}}(\xi) \ge n-1$  and, therefore, conditions of Proposition 2.9.1 are satisfied.

Finally, Theorem 2.4.2 follows from

**Theorem 2.9.2.** Let  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  be not empty. Then for every smooth point  $\xi$  in  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  holds  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\xi) \subset T_{\xi}\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ . Moreover, for every  $\xi \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  we have

$$\begin{array}{rcl} n-k+1 & \leq & \dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\mathrm{sing}}, \\ k-1 & \leq & \dim_{\xi} \Omega^{\mathrm{sing}}. \end{array}$$

**Proof.** The first statement follows from Proposition 2.7.16. The inclusion  $\bar{\varkappa}(\xi) \subset T_{\xi}\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  implies  $\dim_{\xi}\Omega^{\text{sing}} \geq \dim \tilde{\varkappa}(\xi)$  and the first estimate follows from Proposition 2.7.2. The last estimate is Proposition 2.8.9.

Chapter 2. Affine fibrations

## Chapter 3

# Affine fibrations of gradient type

In this chapter we will concentrate on different topics. First, we will introduce local coordinates in  $\Omega$  and in the Grassmannian, and derive several local characterizations of the fibrations. In particular, conditions for the global extendibility of fibrations in the direction of fibers will be discussed.

Further, we will study fibrations of gradient type. These are fibration corresponding to mappings  $\Gamma$  for which  $\Gamma = \nabla \phi$  for some holomorphic function  $\phi$ . This case is closely related to Fourier integral operators, where  $\phi$  would be the generating phase function with factored out conic direction. The analysis will be carried out in both complex and real settings at the same time.

Questions of reconstruction of the phase function from a given local fibrations will be discussed to a certain extent. Finally, we will present families of functions  $\phi$  for which the smooth factorization condition fails. Note, that if the parameter dependence is allowed, examples are quite easy to construct (Section 1.5.2). However, if there is no parameter dependence, that is when the corresponding Fourier integral operator is translation invariant, the construction of examples is more complicated. We present such families in Section 3.4.

#### **3.1** Fibrations in local coordinates

In this section we continue to always assume that  $\Gamma$  satisfies conditions ( $\Gamma$ A1), ( $\Gamma$ A2). Without loss of generality we can assume that the origin of the space  $\mathbb{C}^n$  belongs to the open set  $\Omega$ . Clearly, if the fibration  $\varkappa$  is continuous at zero, that is, if  $0 \notin \Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , then there is a neighborhood U of the origin, disjoint from  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$ , such that the fibers through the points of U are close to the fiber  $\varkappa(0)$ through zero. Therefore, there exists a k-dimensional linear subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , transversal to all  $\varkappa(\xi)$  for  $\xi \in U$ . On the other hand, if  $0 \in \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and  $U \subset \Omega$  is a small open neighborhood of zero, then for every  $H \in \mathbb{G}_k(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , either the set

$$U_H = \{ \xi \in U \cap \Omega^{(k)} : \varkappa(\xi) \cap H = \{0\} \}$$

is empty, or it is open and dense in  $U \cap \Omega^{(k)}$ , and hence in U. Thus, for H with non-empty set  $U_H$ , we can choose a coordinate system around zero such that H is parameterized by points  $(h, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{n-k}$  and that on an open dense subset of the set  $\Omega^{(k)}$  all fibers are transversal to the k-dimensional subspace of  $(h, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{n-k}$ . Let  $\pi_h : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^k$  denote the projection to the first k coordinates. Let  $\Omega_h^{(k)}$  be the set of all points  $h \in \pi_h(\Omega)$  with  $(h, 0) \in \Omega^{(k)}$ . The set of all  $h \in \pi_h(\Omega)$  such that  $(h, 0) \in \Omega$  we denote by  $\Omega_h$ .

For the simplicity in notations throughout this section we will identify  $\mathbb{C}^n$  with  $\mathbb{C}^{1\times n}$ , so that the elements of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  are the rows with n elements in  $\mathbb{C}$ . In this notation we parameterize the fibration by a matrix valued mapping  $R: \Omega_h^{(k)} \subset \mathbb{C}^k \to \mathbb{C}^{(n-k)\times k}$ . The fibers  $\varkappa(h,0)$  can be parameterized by  $\lambda$  in some neighborhood of the origin in  $\mathbb{C}^{n-k}$ : locally we have

$$\begin{aligned} \varkappa(h,0) &= \{(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda),\lambda\in\mathbb{C}^{n-k}\}\\ &= \{(h+\sum_{i=1}^{n-k}\lambda_i R_i(h),\lambda),\lambda\in\mathbb{C}^{n-k}\}. \end{aligned}$$

The rows of R(h) will be denoted by  $R_i(h) \in \mathbb{C}^k$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, n-k$ , and the components of each row  $R_i(h)$  by  $R_i^j(h)$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, k$ . The *j*-th column of R(h) we denote by  $R^j(h) \in \mathbb{C}^{n-k}$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, k$ , and its elements by  $R_i^j(h)$ . In order to avoid any confusion with this notation, we write

$$R = \left\{ \begin{array}{cccc} & & & & \\ \hline R_{1}^{k} & R_{1}^{2} & \dots & R_{1}^{k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ R_{n-k}^{1} & R_{n-k}^{2} & \dots & R_{n-k}^{k} \end{array} \right\} (n-k),$$

$$R_{l} = \left( \begin{array}{ccc} R_{l}^{1} & R_{l}^{2} & \dots & R_{l}^{k} \\ \partial_{1} R_{l}^{1} & \dots & \partial_{k} R_{l}^{l} \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \partial_{1} R_{l}^{k} & \dots & \partial_{k} R_{l}^{k} \end{array} \right).$$
(3.1.1)

Condition ( $\Gamma A2$ ) that  $\Gamma$  is constant on  $\varkappa$  can now be written as

$$\Gamma(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) = \Gamma(h, 0), \forall h \in U \cap \Omega_h^{(k)}, \lambda \in V,$$
(3.1.2)

in some neighborhood  $U \times V \subset (\mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{n-k}) \cap \Omega$  of the origin. Lemma 3.1.1. Define  $\gamma : \Omega_h \to \mathbb{C}^p$  by  $\gamma(h) = \Gamma(h, 0)$ . Then

$$\{\partial_i \Gamma(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda)\}_{i=1}^k \left[ I_k + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l D R_l(h) \right] = D\gamma(h).$$
(3.1.3)

for all  $h \in \Omega_h^{(k)}$ .

**Proof.** Differentiating  $\Gamma_j$  in (3.1.2) with respect to  $h_m$ , we obtain

$$\begin{array}{lll} \partial_m \Gamma_j(h,0) &=& \frac{\partial}{\partial h_m} \Gamma_j(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) \\ &=& \partial_m \Gamma_j(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) [1+\lambda \partial_m R^m(h)] \\ &+& \sum_{1 \leq i \leq n-k, i \neq m} \partial_i \Gamma_j(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) [\lambda \partial_m R^i(h)]. \end{array}$$

#### 3.1 Fibrations in local coordinates

In matrix notation it means (3.1.3).

The group  $GL_n(\mathbb{C})$  acts on  $\Gamma$  in a natural way. For  $A \in GL_n$  let us denote

$$\Gamma_A(\xi) = \Gamma(A\xi).$$

**Proposition 3.1.2.** Let  $\Gamma$  satisfy conditions ( $\Gamma$ A1), ( $\Gamma$ A2).

- (1) For every  $A \in GL_n$  the mapping  $\Gamma_A : A^{-1}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{C}^p$  satisfies ( $\Gamma A1$ ), ( $\Gamma A2$ ). Moreover,  $\Omega^{(k)}(\Gamma_A) = A^{-1}(\Omega^{(k)}(\Gamma))$  and  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}(\Gamma_A) = A^{-1}(\Omega^{\text{sing}}(\Gamma)).$
- (2) There exists  $A \in GL_n$ , such that the mapping  $\gamma_A : (A^{-1}(\Omega))_h \to \mathbb{C}^p$ defined by  $\gamma_A(h) = \Gamma_A(h, 0)$  satisfies

rank 
$$D\gamma_A(h) = k$$

for h in an open dense subset of  $(A^{-1}(\Omega))_h$ .

**Proof.** Statement (1) is straightforward. Now we will prove (2). Let  $i_1, \ldots, i_k$  be the minimal indices, for which there exist  $j_1, \ldots, j_k$  and  $\xi \in \Omega^{(k)}$ , such that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{i_1} \Gamma_{j_1}(\xi) & \dots & \partial_{i_k} \Gamma_{j_1}(\xi) \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \partial_{i_1} \Gamma_{j_k}(\xi) & \dots & \partial_{i_k} \Gamma_{j_k}(\xi) \end{pmatrix} \neq 0.$$
(3.1.4)

For  $\tau \neq 0$  define  $A_{\tau} \in GL_n$  by

$$A_{\tau}\zeta = \tau\zeta + \sum_{l=1}^{k} \zeta_l e_{i_l},$$

where  $e_l$  stands for the *l*-th standard unit basis vector of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . By the first part of the proposition the mapping  $\Gamma_{A_{\tau}}$  satisfies conditions ( $\Gamma A1$ ), ( $\Gamma A2$ ). Jacobian of the mapping  $\gamma_{A_{\tau}}$  has the form

$$D\gamma_{A_{\tau}}(\zeta) = (3.1.5)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tau\partial_{1}\Gamma_{1}(A_{\tau}\zeta) + \partial_{i_{1}}\Gamma_{1}(A_{\tau}\zeta) & \dots & \tau\partial_{k}\Gamma_{1}(A_{\tau}\zeta) + \partial_{i_{k}}\Gamma_{1}(A_{\tau}\zeta) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \tau\partial_{1}\Gamma_{p}(A_{\tau}\zeta) + \partial_{i_{1}}\Gamma_{p}(A_{\tau}\zeta) & \dots & \tau\partial_{k}\Gamma_{p}(A_{\tau}\zeta) + \partial_{i_{k}}\Gamma_{p}(A_{\tau}\zeta) \end{pmatrix}.$$

In particular, this matrix contains a block of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tau \partial_1 \Gamma_{j_1}(A_\tau \zeta) + \partial_{i_1} \Gamma_{j_1}(A_\tau \zeta) & \dots & \tau \partial_k \Gamma_{j_1}(A_\tau \zeta) + \partial_{i_k} \Gamma_{j_1}(A_\tau \zeta) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \tau \partial_1 \Gamma_{j_k}(A_\tau \zeta) + \partial_{i_1} \Gamma_{j_k}(A_\tau \zeta) & \dots & \tau \partial_k \Gamma_{j_k}(A_\tau \zeta) + \partial_{i_k} \Gamma_{j_k}(A_\tau \zeta) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.1.6)

The determinant of this block does not vanish for some  $\zeta \in A_{\tau}^{-1}(\Omega^{(k)})$  in view of the choice of  $i_1, \ldots, i_k$  and  $j_1, \ldots, j_k$  as in (3.1.4), if  $\tau$  is sufficiently small.

Finally, in view of the analyticity of  $\Gamma$ , the block (3.1.6) is non-degenerate on the complement of an analytic set in  $\Omega^{(k)}{}_{h}$ , implying the last statement.

In view of Proposition 3.1.2 without loss of generality we may assume that the mapping  $\gamma$  in (3.1.3) satisfies the non-degeneracy condition of Proposition 3.1.2, (2). Thus, for the global fibrations we get

**Proposition 3.1.3.** Let  $\Gamma : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^p$  be an entire holomorphic function. Then for every  $h \in \Omega_h^{(k)}$  the condition rank  $D\gamma(h) = k$  implies that the matrices  $DR_l(h)$  are nilpotent for all  $1 \le l \le n - k$ .

**Proof.** Suppose that some  $DR_{l_0}(h)$  is not nilpotent and let  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$  be its nonzero eigenvalue. Equation (3.1.3) holds locally in  $h, \lambda$ , but both sides are holomorphic with respect to  $\lambda$ , so by the analytic continuation it holds for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ , because  $\Gamma$  is an entire function. Substitution of  $\lambda_l = -\mu^{-1}\delta_{ll_0}$  leads to the degeneracy of  $D\gamma(h)$ , a contradiction.

**Example 3.1.4.** Define  $\Gamma : \mathbb{C}^4 \to \mathbb{C}^4$  by

$$\Gamma(\xi_1,\xi_2,\xi_3,\xi_4) = (\xi_1\xi_2 + \xi_3\xi_4,\xi_2,\xi_3,0).$$

The fibration associated to  $\Gamma$  is global, and for the mapping  $\Gamma$  and its restriction

$$\gamma(h_1, h_2, h_3) = (h_1 h_2, h_2, h_3, 0)$$

holds

$$D\Gamma(\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_2 & \xi_1 & \xi_4 & \xi_3 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ D\gamma(h) = \begin{pmatrix} h_2 & h_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proposition 3.1.3 holds for all  $h \in \mathbb{C}^3$  with  $h_2 \neq 0$ . Localization R of the fibration  $\varkappa$  satisfies the equality  $D\Gamma(h,0) \begin{pmatrix} R(h) \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = 0$ , from which we conclude that  $R^1(h) = -h_3/h_2$ ,  $R^2(h) = 0$ ,  $R^3(h) = 0$ , with nilpotent matrix  $DR(h) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & h_3h_2^{-2} & -h_2^{-1} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ .

**Example 3.1.5.** The rank of the matrix  $D\Gamma$  can drop by a number larger than one at points of  $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$ . For  $\Gamma_1(\xi) = (\xi_1 \xi_2 + \xi_3 \xi_4, \xi_2^2, \xi_3^2, 0)$  and  $\Gamma_2(\xi) = \frac{1}{2}((\xi_1 \xi_2 + \xi_3 \xi_4)^2, \xi_2^2, \xi_3^2, 0)$  we have

$$D\Gamma_{1}(\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_{2} & \xi_{1} & \xi_{4} & \xi_{3} \\ 0 & 2\xi_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2\xi_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
  
$$D\Gamma_{2}(\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_{2}\alpha(\xi) & \xi_{1}\alpha(\xi) & \xi_{4}\alpha(\xi) & \xi_{3}\alpha(\xi) \\ 0 & \xi_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \xi_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

with  $\alpha(\xi) = \xi_1 \xi_2 + \xi_3 \xi_4$ . Therefore, rank  $D\Gamma_1|_{\xi_2 = \xi_3 = 0} = 1$ , rank  $D\Gamma_1|_{\xi=0} = 0$  and rank  $D\Gamma_2|_{\xi_2 = \xi_3 = 0} = 0$ .

#### **3.2** Fibrations of gradient type

In what follows we prove the results simultaneously for two fields of scalars,  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbb{C}$ , which we will denote by  $\mathbb{K}$ . In this notation for  $m \geq 1$  we will write  $C^m(\mathbb{K}^n)$  for the space  $C^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  when  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ , and for the space of holomorphic functions when  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ .

We consider the case of the fibration by codimension k hyperplanes, corresponding to the conditions ( $\Gamma A1$ ), ( $\Gamma A2$ ), with  $\Gamma$  having a gradient form, that is

$$\Gamma(\xi) = \nabla \psi(\xi) \tag{3.2.1}$$

for some function  $\psi: \Omega \to \mathbb{K}$ . If the mapping  $\Gamma$  is as in (3.2.1), the associated fibration will be called the *fibration of gradient type*. Fibrations of this type will appear in Section 4, where  $\Gamma$  is of the form (3.2.1) with a generating function  $\phi$  or its non-homogeneous version  $\psi$ . In this case  $D\Gamma = D^2\psi$  and fibers  $\varkappa$  of the mapping  $\Gamma$  correspond to the level sets of the gradient  $\nabla \psi$ . In general, we will make some smoothness assumptions, but we note, that the following statements are valid where all the derivatives make sense, so at least at the open subset  $\Omega^{(k)}$  with rank  $D^2\psi = k$ . We adopt notation (3.1.1), related to the mapping

$$R: \Omega_{L}^{(k)} \subset \mathbb{K}^{k} \to \mathbb{K}^{(n-k) \times k}$$

as in the previous section for the case  $\Gamma = \nabla \psi$  as well.

**Theorem 3.2.1.** (1) Let  $\psi \in C^2(\mathbb{K}^n)$ . The fibration by the level sets of  $\nabla \psi$  is given by the mapping  $R : \mathbb{K}^k \to \mathbb{K}^{(n-k) \times k}$  in a neighborhood  $U \times V \subset \mathbb{K}^k \times \mathbb{K}^{n-k}$  of the origin, i.e.

$$\nabla \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) = \nabla \psi(h, 0), \forall h \in U \cap \Omega_h^{(k)}, \lambda \in V,$$
(3.2.2)

if and only if

$$D^{2}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) \begin{pmatrix} R^{T}(h)\\ I_{n-k} \end{pmatrix} = 0 \in \mathbb{K}^{n \times (n-k)},$$
$$\forall h \in U \cap \Omega_{h}^{(k)}, \lambda \in V.$$
(3.2.3)

In this case  $\psi$  must be of the form (3.2.4) with

$$\phi(h) = \psi(h,0), \ \chi_{k+l}(h) = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial h_{k+l}}(h,0), \ l = 1, \dots, n-k.$$

If  $\psi \in C^3(\mathbb{K}^n)$ , then  $\phi$  and  $\chi_{k+l}$  satisfy equations (3.2.5),(3.2.7) in  $\Omega_h^{(k)}$ .

(2) Let function  $\psi$  be defined by

$$\psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) = \phi(h) + \langle \lambda, \nabla \psi(h, 0) \begin{pmatrix} R^T(h) \\ I_{n-k} \end{pmatrix} \rangle$$
$$= \phi(h) + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l \sum_{j=1}^k \partial_j \phi(h) R_l^j(h) + \chi_{k+l}(h), \qquad (3.2.4)$$

where  $\phi \in C^3(\mathbb{K}^n)$  solves the system of  $\frac{1}{2}(k-1)k(n-k)$  partial differential equations

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial h_i \partial h_j} \frac{\partial R_l^i}{\partial h_m} - \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial h_i \partial h_m} \frac{\partial R_l^i}{\partial h_j} = 0,$$
  
$$1 \le m < j \le k, 1 \le l \le n-k$$
(3.2.5)

and let functions  $\chi_{k+l} \in C^2(\mathbb{K}^n)$ ,  $l = 1, \ldots, n-k$ , satisfy

$$\partial_j \chi_{k+l}(h) + \sum_{i=1}^k \partial_j \partial_i \phi(h) R_l^i(h) = 0, \qquad (3.2.6)$$
$$1 \le j \le k.$$

Then  $\psi$  satisfies the factorization condition (3.2.2) locally in  $h, \lambda$ , for which

$$\det\left(I_k + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l DR_l(h)\right) \neq 0, \qquad (3.2.7)$$

**Proof.** (1) Differentiation of (3.2.2) with respect to  $\lambda$  yields

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_{i}}\partial_{j}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) = \sum_{m=1}^{k} \partial_{m}\partial_{j}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda)R_{i}^{m}(h) 
+ \partial_{k+i}\partial_{j}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) 
= \nabla\partial_{j}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) \begin{pmatrix} R_{i}^{T}(h) \\ \delta_{j,k+i} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.2.8)

In view of (3.2.2) this is equal to zero. Because this holds for all  $1 \leq j \leq n$ and  $1 \leq i \leq n-k$ , we get (3.2.3). Now assume (3.2.3) to hold. Differentiating  $\partial_j \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda)$  for  $1 \leq j \leq n$  with respect to  $\lambda_i$ , we obtain equation (3.2.8). Writing this for all i, j in matrix notation, we get

$$\nabla_{\lambda}\nabla\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) = D^{2}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) \begin{pmatrix} R^{T}(h) \\ I_{n-k} \end{pmatrix},$$

the latter equals zero by (3.2.3). Hence

$$\nabla \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) = \operatorname{const}(h) = \nabla \psi(h, 0),$$

#### 3.2 Fibrations of gradient type

which is (3.2.2). Differentiating  $\psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda)$  with respect to  $\lambda$ , we obtain

$$\nabla_{\lambda}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) = \nabla\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) \begin{pmatrix} R^{T}(h) \\ I_{n-k} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \nabla\psi(h,0) \begin{pmatrix} R^{T}(h) \\ I_{n-k} \end{pmatrix},$$

where the last equality follows from (3.2.2). Thus,  $\psi$  must have the form (3.2.4).

Now let us prove (3.2.5). Writing (3.2.3) in a scalar form once again, and substituting  $\lambda = 0$ , the equalities for  $1 \le j \le k$  yield

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \partial_i \partial_j \phi(h) R_l^i(h) + \partial_{k+l} \partial_j \psi(h,0) = 0, \ 1 \le l \le n-k,$$

which are equations (3.2.7) in view of  $\psi \in C^2(\mathbb{K}^n)$  and  $\partial_j \partial_{k+l} \psi = \partial_{k+l} \partial_j \psi$ . The relations  $\partial_m \partial_j \chi_{k+l} = \partial_j \partial_m \chi_{k+l}$  for  $\psi \in C^3(\mathbb{K}^n)$  and (3.2.7) imply

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial h_m} (\sum_{i=1}^k \partial_i \partial_j \phi(h) R_l^i(h)) = \frac{\partial}{\partial h_j} (\sum_{i=1}^k \partial_i \partial_m \phi(h) R_l^i(h)).$$

In view of  $\phi \in C^3$  these equations imply (3.2.5).

(2) Define  $\psi$  as in (3.2.4). First we observe that equations (3.2.5) guarantee the existence of  $\chi_{k+l} \in C^2(\mathbb{K}^n)$  satisfying (3.2.7). Differentiating (3.2.4) with respect to  $h_m$ ,  $1 \leq m \leq k$ , we get

$$\partial_{m}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda)(1+\lambda\partial_{m}R^{m}(h))$$

$$+\sum_{1\leq i\leq k,i\neq m}\partial_{i}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda)(\lambda\partial_{m}R^{i}(h))$$

$$=\frac{\partial}{\partial h_{m}}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda)$$

$$=\partial_{m}\phi(h)+\sum_{l=1}^{n-k}\lambda_{l}[\sum_{j=1}^{k}(\partial_{m}\partial_{j}\phi(h)R_{l}^{j}(h)$$

$$+\partial_{j}\phi(h)\partial_{m}R_{l}^{j}(h))+\partial_{m}\chi_{k+l}(h)]$$

$$=\partial_{m}\phi(h)+\sum_{l=1}^{n-k}\lambda_{l}[\sum_{j=1}^{k}\partial_{j}\phi(h)\partial_{m}R_{l}^{j}(h)],$$

where we used definitions (3.2.4) and (3.2.7). In matrix notation we get

$$\nabla_1^k \psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda)(I_k+\sum_{l=1}^{n-k}\lambda_l DR_l(h)) = \nabla_1^k \psi(h,0)(I_k+\sum_{l=1}^{n-k}\lambda_l DR_l(h))$$

and for  $h, \lambda$  satisfying (3.2.7) we get  $\partial_j \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) = \partial_j \psi(h, 0), 1 \le j \le k$ , independent of  $\lambda$ . For the other components of  $\nabla \psi$  we differentiate (3.2.4) with respect to  $\lambda_l$  and get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \partial_{j} \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) R_{l}^{j}(h) + \partial_{k+l} \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda)$$
  
=  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_{l}} \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda)$   
=  $\sum_{l=1}^{k} \partial_{j} \phi(h) R_{l}^{l}(h) + \chi_{k+l}(h),$ 

the last equation follows from definition (3.2.4). This implies

$$\partial_{k+l}\psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) = \chi_{k+l}(h)$$

in view of the just proved factorization property for  $1 \le j \le k$ . The proof is complete.

It follows from Theorem 3.2.1 that being a fibration of gradient type is equivalent to the system of equations (3.2.5) if we regard (3.2.7) as a definition of  $\chi_{k+l}$ . Expression (3.2.5) in the matrix form becomes

$$\partial_m R_l(h) (D^2 \phi(h))^j = \partial_j R_l(h) (D^2 \phi(h))^m, \ 1 \le l \le n-k,$$

for each row  $R_l$  of R, where  $(D^2\phi(h))^j$  is the *j*-th column of  $D^2\phi(h)$ . Denoting by  $\mathbb{K}^{k\times k}_{\text{symm}}$  the space of symmetric  $k\times k$ -matrices, we conclude

**Corollary 3.2.2.** Condition (3.2.5) is equivalent to the condition

$$DR_{l}(h)^{T}D^{2}\phi(h) = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{1}R_{l}(h) \\ \vdots \\ \partial_{k}R_{l}(h) \end{pmatrix} D^{2}\phi(h) \in \mathbb{K}_{\text{symm}}^{k \times k}, \ \forall h \in \Omega_{h}^{(k)},$$
$$1 \leq l \leq n-k.$$

Note, that in our notation  $\partial_m R_l(h)$  is the *m*-th column of the matrix  $DR_l(h)$ , and the *m*-th row of  $DR_l(h)^T$ , which is the reason for the transpose.

**Remark 3.2.3.** Suppose that instead of the gradient form (3.2.1) we assume that both  $D\Gamma$  and  $D\gamma$  are symmetric square matrices after a possible elimination or addition of dependent rows. Then the symmetricity condition of Corollary 3.2.2 follows from equation (3.1.3) of Lemma 3.1.1, after multiplication from the left by  $(I_k + \sum_l \lambda_l DR_l(h))^T$  and using the symmetricity of  $D\Gamma$  and  $D\gamma$ . However, the matrix  $DR(h)^T D\gamma(h)$  in the examples of Section 3.1 need not be symmetric, in comparison with Corollary 3.2.2.

#### **3.3** Reconstruction of the phase function

The construction of the function  $\psi$  in Theorem 3.2.1, (2), clearly depends on the singularities of the fibration R. In the case of  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$  by  $C^m(U)$  we denote the usual space of m times continuously differentiable functions in U,  $1 \leq m \leq \infty$ , and analytic functions with  $m = \omega$ . In the complex case  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$  all these spaces coincide with the space of holomorphic functions in U.

#### 3.3 Reconstruction of the phase function

Let  $\Omega_0$  be the set of all points in  $\Omega$  satisfying condition (3.2.7):

$$\Omega_0 = \{(h,\lambda) \in \Omega \cap (\mathbb{K}^k \times \mathbb{K}^{n-k}) : \det(I_k + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l DR_l(h)) \neq 0\}.$$
(3.3.1)

Assume now that a fibration R is of class  $C^m$  in an open subset  $\Omega^a$  of  $\Omega_h$ ,  $\phi$  is in  $C^{m+1}(\Omega)$  and all  $\chi_{k+l} \in C^m(\Omega)$ . Then the mapping

$$\Phi: \Omega \cap (\mathbb{K}^k \times \mathbb{K}^{n-k}) \ni (h, \lambda) \mapsto (\Phi_1(h, \lambda), \Phi_2(h, \lambda)) \in \mathbb{K}^k \times \mathbb{K}^{n-k}$$

with components

$$\Phi_1(h,\lambda) = h + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l R_l(h), 
\Phi_2(h,\lambda) = \lambda$$
(3.3.2)

is  $C^m$  on  $\pi_h^{-1}(\Omega^a) \cap \Omega$  and its Jacobian is

$$\det D\Phi(h,\lambda) = \det \begin{pmatrix} I_k + \lambda DR(h) & R(h) \\ 0 & I_{n-k} \end{pmatrix} = \det(I_k + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l DR_l(h)),$$

which is not zero when  $(h, \lambda) \in \Omega_0$ . By the implicit function theorem the mapping  $\Phi^{-1}$  is also  $C^m$  in  $\Phi(\pi_h^{-1}(\Omega^a) \cap \Omega_0)$ . The statement of Theorem 3.2.1, (2), implies that on  $\Omega_0$  the function  $\psi$  satisfies

$$(\psi \circ \Phi)(h, \lambda) = \phi(h) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \partial_j \phi(h) (\Phi_1(h, \lambda) - h)^j + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l \chi_{k+l}(h),$$

implying that  $\psi \in C^m$  in  $\Phi(\pi_h^{-1}(\Omega^a) \cap \Omega_0) \subset \Phi(\Omega)$ . Thus, we arrive at

**Proposition 3.3.1.** Let  $R : \Omega^a \subset \Omega_h \subset \mathbb{K}^k \to \mathbb{K}^{(n-k)\times k}$  and let  $\Omega^a$  be an open subset of  $\Omega_h$ . Let  $3 \leq m \leq \infty$  or  $m = \omega$ ,  $R \in C^m(\Omega^a)$ ,  $\phi \in C^{m+1}(\Omega_h)$ ,  $\chi_{k+l} \in C^m(\Omega_h)$ . Let  $\Omega_0$  be given by (3.3.1) and let  $\Phi$  be as in (3.3.2). Then the function  $\psi$  defined in (3.2.4) is of class  $C^m$  in  $\Phi(\pi_h^{-1}(\Omega^a) \cap \Omega_0) \subset \Phi(\Omega)$ .

Assume now, the the sets  $\pi_h^{-1}(\Omega^a)$ ,  $\Omega$  and  $\Omega_0$  are locally equal, let U denote their open intersection. In particular, this is the case with  $m = \omega$ , when the fibration is locally analytic, given by an analytic mapping R, for which the condition (3.2.7) is locally satisfied. As it is shown in Proposition 3.1.3, it can hold even globally if all  $DR_l$  are nilpotent. According to Theorem 3.2.1, the system of partial differential equations (3.2.5) is a sufficient condition for the existence of a function  $\psi$ , for which the fibration by the level sets of  $\nabla \psi$  is locally given by R. Proposition 3.3.1 implies that  $\psi$  is analytic in  $\Phi(U)$ .

However, the existence of a solution  $\phi$  in  $C^m$  of system (3.2.5) of second order partial differential equations is not automatic. In the complex case ( $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ ) one can use Cauchy–Kovalevskaya theorem, to obtain an analytic solution  $\phi$ in a neighborhood of a point where not all coefficients of the iterated derivatives of the highest order vanish. In this case we obtain an analytic solution even for the Cauchy problem, prescribing  $\phi$  on some non-characteristic hypersurface.

It would be interesting to obtain generalizations of Proposition 3.3.1. In general, given a fibration defined by a mapping  $R \in C^m$ , is it possible to construct a function  $\psi$ , for which the fibration by the level sets of  $\nabla \psi$  is locally given by R? What are the smoothness properties of such  $\psi$  if it exists and when can we guarantee its smoothness? A special case occurs if the fibration R is analytic. According to the remarks above on Cauchy–Kovalevskaya theorem, it may imply the analyticity of  $\phi$  and  $\chi$ . But  $\psi$ , constructed by the formulae of Theorem 3.2.1, can be complex valued, even restricted to the real domain. Another interesting question, corresponding to the holomorphically extended real valued analytic functions is, can  $\psi$  be chosen in such a way, that restricted to  $\mathbb{R}^n$  it defines a real valued analytic function. Or whether there exists  $\psi$  such that the imaginary part of  $\psi$  has a prescribed constant sign. In the latter case one can still regard  $\psi$  as an admissible phase function (see Section 4.2).

In general, the approach suggested by Theorem 3.2.1 reduces the questions posed above to the analysis of a large system of second order partial differential equations (3.2.5). The properties of its solutions depend on the type of the system, which is determined by the sign of its determinant, which in turn is an expression in terms of the fibration R. In general, if the fibration is sufficiently smooth, then the coefficients of system (3.2.5) are sufficiently smooth as well. In this case some properties can be found in [30], [15]. For hyperbolic equations cf. [28]. For fibrations with essential singularities the coefficients of system (3.2.5) are meromorphic and are given by rational functions.

In the case of a three dimensional space with n = 3 the system consists of only one equation. It simplifies the analysis. Assume now that n = 3 and k = 2. By Theorem 2.4.3 for the case  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$  fibrations with affine fibers are regular (analytic) everywhere. Hence we will assume smoothness in the real case  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$  as well. System (3.2.5) for  $\phi : \mathbb{K}^2 \to \mathbb{K}$  has now the form

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial h_1^2} \frac{\partial R_1}{\partial h_2} + \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial h_1 \partial h_2} \left[ \frac{\partial R_2}{\partial h_2} - \frac{\partial R_1}{\partial h_1} \right] - \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial h_2^2} \frac{\partial R_2}{\partial h_1} = 0.$$
(3.3.3)

- **Proposition 3.3.2.** (1) If the matrix DR(h) has no real eigenvalues, then equation (3.3.3) is elliptic. In this case the fibration is extendible globally in  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , locally uniformly in h.
  - (2) If the matrix DR(h) has a real non-zero eigenvalue, then the determinant of the matrix  $D^2\phi(h)$  vanishes.
  - (3) Equation (3.3.3) is elliptic, parabolic, hyperbolic, if the eigenvalues of the matrix DR(h) are not real, real equal to each other, real and distinct, respectively.
  - (4) Let  $\psi \in C^{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ ,  $h \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . If the determinant of the matrix  $D^2\phi(h)$  vanishes, then there exists a neighborhood U of the point h such that equation (3.3.3) is parabolic in U. The same conclusion still holds if

#### 3.3 Reconstruction of the phase function

 $\psi \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and the fibration is globally extendible in  $\lambda$ , locally uniformly in h.

**Proof.** (1) If DR(h) has no real eigenvalues, then (3.2.7) is satisfied for all real  $\lambda$ , which implies that the fibration extends globally in  $\lambda$ . We denote  $R_{ij}(h) = \partial_j R_i(h)$ . The equation for the eigenvalues of DR(h) is

 $\det \begin{pmatrix} R_{11} - \mu & R_{12} \\ R_{21} & R_{22} - \mu \end{pmatrix} = 0, \text{ the discriminant of which is } d(h) = (R_{11}(h) + R_{22}(h))^2 - 4 \det DR(h) \text{ and our assumption means } d(h) < 0. \text{ Now, the type of } d(h) < 0.$ 

 $R_{22}(n)^2 - 4 \det DR(n)$  and our assumption means a(n) < 0. Now, the type of the equation (3.3.3) is defined by the sign of

$$\det \left(\begin{array}{cc} R_{12} & \frac{1}{2}[R_{22} - R_{11}] \\ \frac{1}{2}[R_{22} - R_{11}] & -R_{21} \end{array}\right)$$

which is equal to  $-R_{12}R_{21} - 1/4(R_{22} - R_{11})^2 = -1/4(R_{22} + R_{11})^2 + \det DR = -d(h)/4$ . This means that the equation (3.3.3) is elliptic.

(2) Suppose that  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mu \neq 0$ , is an eigenvalue of DR(h):  $DR(h)v = \mu v$ . Differentiating (3.2.2) with respect to h, we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial_1^2 \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) & \partial_1 \partial_2 \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) \\ \partial_2 \partial_1 \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) & \partial_2^2 \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda) \end{pmatrix} (I + \lambda DR(h))$$

equal to  $D^2\phi(h)$ . Now we apply both sides to v and take  $\lambda = -\mu^{-1}$  to conclude that  $D^2\phi(h)v = 0$ .

(3) Follows from part (1).

(4) The continuity of  $D^2\phi(h)$  implies that there exists a neighborhood U of h, such that  $D^2\phi$  is nonsingular in U. The argument of Proposition 3.1.3 implies that DR is nilpotent in U, its both eigenvalues are equal to zero. The second part of the proposition implies that (3.3.3) is parabolic. This completes the proof of Proposition 3.3.2.

In the complex case ( $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ ) with a holomorphic fibration R, if for i = 1or i = 2 we denote by  $h_i$  the variable such that  $\partial R_i / \partial h_j$ ,  $j \neq i$ , in (3.3.3) is locally non-zero at  $h_i = 0$ , then by Cauchy–Kovalevskaya theorem equation (3.3.3) with holomorphic Cauchy boundary conditions  $\partial_{h_i}^l \phi$ , l < 2, is locally soluble and the solution is unique and holomorphic. In general, if the Cauchy boundary conditions are holomorphic on some non-characteristic for (3.3.3) hypersurface S in  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , then there exists a unique solution  $\phi$  of (3.3.3) locally at every point of S ([27, Vol.I, Theorems IX.4.5-IX.4.7]).

In the real case  $(\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R})$  the smoothness properties of solutions of equation (3.3.3) depend on its type. Thus, if it is elliptic with smooth (real analytic) coefficients, it always has smooth (real analytic) solutions:

**Theorem 3.3.3.** Let  $R : U \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  be smooth (real analytic). Assume that for every  $h \in U$  the matrix DR(h) has no real eigenvalues. Then there exists a smooth (real analytic) function  $\psi : \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ , such that the fibration defined by the level sets of  $\nabla \psi$  is given by R in U.

**Proof.** According to Proposition 3.3.2 equation (3.3.3) is elliptic. This implies that its solutions  $\psi$  are smooth (analytic) if the operator in (3.3.3) has smooth

(analytic) coefficients, see Corollary 8.3.2 for  $WF(\phi)$  and Theorem 9.5.1 for  $WF_A(\phi)$  in [27], respectively. Then also all  $\chi_{k+l}$  are smooth (analytic) and Proposition 3.3.1 implies the statement.

Let us discuss briefly the case when equation (3.3.3) is strictly hyperbolic. If a mapping (fibration) R is prescribed on a smooth hypersurface S which is non-characteristic for (3.3.3), then solution  $\phi$  is in the Sobolev space  $H^{(s)}$  if the Cauchy data are in the Sobolev spaces  $H^{(s)}$ . By the Sobolev embedding theorem applied to all s > 0 we get that solution  $\phi$  is smooth if the Cauchy data are smooth on S. For real analytic fibrations R let us use the methods described in [10, VI]. Let  $\Omega$  be a connected complex analytic manifold of some dimension p. Let  $\mathbb{D}(\Omega)$  be the algebra of linear partial differential operators with holomorphic coefficients in  $\Omega$ . Let J be a left ideal in  $\mathbb{D}(\Omega)$ . Then J is called *holonomic* in  $\Omega$  if for every  $x \in \Omega$  the common zero set in  $\mathbb{C}^p$  of the principal symbols  $q^x(\theta)$  at x of the  $Q \in J$  (in local coordinates) is equal to zero. In particular, the holonomicity assumption for the ideal generated by a hyperbolic operator P leads to an ordinary differential equation along every curve in the complement of the complex bicharacteristic cone of the principal symbol of P and the standard analytic continuation for ordinary differential equations can be applied. Let us apply [10, VI-16, Theorem] to our situation without giving many details.

**Proposition 3.3.4.** Assume that a mapping R is analytic in an open subset  $\Omega_0$  of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and that DR has real distinct eigenvalues in  $\Omega_0$ . Let  $\Omega$  be the complexification of  $\Omega_0$  and let  $\phi$  be a solution of (3.3.3). Assume also that the ideal  $J = \{Q \in \mathbb{D}(\Omega) : Q\phi = 0\}$  generated by equation (3.3.3) is holonomic in  $\Omega$ . Then  $\phi$  is real analytic in  $\Omega_0$  and has a holomorphic extension  $\phi_{\gamma}$  along each curve  $\gamma$  in  $\Omega$  starting in  $\Omega_0$ . The holomorphic extension  $\phi_{\gamma}$  also satisfies equations  $Q\phi_{\gamma} = 0$  for all  $Q \in J$ .

Let us give several corollaries of Theorem 3.2.1 for the real case  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$  and arbitrary k.

**Corollary 3.3.5.** (1) Let the determinant of the matrix  $D^2\phi(h)|_{h=h_0}$  vanish. Assume that  $R(h_j) \to R_0$  as  $h_j \to h_0$ ,  $h_j \in \Omega_h^{(k)}$ . If the determinant of the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial_1^2 \psi(h_0 + \lambda R_0, \lambda) & \dots & \partial_1 \partial_k \psi(h_0 + \lambda R_0, \lambda) \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \partial_k \partial_1 \psi(h_0 + \lambda R_0, \lambda) & \dots & \partial_k^2 \psi(h_0 + \lambda R_0, \lambda) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.3.4)

does not vanish for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$ , then there exists a limit

$$A = \lim_{j \to \infty} \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l DR_l(h_j)$$

and (-1) is an eigenvalue of the matrix A.

#### 3.3 Reconstruction of the phase function

- (2) If for  $h \in \Omega_h$  there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$  such that  $(h, \lambda) \in \Omega$  and if -1 is an eigenvalue of the matrix  $\sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l DR_l(h)$ , then the determinant of the matrix  $D^2\phi(h)$  equals zero.
- (3) If for a global fibration at least one of the matrices  $DR_j(h)$ ,  $1 \le j \le n-k$ , has a non-zero real eigenvalue, then the determinant of the matrix  $D^2\phi(h)$  equals zero.

**Proof.** (1) First we note that for  $\lambda = 0$  matrix (3.3.4) is equal to the singular matrix  $D^2\phi(h_0)$  and thus the non-singularity of (3.3.4) implies  $\lambda \neq 0$ . Differentiating (3.2.2) with respect to h, we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial_1^2 \psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) & \dots & \partial_1 \partial_k \psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \partial_k \partial_1 \psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) & \dots & \partial_k^2 \psi(h+\lambda R(h),\lambda) \end{pmatrix} \times \\ \times (I_k + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l D R_l(h)) = D^2 \phi(h).$$
(3.3.5)

The assumption implies then the limit of  $I_k + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l DR_l(h_j)$  exists and so the limit of  $\sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l DR_l(h_j)$  exists as well in view of  $\lambda \neq 0$ . We also see that  $I_k + A$  is singular. This means that -1 is an eigenvalue of A, implying the statement.

(3) Suppose that  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$  is an eigenvalue of  $DR_j(h)$  for some  $1 \leq j \leq n-k$ :  $DR_j(h)v = \mu v$ . Differentiating (3.2.2) with respect to h, we get

$$\left(\partial_i \partial_j \psi(h + \lambda R(h), \lambda)\right)_{1 \le i, j \le k} \left(I_k + \sum_{l=1}^{n-k} \lambda_l D R_l(h)\right) = D^2 \phi(h).$$

Now we apply both sides to v and take  $\lambda_j = -\mu^{-1}$  and  $\lambda_l = 0$  for  $l \neq j$ . This leads to  $D^2\phi(h)v = 0$ . The proof of (2) is similar.

Finally, let us make several remarks for the case k = n - 1. In this case there is only one matrix  $DR_1$ . If for some h the matrix  $DR_1(h)$  does not have any real eigenvalues, then the fibration is extendible globally in  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  locally uniformly in h.

**Corollary 3.3.6.** Let k = n - 1 and assume that  $D^2\phi(h)|_{h=h_0}$  is singular. Let  $R_0 = \lim_j R(h_j)$  as  $h_j \to h_0$ ,  $h_j \in \Omega^{(k)}{}_h$ . Then we have

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} \partial_1^2 \psi(h + \lambda R_0, \lambda) & \dots & \partial_1 \partial_{n-1} \psi(h + \lambda R_0, \lambda) \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \partial_{n-1} \partial_1 \psi(h + \lambda R_0, \lambda) & \dots & \partial_{n-1}^2 \psi(h + \lambda R_0, \lambda) \end{pmatrix} \equiv 0 \quad (3.3.6)$$

for all  $\lambda$  in a neighborhood of zero. Moreover, if there exist the limit  $A = \lim_{j} DR(h_j)$  then (3.3.6) holds for all  $|\lambda| < \rho(A)^{-1}$ , where  $\rho(A)$  is the spectral radius of A. If the limit  $\lim_{j} DR(h_j)$  does not exist, then (3.3.6) holds for all  $\lambda$ , for which it is defined.

**Proof.** If equality (3.3.6) does not hold then by the second part of Corollary 3.3.5 there exists the limit  $A = \lim_{j} DR(h_j)$  and -1 is an eigenvalue of the matrix  $\lambda A$ . Clearly, this is false for all  $|\lambda| < \rho(A)^{-1}$ . The last assertion follows from (3.3.5), if we use that  $\det(I_{n-1} + \mu A) \neq 0$ .

Note, that  $\lambda$  in Corollary 3.3.6 can be chosen independent of  $R_0$ , since it is continuous as a function of  $R_0$ , which takes its values in the compact Grassmannian  $\mathbb{G}_1(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . In the complex notation of Section 2 the statement of Corollary 3.3.6 is to say that

$$(h_0,0) \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(n-1)} \Rightarrow \bar{\varkappa}(h_0,0) \cap \Omega \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega^{(n-1)},$$

which corresponds to Lemma 2.8.7.

# 3.4 Existence of singular fibrations of gradient type

Theorem 2.4.2 and results of Section 2 show that the smallest dimension for which a singular fibration can exist for  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ , is n = 4 with k = 3. Let us show that in  $\mathbb{C}^4$  there is a fibration by lines corresponding to a fibration of gradient type for  $\Gamma = \nabla \psi$ , and analytic (even polynomial) function  $\psi$ .

Example 3.4.1. Let

$$\psi(\xi_1,\xi_2,\xi_3,\xi_4) = \xi_1 \xi_2^2 + (\xi_3 - \xi_2 \xi_4)^2.$$

The Hessian of the function  $\psi$  has the form

$$D^{2}\psi(\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2\xi_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 2\xi_{2} & 2\xi_{1} + 2\xi_{4}^{2} & -2\xi_{4} & 4\xi_{2}\xi_{4} - 2\xi_{3} \\ 0 & -2\xi_{4} & 2 & -2\xi_{2} \\ 0 & 4\xi_{2}\xi_{4} - 2\xi_{3} & -2\xi_{2} & 2\xi_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$

with k = 3. Moreover,

 $\operatorname{rank} D^2 \psi|_{\xi_2=0}=2, \ \ \operatorname{rank} D^2 \psi|_{\xi_2=\xi_3=0}=2, \ \ \operatorname{rank} D^2 \psi|_{\xi_1=\xi_2=\xi_3=0}=1.$ 

For  $\xi_2 \neq 0$  the kernel of the matrix  $D^2\psi(\xi)$  is one dimensional,

$$\ker D^2 \psi(\xi) = \langle (\frac{\xi_3}{\xi_2} - \xi_4, \ 0, \ \xi_2, \ 1) \rangle$$

Therefore, for  $\lambda = \xi_4$  the fibration, given by the mapping R, has coordinates  $R^1(h) = \frac{h_3}{h_2}, R^2(h) = 0, R^3(h) = h_2$ . The function  $R^1$  has a essential singularity at  $h_2 = h_3 = 0$  and we have  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = \{\xi_2 = \xi_3 = 0\}$ .

Example 3.4.2. Functions

$$\psi(\xi_1,\xi_2,\xi_3,\xi_4) = \xi_1 \xi_2^k + (\xi_3 - \xi_2 \xi_4)^m$$

#### 3.4 Existence of singular fibrations of gradient type

with  $k, m \ge 2$  lead to fibrations with essential singularities at  $\xi_2 = \xi_3 = 0$ . The fibers are given by

$$\ker D^2 \psi(\xi) = \langle (\frac{m}{k} \frac{(\xi_3 - \xi_2 \xi_4)^{m-1}}{\xi_2^{k-1}}, \ 0, \ \xi_2, \ 1) \rangle$$

and

$$R^{1}(h) = \frac{m}{k} \frac{h_{3}^{m-1}}{h_{2}^{k-1}}.$$

**Example 3.4.3.** In *n*-dimensional space  $\xi = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n-3}, y, z, w)$  define

$$\psi(\xi) = y^2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-3} x_i + (z - yw)^2.$$

The level sets of the gradient  $\nabla \psi$  have dimension n-3, and hence k=3. One can check that dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = n-2$  (this also follows from dimension estimates of Theorem 2.4.2 with k=3).

Example 3.4.4. Consider

$$\psi(x, y, z, v, w, s, t) = xy^2 + sv^2 + (z - yw - vt)^2.$$

The maximal rank of the Hessian  $D^2\psi$  equals k=5 and its kernel is spanned by the vectors

$$(\frac{z-yw-vt}{y}, 0, 0, y, 1, 0, 0), (0, 0, 0, v, 0, \frac{z-yw-vt}{v}, 1).$$

For y = 0, z - vt = 0 the first vector has an essential singularity, meanwhile the second vector is continuous at  $v \neq 0$ . Hence  $\{y = 0, z = vt\} \subset \Omega^{\text{sing}}$  and  $\dim \Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - 2$  by Theorem 2.7.7.

These examples present singular fibrations for different dimensions of the fibers. On the other hand, the dimension of  $\Omega^{\text{sing}}$  in all examples equals n-2. In examples 3.4.1-3.4.2 it is necessary because for n = 4 Theorem 2.4.3 implies k = 3. It follows then by Theorem 2.4.2, (1), that dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - 2$ . In this case a stronger Proposition 2.7.17 holds as well. In Examples 3.4.3 and 3.4.4 with different dimension of the fibers we still have dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - 2$ . However, our constructions are based on the same idea for the singularity. It would be interesting to investigate whether the condition dim  $\Omega^{\text{sing}} = n - 2$  is necessary for fibrations of gradient type.

## Chapter 4

## Further estimates for analytic Fourier integral operators

Suppose that manifolds X and Y are real analytic. Suppose also that the phase function of a Fourier integral operator is analytic. Such Fourier integral operator will be called *analytic*. Its canonical relation is then an analytic Lagrangian manifold. For such operators the smooth factorization condition can be extended to the complex domain. Further analysis of this condition can be applied to the  $L^p$  continuity of operators in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $n \leq 4$ , and in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , with an arbitrary n and additional condition rank  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C \leq n+2$ .

#### 4.1 Complexification

In this section we will briefly describe the complexification of real sets. Since the smooth factorization type condition (F) is formulated in terms of a real valued phase function, in both settings of real and complex valued phase functions we will need the complexification of real sets. In the complex domain results of Chapters 2 and 3 become available. For a real analytic manifold Mby  $\widetilde{M}$  we denote its extension to a complex domain (complexification). Let  $\Lambda$  be a real analytic conic Lagrangian submanifold of  $T^*M \setminus 0$ . By Theorem 1.1.3 the generating function  $\phi$  for a localization  $\Lambda_{\phi}$  of the manifold  $\Lambda$  is real analytic. The complexification  $\widetilde{\Lambda}$  of the manifold  $\Lambda$  in the complexification of the cotangent bundle  $\widetilde{T^*M}$  is a complex analytic conic Lagrangian submanifold of  $T^*\widetilde{M} \setminus 0$ .

Let us first assume that variables  $\tilde{\xi}$  can be taken as local coordinates for  $\tilde{\Lambda}$ in  $(\tilde{m}_0, \tilde{\xi}_0) \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ . The manifold  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  in a neighborhood of the point  $(\tilde{m}_0, \tilde{\xi}_0)$  takes the form

$$\widetilde{m}_i = H_i(\widetilde{\xi}), \ 1 \le i \le \dim \widetilde{M},$$

where  $H_i$  are holomorphic functions, real valued for  $\tilde{\xi}$  in the real domain. Lagrangian manifold  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  is involutive and hence the Poisson bracket defines an ideal on  $\tilde{\Lambda}$ , i.e.  $\{f, g\} = 0$  on  $\tilde{\Lambda}$ , if f = 0 and g = 0 on  $\tilde{\Lambda}$ , (cf. [5, 5.4.6]). In particular,

$$\{\widetilde{m}_i - H_i(\xi), \widetilde{m}_j - H_j(\xi)\}|_{\widetilde{\lambda}} = 0$$

for all i, j, and, therefore,

$$\frac{\partial H_i}{\partial \widetilde{\xi}_j} = \frac{\partial H_j}{\partial \widetilde{\xi}_i}, \ 1 \le i, j \le \dim \widetilde{M}.$$

This means that all mixed derivatives of the form  $\sum_i H_i(\tilde{\xi}) d\tilde{\xi}_i$  vanish. It follows that it is closed and, therefore, exact. We obtain the existence of a holomorphic function H with  $\partial H/\partial \tilde{\xi}_i = H_i$ . The manifold  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  then locally assumes the form  $\{(\nabla H(\tilde{\xi}), \tilde{\xi})\}$ . The same argument can be applied to  $\Lambda$  in the real domain to show that  $\Lambda$  is locally parameterized by  $(\nabla H(\xi), \xi)$  with the same function H. The same statement is true in the general setting, when variables  $\tilde{\xi}$  do not define a local coordinate system (see [5, 5.6.4] for the complex case and [11, Lemma 3.7.4] for the real case).

Let  $\pi$  be the standard projection from  $T^*M$  to M and let  $\tilde{\pi}$  be its complexification from  $T^*\widetilde{M}$  to  $\widetilde{M}$ . Let  $\Lambda^{(k)}$  be the open subset of  $\Lambda$ , on which the maximal rank k of the mapping  $d\pi|_{\Lambda}$  is attained. By the implicit function theorem the set  $\Sigma^{(k)} = \pi(\Lambda^{(k)})$  is a smooth analytic k-dimensional submanifold of M contained in  $\Sigma = \pi(\Lambda)$ . We also have  $\Lambda^{(k)} = N^*\Sigma^{(k)}$ . The complex extension  $\widetilde{\Sigma^{(k)}}$  of  $\Sigma^{(k)}$  in  $\widetilde{M}$  is a smooth analytic manifold of complex dimension k. Its conormal bundle  $N^*\widetilde{\Sigma^{(k)}}$  is a complex analytic Lagrangian submanifold of  $T^*\widetilde{M}$  containing  $\Lambda^{(k)}$ , where we identify  $T^*\widetilde{M}$  and  $\widetilde{T^*M}$ . Let  $\widetilde{\Lambda^{(k)}}$  denote a complexification of  $\Lambda^{(k)}$ . The sets  $\widetilde{\Lambda^{(k)}}$  and  $N^*\widetilde{\Sigma^{(k)}}$  are of complex dimension n and locally coincide. Therefore, the set  $N^*\widetilde{\Sigma^{(k)}}$  is open in  $\widetilde{\Lambda}$  and the level sets of  $\widetilde{\pi}|_{\widetilde{\Lambda^{(k)}}}$  are linear subspaces of complex dimension k of cotangent spaces of the manifold  $\widetilde{M}$ . The complement  $\widetilde{\Lambda} \setminus \widetilde{\Lambda^{(k)}}$  is analytic and nowhere dense.

Now let us apply the described construction to the product  $M = X \times Y$ , where X and Y are two real analytic manifolds. Let C be a homogeneous canonical relation satisfying the local graph condition and let  $\phi$  be its generating function as in (1.5.7) and (1.5.8). Then  $\phi$  is real analytic and by  $\tilde{\phi}$  we denote its complex extension. Since the complex holomorphic extension is unique, the function  $\tilde{\phi}$  is a generating function for  $\tilde{C}$ . Reasoning as in Section 1.5.2 we get that the level sets (fibers) of the mapping

$$\Gamma: \widetilde{\xi} \mapsto \nabla_{\widetilde{\xi}} \phi(\widetilde{y}, \widetilde{\xi}) \tag{4.1.1}$$

are affine subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  of codimension k, for all  $(\tilde{y}, \tilde{\xi})$  in the open dense set where the rank of  $D^2_{\xi\xi}\tilde{\phi}$  is maximal, equal to n + k. Thus, we proved the following theorem.
**Theorem 4.1.1.** Let X, Y be real analytic manifolds of dimension n and let C be a real analytic homogeneous canonical relation from  $T^*Y\setminus 0$  to  $T^*X\setminus 0$ . Let the maximal rank of  $d\pi_{X\times Y}|_C$  be equal to n + k. Let  $\phi$  be a local generating function for C, as in (1.5.7), (1.5.8). Let  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{C}, \phi$  be complex analytic extensions of  $X, Y, C, \phi$ , respectively. Then the mapping (4.1.1) satisfies properties ( $\Gamma$ R1), ( $\Gamma$ R2).

### 4.2 Estimates for analytic Fourier integral operators

Let us introduce the following definitions.

**Definition 4.2.1.** A Fourier integral operator with real phase  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X,Y;C)$  is called *analytic* if the sets X, Y, C are real analytic.

**Definition 4.2.2.** A Fourier integral operator with complex phase  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$  is called *analytic* if the sets X, Y are real analytic and if the generating phase functions for C are real analytic.

Note, that we do not require the analyticity of the symbol in the definition since we are interested in the properties of operators modulo smooth terms. It is also often convenient to assume that the symbol of T is compactly supported.

Let  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a real analytic function in a neighborhood of a point  $\xi_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . It means that in a neighborhood of  $\xi_0$ ,  $f(\xi)$  equals its Taylor expansion  $\sum a_{i_1...i_n} \xi_1^{i_1} \cdots \xi_n^{i_n}$ . It follows that the series with Re  $a_{i_1...i_n}$  and Im  $a_{i_1...i_n}$  as Taylor coefficients are absolutely convergent in a neighborhood of  $\xi_0$  as well. Therefore, f is real analytic if and only if both Re f and Im f are real analytic.

Let a Fourier integral operator  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$  with real phase and  $1/2 \leq \rho \leq 1$  commute with translations. Here X and Y are open sets in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Invariance means that T is a convolution operator with some distribution. The theory of such operators as Fourier multipliers is well known but their  $L^p$  properties require additional study (cf. [42], [68] and Section 1.5.3). For the case  $\rho = 1/2$  see [20].

Let the distribution w be a Lagrangian distribution associated with the Lagrangian manifold  $\Lambda \subset T^*(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , obtained from C by fixing any point in  $T^*Y$ . By Theorem 1.1.3 there exists a real valued phase function  $\psi$  and a generating function H such that  $\Lambda$  is locally equal to  $\Lambda_{\psi}$  with a positively homogeneous in  $\xi$  function

$$\psi(z,\xi) = \langle z,\xi \rangle - H(\xi), \qquad (4.2.1)$$

where

$$\Lambda_{\psi} = \{ (\nabla H(\xi), \xi) \}. \tag{4.2.2}$$

The Lagrangian distribution w takes the form

$$w(z) = \int e^{i\psi(z,\xi)} a(z,\xi) d\xi,$$

where  $a \in S^{\mu}_{\rho}$ . The operator T assumes now the form

$$Tu(x) = u * w(x) = \int \int e^{i\Psi(x,y,\xi)} a(x-y,\xi) u(y) d\xi dy$$
(4.2.3)

with phase function

$$\Psi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x - y, \xi \rangle - H(\xi). \tag{4.2.4}$$

We assume that

$$\operatorname{rank} d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C \le n+k \tag{4.2.5}$$

for some  $0 \le k \le n-1$  and that the rank n+k is attained somewhere. Condition (3) of Theorem 1.5.2 means that

$$\operatorname{rank} D^2 H(\xi) \le k, \tag{4.2.6}$$

for all  $\xi \in \Xi$ . By Theorem 4.1.1 the function H has a holomorphic extension, which we also denote by H. Since H is homogeneous of degree one, we can single out a conic variable  $\tau$  and write  $\xi$  as  $\xi = (\theta, \tau) \in \mathbb{C}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{C}$ . For  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}^{n-1}$ let us define  $F(\zeta) = H(\zeta, 1)$ . The homogeneity of H implies  $H(\theta, \tau) = \tau F(\theta/\tau)$ and

Writing  $\zeta = \theta / \tau$ , we obtain

$$D^{2}H(\theta,\tau) = \frac{1}{\tau} \begin{pmatrix} D^{2}F(\zeta) & -D^{2}F(\zeta)\zeta \\ -\zeta^{T}D^{2}F(\zeta) & \zeta^{T}D^{2}F(\zeta)\zeta \end{pmatrix}$$

Therefore, rank  $D^2H(\theta,\tau) = \operatorname{rank} D^2F(\theta/\tau)$  and conditions (4.2.5) and (4.2.6) are equivalent to

rank 
$$D^2 F(\zeta) \leq k$$
.

The mapping F is holomorphic in some open subset  $\Omega$  of  $\mathbb{C}^{n-1}$ . The kernels of  $D^2F$  are the complements to the conic direction in the kernels of  $D^2H$ . Theorem 4.1.1 implies

**Theorem 4.2.3.** Let X be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $\Lambda$  be a real analytic conic Lagrangian submanifold of  $T^*X \setminus 0$ . Let H be its generating function, i.e. let  $\Lambda$ be locally of the form (4.2.1), (4.2.2). Let  $k \leq n-2$  be such that

rank 
$$D^2 H \leq k$$
.

In a neighborhood of  $\xi_n = 1$  define F by

$$F(\zeta) = H(\zeta, 1).$$

104

Then F is real analytic and its holomorphic extension we denote by  $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ as well, where  $\Omega$  is an open set in  $\mathbb{C}^{n-1}$ . Then the mapping

$$\nabla F: \Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{C}^{n-1}$$

satisfies conditions ( $\Gamma A1$ ), ( $\Gamma A2$ ).

**Remark 4.2.4.** Note that condition  $k \leq n-2$  in Theorem 4.2.3 does not restrict the generality because for k = n-1 the level sets of  $\nabla F$  are zero dimensional and the smooth factorization condition holds trivially.

Having established a connection with Chapter 2 we can use its results. We will apply Theorem 4.2.3 to the real valued phase function  $\Psi = \text{Re } \Phi + \tau \text{ Im } \Phi$ , where  $\Phi$  is a complex valued phase function for an operator  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$ . Let T be a translation invariant Fourier integral operator satisfying local graph type condition (L) of Section 1.7. Then locally it is of the form (4.2.3) with a complex valued phase function

$$\Phi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x - y, \xi \rangle - K(\xi),$$

where  $K(\xi)$  is a positively homogeneous of degree one function with Im  $K(\xi) \leq 0$ . Then

$$\Psi(x, y, \xi) = \langle x - y, \xi \rangle - H(\xi),$$

with  $H(\xi) = \operatorname{Re} K(\xi) + \tau \operatorname{Im} K(\xi)$ . As usual, we denote

$$C_{\Psi} = \{ (x, y, d_x \Psi(x, y, \xi), d_y \Psi(x, y, \xi)) : d_{\xi} \Psi(x, y, \xi) = 0 \}$$
  
=  $\{ (y + \nabla_{\xi} H(\xi), y, \xi, -\xi) \}.$  (4.2.7)

If  $\Phi$  is real analytic, then both  $\Psi$  and H are real analytic in  $\xi$ . The estimate rank  $D^2H(\xi) \leq k$  applies now to the real phase function from the smooth factorization type condition (F) and we have rank  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{C_{\Psi}} = n + \max_{\xi} \operatorname{rank} D^2H(\xi)$ . As usual, we assume that the canonical relation C satisfies conditions of Theorem 1.7.1. Therefore, we obtain

**Theorem 4.2.5.** Let  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X,Y;C)$  be an analytic Fourier integral operator with complex phase commuting with translations. Let  $\Phi$  be its phase function and assume that it satisfies the local graph type condition (L). Assume that there exists a real  $\tau$  with  $|\tau| < 1/\sqrt{3}$ , such that for  $\Psi = \operatorname{Re} \Phi + \tau \operatorname{Im} \Phi$  holds

$$\operatorname{rank} d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{C_{\Psi}} \le n+k,$$

with some  $0 \le k \le 2$ . Let  $\mu \le -(k + (n - k)(1 - \rho))|1/p - 1/2|, 1 , <math>1/2 \le \rho \le 1$ . Then T is continuous from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^p_{loc}(X)$ .

The statement follows from Theorems 4.2.3, 2.4.3 and Theorem 1.12.1.

**Theorem 4.2.6.** Let X, Y be open sets in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $n \leq 4$  and let  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$  be an analytic Fourier integral operator with complex phase commuting with translations. Let  $\Phi$  be its phase function and assume that it satisfies the local

graph type condition (L). Assume that there exists a real  $\tau$  with  $|\tau| < 1/\sqrt{3}$ , such that for  $\Psi = \operatorname{Re} \Phi + \tau \operatorname{Im} \Phi$  holds

rank 
$$d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{C_{\Psi}} \leq n+k$$

for some  $k, 0 \le k \le 3$ . Let  $\mu \le -(k + (n - k)(1 - \rho))|1/p - 1/2|, 1$  $and <math>1/2 \le \rho \le 1$ . Then T is continuous from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^p_{loc}(X)$ .

For k = n - 1 and k = 0 the statement follows from Theorem 1.12.1. For k = 1 it follows from Theorems 4.2.3 and 4.2.5. The last case n = 4, k = 2 follows from Theorems 4.2.3, 2.4.3 and 1.12.1.

**Remark 4.2.7.** The main idea behind the last two theorems is that if X, Y are real analytic and if an analytic conic Lagrangian manifold C is associated to an operator commuting with translations, and rank  $d\pi_{X\times Y}|_{C_{\Psi}} \leq 2$ , then the smooth factorization type condition (F) is satisfied.

**Remark 4.2.8.** Let T satisfy conditions of Theorems 4.2.5 and 4.2.6. Then it follows from Theorem 1.12.2 that T is continuous from  $H^1$  to  $L^1$  provided  $\mu \leq -(k + (n - k)(1 - \rho))/2.$ 

In the case when the phase function  $\Phi$  is real, Theorems 4.2.5 and 4.2.6 simplify. Let us formulate them.

**Corollary 4.2.9.** Let  $T \in I^{\mu}_{\rho}(X, Y; C)$  be an analytic Fourier integral operator with real phase commuting with translations. Assume that C is a local graph and that

$$\operatorname{rank} d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C \le n+k,$$

with some  $0 \le k \le 2$ . Let  $\mu \le -(k + (n - k)(1 - \rho))|1/p - 1/2|, 1 , <math>1/2 \le \rho \le 1$ . Then T is continuous from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^p_{loc}(X)$ .

**Corollary 4.2.10.** Let X, Y be open sets in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $n \leq 4$  and let  $T \in I_{\rho}^{\mu}(X,Y;C)$  be an analytic Fourier integral operator with real phase commuting with translations. Assume that C is a local graph and that

rank 
$$d\pi_{X \times Y}|_C \leq n+k$$

for some  $k, 0 \le k \le 3$ . Let  $\mu \le -(k + (n - k)(1 - \rho))|1/p - 1/2|, 1 ,$  $and <math>1/2 \le \rho \le 1$ . Then T is continuous from  $L^p_{comp}(Y)$  to  $L^p_{loc}(X)$ .

Note that these statements are sharp for the order  $\mu$  in view of the Section 1.11. Finally, note that under conditions of Theorems 4.2.5 and 4.2.6 we also get  $L^p - L^q$  continuity as in Proposition 1.12.3, and that this statement is sharp for the order  $\mu$  as well.

106

## Chapter 5

# Applications

In this chapter we will discuss several applications of the analysis of the preceding chapters. In Section 5.1 we give a short overview of several applications of the regularity theory of Fourier integral operators. Further, we concentrate on Cauchy problems for partial differential equations. In Section 5.2 we discuss the regularity properties of solutions to hyperbolic Cauchy problems for operators falling into the class of analytic operators of the previous chapter. In particular, this contains the class of operators with coefficients dependent on time, but not on other variables. Of course, general estimates follow from the corresponding estimates for Fourier integral operators if the solution operators are written in this form. However, the analysis of ranks of the projection  $\pi_{X \times Y}$  improve the estimates. In particular, we will give several examples of hyperbolic partial differential operators with ranks of  $d\pi_{X \times Y}$  restricted to the wave front being any number between n and 2n - 1.

In Section 5.4 we allow phase functions in Fourier integral operators become complex. This allows one to deal with partial pseudo-differential operators with complex characteristics. The assumption for the theory of Fourier integral operators with complex phases to apply is that the characteristics are simple and have non-negative imaginary parts. This implies that the imaginary parts of complex phase functions of solution operators are nonnegative. From this perspective we can apply estimates of Section 1.7 to derive  $L^p$  estimates for the solution of the Cauchy problem for such operators.

Finally, in Section 5.5 we briefly discuss an application of estimates of Section 1.7 to the oblique derivative problem.

#### 5.1 Introduction

One of the main applications of the theory of Fourier integral operators is the theory of hyperbolic partial differential equations. Let

$$P(t, x, \partial_t, \partial_x) = \partial_t^m + \sum_{j=1}^m P_j(t, x, \partial_x) \partial_t^{m-j}$$

be a strictly hyperbolic operator of order m in a set of points  $(t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+n}$ . The hyperbolicity means that the principal symbol  $p(t, x, \tau, \xi)$  of the operator P (p is polynomial in  $\tau$  or degree m and is often denoted by  $\sigma_P$ ) has m distinct real roots  $\tau_j$  in  $\tau$ . In this case, the Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} Pu(t,x) = 0, & t \neq 0, \\ \partial_t^j u|_{t=0} = f_j(x), & 0 \le j \le m - 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.1)

is well posed, and for small t its solution can be written as a sum of Fourier integral operators  $T_t^{jl}$ :

$$u(t, \cdot) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{l=0}^{m-1} T_t^{jl} f_l,$$

where each operator  $T_t^{jl}$  depends smoothly on t, is of order -l and depends on the root  $\tau_i(t, x, \xi)$ . This construction will be described in more detail later. Note that operators  $T_t^{jl}$  satisfy the local graph condition and it follows that for small t and 1 for the solution <math display="inline">u of the Cauchy problem holds  $u(t, \cdot) \in$  $L_{loc}^{p}$ , provided that the Cauchy data  $f_{l}$  are in Sobolev spaces  $f_{l} \in (L_{\alpha_{p}-l}^{p})_{comp}$ , where  $\alpha_p = (n-1)|1/p - 1/2|$ . Thus, there is a loss of smoothness by  $\alpha_p$ derivatives in  $L^p$  spaces. It follows from the stationary phase method (Section 1.11) that the loss of  $\alpha_p$  derivatives is sharp in a number of cases. For example, it is sharp for equations of the wave type with variable coefficients (when m =2). It is also sharp if one imposes an additional condition that for almost all t at least one of the roots  $\tau_j(t, x, \xi)$  is elliptic in  $\xi$ , i.e.  $\tau_j(t, x, \xi) \neq 0$  for  $\xi \neq 0$  ([62]). However, in a number of cases the order  $\alpha_p$  can be improved. Let k denote the minimal integer for which the ranks of standard projections from the canonical relations of operators  $T_t^{jl}$  to  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  do not exceed n+k for all j and l. These projections are discussed in more detail in Section 1.4. In the present case, projection  $\pi_{X \times Y}$  in (1.5.1) satisfies the inequality rank  $d\pi_{X \times Y}|_{C_{\epsilon}^{jl}} \leq n+k$ , where X and Y are (open subsets of)  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $C_t^{jl}$  are the canonical relations of operators  $T_t^{jl}$ . It terms of phase functions it means that if  $\Phi_j$  is the solution of the eikonal equation  $(\partial/\partial t)\Phi_j(t, x, \xi) = \tau_j(t, x, \nabla_x \Phi_j)$  with initial condition  $\Phi_j(0,x,\xi) = \langle x,\xi \rangle$ , then rank  $\partial_{\xi\xi}^2 \Phi_j(t,x,\xi) \leq k$  for all  $j,x,\xi$ . In this case one can show (Section 1.11) that the order  $\alpha_p = k|1/p - 1/2|$  would be sharp, i.e. the condition that for some  $\alpha$  holds  $u(t, \cdot) \in L^p_{loc}$  for all  $f_l \in (L^p_{\alpha-l})_{comp}$ implies  $\alpha \geq \alpha_p = k|1/p - 1/2|$ . The converse is known in a number of special cases only. For operators with constant coefficients (in particular) the converse result is proved in Chapter 5 in the case  $k \leq 2$ . The complete picture of the  $L^p$  properties of such operators becomes clear in the 5-dimensional space. For  $3 \leq k \leq n-2$  the sharp  $L^p$ -estimates are not proved in general. In the case k = 0 there is no loss of smoothness for the solutions (in this case the regularity properties of solutions are the same as the regularity properties of solutions to the elliptic Cauchy problems,  $\alpha_p = 0$  and, therefore, k = 0, the principal symbol of P has a special form. Its roots  $\tau_i$  are linear in  $\xi$  (cf. Theorem 5.2.4).

In Section 5.4 we will establish  $L^p$  estimates for operators with complex characteristics.

#### 5.1 Introduction

Another important applications of Fourier integral operators are convolution operators and Radon transforms. Let X and Y be smooth manifolds and let S be a smooth submanifold of  $X \times Y$ . For  $x \in X$ , let  $S_x$  be the set of points  $y \in Y$  such that  $(x, y) \in S$ . Let  $\sigma$  be a smooth measure on S. It naturally induces the measure  $\sigma_x$  on  $S_x$ . The Radon transform corresponding to S and  $\sigma$  is now defined by

$$Rf(x) = \int_{S_x} f d\sigma_x.$$

It defines an integral operator  $R : C_0^{\infty}(Y) \to \mathcal{D}'(X)$ . The Schwartz integral kernel of the operator R is a Dirac measure supported in S and equal to  $\sigma$ there. Because we are interested in local properties, we can assume that the set S is compact. Let dim  $S = \dim X + \dim Y - d$ . Locally S is given by dequations

$$h_1(x,y) = \ldots = h_d(x,y) = 0,$$

where functions  $h_j$  are smooth and their gradients are linearly independent on S. In this way, the operator R can be regarded as a Fourier integral operator with the phase function

$$\sum_{j=1}^d \theta_j h_j(x,y).$$

The canonical relation of R is then equal to the conormal bundle  $N^*S$ . The local graph condition means that dim  $X = \dim Y$  and that projections  $\pi_X, \pi_Y$ from  $N^*S$  to  $T^*X$  and  $T^*Y$  are locally diffeomorphic. In this case the  $L^p$ estimates of the subsequent sections can be applied. The smooth factorization condition is satisfied for  $N^*S$  because S is a smooth manifold. Therefore, the  $L^p$  estimates follow from the general theory of Fourier integral operators. The results depend on the order of the operator R as a Fourier integral operator. Let us assume for simplicity that  $Rf = f * \sigma$ , where the measure  $\sigma$  is supported on some (smooth) submanifold  $\Sigma$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The connection between R and Fourier integral operators is mentioned in more detail in Section 1.5.3. Now, we restrict ourselves to some remarks only. The order of R as a Fourier integral operator is related to the order of decrease of the Fourier transform  $\widehat{\sigma}$  at infinity. This order depends on the curvature of  $\Sigma$ . Let  $\Sigma$  be a hypersurface (dim  $\Sigma$  = (n-1) with non-vanishing Gaussian curvature at all points and let  $d\sigma = \psi d\mu$ , where  $d\mu$  is induced on S by the Lebesgue measure and  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . One can show that the Fourier transform of the measure  $\sigma$  satisfies the estimate  $|\hat{\sigma}(\xi)| < C|\xi|^{-(n-1)/2}$ . It follows that R is a Fourier integral operator of order -(n-1)/2. There are generalizations of this estimate to (n-d)-dimensional manifolds  $\Sigma$  of finite type. Roughly speaking,  $\Sigma$  has type m if the order of intersection of  $\Sigma$  with affine hyperplanes does not exceed m. In this case holds  $|\hat{\sigma}(\xi)| \leq C|\xi|^{-1/m}$ . If the manifold  $\Sigma$  is analytic, then, in turn, this estimate implies that  $\Sigma$  has type m. Indeed, otherwise  $\hat{\sigma}$  would be constant in directions orthogonal to the tangent space to  $\Sigma$  at the points of infinite order of tangency. The detailed discussion as well as other forms of the Radon transform can be found, for example, in [68], [20], [45], [46], [48]. For the failure of the smooth factorization condition it is necessary (but not sufficient, see Remark 1.5.7) that S is not smooth. In this case there are additional problems in determining the order of R as a Fourier integral operator since the estimates of  $\hat{\sigma}$  at infinity are more complicated.

The local graph condition holds in a number of important cases. For example, Radon transforms along hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  satisfy this condition. It also holds for the convolution operators with measures supported on hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with non-vanishing Gaussian curvature. As an example, one has solution operators to the Cauchy problem for the wave equation (see above), where for a fixed t > 0, the manifold  $S_x$  consists of points  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with |x - y| = t.

Let us remark, finally, that in some applications the canonical relation fails to be a local graph. For instance, the local graph condition fails for the Radon transforms with d > n/2 (cf., for example, [45]). For submanifolds of codimension larger than 1 in a general position, the canonical relation C is a Whitney fold ([69], [47], [46]). Projections  $\pi_X$  and  $\pi_Y$  are also singular in applications to the diffraction theory ([72], [73]), in the theory of X-ray transforms ([19]), and deformation theory ([21], [19]). Singular Radon transforms and Fourier integral operators with densities with Calderón-Zygmund type of singularities led to the microlocal analysis of the boundedness for the degenerate type of Fourier integral operators (see [22], [20], [46]) and references therein). In many degenerate cases one looses smoothness of functions even in the  $L^2$ -case, with the loss dependent on the order of degeneracy, which can be expressed in terms of the stratification of Lagrangian ([47], [48]). A similar loss occurs in  $L^p$  norms for the Radon transforms with folding canonical relation and for other types of singularities. However, such degenerate cases fall beyond the scope of the present monograph.

### 5.2 Cauchy problem for a class of strictly hyperbolic equations

Results of the previous chapters can be applied to establish certain  $L^p$  estimates for the fixed time solutions of hyperbolic Cauchy problem. For more detailed discussions of the Cauchy problem for hyperbolic partial differential equations we refer to [76], [28], [11], [68], [65]. The class of operators which we consider below contains operators with constant coefficients. Solutions to the Cauchy problem for such operators are well known ([43], [29]). Results of this section have partially appeared in [53] and examples of operators are discussed in [55].

Let the operator

$$P(t, \partial_t, \partial_x) = \partial_t^m + \sum_{j=1}^m P_j(t, \partial_x) \partial_t^{m-j}$$

be strictly hyperbolic and have order m in  $\mathbb{R} \times X$ , where X is a compact ndimensional smooth analytic manifold with  $n \leq 4$ . Let  $p(t, \tau, \xi)$  be the principal symbol of the operator P. Strict hyperbolicity means that the polynomial  $p(t, \tau, \xi)$  has m real distinct roots in  $\tau$ . The roots  $\tau_j(t, \xi)$  are real, homogeneous of degree one in  $\xi$  and smooth in t. The corresponding Cauchy problem is the equation

$$\begin{cases} Pu(t,x) = 0, & t \neq 0, \\ \partial_t^j u|_{t=0} = f_j(x), & 0 \le j \le m - 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.1)

The principal symbol p (or  $\sigma_P$ ) of the operator P can be written as a product "

$$p(t, \tau, \xi) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} (\tau - \tau_j(t, \xi)).$$

For small t a solution to the Cauchy problem (5.2.1) can be obtained in the following way. Let  $\Phi_j(t, x, \xi)$  solve the eikonal equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \Phi_j(t, x, \xi) = \tau_j(t, \nabla_x \Phi_j), \\ \Phi_j(t, x, \xi)|_{t=0} = \langle x, \xi \rangle. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.2)

Under the strict hyperbolicity condition the Cauchy problem (5.2.1) is well posed and modulo a smooth term its solution u(t,x) can be obtained as a finite sum of elliptic Fourier integral operators, smoothly dependent on t:

$$u(t,x) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{l=0}^{m-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{2\pi i (\Phi_j(t,x,\xi) - \langle y,\xi \rangle)} a_{jl}(t,x,\xi) f_l(y) d\xi dy.$$
(5.2.3)

Canonical relations are locally generated by function  $\Phi_j$  from (5.2.2), and symbols  $a_{jl} \in S^{-l}$  can be found from additional transport equations [15], [11]. Expression (5.2.3) is smooth in t. Let f be a smooth function on an open set U in  $T^*X$ . Then df is a smooth one-form. A smooth vector field  $H_f$  is called the Hamiltonian vector field for f if the equality  $\sigma(v, H_f) = \langle v, df \rangle = v(f)$  holds for all smooth vector fields v. In local coordinates at  $(x, \xi) \in U$  the vector field  $H_f$  takes the form

$$H_f = \sum_{j=1}^n rac{\partial f}{\partial \xi_j} rac{\partial}{\partial x_j} - rac{\partial f}{\partial x_j} rac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j}.$$

For a fixed value of t the canonical relation of the solution operator in (5.2.3) has the form

$$C_t = \bigcup_{j=1}^m \{ (x, \xi, y, \eta) : \chi_{t,j}(y, \eta) = (x, \xi) \},\$$

where canonical transformations  $\chi_{t,j} : T^*X \setminus 0 \to T^*X \setminus 0$  are the flows from  $(y,\eta)$  at t = 0, passing through  $(x,\xi)$  at t, along the Hamiltonian vector field

$$H_j = \sum_{j=1}^n \left( \frac{\partial \tau_j}{\partial \xi_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} - \frac{\partial \tau_j}{\partial x_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \right) = \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial \tau_j}{\partial \xi_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$$

in  $T^*X\setminus 0$ . Regarding t as one of the variables, we can write the canonical relation of the operator (5.2.3) as

$$C = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} \{ (x,\xi,y,\eta,t,\tau) : \tau = \tau_j(t,\xi), \chi_{t,j}(y,\eta) = (x,\xi) \}.$$

Using the representation and the asymptotics of  $D_{\xi\xi}^2 \Phi_j$  with respect to t, one can show ([62]) that the maximal rank  $D_{\xi\xi}^2 \Phi_j = 2n - 1$  under an additional assumption that for all t, except possibly a discrete set in  $\mathbb{R}$ , at least one of the roots  $\tau_j$  is elliptic. In particular, this assumption holds for the wave equation with variable coefficients. In general, if k is the maximal rank of the matrices  $D_{\xi\xi}^2 \Phi_j$ , it is possible to apply results of Section 4.2 to obtain sharp  $L^p$ estimates for the solutions of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1). Now we formulate the properties of solutions with ranks  $0 \le k \le n-1$ .

**Theorem 5.2.1.** Let u(t, x) solve the Cauchy problem (5.2.1) and let  $\Phi_j(t, x, \xi)$  solve the eikonal equation (5.2.2). Let

$$k = \max_{x,\xi,j} \operatorname{rank} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi^2} \Phi_j(t,x,\xi)$$

and let  $\alpha_p = k|1/p - 1/2|$ ,  $1 . Let the Cauchy data satisfy <math>f_j \in L^p_{\alpha+\alpha_p-j}(X)$ . Then  $u(t, \cdot) \in L^p_{\alpha}(X)$ . Moreover, if

$$k = \max_{x,\xi,j,t \in [-T,T]} \text{ rank } \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi^2} \Phi_j(t,x,\xi)$$

for a fixed  $0 < T < \infty$ , then

$$||u(t,\cdot)||_{L^{p}_{\alpha}} \leq C_{T} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} ||f_{j}||_{L^{p}_{\alpha+\alpha_{p}-j}}, t \in [-T,T].$$
(5.2.4)

The orders  $\alpha + \alpha_p - j$  can not be improved.

**Proof.** Let us look for the solutions to the eikonal equation (5.2.2) in the form

$$\Phi_j(t, x, \xi) = \langle x, \xi \rangle - H_j(t, \xi).$$

Then equations (5.2.2) reduce to a Cauchy problem for ordinary differential equations

$$\frac{\partial H_j}{\partial t}(t,\xi) = -\tau_j(t,\xi), \qquad (5.2.5)$$

with  $H_j(0,\xi) = 0$ , where  $\xi$  is a parameter. Because p is strictly hyperbolic and analytic in  $\xi$ ,  $\tau_j$  and  $\Phi_j$  must be analytic in  $\xi$  and smooth in t. The roots  $\tau_j$ are homogeneous of degree one in  $\xi$  and hence functions  $H_j(t,\xi)$  are analytic and homogeneous of degree one in  $\xi$  for small t. Estimates (5.2.4) now follow from Theorem 4.2.6. The sharpness follows from Theorem 1.11.1. **Remark 5.2.2.** The statement of Theorem 5.2.1 can be generalized to other dimensions n of X. Under an additional assumption that  $k \leq 2$ , solution  $u(t, \cdot)$  belongs to  $L^p_{\alpha}$  and sharp estimates (5.2.4) are valid. The proof is similar to the proof of Theorem 5.2.1 and is based on Theorem 4.2.5. If X is not compact, the statement of Theorem 5.2.1 holds in  $L^p_{comp}$ .

In other function spaces we have the following statement.

**Theorem 5.2.3.** In conditions of Theorem 5.2.1 the following estimates hold.

(1) Let 1 . Then

$$||u(t,\cdot)||_{L^{q}_{\alpha}} \leq C_{T} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} ||f_{j}||_{L^{p}_{\alpha+\alpha_{pq}-j}}, t \in [-T,T],$$
(5.2.6)

where  $\alpha_{pq} = |-n/p + (n-k)/q + k/2|$ . The dual estimate holds for  $2 \le p \le q < \infty$ .

(2) In Lipschitz spaces  $Lip(\gamma)$  holds

$$||u(t,\cdot)||_{\operatorname{Lip}(\alpha)} \le C_T \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} ||f_j||_{\operatorname{Lip}(\alpha+k/2-j)}, t \in [-T,T].$$
(5.2.7)

The orders in the above statements can not be improved.

The estimates follow from corresponding theorems for Fourier integral operators from Section 4.2. The sharpness of the estimates will be considered in the following section.

The best  $L^p$  regularity properties are exhibited by operators, for which the order  $\alpha_p$  in Theorem 5.2.1 equals zero. In this case the regularity properties of solutions are the same as for elliptic Cauchy problems, for which the solutions are given by pseudo-differential operators. This has an underlying explanation. The condition  $\alpha_p = 0$  implies k = 0 and in the next section we will show that solution operators can be obtained from pseudo-differential operators by a composition with Fourier integral operators induced by smooth coordinate changes.

**Theorem 5.2.4.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the order  $m \geq 2$ ,  $1 and <math>p \neq 2$ . For the strictly hyperbolic Cauchy problem (5.2.1) the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) There is no loss of smoothness in  $L^p$  for solutions, i.e. for any Cauchy data  $f_j \in L^p_{m-j}$  the solution  $u(t, \cdot)$  of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1) belongs to  $L^p_m$ .
- (2) The dimension n = 1 and the principal symbol of the operator P has the form

$$\sigma_P(t,\tau,\xi) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} (\tau - \tau_j(t,\xi))$$
(5.2.8)

where  $\tau_j(t,\xi)$  are linear in  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

In both cases there exist pseudo-differential operators  $Q_{jl}, S_{jl} \in \Psi^{-l}(Y)$  and diffeomorphisms  $\sigma_j : X \to Y$  such that the solution to the Cauchy problem (5.2.1) has the form

$$u = \sum_{l=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^{m} (\sigma_j^* \circ Q_{jl}) f_l = \sum_{l=0}^{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^{m} (S_{jl} \circ \sigma_j^*) f_l,$$
(5.2.9)

where  $\sigma_j^*$  are the pullbacks induced by  $\sigma_j$ . Sobolev space estimates (5.2.4) hold with  $\alpha_p = 0$ .

For p = 2 condition (2) holds for arbitrary operators P. This is why it is necessary to exclude the case p = 2 from the formulation of the theorem.

**Proof of Theorem 5.2.4.** Assume that the homogeneous part of the highest degree of operator P is as in (5.2.8). We can differentiate equation (5.2.5) twice with respect to  $\xi$  to obtain  $\partial_{\xi\xi}^2 \partial_t H_j(t,\xi) = 0$ . Therefore,  $\partial_{\xi\xi}^2 H_j(t,\xi) = \partial_{\xi\xi}^2 H_j(0,\xi) = 0$ , and  $H_j$  are linear in  $\xi$ . The rank k in Theorem 5.2.1 is then equal to zero, which implies the second part of the theorem, since pseudo-differential operators of order -j are continuous from  $(L_{\alpha}^p)_{comp}$  to  $(L_{\alpha+j}^p)_{loc}$ .

Conversely, let P be as in the second part of the theorem. If  $T_l$  in (5.2.3) is an operator of order -l, we can apply Theorem 1.11.5 to the operator  $T = T_l \circ (I - \Delta)^{l/2}$  to obtain formula (5.2.9). Moreover, we have k = 0, and hence  $\partial_{\xi\xi}^2 \tau_j(t,\xi) = -\partial_t \partial_{\xi\xi}^2 H_j(t,\xi) = 0$ . Therefore,  $\tau_j$  must be polynomial of degree  $\leq 1$  in  $\xi$ . In fact, they are linear, since they are also homogeneous of order one. The condition that P is strictly hyperbolic implies that real values of linear functions  $\tau_j(\xi)$  are different for  $\xi \neq 0$ , which is only possible when n = 1 when the order m of the operator is  $m \geq 2$ .

The Sobolev space estimates follow from the continuity of pseudo-differential operators of order -j from  $(L^p_{\alpha})_{comp}$  to  $(L^p_{\alpha+j})_{loc}$ .

#### 5.3 Monge–Ampère equation

Generating functions  $\phi$  satisfy the following parametric Monge–Ampère equation:

$$\det \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(y,\xi) = 0 \tag{5.3.1}$$

for all  $(y,\xi) \in Y \times \Xi$ . Let us consider an invariant version of equation (5.3.1):

$$\det \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(\xi) = 0, \ \forall \xi \in \Omega, \tag{5.3.2}$$

which corresponds to operators commuting with translations. Such equations are called the *simplest Monge–Ampère equations*, cf. [31, 8.2]. Note that if  $\phi$  is convex, equation (5.3.2) has the unique solution, which is zero. In general, the problem

$$\det \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(\xi) = f \tag{5.3.3}$$

almost everywhere in the ball  $B = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| < 1\}, n \geq 2$ , with zero boundary conditions on  $\partial B$  and non-negative function  $f \in C^2(B)$ , has the unique solution in B in the class of convex functions. Solution  $\phi$  belongs to  $C^{3+\alpha}(\bar{B})$  for all  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ , provided f > 0 on  $\bar{B}$ . (cf. [31, 8.2.2]). In our case we have f = 0. Let  $\phi$  solve equation (5.3.2). We do not require the convexity now. Using Theorems 2.4.2 and 2.4.3 we conclude

**Corollary 5.3.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (or  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ) and let  $\phi(\xi)$  be an analytic solution to the Monge-Ampère equation (5.3.2) in  $\Omega$ , such that the level sets of  $\nabla \phi(\xi)$  are affine for all  $\xi$  with the maximal rank  $\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi^2}(\xi) \leq 2$ . Then the fibration by the level sets of  $\nabla \phi(\xi)$  allows an analytic extension to  $\Omega$ .

#### 5.4 Cauchy problems with complex characteristic roots

In this section we will deal with operators with complex characteristic roots. We start with first order operators. Let  $A = A(x, D_x)$  be a first order pseudodifferential operator in the space of half densities on X,  $D_x = -i\partial_x$ . Let also  $D_t = -i\partial_t$ . First we consider the following Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} D_t v - A(x, D_x)v = 0, \\ v(0, x) = f(x). \end{cases}$$
(5.4.1)

If the principal symbol  $a(x,\xi)$  of A is real, Cauchy problem (5.4.1) is strictly hyperbolic and well posed. As in Section 5.2, in this case, for 1 , $we have the following <math>L^p$  properties for the fixed time solutions of (5.4.1). Let  $f \in L^p_{(n-1)|1/p-1/2|}(X)$ . Then  $v(t, \cdot) \in L^p_{loc}$  for all sufficiently small values of tand the loss (n-1)|1/p-1/2| is sharp when A is elliptic.

Now we consider a more general case. We assume that the principal symbol a is complex valued, such that

$$\operatorname{Im} a(x,\xi) \ge 0, \quad \forall (x,\xi) \in T^*X \backslash 0. \tag{5.4.2}$$

We also assume that A is a first order classical pseudo-differential operator. Since we are interested in local estimates, we may as well assume that X is compact. A question now is whether there is an operator solution U(t) to (5.4.2), that is a continuous linear operator on  $\mathcal{D}'(X;\Omega^{1/2})$  such that in X we have

$$\begin{cases} D_t U - AU = 0, & t \ge 0, \\ U(0) = I. \end{cases}$$
(5.4.3)

Such U exists for  $t \ge 0$  and it is unique and smooth in t. The semigroup  $t \mapsto U(t)$  is strongly continuous and U(t) is a bounded linear operator on  $L^2(X, \Omega^{1/2})$  (see, for example [74, XI, Theorem 2.1]). Let us briefly describe

solutions of (5.4.1) and (5.4.3). Assume for the simplicity now that U(t) acts on functions and not on half-densities. We define self-adjoint operators

$$A^+ = \frac{A + A^*}{2}, \quad A^- = \frac{A - A^*}{2i}.$$

The solution F of

$$\begin{cases} D_t F - A^+ F = 0, \\ F(0) = I \end{cases}$$
(5.4.4)

is a unitary Fourier integral operator with real phase. Setting  $W = e^{-itA^+}U$  we get that W is the solution to

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t W + BW = 0, \\ W(0) = I, \end{cases}$$
(5.4.5)

where  $B = e^{-itA^+}A^-e^{itA^+}$ . By Egorov's theorem the operator B is in  $\Psi^1$ , is classical and depends smoothly on t. The principal symbol  $b(t, x, \xi)$  of B is given by

$$b(t, x, \xi) = a^{-}(e^{-tH_{a^{+}}}(x, \xi)),$$

where  $e^{-tH_{a^+}}$  is the Hamiltonian flow of  $-a^+$ . Assumption (5.4.2) implies that  $b(t, x, \xi) \ge 0$  for all t and for all  $(x, \xi) \in T^*X \setminus 0$ . Now, according to [74, XI], the operator W(t) has the kernel

$$W(t,x,y) = \int e^{i(\Phi(t,x,\xi) - \langle y,\xi \rangle)} k(t,x,\xi) d\xi, \qquad (5.4.6)$$

where the amplitude k is a classical symbol of order zero, and the phase function  $\Phi$  is an "approximate" solution of the eikonal equation

$$\partial_t \Phi = ib(t, x, \nabla_x \Phi), \quad \Phi(0, x, \xi) = \langle x, \xi \rangle. \tag{5.4.7}$$

Note, that one of the main difficulties here is that the solution  $\Phi$  of (5.4.7) is, in general, complex valued, and it enters the equation as a variable in bas well, which is originally defined for real x and  $\xi$  only. One overcomes this by considering almost analytic extension b of b, this is why  $\Phi$  solves (5.4.7) only approximately. However, one can control the error  $\partial_t \Phi - i \widetilde{b}(t, x, \nabla_x \Phi)$ by arbitrary powers of Im  $\Phi$ . More precisely, let  $\tilde{a}^+$  be an almost analytic extension of  $a^+$  and let  $\tilde{b} = \tilde{a}^- \circ e^{-tH_{\tilde{a}^+}}$ , where  $e^{-tH_{\tilde{a}^+}}$  is the Hamiltonian flow of the extension  $-\tilde{a}^+$ . Then for small  $t \geq 0$ , microlocally, the Hamiltonian flow of -ib defines a positive conic almost Lagrangian manifold. The equivalence class of these manifolds microlocally yields a positive canonical relation  $C'_t \subset (T^*\widetilde{X}\setminus 0) \times (T^*\widetilde{X}\setminus 0)$ . The operator W(t) is attached to  $C'_t$ . The operator U(t) is then attached to the positive canonical relation  $C_t = C^+_t \circ C'_t$ , where  $C^+_t$  is the canonical relation of the Fourier integral operator (with real phase)  $e^{itA^+}$ . One has the usual property that  $e^{itA}$  propagates singularities only along bicharacteristics of -a originating at t = 0. For the details of these constructions we refer to [74]. Note, that (5.4.7) implies that our assumption (1.7.2) holds with  $\tau = i$  and we can apply Theorem 1.7.1. It also follows that Im  $\Phi \geq 0$  because  $b \geq 0$ . Thus, we obtain

**Theorem 5.4.1.** Let  $1 , <math>\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , and let  $f \in L^p_{\alpha+(n-1)|1/p-1/2|}$  be compactly supported. Then for a fixed t the solution v of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1) satisfies  $v(t, \cdot) \in (L^p_{\alpha})_{loc}$ .

According to Corollary 1.10.1 we get corresponding estimates in other function spaces.

Let us now briefly explain how we can choose a complex valued phase function for U(t) globally. The possibility of a global phase function is shown in [33]. Let us now concentrate on the case when a is imaginary and elliptic. Let  $\sigma_A(x,\xi) = -ia(x,\xi)$ , so that  $\sigma_A$  is real and positive. Let u(t,x,y) be the fundamental solution for (5.4.1), namely let it solve the equation

$$\begin{cases} D_t u - A(x, D_x)u = 0, \\ u(0, x, y) = \delta(x - y). \end{cases}$$
(5.4.8)

Let  $x^t(y,\eta), \xi^t(y,\eta)$  be the Hamiltonian trajectory in  $T^*X \setminus 0$  generated by  $\sigma_A$  with initial data  $(y,\eta)$ . Let

$$\Lambda = \{(t,\tau), (x,\xi), (y,-\eta): \ \tau = -\sigma_A(y,\eta), x = x^t(y,\eta), \xi = \xi^t(y,\eta)\}$$

be a subset of  $T^*\mathbb{R}\times(T^*X\setminus 0)\times(T^*X\setminus 0)$ . Let  $\phi(t;x;y,\eta)\in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}\times X\times T^*X\setminus 0)$ be complex valued with Im  $\phi\geq 0$  and homogeneous of degree 1 in  $\eta$ . Let Fbe the class of such functions satisfying conditions

- (i)  $\phi(t; x^t(y, \eta); y, \eta) = 0;$
- (ii)  $\phi'_x(t; x^t(y, \eta); y, \eta) = \xi^t(y, \eta);$
- (iii) det  $\phi_{x\eta}''(t; x^t(y, \eta); y, \eta) \neq 0.$

By Lemma 3.1 in [33] any function  $\phi \in F$  gives a global parameterization of  $\Lambda$ . Then by Theorem 4.1 in [33] the solution u of (5.4.8) is given by a single integral

$$u(t, x, y) = \int e^{i\phi(t; x; y, \eta)} q(t; y, \eta) d_{\phi}(t; x; y, \eta) d\eta, \qquad (5.4.9)$$

with any  $\phi \in F$  and with amplitude q of order zero. Here  $d_{\phi} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times X \times T^*X \setminus 0)$  is a 1/2-density in x, -1/2-density in y, homogeneous of degree 0 in  $\eta$ . For x close to  $x^t$ , it is defined by

$$d_{\phi}(t;x;y,\eta) = \exp\left(\frac{i}{4}\arg \det {}^2\phi_{x\eta}^{\prime\prime}(t;x;y,\eta)\right) |\det\phi_{x\eta}^{\prime\prime}(t;x;y,\eta)|^{1/2}.$$

It follows that  $v(t, x) = \langle u(t, x, \cdot), f \rangle$  is a solution to (5.4.1) and it is given by a zero order Fourier integral operator of positive type with kernel (5.4.9).

In analogy to the real case, we also get  $L^p$  estimates for higher order equations. Let P be a differential-pseudo-differential operator on  $[0, T] \times X$  of order m of the form

$$P = D_t^m + \sum_{j=1}^m P_j(t) D_t^{m-j}, \qquad (5.4.10)$$

where X is a smooth manifold of dimension n, and for every  $1 \leq j \leq m$ ,  $P_j(t)$  is a classical pseudo-differential operator of order j on X, depending smoothly on t. The principal symbol  $p_j(t, x, \xi)$  of  $P_j(t)$  is a smooth function in  $[0,T] \times (T^*X \setminus 0)$ , complex valued, positive homogeneous of degree j in  $\xi$ . The principal symbol  $p(t, \tau, x, \xi)$  of P is given by

$$P = \tau^m + \sum_{j=1}^m p_j(t, x, \xi) \tau^{m-j}.$$
 (5.4.11)

Following [74, X], we make the following assumptions on P. First, we assume that P has simple characteristics. This means that for any  $(x_0, \xi^0) \in T^*X \setminus 0$  and any  $t_0 \in [0, T]$  the roots of the polynomial  $p(t_0, \tau, x_0, \xi^0)$  in  $\tau$  are distinct. Let  $\tau_j$  denote these roots. By the implicit function theorem it follows that functions  $\tau_j$  in the set  $[0, T] \times (T^*X \setminus 0)$  are complex valued, smooth, and positive homogeneous of degree one in  $\xi$ . The principal symbol p of P can be decomposed in the product

$$p(t, \tau, x, \xi) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} (\tau - \tau_j(t, x, \xi)).$$

Our second assumption is that Im  $\tau_j \ge 0$  in  $[0, T] \times (T^*X \setminus 0)$ . We consider the following Cauchy problem for P:

$$\begin{cases} Pv = 0, & t \in [0, T], \\ \partial_t^l v(0, x) = f_l(x), & 0 \le l \le m - 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.4.12)

The assumption that the characteristics of P are simple implies that P can be factored into

$$P = L_m \cdots L_1 + R,$$

where R is a regularising operator in X, dependent smoothly on t, and  $L_j = D_t - (\tau_j)_{op}(t)$ , where each  $(\tau_j)_{op}(t)$  is a classical pseudo-differential operator of order one with principal symbol  $\tau_j$ , dependent smoothly on t. It follows from [74] that the Cauchy problem (5.4.12) is well posed and its solution is given by a composition of solution operators for problem (5.4.1) with  $A = (\tau_j)_{op}$ , which is a Cauchy problem for operator  $L_j$ . According to the above discussion and the composition formula for Fourier integral operators with complex phase functions, we obtain

**Theorem 5.4.2.** Let P be a classical pseudo-differential operator of order m of the form (5.4.10). Assume that P has simple characteristics  $\tau_j$ , which satisfy

Im 
$$\tau_i(t, x, \xi) \ge 0$$

in  $[0,T] \times (T^*X \setminus 0)$ . Let  $1 , <math>\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , and let  $\alpha_p = (n-1)|1/p-1/2|$ . Let functions  $f_l \in L^p_{\alpha+\alpha_p-l}$  be compactly supported for all  $l, 0 \le l \le m-1$ . Then for a fixed t the solution v of the Cauchy problem (5.4.12) satisfies  $v(t, \cdot) \in (L^p_{\alpha})_{loc}$ .

The orders  $\alpha_p$  are in general sharp, because in the case of strictly hyperbolic equations with Im  $\tau_j = 0$ , they can be shown to be optimal by application of the stationary phase method (see Section 1.11), under the condition that the projection from  $C_t$  (which is the canonical relation of the solution operator U(t) of (5.4.3)) to the base space equals 2n - 1 for at least one of the problems (5.4.3) with  $A = (\tau_j)_{op}$ .

According to Corollary 1.10.1 and Theorem 1.10.2 we get corresponding estimates in other function spaces.

**Theorem 5.4.3.** Let P be as in Theorem 5.4.2. Let  $1 or <math>2 \le p \le q < \infty$ . Let  $\alpha_{pq} = |1/q - n/p + (n-1)/2|$ . Then for compactly supported Cauchy data  $f_l \in L^p_{\alpha+\alpha_{pq}-l}, 0 \le l \le m-1$ , the fixed time solution  $v(t, \cdot)$  of the Cauchy problem (5.4.12) satisfies  $v(t, \cdot) \in (L^q_\alpha)_{loc}$ .

According to Theorem 1.12.1 and Proposition 1.12.3 with the smooth factorization type condition (F), we get

**Corollary 5.4.4.** Let P be a classical pseudo-differential operator of order m of the form (5.4.10). Assume that P has simple characteristics  $\tau_j$ , which satisfy

Im 
$$\tau_j(t, x, \xi) \ge 0$$

in  $[0,T] \times (T^*X \setminus 0)$ . Assume that the smooth factorization type condition (F) is satisfied for the solution operators for the Cauchy problem (5.4.12), with some  $k \leq n-1$ . Let  $1 or <math>2 \leq p \leq q < \infty$ . Let  $\alpha_{pq} = |(n-k)/q - n/p + k/2|$ . Then for compactly supported Cauchy data  $f_l \in L^p_{\alpha+\alpha_{pq}-l}$ ,  $0 \leq l \leq m-1$ , the fixed time solution  $v(t, \cdot)$  of the Cauchy problem (5.4.12) satisfies  $v(t, \cdot) \in (L^q_{\alpha})_{loc}$ .

If we now use Theorem 4.2.6 and the fact that for  $k \leq 2$  the condition (F) is always satisfied, we automatically get a result in  $\mathbb{R}^{1+n}$ , for  $n \leq 4$ .

**Corollary 5.4.5.** Let P be a classical pseudo-differential operator with analytic (in  $\xi$ ) symbol of order m of the form (5.4.10) in  $\mathbb{R}^{1+n}$ ,  $n \leq 4$ . Assume that the coefficients  $P_j$  of P may depend on t, but not on other variables. Assume that P has simple characteristics  $\tau_j$ , which satisfy

Im 
$$\tau_j(t, x, \xi) \ge 0$$

in  $[0,T] \times (T^*X \setminus 0)$ . Assume that condition for the ranks of the projections for the solution operators for the Cauchy problem (5.4.12) satisfy the rank condition of Theorem 4.2.6 (then automatically  $0 \le k \le 3$ ). Let 1 $or <math>2 \le p \le q < \infty$ . Let  $\alpha_{pq} = |(n-k)/q - n/p + k/2|$ . Then for compactly supported Cauchy data  $f_l \in L^p_{\alpha+\alpha_{pq}-l}$ ,  $0 \le l \le m-1$ , the fixed time solution  $v(t, \cdot)$  of the Cauchy problem (5.4.12) satisfies  $v(t, \cdot) \in (L^q_{\alpha})_{loc}$ .

### 5.5 A parametrix for a first order complex partial differential operator

In this section we consider the parametrix construction for an operator which appears naturally in the study of the oblique derivative problem (see [38]). Following their notation, let X be a compact smooth n dimensional manifold and let  $\Gamma$  be a smooth closed hypersurface. We assume that  $X \setminus \Gamma$  is the union of two open disjoint sets  $X_+$  and  $X_-$ , having  $\Gamma$  as their common boundary. Let  $S_c^m$  be the set of classical symbols of order m, which means that it is a subset of  $S_{1,0}^m$  containing symbols a for which locally in every open conic V, we have a convergent asymptotic series

$$a(x,\theta) \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_{m-j}(x,\theta),$$

where each  $a_{m-j}$  is positively homogeneous of degree m-j in  $\theta$ .

Let  $P \in \Psi^1_c(X)$  be of the form

$$P(x, D_x) = m(x, D_x) + iQ(x, D_x),$$
(5.5.1)

where  $m(x, \partial_x)$  is a real vector field on X and  $Q \in \Psi_c^1(X)$  has a real principal symbol q. We also assume that q is of constant sign in  $X_+$  and  $X_-$ , namely

$$q(x,\xi) \le 0 \text{ for } x \in X_+, \ q(x,\xi) \ge 0 \text{ for } x \in X_-.$$
 (5.5.2)

Let

$$K = \{ x \in X : q(x,\xi) = 0 \text{ for some } \xi \neq 0 \}.$$

In particular,  $\Gamma \subset K$ , since  $q(x,\xi) = 0$  for all  $x \in \Gamma$ . Following Section 4 in [38], we assume that

- (i) m is non-vanishing on K;
- (ii) No maximal integral curve of m is entirely contained in K.
- (iii) m is transversal to  $\Gamma$  and points into  $X_+$ .

Properties of a parametrix for P have been studied by many authors (see [36], and references in [38]). Let  $\Lambda_{\alpha} \subset (T^*\widetilde{X\setminus 0}) \times (T^*\widetilde{Y\setminus 0})$  be a smooth family of strictly positive Lagrangian manifolds parameterized by  $\alpha \in S^*X$ , constructed in [38, p. 371]. Let  $\pi_{\alpha} \in I_c^{n-1/2}(X \times X, \Lambda_{\alpha})$  be a smooth family, satisfying

$$\int_{S^*X} \pi_\alpha d\alpha \equiv I.$$

This family uniquely defines the smooth family  $\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_{\alpha} \in I_c^{n-1/2}(X \times X, \Lambda_{\alpha,t})$ , where  $(\alpha, t) \in (\overline{S^*X_+} \times \overline{\mathbb{R}_+}) \cup (\overline{S^*X_-} \times \overline{\mathbb{R}_-})$ ,  $\Lambda_{\alpha,t} = \exp(tH_p)(\Lambda_{\alpha})$ , and  $t \mapsto \exp(tH_p)(\alpha)$  is the longest real bicharacteristic strip passing through  $\alpha$ . The existence of such  $\pi_{\alpha}$  and  $\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_{\alpha}$  is shown in Section 2 and

Section 4 of [38], respectively, and we may assume that  $\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_{\alpha} = 0$  for large t. Let

$$\pi_{\pm} = \int_{S^*X_{\pm}} \pi_{\alpha} d\alpha$$

and let

$$E = i \int_{0}^{+\infty} \exp(-itP) \circ \pi_{+} dt - i \int_{-\infty}^{0} \exp(-itP) \circ \pi_{-} dt.$$
 (5.5.3)

Note that the operators under the integral signs are complex Fourier integral operators in  $X_+$  and  $X_-$ . It is not difficult to see that outside the characteristics of P, the unique microlocal parametrix  $P^{-1} \in \Psi^{-1}(X)$  exists and it is equal to E. It is shown in [38, p.375] that E is a right parametrix for  $P, P \circ E \equiv I$  and  $E \circ P \equiv I - F_+$ , where  $F_+$  is a positive Fourier integral operator of order zero. It is shown in [38] that E is continuous from  $(L^2_{\alpha})_{comp}(X_{\pm})$  to  $L^2_{\alpha}(X)$  and from  $L^2_{\alpha}(X)$  to  $L^2_{\alpha}(X)$  for all s. The main difficulty with the second assertion is that the operators  $\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_{\pm}$  are Fourier integral operators of order 0 in X and in the neighborhood of  $\Gamma$  one need to establish additional estimates. We extend these result to the  $L^p$  case:

**Theorem 5.5.1.** The following holds:

- (i) E is continuous from  $(L^p_{\alpha+(n-1)|1/p-1/2|})_{comp}(X_{\pm})$  to  $L^p_{\alpha}(X)$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , 1 .
- (ii) E is continuous from  $L^2_{\alpha+n(1/2-1/q)}(X)$  to  $L^p_{\alpha}(X)$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}, p \geq 2$ .

**Proof.** (i) According to the argument of Lemma 5.6 in [38], the restriction of  $\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_+$  to  $\mathcal{E}'(X_+)$  is a Fourier integral operator of order 0 with classical symbol, associated to a complex canonical transformation when  $t \ge 0$ . Then  $\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_+$  is continuous from  $(L^p_{\alpha+(n-1)/|1/p-1/2|})_{comp}(X_+)$  to  $L^p_{\alpha}(X)$  by Corollary 1.10.1, (i). Since  $\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_+$  vanishes for large t, the continuity is uniform with respect to  $t \ge 0$ . On  $X_+$  the operator E equals to the first term in (5.5.3), which implies the statement on  $X_+$ . The same argument for  $X_-$  implies (i).

(ii) For  $\epsilon > 0$  and for any  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(X)$ , the singular support of  $\exp(-i\epsilon P) \circ \pi_+ u$  is contained in a fixed compact subset of  $X_+$ . It follows that for  $t > \epsilon > 0$  we have a decomposition

$$\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_+ \equiv (\exp(-i(t-\epsilon)P) \circ \pi_+) \circ (\exp(-i\epsilon P) \circ \pi_+).$$
(5.5.4)

The argument of Proposition 5.9 in [38] shows that we have a uniform continuity from  $L^2_{\alpha}(X)$  to  $L^2_{\alpha}(X)$  of  $\exp(-i\epsilon P) \circ \pi_+$  for all  $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$ . Thus, for a given t > 0 we take  $0 < \epsilon < \min\{t, \epsilon_0\}$ , and then decomposition (5.5.4) and Corollary 1.10.1, (iii), imply that  $\exp(-itP) \circ \pi_+$  is continuous from  $L^2_{\alpha+n(1/2-1/q)}(X)$  to  $L^p_{\alpha}(X)$ , since  $\exp(-i(t-\epsilon)P) \circ \pi_+$  is continuous from  $L^2_{\alpha+n(1/2-1/q)}(X)$  to  $L^2_{\alpha+n(1/2-1/q)}(X_+)$ . The proof is complete.

Chapter 5. Applications

.

1

## Bibliography

- V. I. Arnold, Singularities of Caustics and Wave fronts, Kluwer Acad. Publ., 1990.
- [2] V. I. Arnold, A. N. Varchenko, S. M. Gusein-Zade, Singularities of Differentiable Maps, Birkhäuser, Boston, 1985.
- [3] M. Beals, L<sup>p</sup> boundedness of Fourier integrals, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 264, 1982.
- [4] C. Bennett, R. Sharpley, Interpolation of Operators, Pure and Applied Math. 129, Academic Press, 1988.
- [5] J. E. Björk, *Rings of Differential Operators*, North-Holland Publ. Co., Amsterdam, New York, Oxford, 1979.
- [6] W. L. Chow, On compact analytic varieties, Amer. J. Math., 71, 893–914, 1955.
- [7] R. R. Coifman and G. Weiss, Extensions of Hardy spaces and their use in analysis. Bul. Amer. Math. Soc. 83, 569–645, 1977.
- [8] Y. Colin de Verdière, M. Frisch, Régularité Lipschitzienne et solutions de l'équation des ondes sur une viriété Riemannienne compacte, Ann. Scient. Ecole Norm. Sup., 9, 539–565, 1976.
- [9] J. J. Duistermaat, Fourier Integral Operators, Courant Inst. of Math. Sci., New York University, New York, 1973.
- [10] J. J. Duistermaat, Classical Aspects of Partial Differential Equations, Communications of Mathematical Institute, 13, Rijksuniversiteit Utrecht, 1980.
- [11] J.J. Duistermaat, Fourier integral operators, Birkhäuser, Boston, 1996.
- [12] J.J. Duistermaat and J. Sjöstrand, A global construction for pseudodifferential operators with non-involutive characteristics, Inv. Math., 20, 209–225, 1973.
- [13] P. L. Duren, Theory of H<sup>p</sup> Spaces, Pure and Applied Math. 38, Academic Press, 1970.

- [14] Yu. V. Egorov, *Microlocal analysis*. Encyclopedia Math. Sci., Partial Differential Equations, IV, 33, 1–147, Springer, 1993.
- [15] Yu. V. Egorov, M. A. Shubin, Linear partial differential equations. Elements of the modern theory. Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., Partial differential equations, II, 31, 1–120, Springer, 1994.
- [16] G. I. Eskin, Degenerate elliptic pseudo-differential operators of principal type, Math. USSR Sbornik, 11, 539–585, 1970.
- [17] C. Fefferman, L<sup>p</sup> bounds for pseudo-differential operators, Israel J. Math, 14, 413–417, 1973.
- [18] C. Fefferman, E. M. Stein, H<sup>p</sup> spaces of several variables, Acta Math., 129, 137–193, 1972.
- [19] A. Greenleaf, G. Uhlmann, Non-local inversion formulas for the X-ray transform, Duke Math. J. 58, 205–240, 1989.
- [20] A. Greenleaf, G. Uhlmann, Estimates for singular Radon transforms and pseudo-differential operators with singular symbols, J. Funct. Anal. 89, 202-232, 1990.
- [21] V. Guillemin, Cosmology in (2+1) dimensions, cyclic models, and deformations of M<sub>2,1</sub>, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1989.
- [22] V. Guillemin, V. G. Uhlmann, Oscillatory integrals with singular symbols, Duke Math. J. 48, 251–267, 1981.
- [23] G. H. Hardy, J. E. Littlewood, Some properties of fractional integrals, Mat. Zeit. 27, 565–606, 1928.
- [24] R. Hartshorne, Algebraic Geometry, Springer, New York, 1977.
- [25] L. Hörmander, Fourier integral operators, I, Acta Math. 127, 79–183, 1971.
- [26] L. Hörmander, L<sup>2</sup> estimates for Fourier integral operators with complex phase. Ark. för Matematik. 21, 283–307, 1983.
- [27] L. Hörmander, The analysis of linear partial differential operators. Vols. III-IV, Springer-Verlag, New York, Berlin, 1985.
- [28] V. Ya. Ivrii, *Linear hyperbolic equations*. Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., Partial differential equations, IV, 33, 149–235, Springer, 1993.
- [29] A. I. Komech, Linear partial differential equations with constant coefficients. Partial differential equations, II, 121–255, Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., 31, Springer, Berlin, 1994.
- [30] V. A. Kondratiev, E. M. Landis, Qualitative theory of second-order linear partial differential equations. Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., Partial differential equations, III, 32, 87–192, Springer, 1991.

- [31] N. V. Krylov, Nonlinear Elliptic and Parabolic Equations of the Second Order, D. Reidel Publ. Co., Dordrecht, 1987.
- [32] S. Lojasiewicz, Introduction to Complex Analytic Geometry, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1991.
- [33] A. Laptev, Yu. Safarov, D. Vassiliev, On global representation of Lagrangian distributions and solutions of hyperbolic equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 47, 1411–1456, 1994.
- [34] W. Littman, L<sup>p</sup>-L<sup>q</sup>-estimates for singular integral operators, Proc. Symp. Pure and Appl. Math. A.M.S. 23, 479–481, 1973.
- [35] V. P. Maslov, M. V. Fedoryuk, Semi-classical approximation in quantum mechanics, D. Reidel Publ. Co., Dordrecht-Boston-London, 1981.
- [36] V.G. Mazja and B.P Paneja, Degenerate elliptic pseudodifferential operators on a smooth manifold without boundary. Functional Anal. Appl. 3, 159–160, 1969.
- [37] A. Melin, J. Sjöstrand, Fourier integral operators with complex-valued phase functions, Springer Lecture Notes 459, 120–223, 1975.
- [38] A. Melin, J. Sjöstrand, Fourier integral operators with complex phase functions and parametrix for an interior boundary problem, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 1, 313–400, 1976.
- [39] S. G. Mihlin, Multidimensional singular integrals and integral equations, Pergamon Press, 1965.
- [40] A. Miyachi, On some estimates for the wave operator in  $L^p$  and  $H^p$ , J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math. 27, 331–354, 1980.
- [41] A. Nigel, E. M. Stein, Lectures on pseudo-differential operators: regularity theorems and applications to non-elliptic problems, Math. Notes, Princeton Univ. Press, 1979.
- [42] D. M. Oberlin, Convolution estimates for some measures on curves, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 99, 56–60, 1987.
- [43] V. P. Palamodov, Linear Differential Operators with Constant Coefficients, Springer-Verlag, 1970.
- [44] J. Peral,  $L^p$  estimates for the wave equation, J. Funct. Anal. 36, 114–145, 1980.
- [45] D.H. Phong, Regularity of Fourier integral operators, Proc. Int. Congress Math. 862–874, Zürich, Switzerland, 1994.
- [46] D. H. Phong, Singular integrals and Fourier integral operators, Essays on Fourier Analysis in honor of E.M. Stein, 286-320, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, Eds. C. Fefferman, R. Fefferman, S. Wainger, 1995

- [47] D. H. Phong, E. M. Stein, Radon transforms and torsion, Int. Math. Res. Notices 4, 49–60, 1991.
- [48] D. H. Phong, E. M. Stein, Oscillatory integrals with polynomial phases, Inv. Math. 110, 39-62, 1992.
- [49] E. Picard, G. Simart, Théorie des fonctions algébriques de deux variables indépendentes, Paris, 1897–1906.
- [50] U. Porod and S. Zelditch, Semi-classical limit of random walks II. Asymptotic Analysis, 18, 215–261, 1998.
- [51] R. Remmert, Holomorphe und meromorphe Abbildungen komplexer Räume, Mathematische Annalen 133, 328–370, 1957.
- [52] M. Ruzhansky, Analytic Fourier integral operators, Monge-Ampère equation and holomorphic factorization, Arch. Mat. 72, 68–76, 1999.
- [53] M. Ruzhansky, Holomorphic factorization for the solution operators for hyperbolic equations, In: Int. Series of Num. Math. 130, 803–811, 1999.
- [54] M. Ruzhansky, On the sharpness of Seeger-Sogge-Stein orders, Hokkaido Math. J. 28, 357–362, 1999.
- [55] M. Ruzhansky, Sharp estimates for a class of hyperbolic partial differential operators, preprint, Univ. of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, 1999, to appear in Results of Math.
- [56] M. Ruzhansky, Singularities of affine fibrations in the regularity theory of Fourier integral operators, Russian Math. Surveys, 55, 93–161, 2000.
- [57] M. Ruzhansky, On singularities of affine fibrations of certain types, Russian Math. Surveys, 55, 353–354, 2000.
- [58] M. Ruzhansky, Singular fibrations with affine fibers, to appear.
- [59] M. Ruzhansky, On the failure of the factorization condition for nondegenerate Fourier integral operators, to appear in Proc. of A.M.S.
- [60] M. Ruzhansky, On  $L^p$  estimates for Fourier integral operators with complex phases, to appear in Russian Math. Surveys.
- [61] M. Ruzhansky, Estimates for pseudo-differential and hyperbolic differential equations, to appear in Int. Series of Num. Math.
- [62] A. Seeger, C.D. Sogge, E.M. Stein, Regularity properties of Fourier integral operators, Ann.of Math. 134, 231–251, 1991.
- [63] I. R. Shafarevich, Basic Algebraic Geometry, Second Edition, Springer-Verlag, 1996.
- [64] M. A. Shubin, *Pseudodifferential operators and spectral theory*. Springer Series in Soviet Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1987.

- [65] C.D. Sogge, Fourier integrals in classical analysis, Cambridge University Press, 1993.
- [66] E. M. Stein, Singular Integrals and Differentiability Properties of Functions, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1970.
- [67] E. M. Stein, L<sup>p</sup> boundedness of certain convolution operators, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 77, 404–405, 1971.
- [68] E.M. Stein, Harmonic analysis, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1993.
- [69] E. M. Stein, S. Wainger, Problems in harmonic analysis related to curvature, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 84, 1239–1295, 1978.
- [70] E. M. Stein, G. Weiss, Introduction to Fourier Analysis on Euclidean Spaces, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1971.
- [71] M. Sugimoto, On some L<sup>p</sup>-estimates for hyperbolic equations, Arkiv för Matematik 30, 149–162, 1992.
- [72] M. E. Taylor, Propagation, reflection, and diffraction of singularities of solutions to wave equation, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 84, 589-611, 1978.
- [73] M. E. Taylor, Fefferman-Phong inequalities in diffraction theory, Proc. of Symp. in Pure Math. 43, 261–300, 1985.
- [74] F. Treves, Introduction to Pseudo-Differential and Fourier Integral Operators, I, II, Plenum Press, 1982.
- [75] H. Triebel, Theory of Function Spaces, Monographs in Math. 78, Birkhäuser, 1983.
- [76] L. R. Volevich, S. G. Gindikin, *The Cauchy problem*. Encyclopedia Math. Sci., Partial Differential Equations, III, 32, 1–86, Springer, 1991.
- [77] S. Wainger, Special Trigonometric Series in k-Dimensions, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 59, 1965.
- [78] A. Zygmund, Trigonometric Series, I, II, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1959.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

## Summary

The main subject of the present monograph is the regularity theory of Fourier integral operators with real and complex phases and related questions of the singularity theory of affine fibrations. These operators appear naturally in many areas of mathematics and one if often led to study their properties in various function spaces. It turns out that these properties depend on the geometric theory of Fourier integral operators. The main geometric invariant for a family of Fourier integral operators parameterized by its symbols is its wave front, which is a Lagrangian submanifold in the cotangent bundle of the base space. Geometry and singularities of this wave front are reflected in the boundedness properties of operators in  $L^p$ -spaces.

In general,  $L^p$ -spaces provide a convenient scale for the regularity theory. Properties in other spaces normally follow from  $L^p$  estimates by standard methods. The simplest case is the one of  $L^2$ -spaces when the boundedness of operators relates to the energy conservation law for hyperbolic equations.

One of the aspects of the current work is that we deal with operators with complex phase functions. The theory of such operators is well developed but their regularity has not been much studied. In a way, the use of complex phases provides a more natural approach to Fourier integral operators. In complex valued terms the geometric obstructions of the global theory with the real phase can be avoided and it is a remarkable fact that every Fourier integral operator with a real phase can be globally parameterized by a single complex phase. The sharp orders for Fourier integral operators with real phase to be bounded in  $L^p$ , are known for operators satisfying the so-called smooth factorization condition. In this monograph we extend this to the complex phase and extend existing results to the complex setting. Further this condition is analyzed in both real and complex settings.

A part of the book is devoted to the singularity theory of affine fibrations. Conditions for the continuity of Fourier integral operators are related to the singularities of affine fibrations in (subsets of)  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , defined by the kernels of matrix valued functions. Singularities of such fibrations are analyzed in the general case. Fourier integral operators lead to fibrations, given by the kernels of the Hessian of a phase function of the operator.

Based on the analysis of singularities for operators, commuting with translations, in a number of cases the factorization condition is shown to be satisfied, which leads to  $L^p$  estimates for operators. In the other cases, the failure of the factorization condition is exhibited by a number of examples.

Results are applied to derive  $L^p$  estimates for solutions of the Cauchy problem for hyperbolic partial differential operators. The use of the complex phase allows to treat several new examples, such as non-hyperbolic Cauchy problems for pseudo-differential equations and the oblique derivative problem.

The background information on Fourier integral operators with real and complex phases as well as the singularity theory of affine fibrations and relevant methods of complex analytic geometry is provided in the book.

#### **CWI TRACTS**

- 1 D.H.J. Epema. Surfaces with canonical hyperplane sections. 1984.
- 2 J.J. Dijkstra. Fake topological Hilbert spaces and characterizations of dimension in terms of negligibility. 1984.
- 3 A.J. van der Schaft. System theoretic descriptions of physical systems. 1984.
- 4 J. Koene. Minimal cost flow in processing networks, a primal approach. 1984.
- 5 B. Hoogenboom. Intertwining functions on compact Lie groups. 1984.
- 6 A.P.W. Böhm. Dataflow computation. 1984.
- 7 A. Blokhuis. Few-distance sets. 1984.
- 8 M.H. van Hoorn. Algorithms and approximations for queueing systems. 1984.
- 9 C.P.J. Koymans. *Models of the lambda calculus.* 1984.
- 10 C.G. van der Laan, N.M. Temme. Calculation of special functions: the gamma function, the exponential integrals and error-like functions. 1984.
- 11 N.M. van Dijk. Controlled Markov processes; timediscretization. 1984.
- 12 W.H. Hundsdorfer. The numerical solution of nonlinear stiff initial value problems: an analysis of one step methods. 1985.
- 13 D. Grune. On the design of ALEPH. 1985.
- 14 J.G.F. Thiemann. Analytic spaces and dynamic programming: a measure theoretic approach. 1985.
- 15 F.J. van der Linden. Euclidean rings with two infinite primes. 1985.
- 16 R.J.P. Groothuizen. Mixed elliptic-hyperbolic partial differential operators: a case-study in Fourier integral operators. 1985.
- 17 H.M.M. ten Eikelder. Symmetries for dynamical and Hamiltonian systems. 1985.
- 18 A.D.M. Kester. Some large deviation results in statistics. 1985.
- 19 T.M.V. Janssen. Foundations and applications of Montague grammar, part 1: Philosophy, framework, computer science. 1986.
- 20 B.F. Schriever. Order dependence. 1986.
- 21 D.P. van der Vecht. Inequalities for stopped Brownian motion. 1986.
- 22 J.C.S.P. van der Woude. *Topological dynamix.* 1986.
- 23 A.F. Monna. Methods, concepts and ideas in mathematics: aspects of an evolution. 1986.
- 24 J.C.M. Baeten. Filters and ultrafilters over definable subsets of admissible ordinals. 1986.
- 25 A.W.J. Kolen. Tree network and planar rectilinear location theory. 1986.
- 26 A.H. Veen. The misconstrued semicolon: Reconciling imperative languages and dataflow machines. 1986.
- 27 A.J.M. van Engelen. Homogeneous zerodimensional absolute Borel sets. 1986.
- 28 T.M.V. Janssen. Foundations and applications of Montague grammar, part 2: Applications to natural language. 1986.
- 29 H.L. Trentelman. Almost invariant subspaces and high gain feedback. 1986.
- 30 A.G. de Kok. Production-inventory control models: approximations and algorithms. 1987.

- 31 E.E.M. van Berkum. Optimal paired comparison designs for factorial experiments. 1987.
- 32 J.H.J. Einmahl. Multivariate empirical processes. 1987.
- 33 O.J. Vrieze. Stochastic games with finite state and action spaces. 1987.
- 34 P.H.M. Kersten. Infinitesimal symmetries: a computational approach. 1987.
- 35 M.L. Eaton. Lectures on topics in probability inequalities. 1987.
- 36 A.H.P. van der Burgh, R.M.M. Mattheij (editors). Proceedings of the first international conference on industrial and applied mathematics (ICIAM 87). 1987.
- 37 L. Stougie. Design and analysis of algorithms for stochastic integer programming. 1987.
- 38 J.B.G. Frenk. On Banach algebras, renewal measures and regenerative processes. 1987.
- 39 H.J.M. Peters, O.J. Vrieze (eds.). Surveys in game theory and related topics. 1987.
- 40 J.L. Geluk, L. de Haan. Regular variation, extensions and Tauberian theorems. 1987.
- 41 Sape J. Mullender (ed.). The Amoeba distributed operating system: Selected papers 1984-1987. 1987.
- 42 P.R.J. Asveld, A. Nijholt (eds.). Essays on concepts, formalisms, and tools. 1987.
- 43 H.L. Bodlaender. Distributed computing: structure and complexity. 1987.
- 44 A.W. van der Vaart. Statistical estimation in large parameter spaces. 1988.
- 45 S.A. van de Geer. Regression analysis and empirical processes. 1988.
- 46 S.P. Spekreijse. Multigrid solution of the steady Euler equations. 1988.
- 47 J.B. Dijkstra. Analysis of means in some nonstandard situations. 1988.
- 48 F.C. Drost. Asymptotics for generalized chi-square goodness-of-fit tests. 1988.
- 49 F.W. Wubs. Numerical solution of the shallowwater equations. 1988.
- 50 F. de Kerf. Asymptotic analysis of a class of perturbed Korteweg-de Vries initial value problems. 1988.
- 51 P.J.M. van Laarhoven. *Theoretical and computational aspects of simulated annealing*. 1988.
- 52 P.M. van Loon. Continuous decoupling transformations for linear boundary value problems. 1988.
- 53 K.C.P. Machielsen. Numerical solution of optimal control problems with state constraints by sequential quadratic programming in function space. 1988.
- 54 L.C.R.J. Willenborg. Computational aspects of survey data processing. 1988.
- 55 G.J. van der Steen. A program generator for recognition, parsing and transduction with syntactic patterns. 1988.
- 56 J.C. Ebergen. Translating programs into delayinsensitive circuits. 1989.
- 57 S.M. Verduyn Lunel. Exponential type calculus for linear delay equations. 1989.
- 58 M.C.M. de Gunst. A random model for plant cell population growth. 1989.
- 59 D. van Dulst. Characterizations of Banach spaces not containing l<sup>1</sup>. 1989.

- 60 H.E. de Swart. Vacillation and predictability properties of low-order atmospheric spectral models. 1989.
- 61 P. de Jong. Central limit theorems for generalized multilinear forms. 1989.
- 62 V.J. de Jong. A specification system for statistical software. 1989.
- 63 B. Hanzon. Identifiability, recursive identification and spaces of linear dynamical systems, part I. 1989.
- 64 B. Hanzon. *Identifiability, recursive identification and spaces of linear dynamical systems, part II.* 1989.
- 65 B.M.M. de Weger. Algorithms for diophantine equations. 1989.
- 66 A. Jung. Cartesian closed categories of domains. 1989.
- 67 J.W. Polderman. Adaptive control & identification: Conflict or conflux?. 1989.
- 68 H.J. Woerdeman. *Matrix and operator extensions.* 1989.
- 69 B.G. Hansen. Monotonicity properties of infinitely divisible distributions. 1989.
- 70 J.K. Lenstra, H.C. Tijms, A. Volgenant (eds.). Twenty-five years of operations research in the Netherlands: Papers dedicated to Gijs de Leve. 1990.
- 71 P.J.C. Spreij. Counting process systems. Identification and stochastic realization. 1990.
- 72 J.F. Kaashoek. Modeling one dimensional pattern formation by anti-diffusion. 1990.
- 73 A.M.H. Gerards. Graphs and polyhedra. Binary spaces and cutting planes. 1990.
- 74 B. Koren. Multigrid and defect correction for the steady Navier-Stokes equations. Application to aerodynamics. 1991.
- 75 M.W.P. Savelsbergh. Computer aided routing. 1992.
- 76 O.E. Flippo. Stability, duality and decomposition in general mathematical programming. 1991.
- 77 A.J. van Es. Aspects of nonparametric density estimation. 1991.
- 78 G.A.P. Kindervater. Exercises in parallel combinatorial computing. 1992.
- 79 J.J. Lodder. Towards a symmetrical theory of generalized functions. 1991.
- 80 S.A. Smulders. *Control of freeway traffic flow.* 1996.
- 81 P.H.M. America, J.J.M.M. Rutten. A parallel object-oriented language: design and semantic foundations. 1992.
- 82 F. Thuijsman. Optimality and equilibria in stochastic games. 1992.
- 83 R.J. Kooman. *Convergence properties of recurrence sequences.* 1992.
- 84 A.M. Cohen (ed.). Computational aspects of Lie group representations and related topics. Proceedings of the 1990 Computational Algebra Seminar at CWI, Amsterdam. 1991.
- 85 V. de Valk. One-dependent processes. 1994.
- 86 J.A. Baars, J.A.M. de Groot. On topological and linear equivalence of certain function spaces. 1992.
- 87 A.F. Monna. The way of mathematics and mathematicians. 1992.
- 88 E.D. de Goede. Numerical methods for the threedimensional shallow water equations. 1993.
- 89 M. Zwaan. Moment problems in Hilbert space with applications to magnetic resonance imaging. 1993.

- 90 C. Vuik. The solution of a one-dimensional Stefan problem. 1993.
- 91 E.R. Verheul. Multimedians in metric and normed spaces. 1993.
- 92 J.L.M. Maubach. Iterative methods for non-linear partial differential equations. 1994.
- 93 A.W. Ambergen. Statistical uncertainties in posterior probabilities. 1993.
- 94 P.A. Zegeling. Moving-grid methods for timedependent partial differential equations. 1993.
- 95 M.J.C. van Pul. Statistical analysis of software reliability models. 1993.
- 96 J.K. Scholma. A Lie algebraic study of some integrable systems associated with root systems. 1993.
- 97 J.L. van den Berg. Sojourn times in feedback and processor sharing queues. 1993.
- 98 A.J. Koning. Stochastic integrals and goodness-offit tests. 1993.
- 99 B.P. Sommeijer. Parallelism in the numerical integration of initial value problems. 1993.
- 100 J. Molenaar. Multigrid methods for semiconductor device simulation. 1993.
- 101 H.J.C. Huijberts. Dynamic feedback in nonlinear synthesis problems. 1994.
- 102 J.A.M. van der Weide. Stochastic processes and point processes of excursions. 1994.
- 103 P.W. Hemker, P. Wesseling (eds.). Contributions to multigrid. 1994.
- 104 I.J.B.F. Adan. A compensation approach for queueing problems. 1994.
- 105 O.J. Boxma, G.M. Koole (eds.). Performance evaluation of parallel and distributed systems - solution methods. Part 1. 1994.
- 106 O.J. Boxma, G.M. Koole (eds.). Performance evaluation of parallel and distributed systems - solution methods. Part 2. 1994.
- 107 R.A. Trompert. Local uniform grid refinement for time-dependent partial differential equations. 1995.
- 108 M.N.M. van Lieshout. Stochastic geometry models in image analysis and spatial statistics. 1995.
- 109 R.J. van Glabbeek. Comparative concurrency semantics and refinement of actions. 1996.
- 110 W. Vervaat, H. Holwerda (ed.). Probability and lattices. 1997.
- 111 I. Helsloot. Covariant formal group theory and some applications. 1995.
- 112 R.N. Bol. Loop checking in logic programming. 1995.
- 113 G.J.M. Koole. Stochastic scheduling and dynamic programming. 1995.
- 114 M.J. van der Laan. Efficient and inefficient estimation in semiparametric models. 1995.
- 115 S.C. Borst. Polling models. 1996.
- 116 G.D. Otten. Statistical test limits in quality control.
- 1996. 117 K.G. Langendoen. Graph reduction on shared-
- memory multiprocessors. 1996. 118 W.C.A. Maas. Nonlinear  $\mathcal{H}_\infty$  control: the singular
- case. 1996.
  119 A. Di Bucchianico. Probabilistic and analytical as-
- pects of the umbral calculus. 1997.120 M. van Loon. Numerical methods in smog predic-
- tion. 1997.
- 121 B.J. Wijers. Nonparametric estimation for a windowed line-segment process. 1997.

- 122 W.K. Klein Haneveld, O.J. Vrieze, L.C.M. Kallenberg (editors). Ten years LNMB – Ph.D. research and graduate courses of the Dutch Network of Operations Research. 1997.
- 123 R.W. van der Hofstad. One-dimensional random polymers. 1998.
- 124 W.J.H. Stortelder. Parameter estimation in nonlinear dynamical systems. 1998.
- 125 M.H. Wegkamp. Entropy methods in statistical estimation. 1998.
- 126 K. Aardal, J.K. Lenstra, F. Maffioli, D.B. Shmoys (eds.) Selected publications of Eugene L. Lawler. 1999.
- 127 E. Belitser. *Minimax estimation in regression and random censorship models.* 2000.
- 128 Y. Nishiyama. *Entropy methods for martingales.* 2000.
- 129 J.A. van Hamel. Algebraic cycles and topology of real algebraic varieties. 2000.
- 130 P.J. Oonincx. Mathematical signal analysis: wavelets, Wigner distribution and a seismic application. 2000.
- 131 M. Ruzhansky. Regularity theory of Fourier integral operators with complex phases and singularities of affine fibrations. 2001.

#### MATHEMATICAL CENTRE TRACTS

1 T. van der Walt. Fixed and almost fixed points. 1963.

2 A.R. Bloemena. Sampling from a graph. 1964.

3 G. de Leve. Generalized Markovian decision processes, part 1: model and method. 1964.

4 G. de Leve. Generalized Markovian decision processes, part II: probabilistic background. 1964.

5 G. de Leve, H.C. Tijms, P.J. Weeda. Generalized Markovian decision processes, applications. 1970.

6 M.A. Maurice. Compact ordered spaces. 1964.

7 W.R. van Zwet. Convex transformations of random variables. 1964. 8 J.A. Zonneveld. Automatic numerical integration. 1964.

9 P.C. Baayen. Universal morphisms. 1964.

10 E.M. de Jager. Applications of distributions in mathematical physics. 1964.

11 A.B. Paalman-de Miranda, Topological semigroups, 1964. 12 J.A. Th.M. van Berckel, H. Brandt Corstius, R.J. Mokken, A. van Wijngaarden. Formal properties of newspaper Dutch. 1965.

13 H.A. Lauwerier. Asymptotic expansions. 1966, out of print: replaced by MCT 54. 14 H.A. Lauwerier. Calculus of variations in mathematical physics. 1966.

15 R. Doornbos. Slippage tests. 1966

16 J.W. de Bakker. Formal definition of programming languages with an application to the definition of ALGOL 60. 1967.

17 R.P. van de Riet. Formula manipulation in ALGOL 60, art 1. 1968

18 R.P. van de Riet. Formula manipulation in ALGOL 60, part 2. 1968.

19 J. van der Slot. Some properties related to compactness. 1968

20 P.J. van der Houwen. Finite difference methods for solving partial differential equations. 1968. 21 E. Wattel. The compactness operator in set theory and topology. 1968.

22 T.J. Dekker. ALGOL 60 procedures in numerical algebra, part 1. 1968.

23 T.J. Dekker, W. Hoffmann. ALGOL 60 procedures in numerical algebra, part 2. 1968.

24 J.W. de Bakker. Recursive procedures. 1971.

25 E.R. Paërl. Representations of the Lorentz group and projective geometry. 1969. 26 European Meeting 1968. Selected statistical papers, part I.

1968 27 European Meeting 1968. Selected statistical papers, part II. 1968.

28 J. Oosterhoff. Combination of one-sided statistical tests. 1969

29 J. Verhoeff. Error detecting decimal codes. 1969.

30 H. Brandt Corstius. Exercises in computational linguistics. 1970.

31 W. Molenaar. Approximations to the Poisson, binomial and hypergeometric distribution functions. 1970.

32 L. de Haan. On regular variation and its application to the weak convergence of sample extremes. 1970.

33 F.W. Steutel. Preservations of infinite divisibility under mix-ing and related topics. 1970.

34 I. Juhász, A. Verbeek, N.S. Kroonenberg. Cardinal func-tions in topology. 1971.

35 M.H. van Emden. An analysis of complexity. 1971.

36 J. Grasman. On the birth of boundary layers. 1971.

30 J. Grasman. On ine birth of boundary layers. 1971.
37 J.W. de Bakker, G.A. Blaauw, A.J.W. Duijvestijn, E.W. Dijkstra, P.J. van der Houwen, G.A.M. Kamsteeg-Kemper, F.E.J. Kruseman Aretz, W.L. van der Poel, J.P. Schaap-Kruseman, M.V. Wilkes, G. Zoutendijk. MC-25 Informatica Symposium. 1971.

38 W.A. Verloren van Themaat. Automatic analysis of Dutch compound words. 1972.

39 H. Bavinck. Jacobi series and approximation. 1972. 40 H.C. Tijms. Analysis of (s.S) inventory models. 1972.

41 A. Verbeek. Superextensions of topological spaces. 1972.

42 W. Vervaat. Success epochs in Bernoulli trials (with applica-tions in number theory). 1972.

43 F.H. Ruymgaart. Asymptotic theory of rank tests for independence. 1973.

44 H. Bart. Meromorphic operator valued functions. 1973.

45 A.A. Balkema. Monotone transformations and limit laws. 1973.

46 R.P. van de Riet. ABC ALGOL, a portable language for formula manipulation systems, part 1: the language. 1973. Jarman manipulation systems, pair 1: ungauge. 1712.
AT R.P. van de Riet. ABC ALGOL, a portable language for formula manipulation systems, part 2: the compiler. 1973.
E.J. Kruseman Aretz, P.J.W. ten Hagen, H.L. Oudshoorn. An ALGOL 60 compiler in ALGOL 60, text of the MC-compiler for the EL-X8. 1973.

49 H. Kok. Connected role and process. 1974.
50 A. van Wijngaarden, B.J. Mailloux, J.E.L. Peck, C.H.A. Koster, M. Sintzoff, C.H. Lindsey, L.G.L.T. Meertens, R.G. Fisker (eds.). Revised report on the algorithmic language ALGOL 68. 1976.

51 A. Hordijk. Dynamic programming and Markov potential theory. 1974.

52 P.C. Baayen (ed.). Topological structures. 1974. 53 M.J. Faber. Metrizability in generalized ordered spaces. 1974.

54 H.A. Lauwerier. Asymptotic analysis, part 1. 1974.

55 M. Hall, Jr., J.H. van Lint (eds.). Combinatorics, part 1: theory of designs, finite geometry and coding theory. 1974.

56 M. Hall, Jr., J.H. van Lint (eds.). Combinatorics, part 2: graph theory, foundations, partitions and combinatorial geometry. 1974.

57 M. Hall, Jr., J.H. van Lint (eds.). Combinatorics, part 3: combinatorial group theory. 1974.

58 W. Albers. Asymptotic expansions and the deficiency con-cept in statistics. 1975.

59 J.L. Mijnheer. Sample path properties of stable processes. 1975

60 F. Göbel. Queueing models involving buffers. 1975. 63 J.W. de Bakker (ed.). Foundations of computer science. 1975.

64 W.J. de Schipper. Symmetric closed categories. 1975. 65 J. de Vries. Topological transformation groups, 1: a categor-ical approach. 1975.

66 H.G.J. Pijls. Logically convex algebras in spectral theory and eigenfunction expansions. 1976.

68 P.P.N. de Groen. Singularly perturbed differential operators of second order. 1976.

69 J.K. Lenstra. Sequencing by enumerative methods. 1977. 70 W.P. de Roever, Jr. Recursive program schemes: semantics and proof theory. 1976.

71 J.A.E.E. van Nunen. Contracting Markov decision processes. 1976.

72 J.K.M. Jansen. Simple periodic and non-periodic Lamé functions and their applications in the theory of conical waveguides, 1977.

73 D.M.R. Leivant. Absoluteness of intuitionistic logic. 1979. 74 H.J.J. te Riele. A theoretical and computational study of generalized aliquot sequences. 1976.

75 A.E. Brouwer. Treelike spaces and related connected topological spaces. 1977.

76 M. Rem. Associons and the closure statements. 1976.

77 W.C.M. Kallenberg. Asymptotic optimality of likelihood ratio tests in exponential families. 1978.

78 E. de Jonge, A.C.M. van Rooij. Introduction to Riesz spaces. 1977.

79 M.C.A. van Zuijlen. Empirical distributions and rank statistics. 1977.

80 P.W. Hemker. A numerical study of stiff two-point boundary problems, 1977.

81 K.R. Apt, J.W. de Bakker (eds.). Foundations of computer science II, part 1. 1976.

82 K.R. Apt, J.W. de Bakker (eds.). Foundations of computer science II, part 2. 1976.

83 L.S. van Benthem Jutting. Checking Landau's "Grundlagen" in the AUTOMATH system. 1979.

84 H.L.L. Busard. The translation of the elements of Euclid from the Arabic into Latin by Hermann of Carinthia (?), books vii-xii, 1977.

85 J. van Mill. Supercompactness and Wallmann spaces. 1977. 86 S.G. van der Meulen, M. Veldhorst. Torrix I, a program-ming system for operations on vectors and matrices over arbi-trary fields and of variable size. 1978.

88 A. Schrijver. Matroids and linking systems. 1977.

89 J.W. de Roever. Complex Fourier transformation and ana-lytic functionals with unbounded carriers. 1978.

90 L.P.J. Groenewegen. Characterization of optimal strategies in dynamic games. 1981.

91 J.M. Geysel. Transcendence in fields of positive characteristic. 1979

92 P.J. Weeda. Finite generalized Markov programming. 1979. 93 H.C. Tijms, J. Wessels (eds.). Markov decision theory

94 A. Bijlsma. Simultaneous approximations in transcendental number theory. 1978.

95 K.M. van Hee. Bayesian control of Markov chains. 1978.

N.M. van Tee, Bayestan control of Junkov chains, 1717
 P.M.B. Vitányi, Lindenmayer systems: structure, languages, and growth functions. 1980.
 A. Federgruen, Markovian control problems; functional equations and algorithms. 1984.

98 R. Geel. Singular perturbations of hyperbolic type. 1978. 99 J.K. Lenstra, A.H.G. Rinnooy Kan, P. van Emde Boas (eds.). Interfaces between computer science and operations research. 1978.

100 P.C. Baayen, D. van Dulst, J. Oosterhoff (eds.). Proceedings bicentennial congress of the Wiskundig Genootschap, part 1. 1979.

101 P.C. Baayen, D. van Dulst, J. Oosterhoff (eds.). Proceed-ings bicentennial congress of the Wiskundig Genootschap, part 2. 1979.

102 D. van Dulst. Reflexive and superreflexive Banach spaces. 1978.

103 K. van Harn. Classifying infinitely divisible distributions by functional equations. 1978.

104 J.M. van Wouwe. GO-spaces and generalizations of metri-zability. 1979.

105 R. Helmers. Edgeworth expansions for linear combinations of order statistics. 1982.

106 A. Schrijver (ed.). Packing and covering in combinatorics. 1979

107 C. den Heijer. The numerical solution of nonlinear opera-tor equations by imbedding methods. 1979.

108 J.W. de Bakker, J. van Leeuwen (eds.). Foundations of computer science III, part 1. 1979.

109 J.W. de Bakker, J. van Leeuwen (eds.). Foundations of computer science III, part 2. 1979.

110 J.C. van Vliet. ALGOL 68 transput, part I: historical review and discussion of the implementation model. 1979.

111 J.C. van Vliet. ALGOL 68 transput, part II: an implemen-tation model. 1979.

112 H.C.P. Berbee. Random walks with stationary increments and renewai theory. 1979.

113 T.A.B. Snijders. Asymptotic optimality theory for testing problems with restricted alternatives. 1979.

114 A.J.E.M. Janssen. Application of the Wigner distribution to harmonic analysis of generalized stochastic processes. 1979. 115 P.C. Baayen, J. van Mill (eds.). Topological structures II, part 1. 1979.

116 P.C. Baayen, J. van Mill (eds.). Topological structures II, part 2, 1979.

117 P.J.M. Kallenberg. Branching processes with continuous state space. 1979.

118 P. Groeneboom. Large deviations and asymptotic

efficiencies. 1980.

119 F.J. Peters. Sparse matrices and substructures, with a novel implementation of finite element algorithms. 1980.

120 W.P.M. de Ruyter. On the asymptotic analysis of large-scale ocean circulation. 1980.

121 W.H. Haemers. Eigenvalue techniques in design and graph theory, 1980.

122 J.C.P. Bus. Numerical solution of systems of nonlinear equations. 1980.

123 I. Yuhász. Cardinal functions in topology - ten years later.

124 R.D. Gill. Censoring and stochastic integrals. 1980.

125 R. Eising. 2-D systems, an algebraic approach. 1980. 126 G. van der Hoek. Reduction methods in nonlinear pro-gramming. 1980.

127 J.W. Klop. Combinatory reduction systems. 1980. 128 A.J.J. Talman. Variable dimension fixed point algorithms

and triangulations. 1980. 129 G. van der Laan. Simplicial fixed point algorithms. 1980.

130 P.J.W. ten Hagen, T. Hagen, P. Klint, H. Noot, H.J. Sint, A.H. Veen. *ILP: intermediate language for pictures.* 1980.

131 R.J.R. Back. Correctness preserving program refinements: proof theory and applications. 1980.

132 H.M. Mulder. The interval function of a graph. 1980.

133 C.A.J. Klaassen. Statistical performance of location esti-mators. 1981.

134 J.C. van Vliet, H. Wupper (eds.). Proceedings interna-tional conference on ALGOL 68. 1981.

135 J.A.G. Groenendijk, T.M.V. Janssen, M.J.B. Stokhol (eds.). Formal methods in the study of language, part I. 1981.

136 J.A.G. Groenendijk, T.M.V. Janssen, M.J.B. Stokhof (eds.). Formal methods in the study of language, part II. 1981.

137 J. Telgen. Redundancy and linear programs. 1981.

138 H.A. Lauwerier. Mathematical models of epidemics. 1981. 139 J. van der Wal. Stochastic dynamic programming, succes-sive approximations and nearly optimal strategies for Markov decision processes and Markov games. 1981.

140 J.H. van Geldrop. A mathematical theory of pure exchange economies without the no-critical-point hypothesis. 1981.

141 G.E. Welters. Abel-Jacobi isogenies for certain types of Fano threefolds. 1981.

142 H.R. Bennett, D.J. Lutzer (eds.). Topology and order

structures, part 1, 1981. 143 J.M. Schumacher. Dynamic feedback in finite- and infinite-dimensional linear systems. 1981.

144 P. Eijgenraam. The solution of initial value problems usin interval arithmetic; formulation and analysis of an algorithm. 1981. using

145 A.J. Brentjes. Multi-dimensional continued fraction algo-rithms. 1981.

146 C.V.M. van der Mee. Semigroup and factorization methods in transport theory. 1981.

147 H.H. Tigelaar. Identification and informative sample size. 1982

148 L.C.M. Kallenberg. Linear programming and finite Mar-kovian control problems. 1983.

149 C.B. Huijsmans, M.A. Kaashoek, W.A.J. Luxemburg, W.K. Vietsch (eds.). From A to Z, proceedings of a sympo-sium in honour of A.C. Zaanen. 1982.

150 M. Veldhorst. An analysis of sparse matrix storage schemes. 1982.

151 R.J.M.M. Does. Higher order asymptotics for simple linear rank statistics. 1982.

152 G.F. van der Hoeven. Projections of lawless sequencies. 1982

153 J.P.C. Blanc. Application of the theory of boundary value problems in the analysis of a queueing model with paired ser-vices. 1982.

Vices. 1962.
154 H.W. Lenstra, Jr., R. Tijdeman (eds.). Computational methods in number theory, part I. 1982.
155 H.W. Lenstra, Jr., R. Tijdeman (eds.). Computational methods in number theory, part II. 1982.

156 P.M.G. Apers. Query processing and data allocation in distributed database systems. 1983.

157 H.A.W.M. Kneppers. The covariant classification of two-dimensional smooth commutative formal groups over an alge-braically closed field of positive characteristic. 1983.

158 J.W. de Bakker, J. van Leeuwen (eds.). Foundations of computer science IV, distributed systems, part 1. 1983.

159 J.W. de Bakker, J. van Leeuwen (eds.). Foundations of computer science IV, distributed systems, part 2. 1983. 160 A. Rezus. Abstract AUTOMATH. 1983.

161 G.F. Helminck. Eisenstein series on the metaplectic group, an algebraic approach. 1983.

162 J.J. Dik. Tests for preference. 1983.

163 H. Schippers. Multiple grid methods for equations of the second kind with applications in fluid mechanics. 1983.

164 F.A. van der Duyn Schouten. Markov decision processes with continuous time parameter. 1983.

165 P.C.T. van der Hoeven. On point processes. 1983.

166 H.B.M. Jonkers. Abstraction, specification and implemen-tation techniques, with an application to garbage collection. 1983.

167 W.H.M. Zijm. Nonnegative matrices in dynamic programming. 1983.

168 J.H. Evertse. Upper bounds for the numbers of solutions of diophantine equations. 1983.

169 H.R. Bennett, D.J. Lutzer (eds.). Topology and order structures, part 2. 1983.